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			So here’s the file that almost killed me, Director.

			I won’t bore you with the tally of databases plundered, light-years jumped or cute, sniffling orphans created in its compilation—our fee already reflects Level Of Difficulty. But this dirt is out there, if you know where to look. Seems your cleanup crews weren’t quite as thorough as you’d like, and your little corporate war isn’t quite as secret as you’d hoped.

			You’ll find all intel we could unearth concerning the Kerenza disaster compiled here in hard copy. Where possible, scans of original documentation are included. Fun Times commence with the destruction of the Kerenza colony (one year ago today), and proceed chronologically through events on battlecarrier Alexander and science vessel Hypatia as best as we can reconstruct them.

			All visual and audio data is included in original form, along with written transcripts. All typographical and graphical anomalies are present in the original files. Commentary from my team is marked by paper clip icons. Some written materials were censored by the UTA and had to be reconstructed by our commtechs, though profanity remains censored as per your instruction. Sure, the story kicks off with the deaths of thousands of people, but god forbid there be cussing in it, right?

			The Illuminae Group

			“In a time of universal deceit, telling the truth is a revolutionary act.”  —Orwell
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			Incept: 01/30/75

			Interviewer: Tell me about how it started.

			Kady Grant: I was in class. This is going to sound stupid, but I broke up with my boyfriend that morning, and he was right there on the other side of the classroom. I’m staring out the window and coming up with all the things I should say to the jerk, when these ships fly right overhead, and all the windows start shaking.

			Interviewer: Did you know something was up?

			Kady Grant: No. You don’t jump straight to an invasion. The Kerenza settlement wasn’t exactly legal, but we still got traffic around the mine and refinery. I figured it was an ore carrier coming in too low and went back to plotting my idiot ex’s downfall.

			Interviewer: When did you become aware of the invasion?

			Kady Grant: That would be when all the alarms started screaming. Some bright spark who’s probably dead now sounded the spaceport alarms. The Defiant—that was our WUC protection ship—had transmitted an alert to let the spaceport know unfriendly people with big guns had arrived, and—

			Interviewer: How do you know the Defiant transmitted a warning?

			Kady Grant: I’m good with computers. I wanted to know what was going on at the ‘port, so I took a look.

			Interviewer: You evacuated at that stage?

			Kady Grant: You make it sound way more organized than it was.

			Interviewer: How was it?

			Kady Grant: All kittens and rainbows. Apart from the screaming and explosions.

			Interviewer: How did you make it out?

			Kady Grant: I’m a lateral thinker.

			Interviewer: Meaning you used your comput—

			Kady Grant: Meaning I broke open a window.

			Interviewer: Oh.

			Kady Grant: I had a truck in the parking lot. I borrowed my Mom’s because I didn’t want to have to take the tube home with him. Having the truck there saved my life. I saw one of my teachers in the lot, and this chunk of metal came screaming in from the sky, and … 

			Interviewer: Miss Grant?

			Kady Grant: I had this moment when I thought I’d left the keys in my desk, and I pulled apart my bag and threw stuff everywhere—I guess I knew I wouldn’t need any of it again, isn’t that weird? But I found the keys at the bottom and jumped in, and just as I start the engine, I look across and he’s standing right there, staring at me. I swear—

			Interviewer: Hold on, the survivor list is refreshing. What was the name you were after?

			Kady Grant: Ezra Mason.

			Interviewer: We have him. He’s on the Alexander.

			Kady Grant: (inaudible)

			

							
			Interviewer: Are you okay to continue, Mr. Mason?

			Ezra Mason: I’m all right. My shoulder hurts.

			Interviewer: I’ll have an orderly bring you some more meds. You were saying about your escape from the school?

			Ezra Mason: Never seen anything like it. Just this crush of people and screaming. Teachers. Students. I mean, we knew each other. Colony that isolated, everyone pretty much knows everyone. But it was like they all just lost it. I remember getting pushed along in the mob and wondering why the hallway was soft under my boots. And then I realized what I was walking on.

			Interviewer: So how did you get out?

			Ezra Mason: I’m six-five. Played point defense on the school geeball team. One time I hit this receiver so hard they had to ID him with DNA.

			Interviewer: Where did you go after the first missile strike?

			Ezra Mason: Everyone was headed for the tube station, but I figured a tin can in an underground ice tunnel was the last place you’d want to be with bombs going off. So—

			Interviewer: Wait, you people had a subway system? I thought this settlement was illegal?

			Ezra Mason: Chum, the Kerenza mine operated undetected for 20 years. Whole families lived there. You know how far from the Core we are, right?

			Interviewer: Maybe further than you might think … 

			Ezra Mason:  … What the hell’s that supposed to mean?

			Interviewer: Nothing. I’m sorry.

			Interviewer: You were saying about the subway?

			Ezra Mason: Yeah … Right. Basically I didn’t wanna risk it down there, so I lit out through the fire escape. Doubled back into the parking lot. Which might not have been the best plan, since I didn’t have wheels. And I’m looking around, and the sky is raining fire and I’m still freezing because the wind chill on Kerenza could hit forty below on a bad day. And there she was.

			Interviewer: Who?

			Ezra Mason: My ex-girlfriend. Who’d dumped me maybe three hours before. So that was … awkward.

			Interviewer: What did you do?

			Ezra Mason: Well, I figured there was a good chance she’d just run me over if I stood in front of the truck. So I knocked on the window and said something like “Lovely day for a drive,” and at that point the southeastern anti-missile battery got vaporized by what I assume was a missile. So maybe you might wanna note in your report that those things don’t, you know, stop missiles.

			Interviewer: So she let you in?

			Ezra Mason: She let me in. I guess she figured she didn’t hate me enough to let me get X-ed out by a BeiTech kill squad. She had to think about it for a minute, though.

			Interviewer: How did you know BeiTech were behind the attack?

			Ezra Mason: I think the biggest giveaway was the huge BeiTech logo on the warship hovering overhead. It’d dropped out of the clouds and was X-ing the rest of the defense silos by then.

			Interviewer: By “warship,” you mean the BeiTech dreadnought Lincoln?

			Ezra Mason: Yeah. That’s them. Bastards. Wait, can I swear in this thing?

			

			
				Interviewer: So what happened next?

			Kady Grant: We took off outta the parking lot like we were in a chase scene. Some moron had parked blocking the exit, but the truck was all-terrain, so we rammed it.

			Interviewer: What was it like outside the school?

			Kady Grant: There were a lot of explosions and a lot of dead people. Dead civilians who worked for a fucking mining company. I mean, imagine you’re an interstellar corporation, right? You discover an illegal mining op run by one of your competitors. Do you a) report it to the UTA and laugh as the fines roll in, or b) jump in an attack fleet and X-out every man, woman and child on the planet? What the hell was BeiTech thinking?

			Interviewer: What you and I need to do is focus on what happened on Kerenza. Gathering intel on the attack is the best thing we can do to help right now.

			Kady Grant: I can’t believe this.

			Interviewer: Miss Grant—

			Kady Grant: Okay. Fine. We took the main arterial, and Ezra turned on the radio. For a second I thought the idiot was looking for the right soundtrack or something, but there was an emergency broadcast up. They were telling us to get to the spaceport, and our research fleet was going to send down shuttles to ferry us all up to orbit.

			

			
				Interviewer: So you turned for the spaceport?

			Ezra Mason: Yeah. I turned on the radio to maybe find us some getaway music, but there was an emergency broadcast telling everyone to hit the ‘port for evacuation. So that’s what we tried to do. But there were cars everywhere, and some truck had overturned on the strip. Kady nearly flipped us, and when I offered to drive she … well, she called me a very bad word.

			Interviewer: I see.

			Ezra Mason: I can repeat it if you want, but—

			Interviewer: That’s fine, Mr. Mason.

			Ezra Mason: Mr. Mason is my dad. And you still won’t tell me why I can’t see him.

			Interviewer: We need you properly debriefed before you have any civilian contact, Mr. Mason. I mean … Ezra.

			Ezra Mason: “Civilian contact.” Wow. He’s my father, chum. You guys still have fathers, right? Or does everyone in the great United Terran Authority get grown in a vat nowadays?

			Interviewer: Why don’t you just tell me what happened next.

			Ezra Mason: BeiTech blew the fucking spaceport, that’s what happened next. Popped a half dozen missiles and turned it into a smoking hole in the ice. I played geeball with one of the ground crew guys. Rob Flynn. Burton, our next door neighbor, he worked the quarantine bays. There was this girl, Jodie Kingston. I knew her since eighth grade. She worked the port comms rig. She was … 

			Interviewer: Ezra?

			Ezra Mason: Wow. I just realized. She was the first girl I ever kissed … 

			

			
				Interviewer: Do you need a minute?

			Kady Grant: No, I need to get this done. Once the spaceport was gone, it was hard to know where to head. Mostly we were just dodging explosions. The ground was shaking, and at first I thought it was the missiles hitting. Then I realized: the impacts were cracking the ice shelf under the colony’s foundations.

			Interviewer: Do you have a background in geology?

			Kady Grant: I’m seventeen; of course I don’t. But there were these huge cracks opening up in the ground, big enough to lose a car down. And before you ask how I know that, I saw it happen. There were kids in the back.

			Interviewer: So you were driving through the city, and what happened next?

			Kady Grant: Ezra wanted to find his father. He worked at the refinery, but I told him we couldn’t get through the crowd that’d be streaming out of there. His dad’s a big guy, like Ez. I told him they’d all be evacuating together, and we had to trust him to keep his feet. If we went in there, someone might have jacked the truck, and then we’d be screwed. I saw a woman pull this guy off a quad bike and take off on it with her kid. I saw a security officer shoot a guy trying to climb into the tray of his truck. We weren’t going to make it as far as the refinery. I wanted to go for my mom instead, and my cousin Asha. My dad was offworld—he works rotation on Jump Station Heimdall, so it was just Mom and me. She’s a pathologist, so she did research, worked at the med center. Asha was training there.

			Interviewer: Do you need me to look up your mother’s name on the lists?

			Kady Grant: No, she made it out. She’s here on the Hypatia; I saw her before my interview.

			Interviewer: And your cousin?

			Kady Grant: No. She didn’t.

			Interviewer: I’m sorry.

			Kady Grant: Yeah.

			Interviewer: So, did Ezra see reason? Did you go to find your mother?

			Kady Grant: We started. Ezra’s mom isn’t around, so mine had just spent a year feeding him. I think she was more upset about the breakup than anyone. We were heading for her lab, and by that time there were people in the streets, riding in all-terrains, some on quad bikes, folks on foot. The ground was cracking and there were chunks breaking off buildings, and all the time there’s this huge BeiTech ship in the sky, pounding our defenses with missiles. Shuttles were lifting off with civis evacuating. It was so loud, I thought my ears were bleeding. And over the top of all that, Ezra chooses then to start criticizing my driving.

			Interviewer: It’s hard to believe you guys broke up.

			Kady Grant: You have no idea. Anyway, that was when half the cineplex fell on our truck.

			

			
				Interviewer:  … Wait, what?

			Ezra Mason: I don’t know how long I was unconscious for. I came to and I thought the sky was covered in spiderwebs. And then I realize I’m looking through the smashed windshield, and we’re buried under half a building. The truck is scrapped, Kady’s next to me and there’s blood all over her face, and I couldn’t find a pulse. So I dragged her out of the wreckage and started to give her mouth-to-mouth and that’s when she slugged me, Your Honor.

			Interviewer: She hit you?

			Ezra Mason: Yeah, right in the face. Good shot, too. I dunno. She thought I was trying to kiss her. She’d hit her head, she was messed up. So we’re gearing up to start yelling at each other, and then we realize the sky is full of Cyclone fighter ships. So I figured the cavalry must have arrived.

			Interviewer: Could you still see the Lincoln?

			Ezra Mason: No. But we could see the refinery had been hit. It was covered in this … I dunno. It’s hard to describe. It was like a mist? But it was black. Creeping in the air real slow, like molasses. Not smoke. It was … something different.

			Interviewer: You said your father worked at the refinery?

			Ezra Mason: Yeah. So of course I want to go look for him. And Kady still wants to go find Mrs. Grant. And the glacier is cracking open and the sky is on fire, and I think I can see BeiTech ground troops in the distance. And then I said it.

			

			
				Interviewer: What did he say?

			Kady Grant: He said, “You picked a hell of a day to dump me, Kades.”

			

			
				Interviewer:  … You honestly said that?

			Ezra Mason: Yeah. So all hell breaks loose, and Kady is yelling at me and I’m yelling back. All this stuff that’d been building up for the last year and boiling just under the skin. Like, I loved her. I love her. But she had this way of just … It was so stupid. The world is ending all around us and we’re screaming about college applications and commitment and shit. I mean, can you believe that?

			Interviewer: You’re seventeen, right?

			Ezra Mason: Eighteen next month.

			Interviewer: Then yes, I believe it.

			Ezra Mason: Cold, chum. Real cold.

			Interviewer: So what happened next?

			Ezra Mason: I took off. She told me I was being crazy, but I was just … furious. And my dad is all I have left, so … yeah. Ran toward the refinery, burning cars and trashed buildings everywhere. I saw a Cyclone crash into an apartment block right in front of my face. Felt the heat on my skin. I was just keeping low and trying to get closer to the plant, but there were BT troops all over. Big, armor-plated goons in winter camo carrying guns you could kill a glacieosaur with. I didn’t really have a plan, I just needed to find my dad. Didn’t know what I was going to do once I hit that fog. But turned out that wouldn’t be a problem.

			Interviewer: Why’s that?

			Ezra Mason: Well, they shot me.

			

			
				Interviewer: They shot him?

			Kady Grant: I couldn’t believe it either. Those fuckers should have got in line. They’re not the ones who had to put up with his—

			Interviewer: You said you’d parted ways at that stage. How did you find out he’d been shot?

			Kady Grant: I started by heading toward my mom’s lab on foot, but there were a bunch of BeiTech troops in the way. They were putting carriers down on the ground and rolling out soldiers and all-terrain vehicles. I was a little concussed, I’m pretty sure. I know I stopped to puke at one point. I could see shuttles landing out by the labs to do evac, so I just hoped my mom was getting on one of them. I knew I wasn’t going to make it across town to her. I wasn’t going to make it anywhere without another truck. So I stole one from a BeiTech crew.

			Interviewer: I’m sorry, you what?

			Kady Grant: I am frequently underestimated. I think it’s because I’m short.

			Interviewer: They didn’t want it back?

			Kady Grant: Probably. They were pretty busy jumping out of the way. Also, I knew my way around the middle of town, they didn’t. I took some sharp corners and worked my way around the back of the community complex, scraped the truck doors right off the side of it, but when I got out the other end I’d lost them. Our people didn’t have weapons to shoot at me with, and theirs thought I was on the same team, I guess.

			Interviewer: What happened next?

			Kady Grant: There was this filthy black cloud oozing down from atmo toward the refinery, and I knew that was where Ezra was. I heard it was some kind of bio-attack. Is that true?

			Interviewer: I don’t know. You said he was shot, so I guess you found him?

			Kady Grant: On the wrong end of a BeiTech platoon, bleeding everywhere. I kind of freaked out when I saw it all.

			Interviewer: Were you able to retrieve him?

			Kady Grant: I, uh—are there likely to be any prosecutions for stuff that happened down there?

			Interviewer: They X-ed out a quarter of my crew. None of us is going to weep if you’re telling me you took out a BeiTech squad to get to him.

			Kady Grant: Like I said, I’m pretty small, and there was a lot of blood all over everything. I guess my foot slipped on the accelerator. It was hard to reach, you know? I ran a bunch of them down and pulled up right beside him.

			Interviewer: What did he do?

			Kady Grant: He said, “Hey, Kades.” What a catch, seriously. The truck’s door was missing, though, so it was easy for him to climb in, and we took off like we were outrunning a blizzard. We could see shuttles coming down on the outskirts of town, and they didn’t have BeiTech markings on them, so we risked it. We were hoping they were evac sent by our research fleet.

			

			
				Interviewer: And then what?

			Ezra Mason: I don’t remember much. I think I made a joke about needing to see her license and registration. Because, you know, she just ran over a bunch of—

			Interviewer: I get it.

			Ezra Mason: Right. And then I said “I’m bleeding,” and she said, “Shut up, I’m not talking to you,” so I just kinda concentrated on not dying. There was blood everywhere. It hurt so much, I think I started laughing. I think maybe I was going into shock. Kady was yelling at me to put pressure on it, but it hurt less if I didn’t. There were fighters overhead. I remember being really cold. I remember looking at Kady driving, covered in blood, with her hair crusted with snow and everything. I think I told her she was beautiful. Then the lights went out.

			

			
				Interviewer: You made it to the shuttles?

			Kady Grant: We made it close. We were driving a BeiTech truck now, so I had to stop and drag Ezra across the ice so they could see we were civis. A couple of the med center staff had made it out there, so they were putting the wounded on shuttles with those guys, and the rest of us into the others. I was screaming my head off, trying to get someone to help me lift him in. I don’t even know how I dragged him. The whole time there were these missiles arcing in and exploding around us, fires starting. I guess they decided if I could yell that loud, I wasn’t hurt bad enough to make the wounded shuttle, so they made me leave him with the doc. That’s how he ended up on the Alexander and I ended up on the Hypatia.

			Interviewer: You’ve been very helpful. Did you see whether any missiles hit the refinery?

			Kady Grant: I don’t think so, just the black cloud. They wouldn’t blow it up, though, would they? I mean, if BeiTech wanted the colony gone, they’d have just ratted to the UTA about it. They obviously wanted the hermium we were mining for themselves. They’d hardly destroy the only way they had to process it.

			Interviewer: We can’t speculate yet on what their aim was.

			Kady Grant: I guess if they catch up with us, we can ask them before they blow us to pieces.

			

			
				Interviewer: There’s just one last thing, Mr. Mason.

			Ezra Mason: Can this thing please include those pain meds you promised?

			Interviewer: We’ve had another update to the casualty lists. I’m afraid I have some news about your father.
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			Officers of the Alexander,

			In the two days since the assault on the Kerenza colony, the battle with BeiTech forces, and our subsequent withdrawal, our analytics crews have been working around the clock to assess our situation. In summary, here are their findings:

			• Our jump gate generator is heavily damaged—wormholes can still be created, but will more than likely collapse before a jump can be executed, resulting in the Alexander’s destruction. Acting Chief of Technical Engineering Colonel Eva Sanchez reports the damage is irreparable, given our current resources (most notably, the death of former CTE, Mallory Yzerman). Essentially, independent jump travel is not an option.

			• The closest static jump gate able to return us to a core system is Jump Station Heimdall (Novus VII). Though the station itself is on the other side of the universe, a waypoint/wormhole leading to Heimdall is 6.5—7 months’ travel away at current speeds. In short, we are looking at over half a year’s journey before we can jump to safety in a populated zone.

			• Missile strikes sustained in the battle have damaged our Artificial Intelligence Defense Analytics Network (AIDAN), responsible for many vital shipboard functions, including main drive control and jump gate calculations. The same missiles that damaged AIDAN also eliminated a considerable percentage of our neurogramming staff. Although AIDAN is self-repairing, and still functional, the full extent of the damage is unknown.

			• Several other areas of the ship sustained damage, most notably our H2O reservoirs, defense grid and propulsion systems.

			• At least one BeiTech dreadnought participating in the Kerenza attack, BT042-TN, aka Lincoln, survived the battle and is currently in pursuit of our fleet. With current damage and crew levels, our tactical staff estimate we have a 22.7 percent chance of surviving, should the Lincoln engage us.

			• The two civilian transports we are currently escorting—science vessel Hypatia and heavy freighter Copernicus—are carrying 3,348 civilians from the Kerenza colony. Alexander is carrying a further 1,097 civilians. Given aforementioned damage to Alexander’s H2O reservoirs, this overpopulation will place increased strain on our supply situation. Neither the Hypatia or the Copernicus will be of assistance should the Lincoln engage us.

			• Distress calls have been issued on all United Terran Authority channels via the Heimdall waypoint. No reply has been received. In all likelihood, this means our transmissions have not been heard.

			In short, ladies and gentlemen, we are bleeding badly and there are sharks in the water. We are understaffed and outgunned, and over six months from a realistic escape point. As such, I am issuing the following order, effective immediately:

			Any Kerenza colonist with a skill set useful in plugging our shortfalls is to be conscripted into the United Terran Authority military. Engineers. Medical personnel. Scientists. Anyone with a history of military service.

			Furthermore, every Kerenza colonist aged eighteen years or older will be immediately tested for aptitude in: computer science, mechanics, electronics, spatial awareness, pattern prediction, hand-eye coordination, twitch reflex, and stress management. Anyone showing C-grade ability or better is to be conscripted immediately. We need pilots. We need gunners. We need spanner monkeys and chipheads. And we need them now.

			This is an unprecedented situation—to my knowledge, no stellarcorp has ever openly attacked a United Terran Authority ship. I don’t care if BeiTech Industries’ litigation department has enough red tape to giftwrap a small moon. These corporations need to learn nobody is above the law, and nobody attacks a UTA vessel without consequences.

			You have worked tirelessly, acquitting yourselves with distinction and valor. We have lost comrades. We have lost brothers and sisters and those we loved dearly. I know the past few days have been hard. The road ahead will be harder still. But knowing each of you as I do, I have no doubt you will rise to the challenge before us, and get these civilians to the Heimdall waypoint alive.

			Centrum tenenda.

			David Torrence
General, United Terran Authority
Commander, Alexander 78-V
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			Hey Kades,

			They told me almost everyone on the Hypatia has been fixed up with an onboard comms account now. I hope you get this.

			I’m not sure what you know and what you don’t. Everything is a mess over here. The military don’t really tell us anything. But I wanted you to know I made it out alive. I wanted to say thanks. Without you I don’t think I’d be here.

			Delete that. I don’t think, I know.

			I’m in the med bay on board Alexander. They’ve pumped me full of nanotech and my shoulder is almost 100%. Still trying to get my head straight. Figure out what the hell happened. I heard a rumor that the Alexander’s jump drive is bricked. There’s definitely something wrong with the water supplies but they won’t say what. Someone else said the BeiTech dreadnoughts that attacked the colony are still chasing us. But I also heard we’re just days away from meeting up with a whole UTA fleet. So maybe we’ll be safe soon.

			I feel bad about what happened between us. I keep feeling like there’s something I could’ve said to fix it. And then I wonder if I’m an idiot for even thinking that way. I wonder if it was supposed to happen. I mean, if you hadn’t have broken it off, if you hadn’t driven to school that day, we’d both be dead, right? If that’s not the universe’s way of telling me it wasn’t meant to be, I don’t know what is.

			Anyway, I hope you get this. I’m glad you and your mom made it out. I hope you’re okay.

			Happy Valentine’s Day.

			Love E

			Grant, Kady—
Psych Profile/Conscript Suitability Assessment
Incept 02/17/75
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			—Page 2—

			suggests Ms. Grant is considerably more capable than her test results indicate. When contrasted with the early training exercises she undertook in the Hypatia’s makeshift educational facility, her current outcomes are less than impressive. Simply put, she doesn’t want to score the sorts of results that would get her into the neurogramming training program.

			TEAMWORK: Ms. Grant does not work well with others. The accounts of her peers indicate she was previously a relatively social girl at school, although she did not have a large number of close friends. It is clear that she now prefers her own company. She is, frankly, demoralizing to others in a group situation.

			ATTITUDE: Ms. Grant displays strong anti-establishment sentiments, and has an awkward habit of questioning authority figures at all the wrong moments. This, combined with the intelligence she tries so hard to conceal, makes her something of a liability. It doesn’t appear ego is at play, as she is content to be viewed as average. Rather, it appears her queries and (often successful) attempts at destabilization are driven by her personal beliefs.

			CONCLUSION:

			▢ Conscript—Priority 1

			▢ Conscript—Priority 2

			▢ Conscript—Priority 3

			☒ Do Not Conscript

			COMMENTS: We’d expend more time combating her games and forcing her to get some work done than could be compensated for by her output. It appears she’s willing to leave us alone if we leave her alone, and there are better candidates for recruitment.
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			ByteMe: That all you got?

			CitB: ah, the new girl

			ByteMe: Sure it is, but who are you?

			CitB: the guy who can show u how to get all the info you’ve been trawling for

			CitB: and more

			ByteMe: In exchange for what? Nothing comes for free in this place.

			CitB: for u, no cost but time. for the folks upstairs, plenty. the Alexander is a military ship and here on Hypatia we’re civilians, but emergency or not, we have a right to more information than they give us.

			CitB: our lives are on the line too. u want to join the fight, ur welcome

			ByteMe: Just like that.

			CitB: u’ve been sitting your entry exam this last month, grasshopper. been watching u poke around inside the system. u don’t like being kept in the dark either. seen u keeping an eye on a few things. on a few people.

			ByteMe: Well you don’t sound creepy at ALL.

			CitB: what i sound like is someone who knows more than u. u want lessons or not?

			ByteMe: Want.

			CitB: then let’s get started
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			Hey K,

			I’m not sure if you’ll get this. I mailed you last month, but maybe it didn’t go through. If things aboard the Hypatia are anything like things over here, it probably didn’t. Maybe you’re busy. Or you don’t want to talk to me. I get it.

			It was my birthday yesterday. Eighteen years old, can you believe that? Good news is I can drink legally, now. Bad news is there’s nothing to drink. Even the water’s in short supply. :P

			They’ve got me doing tests. Not just me—there’s a whole bunch of us. VR sims and psych analysis and physicals. They’ve drafted a whole bunch of the Kerenza refugees into the UTA over here. Not sure if they’re doing the same on the Hypatia. Wartime conscription they called it. And now I’m eighteen, they’re looking at me. Which I guess means we’re in deeper shit than anyone figured.

			I had a dream about you last night. No, not like that, relax.

			It was the day of the attack, and I see you in your truck in the parking lot. And I run up to the window and knock, but you don’t let me in. You just stare, like you don’t know me. And I pound on the glass and yell your name, but you just shake your head. And then you drive off and leave me there. Weird thing is, there’s someone who looks exactly like me sitting right next to you the whole time. And he’s laughing.

			And then the ships come.

			You think it means something?

			Anyway, I hope you’re ok. Write back and let me know. Even if it’s just to say you got this.

			Love E

			[image: page 034 art]

			Mason, Ezra—

			Psych Profile/Conscript Suitability Assessment

			Interview Excerpt

			Incept 03/19/75

			INTERVIEWER: So tell me about your mother.

			Ezra Mason: (laughter) Nice one, chum. You know, you’re the first shrink I ever met with a sense of … 

			Ezra Mason:  … Wait, you serious?

			INTERVIEWER: Does it bother you? Talking about her?

			Ezra Mason: It bothers me you snaffled your psych eval questions off the back of a box of Jupiter Loops, chum. That’s honestly your opener? “Tell me about your mother?” Are you dusted?

			INTERVIEWER: You’ve undergone psychiatric evaluation before, then?

			Ezra Mason: What makes you say that?

			INTERVIEWER: You said I’m the first psychoanalyst you’ve met who had a sense of humor. Meaning you’ve met others who didn’t?

			Ezra Mason: Proper little Sherlock over here, huh.

			INTERVIEWER: There’s no need for hostility, Mr. Mason.

			Ezra Mason: Mr. Mason is my dad.

			INTERVIEWER: Yes, your father. Tell me about him.

			Ezra Mason: Nothing to tell. He’s an engineer. Works the heavy processors in the hermium refinery. Bad cook. Worse jokes. You know. A dad.

			INTERVIEWER: Do you miss him?

			Ezra Mason: What kind of question is that?

			INTERVIEWER: It’s been over a month since he was killed in the Kerenza assault. You still talk about him in the present tense.

			INTERVIEWER: Do you think that’s interesting, Ezra?

			Ezra Mason: (inaudible profanity)

			INTERVIEWER: All right, then. Let’s talk about something that makes you happy.

			Ezra Mason: … You mean like lingerie models?

			INTERVIEWER: Tell me about your girlfriend.

			Ezra Mason: Wowwww.

			Ezra Mason: You’re really bad at this, chum.

			Ezra Mason: Like, if Bad was a sport, you could Bad for your planet.

			INTERVIEWER: Your girlfriend doesn’t make you happy?

			Ezra Mason: She dumped me the day our colony exploded.

			Ezra Mason: Rim-shot?

			INTERVIEWER: Do you still care about her?

			Ezra Mason: Next question.

			INTERVIEWER: It’s just I notice you put her down as your emergency contact on the Alexander intake form. It seems strange to name a girl you broke up with as your effective next of kin.

			Ezra Mason: I never told you I broke up with her. She broke up with me.

			INTERVIEWER: Why?

			Ezra Mason: That’s so not your business, it almost punches clean past the event horizon of Not Your Business and becomes Your Business again.

			INTERVIEWER: You two had a fight?

			Ezra Mason: All couples have fights.

			INTERVIEWER: Is that how you got those scars on your arm?

			Ezra Mason:  … What? Chum, I’ve had these since I was eight. What the fuck is wrong with you?

			Ezra Mason: You don’t do this for a living, right? Please tell me the real Alexander psych crew all got X-ed out by those BeiTech assholes and you’re the guy who used to clean the scrubbers or something.

			INTERVIEWER: I work the infirmary.

			Ezra Mason:  … Jesus, I was kidding. You’re serious?

			Ezra Mason: You’re not even a qualified shrink? Well that’s just fucking chill.

			INTERVIEWER: I’m post-grad med from the UTA Academy. Psych major. We do six months field work in our final year. I pulled duty on the Alexander. But it doesn’t take a graduate from Neo-Oxford to see you have some serious anger issues, Mr. Mason. So we can talk about it if you like, or we can sit here and stare at the walls until our allotted hour is over.

			INTERVIEWER: It’s up to you.

			(skip 51:27 minutes of complete silence)

			Ezra Mason: She asked for something I couldn’t give her.

			INTERVIEWER:  … I beg your pardon?

			Ezra Mason: My girlfriend. Kady. She asked for something I couldn’t give her.

			INTERVIEWER: What did she ask you for?

			Ezra Mason: Doesn’t really matter now, does it? Whole ’verse gone to hell and all. Point is, for someone like Kady, the asking part is hard enough. She doesn’t do the vulnerable thing real good. She doesn’t like needing anyone. So when I said no and couldn’t give a reason, it kinda … broke the back of it, you know?

			INTERVIEWER: Why wouldn’t you give her a reason when you said no?

			Ezra Mason: If I didn’t tell her, you honestly think I’m gonna tell you?

			INTERVIEWER: Which brings me back to your mother.

			Ezra Mason: Oh, and how you figure that, Mr. Post-grad?

			INTERVIEWER: Typically, trust issues in teenagers stem from childhood abuse by authority figures. Teachers and parents, mostly. The fact you’ve undergone psych-eval before lends weight to the theory.

			INTERVIEWER: Now, you obviously loved your father, hence your inability to process his death and your open hostility toward anyone who makes reference to it. The next logical line of enquiry is your mother.

			INTERVIEWER: So. Tell me about your mother.

			Ezra Mason: You’re taping this, right?

			INTERVIEWER: Audio only. Camera is faulty.

			Ezra Mason: Okay, well for the benefit of the sight-impaired, I am now raising my … Oh, dear … yes, it’s my middle finger at Mr. Post-Grad here.

			INTERVIEWER: Mr. Mason … 

			Ezra Mason: Now I’m wiggling it.

			INTERVIEWER: Terminating interview at 13:58, 03/19/75.

			Ezra Mason: Look at it wiggle—

			—audio ends—

			Mason, Ezra—
Psych Profile/Conscript Suitability Assessment
Incept 03/21/75
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			—Page 2—

			shows signs of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder: aggression, avoidance, night terrors and survivor guilt.

			TEAMWORK: Mr. Mason is a team player, capable of stepping up to leadership roles if required. High school sports: making life easier for military recruiters since 1914.

			ATTITUDE: The death of Mr. Mason’s only living relative (father) during the Kerenza assault has left him with a deep sense of resentment and anger. However, his aggression is progressing, and is almost entirely focused on the BeiTech Corporation. And BeiTech are the people who’ll be shooting at him.

			CONCLUSION:

			☒ Conscript—Priority 1

			▢ Conscript—Priority 2

			▢ Conscript—Priority 3

			▢ Do Not Conscript

			Comments: Mr. Mason’s PTSD and anxiety levels would normally make him a washout for combat duty. However, with Alexander’s current shortfall of suitable Cyclone pilots and considering Mason’s test results (Spatial Awareness: top 94 percentile; Pattern Prediction: top 99.7 percentile), it’s our recommendation to conscript.

			The kid’s hostility toward BeiTech can be harnessed in a conflict situation. Throwing him into task-oriented activities in a social environment (combat training) may even prove therapeutic. And if not, a few months from now, he’s not our problem.

			Get him in a cockpit ASAP.
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			Kades

			i am not sending this to you I am just writing it down and then i will delete it because of reasons. My friend jimmy says it is best to get these things off your chest and since u are not here to say this to i’m pretending because you know think of my chest. it has things on it

			so i am somewhat … liquefied but never fear i do notspend my days drinking alone in my bunk, the hooch is to hard to get lol. IT IS A CELEBRATION as i am now officially cleared for flight status, me flying a cyclone holy fuckingshit wtf has the universe come to.

			anyway since i will never send this, I feel it fair to say i thought it wasrough not to mail me back I get mahybe you don’t want to talk me and thats fine but a simple “i do not wish to speak to you goodday sir” would have been nice and this is shabby treatment madam, verily

			since i will not send this, i also feel it is my duty to inform you that almost six months on I think I still love you and that makes me sad becaue love shouldn’t feel this way. is like getting kicked in the stomach every time i think of you and it makes me want to roll my face across this keyboardbiu;///ubEWdcfhugiov’byhi;.//////-=‘-0i9juh8ygtfdcsaazs34defg7uefg7u8hi9o0p8hi9o0p-[[09ju8dcsaazs34d9o0p-[[09.
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			INCEPT: 07/20/75

			LOCATION: (Kerenza VII barycenter) 778.76, 325.71, 1243.56k

			PILOT IDENT: Ezra Mason (UTN-966-330ad)

			RANK: Second Lieutenant

			CALLSIGN: N/A

			Fire does weird shit in space.

			You don’t really think about it until you see something burn out there. You light a match in zero grav, the flame will be perfectly round. Like the way Terra looks in the old ‘casts. And just like Terra, the flame won’t flicker orange or yellow or even white out there in the black. It’ll burn blue as a VR sky. Blue as a pretty girl’s eyes.

			They didn’t tell us that in basic. It kinda dunked my head.

			I’ve never written one of these before. An After Action Report. You can probably tell. Sorry if I chuff it up. Between zero-grav flight sim and Cyclone tech systems and memorizing the Alexander’s 316 different firing solutions, they probably figured teaching us paperwork wasn’t the best use of our time. I’m so green at the controls they haven’t even given me a callsign yet. The General told me to just type up everything and let the censors sort it out, so that’s what I’ll do.

			Follow fucking orders.

			That’s what I do.

			On 7/19/75 at 21:00 hours I was situated in the cockpit of my Cyclone fighter. Our fleet—consisting of battlecarrier Alexander, science vessel Hypatia and heavy freighter Copernicus—was in orbit around the first moon of Kerenza VII, engaged in resupply operations. The fleet’s H2O levels had reached critical, and Kerenza VII(a) was mostly frozen water, so our crews were busy hauling thousand-ton ice boulders up from orbit while the Lincoln got closer and closer.

			My fighter Group was running dogfight drills 600 klicks off the Alexander’s portside, skirting the edge of Kerenza VII’s atmosphere. Present during “the incident” were myself and three other members of Alexander Flight Group Echo: our CO, Major Eli “Prophet” Hawking, First Lieutenant Zhenya “Dreadnought” Alvaranga and another rook, Second Lieutenant Mikael Carlin.

			I’d only been cleared for flight status two weeks earlier, and I was still a bunny at the stick. I’d logged near a hundred hours in VR, but all the sims in the ’verse won’t prep you for the real black. Two minutes out there is about all it takes to teach you how little you know about everything. You’re a speck of animated carbon and water with about seven inches of ballistics-grade ceramic between you and absolutely nothing. Ninety-three billion light-years of fucking nothing. No up. No down. No sky. No ground. Just endless dark shot through with tiny spears of sunlight older than you and your entire species stacked end to end. You want to feel small? Spend sixty seconds in a Cyclone’s cockpit, chum. Look out at the nothing and feel it looking back. Then you know exactly how much you add up to.

			We were off the Alexander’s portside, like I said. Even 600 klicks away, you wouldn’t believe how huge a United Terran Authority battlecarrier looks. It’s a megacity-sized fist of matte grey, tail end lit blue-white by thruster arrays big as sky-scrapers.

			I saw in VR somewhere that old Terran sailors used to refer to their ships like they were ladies. It was all “She’s the fastest ship in the isles, guv’nor,” or “She went down with all hands on board” or whatever. And it’s funny—my Cyclone feels like a girl. Looks and moves like a girl. She’s all sleek lines and sharp curves and edges that can bleed you white. Sometimes, I swear she flies me.

			But Alexander is a “he,” no doubt in my mind. There’s no grace to him. No real symmetry. He looks exactly like what he is—a brawler who picked a fight with someone just a little better. He’s got a broken-jaw face and a bucktoothed smile, wide as an ocean. He doesn’t fly through space, he punches through. Rips holes in it and drags himself and everything around along with him. A hundred thousand kilometers of cable beneath gunmetal skin. Open black scars torn down his flanks from the retreat at Kerenza IV. Brain the size of a city burning inside him. He’s no lady, sure and certain. No gentleman, either. You do not fuck the Alexander. The Alexander fucks you.

			The science vessel Hypatia was situated about 4,000 klicks aft of the Alexander. Now she’s a she. Beautiful ship, chum. Lines like poetry. She doesn’t move in space, she dances in it. Asks you to take her hand and close your eyes and fly with her.

			The heavy freighter Copernicus was on Alexander’s portside, about 6k klicks aft. If I had to pick, I’m not sure if I would’ve called that ship a boy or a girl. I’ve seen pictures of turtles on the VR. Copernicus almost reminded me of those. The city-sized shell on its back filled with enough fuel to juice it, the Alexander and the Hypatia combined. All the eggs in one basket.

			I think there’s a saying about that.

			Second Lieutenant Carlin and I had just been tagged by Dreadnought for the fourth time in twenty minutes. Regular as analog. Her targeting computer would light us up, the words “Vessel Destroyed Vessel Destroyed” would flash on our heads-up displays and she’d laugh down comms at us like we were the funniest clowns she’d ever seen fly a stick.

			She’d started referring to Carlin as “Chatter” because he talked too much between engagements. I felt bad for the guy—when a superior officer slaps a nick on you, chances are it’s gonna stick. “Chatter” doesn’t rank up there with the chillest callsigns in the fleet.

			Dreadnought was still tossing ideas around for me, and every time she dropped a firebomb like “Prettyboy” I’d shit myself just a little. They engrave those callsigns on your coffin when you get X-ed out. Last thing you wanna picture when you imagine your send-off is a bunch of fellow Cyclone drones standing around toasting the death of “Lieutenant Sugarpants.”

			We were forming up for another round of tag when the red alert sounded. At first I thought it was a drill, but then AIDAN spoke to us direct on comms. See, AIDAN doesn’t do drills. The Alexander’s Artificial Intelligence isn’t capable of lying. Sure, it can think for itself, but no neurogrammer is stupid enough to make a computer capable of conceptualizing deceit. These things are so smart now, the ability to spin bullshit is all that separates us from them.

			“Major Hawking. Please order your flight group to arm ballistics and pulse missiles. Safety disengaged. This is a code red.”

			AIDAN’s voice is sexless. It has perfect tone and inflection and pronunciation, but it doesn’t sound old, or young, or have even a hint of an accent. It even refuses to refer to pilots by their callsigns. I mean, sometimes it sounds cranky with you if you carve up the flight deck when you land or whatever, but aside from those occasional twitches, it’s like a beautiful painting of a totally empty room. Gives me the crawls.

			Prophet repeated the order, and Dreadnought, Carlin and me all went hot. Didn’t even think about it. Thinking gets you killed, that’s what they tell you.

			The three of us formed up on Prophet’s wing as he opened channel to Alexander, asking for confirmation from General Torrence. Except Prophet got no meat response on the other end. Just AIDAN giving us coordinates and telling us to scramble at redline speed. We flipped 270º, jammed stick and burned it toward the target. One look at my spatials told me where we were headed. Right at the Copernicus.

			I remember the conversation that happened next. Every word. I can hear it right now in my head, like I’m there all over again.

			“AIDAN, this is Prophet. Patch me through to General Torrence.”

			“Major Hawking. Proceed to designated grid coordinates at assault speed.”

			“Roger that, AIDAN, we are en route. Patch me through to General Torrence.”

			“Unable to comply.”

			“Say again, AIDAN?”

			“Unable to comply.”

			I squinted at my instruments, glancing up through the blastspex to confirm what my readouts were telling me. A tiny flare was blooming on the Copernicus’s skin. I saw nearly a dozen small scarab shapes dropping from the heavy freighter’s belly, one after another. Thrusters flaring. Twisted metal glittering in their wake.

			“Prophet, something just blew through the Copernicus’s launch bay doors,” I reported.

			“Why was the launch bay locked in the first place?” Carlin asked.

			“Shut your fucking blowhole, Chatter!” Dreadnought barked, “Prophet, I’m detecting multiple shuttle launches from the Copernicus, acknowledge?”

			“Roger that, I see them. No comms from Copernicus. No launch permit on the shuttles. Lead craft ident: Osprey.”

			AIDAN’s voice crackled over comms.

			“Major Hawking, you are ordered to intercept Osprey Group two thousand kilometers from Copernicus hypocenter. Acknowledge.”

			“… Hypocenter?” Prophet repeated.

			Hypocenter. From the Greek, chums. Literally means “below the center.” It’s a term used to describe the origin point of an earthquake. Or a nuclear explosion.

			That got our attention. No fucking doubt.

			I saw warning lights flashing on my HUD. Radiation spike. At that point I was nothing but adrenaline and sweat. And then I realized the Alexander had arced up its assault batteries. Missiles were heating, firing solutions feeding into our nav comps, a dozen LEDs flashing on my consoles now. The Alexander had armed its nukes.

			And it was aiming at the Copernicus.

			I asked Prophet what the fuck was happening, only to get howled at by Dreadnought for clogging comms. We were closing on the Copernicus at full burn, about 3,000 klicks away now. My hands were shaking so bad I could barely hold formation. The freighter loomed in my viewshield. Metal gleaming in the light of Kerenza VII’s atmos. Swirling blue and bloody red and copper-flavored gold.

			Prophet was shouting into comms now. “AIDAN, we have detected nuclear armaments being spooled in your silos. Patch me through to General Torrence now! Acknowledge!”

			“Transmission acknowledged, Major Hawking. Unable to comply.”

			Prophet ordered me to raise the Copernicus on comms while he kept trying to get through to anyone human on board the Alexander. Copernicus was transmitting nothing but white noise. I did what I was told anyway.

			“Heavy freighter Copernicus, this is Second Lieutenant Mason from Battlecarrier Alexander, do you copy?”

			I got hissing silence for a reply. Maybe they couldn’t hear me.

			Maybe they weren’t transmitting.

			Or maybe they were being jammed.

			“Copernicus, this is Alexander Cyclone Flight Group Echo. Do you copy?”

			And then it happened. Inbound alarms screeched in my cockpit and the Alexander let loose. Just like that. There’s no up or down in space. Everything is relative. Funny how it can still feel like the entire universe has flipped on its head. My HUD was pretty much all red at this point. Prophet was yelling into comms, demanding an explanation from AIDAN. He still pulled up at the two thousand klick point like he’d been ordered, though.

			Copernicus was armed with anti-inbound batteries and ghost tech that might fool a missile’s targeting computer on a good day. But the ship wasn’t running up its defense solutions. It looked fine from the exterior—they still had power, engines, nav. The lights were on, but nobody was home.

			I watched the missile speed across the black. Lipstick-red tip, pristine white flanks, serial number stenciled in neat black lettering along its belly: URD:00M.

			“Your doom”.

			I wondered if that was some spanner monkey’s idea of a joke.

			I wondered if the fucker was laughing now.

			Sound doesn’t travel in space. There’s no atmos to carry it. All those old school Terran future flicks we laugh at on retro night in the amphitheater got it wrong. But when that missile struck the Copernicus and burned blue, I swear I heard it. Felt it in my chest. The compensators on my visor dropped into sudden black against the flare, but I could still see it—Copernicus being blown to pieces within a perfect sphere of blue. Chunks tumbling like thousand-ton jigsaw pieces across the black. Two thousand plus lives snuffed out in an instant. Dismantled by the blast or frozen into people-shaped icicles.

			All of it happening in perfect, absolute

			silence.

			Debris was speeding toward us on the edge of the blastwave, pattering on my blast-shield like rain, colliding with Kerenza VII’s atmos and burning through every color of the rainbow. I could still hear Prophet’s voice on comms, but I can’t remember what he was saying. Maybe he was still asking for an explanation. Maybe he was praying. I honestly can’t tell you.

			I could still see the shuttles streaking toward us, came to my senses, like someone turned the universal volume back on. I could see other Cyclones popping up on my spatials—more flight groups scrambled from Alexander. I’d tried hailing the lead shuttle on open comms, on the day’s secure frequencies, on universal. Nothing. But someone had to be flying them—they’d been moving too erratically for autopilot scripts. And then AIDAN spoke again.

			“Major Hawking, intercept Osprey Group and destroy. Acknowledge.”

			I heard Dreadnought talk on open comms, then. That’s when I knew we were in real shit.

			“Jah … ,” she said. “Jah, help us.”

			Prophet requested confirmation. “AIDAN, say again? You want us to fire on civilians?”

			“Quarantine breach in motion. Class Alpha Zero pathogen. Intercept Osprey Group and destroy. Acknowledge.”

			“Oh, god … ,“said Carlin.

			“Quarantine breach in motion. Class Alpha Zero pathogen. Intercept Osprey Group and destroy. Acknowledge.”

			“Intercept Osprey Group and destroy. Acknowledge.”

			“Intercept Osprey Group and destroy. Acknowledge.”

			“Intercept Osprey Group and destroy. Acknowledge.”
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			In the six months since we left Kerenza, we have been pursued by the BeiTech vessel BT042-TN, the ship we know as the Lincoln. We owe the Alexander, her crew and the United Terran Authority military a great debt of gratitude for their protection.

			We are still several months from reaching a jump waypoint, and the Lincoln will use any means within her power to prevent us from reaching that safe passage, and telling the rest of the galaxy of the atrocities perpetuated by BeiTech on the Kerenza colony.

			It is with deepest regret I inform you all that last night at 21:15 (shipboard time), the Lincoln launched a surprise assault on our fleet, resulting in the destruction of the heavy freighter Copernicus.

			I know many of you had friends, family and colleagues aboard the Copernicus, as did I. Survivors aboard nine shuttles were rescued during the assault by the Alexander’s Cyclone pilots, and we extend to them our heartfelt thanks for their heroic efforts.

			Due to the health concerns on the Copernicus in recent times, the survivors have been quarantined aboard the Alexander. This has slowed our efforts to compile a list of names and details, however, please rest assured we understand the urgency of this task.

			We are renewing our efforts to make good time toward a jump waypoint, and safety. Please assist and support those around you who have lost family, friends or colleagues. Memorial and pan-denominational services will be arranged shortly, and details posted in the mess halls.
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			ByteMe: u seen the PIR? it’s bullshit

			CitB: huge surprise, the brass r lying. KNEW this was coming

			ByteMe: u psychic now?

			CitB: should have started digging when they took down civilian comms on the Copernicus. maintenance, my ass.

			ByteMe: so they were hiding something, let’s work out what

			CitB: you got any gen?

			ByteMe: working on it now.

			CitB: u still there?

			ByteMe: trying to get past the ICE wall, takes a while. systems are SO busy over there. seems like they have their main engines off, but that makes no sense. we should be accelerating fast as we can, before the Lincoln gets busy again.

			CitB: tick tock tick tock

			ByteMe: u can do any better, feel free

			CitB: sorry. r u ok?

			ByteMe: fine. found a court martial list

			CitB: … 

			CitB: say again?

			ByteMe: they’re court martialing the pilots that heroically saved all the people on the Copernicus shuttles

			CitB: what the fuck?

			ByteMe: got the records here. u tell me why they do that if the pilots were under orders

			CitB: not the only mystery, grasshopper. i’m hunting for any scans or records showing Lincoln got close enough to us to take a shot. nothing so far. it’s still way behind us, far as i can tell

			ByteMe: so no attack from Lincoln, and they’re court martialing our pilots. are we saying it was our guys who took out the Copernicus?

			CitB: fuck me

			ByteMe: ew no

			CitB: this is getting weirder and weirder. but that can wait, trying to find u a survivor list first

			ByteMe: don’t need one

			CitB: course you do

			ByteMe: i don’t want to talk about it

			CitB: you need to know who made it off

			ByteMe: i need to know who shot down the Copernicus, that’s the real mystery here

			CitB: look, we both know i have no social skills, but if you need to talk about it

			ByteMe: need you to tell me what you’re finding

			CitB: … 

			CitB: finding something weird.

			CitB: I can’t get a read on AIDAN. thought I was just hitting ICE walls but it’s more like nobody’s home … 
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			PILOT IDENT: Cayla Alton (UTN-924-776ad)

			RANK: Major

			CALLSIGN: Sting

			FLIGHT GROUP: Delta

			PILOT IDENT: Eli Hawking (UTN-912-842ad)

			RANK: Major

			CALLSIGN: Prophet

			FLIGHT GROUP: Echo

			PILOT IDENT: Zhenya Alvaranga (UTN-945-817ad)

			RANK: First Lieutenant

			CALLSIGN: Dreadnought

			FLIGHT GROUP: Echo

			PILOT IDENT: Ezra Mason (UTN-966-330ad)

			RANK: Second Lieutenant

			CALLSIGN: N/A

			——LIST INCOMPLETE——

			——ACCESS INTERRUPTED——-
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			I’ve tried writing this email ten times already and I can’t get it right, so I’m just going to send this through, whatever it ends up saying.

			I’m sorry I didn’t write you back. I should have. I mean, when you say “I’m never going to speak to you again,” you don’t think your planet’s going to be invaded that afternoon. It was more, you know, an opening position on negotiations. I was angry.

			But you said in your email maybe the universe was telling us it wasn’t going to work out. You’re the most romantic idiot I know, so I guess if you think so, it must be true. That stung, but still, I’m sorry I didn’t write back. Because yeah, I should have let you know I was okay.

			I’m still on the Hypatia, I’m in intel training. Since I heard about the Copernicus, I haven’t been able to stop thinking about you—this is not me retracting my promise to kick you into the soprano range if you ever come near me again, but I had to check you’re okay. So, let me know if you’re okay, then we can go back to being … whatever we are now.

			Kady
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			Mason, E, LT 2nd: well played, McNulty. well played, indeed

			McNulty, J, Sgt: wut

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: You have just overstepped the line, chum. I put you on notice

			McNulty, J, Sgt: this my wtf face—-> ?_?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: What I want to know is how you jacked her User ID. You pull in Dorian from commtechs to help? What did you do to convince him to help? Blowjob?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: r u dusted or sumthing

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I thought the chipheads would have their hands full trying to figure out what made AIDAN go all HAL on us, instead, they’re piggybacking secure IDs and helping you fuck with my head. I didn’t think your blow jobs were that good

			McNulty, J, Sgt: chum wtf u talkin bout

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I take this as a declaration of war. Presuming they don’t line me up against a bulkhead and shoot me after my court martial tomorrow, I will be making sweet, sweet love to your sister by week’s end. This I do solemnly vow

			McNulty, J, Sgt: ezra don’t joke about my sister I fucking warned u

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: sweet

			McNulty, J, Sgt: chum … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: sweet

			McNulty, J, Sgt: mason … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: lurrrrrrve

			McNulty, J, Sgt: DON’T JOKE ABOUT MY FUCKING SISTERCOCKSUCKER I WILL RIP OFF UR FUCKING SQUIB AND JAM IT UP YOUR FUCKING ASS

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I LIKED THIS GIRL. I TOLD U THAT. I MAY NOT HAVE BEEN ABLE TO WALKSTRAIGHT AT THE TIME BUT YOU SAID IT WAS IN THE VAULT

			McNulty, J, Sgt: WUT GIRL U CRAYZ FUCK

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: KADY GRANT

			McNulty, J, Sgt: … who?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: oh you don’t know, fuck you chum, this is some pistols at dawn shit right here

			McNulty, J, Sgt: mason I have NO FUCKING IDEA wut u r talking bout rite now

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: so you didn’t send this message

			McNulty, J, Sgt: WUT MESSAGE

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I send u

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: got?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: roger that

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: READING FUCK

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: *taps fingers*

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Fuck me how long it take you to read you illiterate fuck

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I heard your sister likes it zero gee true/false?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: chum this wasn’t me

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i smell lies

			McNulty, J, Sgt: srsly

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: eat a dick

			McNulty, J, Sgt: MASON

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Yummy scrummy dick

			McNulty, J, Sgt: LOOK AT THIS WRITING I DO NOT WRITE LIKE THIS SHE GOT ALL PUNCTUATIONS AND THINGS

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: if you are lying, all jokes aside, i will totally gun for your sister

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I swear to god I will make her my bride

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … although now you mention it, your punctuation is fucking ungodly. … 

			McNulty, J, Sgt: “I haven’t been able to stop thinking about you”

			McNulty, J, Sgt: CHum

			McNulty, J, Sgt: You are IN

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			McNulty, J, Sgt: PICKING CURTAINS

			McNulty, J, Sgt: MEETING PARENTS

			McNulty, J, Sgt: MAKING PUPPIES

			McNulty, J, Sgt: wait didn’t u say this fem rolled u up and smoked u

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ripped my heart out my chest

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Showed it to me, still beating

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: then slam-dunked it off the ice shelf

			McNulty, J, Sgt: she get good air?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: fuck you chum

			McNulty, J, Sgt: cheer up, bitch. She wouldn’t have written if her loins did not ache for thee

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: can u read? She threatening to kick me in the sopranos. She says it’s over.

			McNulty, J, Sgt: “I haven’t been able to stop thinking about you”

			McNulty, J, Sgt: “I haven’t been able to stop thinking about you”

			McNulty, J, Sgt: “I haven’t been able to stop thinking about you”

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ALRIGHT SHUT UP FUCKER

			McNulty, J, Sgt: read between the lines fool

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: zzzz, so what do I say to her?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: nfi. probably start by apologizing for wutever u did

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: what makes you think it was my fault?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: because it’s ALWAYS the chum’s fault, chum

			McNulty, J, Sgt: u got extra-curricular didn’t u?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: fuck no. I’d have no sopranos to kick if i’d done dirty

			McNulty, J, Sgt: come on, u can tell uncle Jimmy

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: shut up i like this fem

			McNulty, J, Sgt: AND SHE OBVS STILL LIKES U OR SHE WOULDN’T BE WRITING GODDAMN U ARE A MOPEY BITCH

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			McNulty, J, Sgt: so whatever u did, say u’re sorry. on your knees.

			McNulty, J, Sgt: <insert quip about u being good at that here>

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			McNulty, J, Sgt: and if that works

			McNulty, J, Sgt: u must name ur first kid james in my honor

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: >_>

			McNulty, J, Sgt: if it’s a daughter u name it jamette

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: 0_o

			McNulty, J, Sgt: and then it’s happy ever after for Ezra Mason

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: :D

			McNulty, J, Sgt: shit

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: what

			McNulty, J, Sgt: I was just thinking now it will be a real crusher if they shoot u 2morrow

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: :(
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			Well, this is attempt #18 at writing back, so I guess I’ve got you beat.

			I’m ok. I’ve been on the Alexander since Kerenza fell. The UTA recruited me when I hit eighteen.

			I’m flying cyclones now, if you can believe that. Shows you how short-manned they are if they’ve got me droning a fighter stick. I guess I finally made it off world, huh? Probably not what you had in mind … 

			You might wanna be careful with the intel training. If they’ve got you doing any neurogramming, the UTA might conscript you too. They’re way short-handed over here since the hits they took at Kerenza. One of the pulse missile hits X-ed out, like, three quarters of the NG guys. Might be hard to keep avoiding me if we’re living in each other’s pockets. :P

			Anyway, I gotta go. Got this meeting thing coming up. Guy here to talk about it.

			It’s chill to hear from you though. Real chill.

			Ezra

			PS: Um, the drunken keyboard face mail? Totally not me. One of my squaddies got onto my terminal. He thought it’d be funny. Really sorry about that.

			PPS: Seriously. Not me.

			PPPS: SERIOUSLY.
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			But thanks for messaging back. Everybody here is talking about the Cyclone pilots. They put out a PIR about how you all rescued the shuttles from the Copernicus. What’s it like to be a hero? I guess your meeting is getting measured for medals, right? Anyway, what was facing down the Lincoln like? And the rescue? It seems kind of weird that the Lincoln could just come out of nowhere like that. How did it all happen? Also, my friend here is wondering about the survivor lists becauseASDLKDGFKNDFGJBE MORE SUBTLE KADY LIKE A BRICK WHY DON’T YOU?

			DISCARD
SYSTEM FLUSH

			[image: page 077 art]

			They do have me in the neurogramming program, but I don’t like the sound of those odds. Time for a career change, if only I had a choice.

			I’d be okay, coming over to the Alexander, to be honest. I bet you guys have more information than us. You’re the military, you have a whole intelligence wing, right? Then again, if what they’re saying is true, the Lincoln snuck right up on us. Is that what really happened?

			Anyway, the Alexander would be okay. My quarters here aren’t with anyone I knew back on Kerenza, and even if everybody went through the same thing with the evac, it’s still … I don’t want to say lonely, because that sounds so ungrateful. We’re the ones that got out.

			I know things didn’t end well, but I think if the attack hadn’t come maybe we’d have found some way to at least still be friends. And you know, maybe … A year together can’t mean nothing. I thought

			DISCARD
SYSTEM FLUSH
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			Subject: It’s dark in here
Date: 07/20/75

			We’re back doing group counseling again. I’m back doing group counseling again. ME. I mean, I don’t even. After all the effort I put into getting out of this the first time.

			But they’ve decided we are all super traumatized by the Copernicus, and reconvened the groups they had running after the rescue. The latest round of talking (or not) about our feelings led our group leader to conclude maybe some of us are more forthcoming than others when it comes to sharing the deepest, darkest parts of ourselves.

			Being the astute creature she is, she spent ten minutes I’m never getting back pointing out that just because we don’t talk about our feelings, doesn’t mean we don’t have them.

			Thank you, Captain Obvious.

			I guess she was looking at me on that one. I haven’t slept properly since it happened, and I keep waking up at night wondering … bad things. I just don’t think talking about it to a group of worried faces is the way to help me.

			I hate the crying the most. It just creeps up on you out of nowhere, and suddenly you’re in the middle of doing something and you realize your goddamn eyes are wet again and you don’t know how it happened. And the last—the LAST—thing you want is for anyone to notice, because next thing they’re cooing and clucking over you, and they want you to talk, and it’s more than I can take.

			I have my mom’s voice ringing in my ears, though, so I am trudging along dutifully to these stupid group discussions, even though it’s pointless.

			I haven’t kept a journal since I was a kid, filling it with all the secrets of the universe, the suckitude of my parents moving me to a hideous hunk of rock like Kerenza, the total angst of it all that I’d give anything to get back. It worked, though. Writing it down stopped me saying it when I shouldn’t, and over time the problems faded away. My present problems aren’t going anywhere, but maybe the Return Of The Journal will stop my head exploding.

			This thing is locked down under the kind of privacy protections even Byron couldn’t crack. And if anyone reads it, I’m going to devote my life to finding a way to program every bathroom door on the Hypatia to refuse to recognize their ID. Actually, I think I could do that. BEWARE, SNOOPER.

			So, a journal. I appreciate that they’re trying to help with the group sessions, but they’re scientists, not therapists. You can’t run people through a quick training session and then have them host a bunch of traumatized survivors sitting in a circle and trying to talk it out.

			My group leader says it’s important to talk about my FEELINGS. I am stone-hearted and have none, of course.

			Well, that’s not true. Most people would say I’m pretty cold, but I think of it more as … private. People are always saying “how are you?” to each other, and I guess I just don’t see why I should answer such a personal question for just anyone.

			But for the sake of trying, here goes.

			Ezra’s been on my mind a lot, lately. Why, I don’t know, except that the more you lose, the more you realize you don’t have much left.

			But at the same time, I’m … am I dumb to go back there? It was hard enough to make a decision the first time, but if after a year he couldn’t even trust me enough to talk about whatever he had going on … and anyway, practically the first thing he did was email me and say it was all a sign, and we weren’t meant to be together, and I do have SOME dignity. I don’t want to be an option for him just because now he doesn’t have any others.

			I’m glad he made it out, obviously. It’s not about that.

			I think a lot about who made it out, who didn’t. Sometimes I just remember some random person, like the lady who came to fix our habitation recyc the week before it all happened. I can see her face, but I don’t remember if I knew her name.

			I wonder if she made it out, if she’s somewhere on board, or if she died. And then I don’t know why I’m wondering something like that, or why I feel so bad about not knowing. Survivor Guilt, according to the Counseling Circle Of Hastily Downloaded Wisdom.

			I guess an experience like this is supposed to mess you up.
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			ByteMe: u there?

			ByteMe: ping

			ByteMe: ping

			ByteMe: PING COME ON COME ON

			CitB: fuck me, i’m here, what?????i was trying to find Copernicus survivor lists for you, that takes concentration u know

			ByteMe: told you i don’t want them. forget that. ping the Alexander

			CitB: how can u not want to know?

			ByteMe: PING THE ALEXANDER

			CitB: ok

			ByteMe: u doing it?

			CitB: trying

			ByteMe: well?

			CitB: still trying did u miss ur meds or what?? whats the rush??

			ByteMe: well?

			CitB: i can’t

			ByteMe: I KNOW

			CitB: ??

			ByteMe: comms are down

			CitB: system check?

			ByteMe: no they all blinked out simultaneous. when they’re running a check u see them cascade out. Alexander’s main engines are still offline too. i was watching for court martial results when comms were cut

			CitB: checking on ur boyfriend

			ByteMe: this again?

			CitB: don’t deny the flame still burns. ur heart leaps at the mention of his name. u know this is love, sent by forces above … 

			ByteMe: r u quoting song lyrics now?

			CitB: i do not have a lot of rl experience with romance

			ByteMe: listen, i’m doing this because it’s our best chance of finding out wtf happened to the Copernicus. we don’t have anyone else on the ground.

			CitB: mmm hmmmm

			ByteMe: can we please keep our mind on the job at hand?

			CitB: I don’t know, can we?

			ByteMe: Byron, they cut the ship link. Just like they did with Copernicus.

			CitB: ok, ok. i don’t like it either. i have news though

			CitB: there are def Copernicus survivors on the Alexander. i found signs about an hour ago. The Cyclones are only landing in bays 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6. see what’s missing?

			ByteMe: omgnumbers

			ByteMe: wait, wait, I CAN TOTALLY DO THIS.

			CitB: … 

			ByteMe: o, the thinking, it HURTS.

			CitB: ok fine, point taken

			ByteMe: wait … is it the number … 4?

			CitB: all RIGHT I’m sorry

			CitB: point is, we found our Copernicus shuttles

			ByteMe: so the survivors are still locked down

			ByteMe: shouldn’t they be debriefing, working out wtf happened?

			CitB: i’m just one guy, patience, grasshopper

			ByteMe: i want to know y they isolated us by cutting comms. R we next?

			CitB: careful going after that sort of gen. thats hardcore. they find u doing that they burn u right out

			ByteMe: ur scared

			CitB: no, smart. dangerous times

			COMMAND TRANSMISSION SENT 07/21/75 09:06

			HYPATIA HAILS ALEXANDER: NARROW FREQUENCY BROADCAST, SHORT BURST

			Alexander, Alexander, Alexander, this is Hypatia, Hypatia, Hypatia. Do you copy? Over.

			[NO RESPONSE]

			HYPATIA HAILS ALEXANDER: AUXILIARY FREQUENCY

			Alexander, Alexander, Alexander, this is Hypatia, Hypatia, Hypatia. Do you copy? Over.

			[NO RESPONSE]

			HYPATIA HAILS ALEXANDER: MAYDAY FREQUENCY

			Alexander, Alexander, Alexander, this is Hypatia, Hypatia, Hypatia. Do you copy? Over.

			ALEXANDER HAILS HYPATIA: MAYDAY FREQUENCY

			Auto-response: Your message has been received and quarantined. Your message will be processed. Over.

			HYPATIA: Alexander, this is Hypatia. What the fuck do you mean our message has been quarantined? This is Captain Chau. Get me Torrence on the line. Over.

			ALEXANDER: Your message has been received and quarantined. Your message will be processed. Over.

			HYPATIA: That right? Well process this: you flex your tiniest gun turret, look like you’re even reaching to scratch an itch, I’m going to raise so much noise the Lincoln and every ally she has in the ‘verse will know where to find you.

			ALEXANDER: Hypatia, this is Colonel Myles. Go secure. Repeat, go secure. Over.

			HYPATIA HAILS ALEXANDER: COMMANDER’S SECURE FREQUENCY

			HYPATIA: Lia, what the fuck?

			ALEXANDER: Sit tight, Ann. Comms are down while we do some work on AIDAN, and we could live without gossip flying back and forth between the ships. You should see the stats on broadcast frequency the last couple of days. Your people and ours have been busy. Loose lips … 

			HYPATIA: Look, I said exactly what you told me to say, I said it was the Lincoln that took out the Copernicus. Pretty soon someone’s going to have to start answering some questions for me, though. Anyone with eyes can see your main engines are offline and you’re reaccelerating on secondaries. Has this work you’re doing taken AIDAN offline completely? Get your main drives back up!

			HYPATIA: Where’s Torrence?

			ALEXANDER: He’s taking care of some official business. You have my word, Ann. We’re here to keep you safe.
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			This girl has to be some kind of spider monkey. I don’t know what those are, but I know what a spider is and I know what a monkey is, and if you found some unholy way to combine the two, that’s what I’d be watching right now. You said include everything: right now I am including my impression that she is very flexible, and apparently unaffected by gravity. I guess you need more context. I’ll go back to the start and transcribe from there.

			Footage opens at 11:38, 07/21/75. Subject is Kady Grant, neurogramming intel student third class, refugee from Kerenza training aboard the Hypatia to replace crew they lost to the Alexander. Camera 892A takes in the corridor leading through to the servers. She enters with a group of fellow trainees and an instructor, and they make their way down the corridor.

			The floor is a metal grid, and the clanging of their footsteps interferes with the audio on the file—the sound dampeners don’t work when there’s such a big gang. The noise drowns out individual conversations, but that doesn’t matter. They’re just fooling around the way students do, showing off for each other as they funnel down the long, narrow corridor, and she’s in the middle of it. She’s short, so she’s sometimes hidden behind other bodies, but there are enough glimpses to confirm she’s there.

			They reach the server door, and she slips to the back of the group as they shove through. The subject digs in her jumpsuit and palms something too small to pick up on the cameras. Just as she reaches the door itself, last in line and invisible to everybody else, she jumps, slapping at the environmental sensors by the top of the doorframe. There’s a dark mark there when her hand comes away, but camera definition isn’t good enough to pick up the specs.

			I would have laid down this week’s salary she couldn’t jump so high. Where does she get that kind of bounce from? Seriously, big jump for a small girl. She slips through the door the moment before it hums shut.

			Inside the server room, the data monkeys look up and scowl and make shut up we’re working gestures, which dampens the students. The data monkeys don’t look worried, though—they either don’t know the Alexander cut comms, or they’ve been fed some excuse.

			The room originally housed servers only, with personnel up the hall. The repurposing of the Hypatia from research vessel to refugee carrier removed that luxury. The servers have been relocated to line the walls, rows of desks crammed into the resultant space.

			The cables that would usually slither all over the floor have been looped up against the ceiling by fat metal bands, though they still droop and coil downward like so many intestines. Whichever interior design genius handled the redesign found some harsh, fluorescent emergency lights, and jammed them in among the cables bundled up against the roof, which means there are bands of bright light and deep shadow all over the room.

			The students, including the subject, take up places at the desks and log into their individual ports, getting to work on today’s assignment.

			At 11:41 the environmental controls in the server room and the corridor beyond indicate a concern regarding air quality, loud, high-pitched and fucking annoying beeping cutting over the chatter of the class and ruining what little audio I have.

			They all rise and grumble and turn for the door, and as they exit, the subject pulls her spider monkey thing. Stepping up onto her desk, she grabs at the nest of cables, tangled up there like a bowl of noodles. She’s little, and they hold her weight. The subject has picked a spot in the back of the room, and by the time the head datatech checks everybody’s out, she’s clinging to the ceiling in the shadows and out of sight.

			The door hums closed as she unpeels from the ceiling and drops to the ground. She walks over to one of her fellow student’s stations, still logged in. The enviro system is still beeping, and she looks up at the speakers like she wants to silence them with her death glare. It’s a pretty good death glare, actually. I’d behave.

			Subject inserts a mem-chit into the station’s port, pulls on the HUD headset and drags out the old-school keyboard. It slides out from the side of the station, sitting vertically, and her fingers dance. She sends a batch info dump to an anonymous holding drive—we know this from what we could piece together of the drive records. We still don’t know what most of that info was. Sliding away the keyboard, subject pulls off the HUD and dumps it on the desk. She then crawls in under the desk, so for a moment all you can see is her butt sticking out.

			No complaints here. Just saying.

			For those playing along at home, she was attaching a device called an interface leech. Has to be attached physically, and allows access to a super–low frequency broadcast band the fleet commanders use for emergency communications. So if you can access it, you can piggyback your own comms on it without anybody noticing.

			Also, somebody should probably tell the UTA they’ve got a fleet-wide security vulnerability going on there.

			At 11:48 the enviro alarm stops beeping without warning.

			She freezes. Caught by surprise, I’m guessing. Abruptly, she’s scrambling out, banging her head on the desk in her hurry, clambering to her feet, yanking the mem-chit from the station, though she still pauses to give the monitor a little pat, like it’s a good dog for behaving so well. Subject hurries over to the back of the room, stuffs the chit into her pocket and crouches in the shadows behind a bank of desks.

			At 11:49 the students and datatechs file back in, grumbling about the interruption. She slips back into her place and makes for the door. The head datatech says something inaudible. Subject replies with a quick smile that’s on the opposite end of the spectrum from that death glare, and says something inaudible in return. They don’t need this girl in neurogramming, they need her in psych-ops, eyeball-to-eyeball with the guys who need to see things a little differently. Just saying. What she says must be an excuse, and it works. He doesn’t bat a lash, and palms the door open for her himself. She strolls back down the hallway ultra chill, stands there waiting until a datatech opens the door from the other side. She slips past, and she’s out and free. As the door hums shut, subject is visible pivoting and blowing a kiss back toward the server room.

			I don’t blame her. She just plundered that thing.

			It took twelve fucking minutes. And she’s just strolling away.
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				Subject: Journal
Date: 07/22/75

			Learning is everywhere. I remember my mom telling me that when I was little, making mundane things seem like they were full of adventure. What I wouldn’t do for a little mundanity at this moment. Or my mom.

			I wonder if I’ll be able to claim some kind of school credit for the stuff I’m learning on board. It’s not exactly conventional, but I haven’t given up on college and I don’t want to end up behind. Note to self: figure out how to argue the merits of practical experience in computer crime to a college application board without getting arrested. (ha ha, I am on a REFUGEE SHIP limping alongside a disabled military battlecarrier being chased down by a BeiTech dreadnought and hoping to live long enough to find a jump gate so I MUST NOT GET BEHIND ON MY SCHOOLING … I sound dusted.)

			I am just too funny, but there’s nobody here to appreciate my jokes. My group leader says I mask my emotions with dark humor and sullenness. Maybe she’s right. The poor woman used to be a geologist before they made her a counselor, and the only thing she’s got going for her is that our group is about as easy to talk to as a bunch of rocks. But who wants to break the dam on stuff like this in public? You write it down and put it away, then back to work.

			Today’s counseling session was about looking behind the face we put on in public to think about what else might really be going on. I wonder if that was just a sideways attempt to get me to be nicer to some of the others, walk a mile in their shoes, blah blah.

			Anyway, she gave us the theme, as she launched off into another round of how-does-that-make-you-feel, I kept thinking about this traveling holoshow that came to Kerenza. They put on a play in the community complex with light-projected puppets, and I snuck away from my parents and went around the back to investigate the puppeteers. The whole romance scene was spoiled by me sauntering out on stage to share my discovery. (I am only realizing now mom and dad must have wanted to hide under their seats, but to be fair it was hardly the first time I’d mortified them.) I remember that moment really clearly. It was so important to me that everybody understand that what they were seeing, this romance, these feelings right there on stage—none of them were real. And that the girl puppet was really a guy with the biggest moustache I’d ever seen, which struck me as hilarious.

			Clearly I had missed the romance of the moment.

			I was all over today’s theme of What-Might-Really-Be-Going-On though, even at the age of eight. I knew it mattered, getting behind the pretend, the masks, and finding out what was really happening.

			And romance? I knew even then it wasn’t the real deal.

			Today, as we practiced empathy and pretended to put ourselves into the shoes of others (without really doing it, because none of us want to imagine anyone else’s grief, we have enough problems with our own), I thought a lot about that holoshow, and the commanders of our little refugee fleet.

			Like I said, back to work. My group leader has no idea how much I want to know what might really be going on. And I’m going to find out.
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			INCEPT: 07/22/75

			WITNESS IDENT: Ezra Mason (UTN-966-330ad)

			RANK: Second Lieutenant

			CALLSIGN: N/A

			COMMANDING OFFICER: David Torrence (UTN-951-787ad)

			RANK: General

			CALLSIGN: Dozer

			—TRANSCRIPT PAGE 5—

			DT: Lieutenant Mason, what was your initial reaction when Echo Group was ordered to attack shuttle group Osprey?

			EM: Sir?

			DT: What did you do when the Alexander ordered you to open fire on the Copernicus shuttles?

			EM: I didn’t do anything. I was waiting for my CO to confirm the order.

			DT: Your Commanding Officer being Major Eli Hawking.

			EM: Yes, sir. Prophet.

			DT: And did Major Hawking confirm the Alexander’s command and order Echo Group to engage and destroy the shuttle group?

			EM: (inaudible)

			DT: I beg your pardon, Lieutenant?

			EM: (inaudible)

			DT: Lieutenant, you are accused of disobeying a direct order in a time of war. Do I need to explain the severity of this situation to you? The penalty you will face if this court finds you guilty?

			EM: You have the communications logs, what do you need me to—

			DT: Lieutenant Mason, you will answer all questions addressed to you, or this court will find your prettyboy ass in contempt.

			EM: … No. Prophet didn’t confirm the order. Sir.

			DT: What did Major Hawk—

			EM: We’d just watched the Alexander murder over two thousand civilians for no good reason, what the hell was Prophet supposed to do?

			(slamming noise)

			DT: Lieutenant Mason, you might be fresh meat from some pitdigger shithole, but that’s still a goddamn UTA sigil on your collar. One more outburst and I will rip out your eyeballs and skullfuck you so hard you’ll wish your momma told your daddy she had a headache the night you got loaded into the launch tube.

			EM: My father is dead, sir. He died at Kerenza. Sir.

			DT: (inaudible)

			EM: Sir?

			DT: Listen, son, I know you’re conscript-material. I know you didn’t join the UTA willingly and I know you don’t want to be here. … 

			EM: No sir, I’m happy to help out, sir. Alexander saved us at Kerenza. And I want to help. I really do. What I don’t understand is why you fought so hard to save us, only to X-out the Copernicus near six months into the retreat.

			DT: This is not a retreat, Mason.

			EM: Can we tell that to the BeiTech dreadnought chasing us?

			DT: This is a tactical withdrawal, Lieutenant.

			EM: Yes, sir. Apologies, sir.

			DT: Are you ready to start answering my questions now, Lieutenant? Or do I get the MPs to warm you a seat in the hole?

			EM: (inaudible)

			DT: Lieutenant?

			EM: Ready, sir.

			DT: What did Major Hawking do when Alexander ordered Echo Group to engage and destroy the Copernicus shuttles?

			EM: He asked for confirmation from you.

			DT: He refused the order.

			EM: He wanted confirmation from a human. He’d just watched AIDAN nuke the Copernicus.

			DT: How did you know it was the artificial intelligence that ordered the strike on Copernicus, Lieutenant?

			EM: Because it was the AI talking to us. Prophet tried to raise you on comms and AIDAN told him it was unable to comply.

			DT: And so, instead of following orders, Major Hawking decided to tow the shuttles into the Alexander’s hangar bay. Despite repeated warnings of an Alpha Zero pathogen aboard those ships.

			EM: He didn’t … 

			DT: Lieutenant?

			EM: The Major didn’t escort the shuttles right away. He spoke to Dreadnought—

			DT: First Lieutenant Alvaranga.

			EM: Yes, sir. He spoke to her and the CO of Delta Group. Delta got scrambled when the Copernicus was nuked. They talked it over. And all the while, AIDAN was just screaming at us to engage and destroy. We had no comms on those shuttles. The EMP from the blast had knocked out their systems, and they were floating helpless. But they were close enough at that point for us to see the people inside. I saw this little girl in one of the viewports, she couldn’t have been more than ten—

			DT: Who made the final decision to tow the shuttles onto Alexander?

			EM: You know the answer to that, sir. You have the communications logs.

			DT: I am asking you, Lieutenant.

			EM: You want me to feed Prophet and Dreadnought to the wolves.

			DT: I want your version of events, Lieutenant Mason. I’m not going to warn you again.

			EM: There were innocent people on board those ships. We could see them. Prophet and Dreadnought made the right call.

			DT: So it was Major Hawking and First Lieutenant Alvaranga who made the decision?

			EM: … 

			DT: Lieutenant?

			EM: I don’t recall, sir.

			DT: I beg your pardon?

			EM: I don’t remember. Everything happened too fast.

			DT: You are on thin fucking ice, Lieutenant … 

			EM: I’m sorry, sir. I don’t remember. You want to brig me for that, do it. I’ll sleep easier in the hole than I will on thirty pieces of fucking silver.
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			McNulty, J, Sgt: jus saw you head back to your rack wut news chum

			McNulty, J, Sgt: chum

			McNulty, J, Sgt: mason

			McNulty, J, Sgt: ezramaaaaaaaaaaaaaasssssssssosooonISrnbopNRb[on erb

			McNulty, J, Sgt: ANSWER ME FUCKER

			McNulty, J, Sgt: i guess they didn’t shoot u

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: nope, not me

			McNulty, J, Sgt: good news for ms hottie and my young namesake

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Bad news for Prophet and Dreadnought

			McNulty, J, Sgt: ?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: they fucking shot them, Jimmy

			McNulty, J, Sgt: … 

			McNulty, J, Sgt: u fucking kidding me

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: DO I SOUND LIKE I’M FUCKING JOKING?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: … JESUS

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: lined them up against the bulkhead and X-ed them out. CO from Delta group too. And some Lt from Flight Control. Just straight-up shot them

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Only reason me and Carlin got off was because we were obeying direct orders from Prophet. They had it all on the comms logs. Whole show was bullshit.

			McNulty, J, Sgt: FUCK

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: They revoked my flight status. Decked until further notice.

			McNulty, J, Sgt: wut the fuck is Torrence thinking? We shorthanded as it is and they’re X-ing out our best jockeys? Wut they charge them with?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: On paper? “Disobeying a direct order in time of war.” Unofficially, I heard it was a gag job. Command is telling the civis on Hypatia it was the fucking Lincoln that blew up Copernicus. Prophet and Dreadnought wanted to tell it straight. Wouldn’t keep quiet about it.

			McNulty, J, Sgt: civis would shit bricks if they knew it was Alexander on the trigger

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: You said it

			McNulty, J, Sgt: but X-ing out our own guys? i didn’t sign up for that shit, chum

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Watch the chat, they could be monitoring

			McNulty, J, Sgt: Dorian said the whole commtech crew is working full time on AIDAN, they got no juice to monitor local chatter, fool

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: does Dorian know what they did with the civi’s we escorted over from Copernicus?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: They all locked in bay 4. Nobody getting in or out

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: no confirmation about Phobos?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: shit chum, they’ve had constant outbreaks on Copernicus since we evac’ed Kerenza. Wut are the chances none of those folks are carriers?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: so we could have let the virus on board Alexander?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: *shrugs*

			Mason, E, LT 2nd:shit

			McNulty, J, Sgt: wuts the prob? It’s a bug. 3 days and you’re good as new

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: During the Copernicus SNAFU, AIDAN called it a “Class Alpha Zero Pathogen.” And command ain’t treating it like the common fucking cold.

			McNulty, J, Sgt: jesus

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you didn’t hear that from me btw

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: The worst thing about this shit is we never even heard direct from Torrence during that whole mess. It was AIDAN that gave us the red alert. AIDAN that ordered us to fire on the shuttles. Prophet was just supposed to X-out a bunch of civi’s because the computer says so?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: Order must have come from Torrence. The Ai can’t make calls like that

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Then why the fuck didn’t Torrence transmit the order? He must’ve known Prophet wasn’t going to waste 9 shuttles of civi without meat authorization

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: we couldn’t just fucking kill them

			McNulty, J, Sgt: chum, I know

			McNulty, J, Sgt: I would’ve done the same thing in your boots

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: The brass has got pants full of bricks over this AI, jimmy. I dunno wut’s up, but it smells brown

			McNulty, J, Sgt: Dorian said they pulled the plug on it

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … on AIDAN?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: ya. is why the engines are off

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Then what’s flying the ship?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: momentum, afaik

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: fuck me

			McNulty, J, Sgt: I got some rocket fuel from a squaddie. He got a line to the spanner monkeys. Come over and have a drink chum

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: neg

			McNulty, J, Sgt: come onnnnnn best cure for those sorrows is to drown em, boy

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: no drowning these ones, chum

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: these badboys can swim
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			Subject: Nightmare time

			Date: 07/23/75

			Today’s group counseling session was taken up by a lady called Martha, who worked GeoSpec Analysis on Kerenza. I think. I guess it doesn’t matter where she worked.

			Martha had three daughters named Julie, Lela and Katya.

			Julie was six. She died during the evacuation of her school.

			Lela was two. She died when their car crashed on the way to the evac shuttles. Martha’s husband Tony had Lela on his lap. He died too.

			Katya was eight. Martha doesn’t know how she died, or if she died, just that she never made it off planet.

			She’s been so quiet through all our sessions. Like me, she never really spoke. You couldn’t tell what was going on in her head. She’d sit there, hands folded in her lap, listening. But she’s been slowly coming unfastened, the last month or two. Strands of hair hanging loose from her normally perfect bun. Buttons done up wrong. Shirt untucked. Little things you see everywhere, but never before on Martha.

			Today, she just imploded. She was sitting right beside me.

			I don’t even know what set it off, but one minute I was counting ceiling tiles, and the next she was talking. One of the guys in the group, Thanh, was in the middle of some story, but he went quiet when she started. He knew it meant something that she’d chosen that moment to speak.

			She told us about the girls, and her husband. She said she thinks a lot about whether Katya and Julie were scared at the end. That she wasn’t there for them. And then she started gasping for breath. Short, sharp, hoarse breaths, like she couldn’t drag in enough air, her whole body shaking.

			Some people, when they lose it, they scream, they fight. I hope that would be me. Martha just slowly slid down off her chair and folded in on herself. Everyone stared at her like she was contagious, and I reached out like—I don’t know, maybe I was going to touch her or something. And suddenly she was crying. Long, low moans that sounded like they were wrenched out of her. All her grief and pain in those noises, like her body couldn’t hold it any longer. One piece too many got added to the load, and she couldn’t do it anymore.

			The group leader called the medics, and by now Martha’s probably under sedation, but I’m not.

				I’m lying awake in bed, wondering what will happen if one piece too many gets added to my load. Wondering if there’s any way out for Martha. Any chance she’ll ever be okay.

			I can hear every sound in my dorm, every rustle as someone turns over, every sigh.

			It’s impossible to sleep.

			There are a lot more of us on board than there were ever supposed to be—the Hypatia’s a research vessel, so they have a lot of space, but most of it was intended for samples, labs, stuff like that. There are over 2,000 of us jammed in where there used to be just 500 crew.

				My living quarters used to be a storage facility for geological specimens, by which I basically mean rocks. The air leaves a sharp, metallic tang in your mouth, almost salty. It clings to your hair, so you carry it with you and the scent wafts around you when you turn your head. The air is also HOT and kind of humid, because the scrubbers just weren’t designed to recyc for this many people. Makes you really, really wish we weren’t on water rations. You get used to it, though.

			They’ve taken down the shelving and crammed sixteen of us in here. Each person has a bunk that’s kind of a shelf sticking out of the wall (you have a belt to stop yourself rolling out at night). Being the youngest in the dorm I’m up at the very top. I don’t mind being up high. Sometimes it almost feels safe.

			But I still can’t sleep. This isn’t my room, isn’t my place.

				There’s nothing around me that’s known, anymore. Sure, I have routines—there are times to eat, times to sleep, times to train. I just never realized on Kerenza, there was this background comfort level, the knowledge of safety, that was the bedrock under everything else. My big adventure was going to be college. My little adventures were hikes, choosing classes at school, Ezra, even.

				I thought he was going to be a big adventure, but that’s a whole other thing.

				Point is, I had no idea how safe I was, because I’d never been unsafe. Ezra said that to me once. He was right. I took it all for granted. The constant and comforting background static of the universe.

			Now, though there are more routines than ever before, nothing’s certain. The Lincoln could catch up with us at any point. It’s months until we reach the waypoint to Heimdall. Even when we do, we’ve been isolated for half a year. We could be in the middle of a war, for all we know.

			And beyond all that, command won’t tell us what’s happening. I’m pretty sure they’re lying to us about a lot of things that matter, though I don’t know why.

			And right now, that’s just one uncertainty too many.

			I don’t know my limit, but I’m scared to reach it. I don’t know what will happen if I do.

			And I still can’t sleep.
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			ByteMe: Ezra, u there?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Who this?

			ByteMe: Kady.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Hello, Dorian. Your timing is as shitty as your comedy

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: You don’t happen to have a sister, do you?

			ByteMe: It’s me, Ezra. I don’t know who Dorian is

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I can’t believe that scrub told you. McNulty’s vault has more leaks than a recycled baby baggie

			ByteMe: That’s completely disgusting. We have 7 mins until I have to shut this thing down or they’ll be able to track it.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Uh huh

			ByteMe: This is not the reception I was hoping for. It’s ME.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Prove it, he cried

			ByteMe: How about … you sprained your ankle jumping out my bedroom window while I stalled my parents at the front door.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … Kady?

			ByteMe: This is what I’m saying. Yes, Kady.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Well I feel sheepish … 

			ByteMe:[image: sheep]baaaaaa


			Mason, E, LT 2nd: How have you got access to IMs? Ship to ship comms are down?

			ByteMe: You’re right, how is this happening??? WITCHCRAFT

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: This isn’t like jacking the school system to give me a passing grade in chem. You could get into a lot of trouble

			ByteMe: You did suck at chem. It’s fine, trust me. Short bursts, text only, undetectable if we keep it under 7 mins. Comms might be down, but command always leave themselves a back door open in case they want a heart to heart.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … is that what this is? heart to heart?

			ByteMe: Let’s not get carried away, I wouldn’t want to impose

			ByteMe: Do you know why comms are down?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: All non essentials are offline.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Life support and power is about all we have while the data monkeys do their thing

			ByteMe: With the AI? Something’s wrong with it, isn’t it?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: probably shouldn’t be talking about it. We could both meet some serious grief.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Like, imagine “serious” written in 40 foot high letters, set on fire with dancing girls all around it and you’re there

			ByteMe: I think we are eyeball to eyeball with some serious grief already. Are you ok?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … Why wouldn’t I be ok?

			ByteMe: The comms aren’t the only thing I jacked. I saw your court martial records

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Are you dusted? That’s classified UTA intel and we’re in wartime. They can charge you with espionage if they catch u

			ByteMe: you know, I hadn’t considered I’d get in trouble if I got caught. Thanks Ez.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Kady, I’m not talking about a slap on the wrist I’m talking about them LINING YOU UP AGAINST A BULKHEAD AND SHOOTING YOU

			ByteMe: There’s no way they’ll catch me.

			ByteMe: Trust me

			ByteMe: I saw what you said to them. That was … unexpected.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: how so

			ByteMe: You do not have a long history of telling the man to go fuck himself.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Could’ve thrown me in the hole for that. Kinda stupid, right?

			ByteMe: My kind of idiocy.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: maybe I should do it more often then?

			ByteMe: Once is enough for now. You’re no use to anyone in the hole. Not even sure what that is but I am taking some nasty guesses.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: solitary. Water and dehydrate grub. Occasional visits from a big hairy guy called “Raoul.”

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I might be exaggerating about the Raoul part

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: He’s not all that hairy

			ByteMe: I saw what you said about your dad, too. I saw his name on the casualty lists after the evac.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Oh.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Right.

			ByteMe: I’m so sorry, Ezra.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: It’s not ur fault. You got nothing to be sorry for

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: how’s your mom doing over there anyway? Tell her I said hi

			ByteMe: How long’s AIDAN been down? Since the Copernicus was destroyed?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Um.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I shouldn’t have told u that. I’m not even supposed to know. Don’t say anything, alright? people could get rolled.

			ByteMe: Not planning on broadcasting this conversation. They’re lying to us tho, you know it. We should just sit here and wait to see what happens next? How’d that turn out for the Copernicus?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: There’s no danger to you guys. Nobody’s sick on Hypatia, right?

			ByteMe: What’s sick got to do with it?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: If nobody’s sick, then nothing at all. Dun worry about it.

			ByteMe: So because we’re safe over here we should just swallow whatever lies they want to feed us? Nobody here is saying AIDAN is down. They’re pretending the Lincoln is out there and we still have comms, but we have to stay silent to avoid detection. You want to tell me that’s true? Saw a great big BeiTech dreadnought when you were out by the Copernicus?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: they’re just trying to avoid a panic, Kades

			ByteMe: I for one am not feeling super calm.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you should leave it alone. You could get in real trouble.

			ByteMe: We’re already in real trouble. I want us to at least be in it together.

			ByteMe: Ezra? You there?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Yeah, I’m here.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: though I’m kinda wishing I was on Hypatia right about now

			ByteMe: I am fearsome, but I’m not quite that good. I’ll try and get a line up tomorrow. You’ll be here?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: As you wish

			ByteMe: If only THAT were true. Keep your head down. Don’t do anything too noble.

			——-CONNECTION TERMINATED——-
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			CitB: sooooo u talking to ur boyfriend again?

			ByteMe: not my bf

			CitB: u talking to him?

			ByteMe: 7 min burst no sign of detection so far

			CitB: he know what going on over there?

			ByteMe: not spilling

			CitB: he know about the AI?

			ByteMe: it’s down, not spilling more than that

			CitB: so work some magic

			ByteMe: not as simple as that. u don’t just jump into law breaking with a guy like Ezra. don’t even know if i want to involve him yet.

			CitB: then why do it?

			ByteMe: to see if i can. now have to decide what to ask him to do. not safe for him.

			CitB: not safe for anybody. get it done
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			General,

			As of 11:00 hrs, an assessment of the Alexander Artificial Intelligence Defence Analytics Network (AIDAN) has been completed by myself and Senior TechEng Specialists Major Nico Lassinger and Major Lisa Barker. Junior staff were excluded to preserve confidentiality of our findings. Status report and recommendations follow:

			Current Status

			During the battle at Kerenza, AIDAN suffered significant physical damage. Due to losses of key personnel in the TechEng department, we have been unable to carry out a full diagnostic, but most obviously, we cannot generate a jump gate, and AIDAN’s computational speed is reduced. However, damage to AIDAN’s neural network may also be worse than first realized.

			As per your orders after the destruction of the Copernicus, AIDAN remains in shutdown mode, carrying out only essential functions, including recyc, climate moderation, and artificial gravity control. AIDAN is essentially the equivalent of a human in a coma; breathing and heartbeat continue, but no conscious thought or decision-making is possible. As a result, the AI has been unavailable for active questioning. However, in the opinion of my team, it is likely that AIDAN’s decision to destroy the Copernicus was resultant of its directive to prioritize the safety of fleet members.

			Our review indicates that, over the last month, AIDAN has accessed Copernicus medical records with increasing frequency. As a matter of routine, all data the AI accesses is backed up to the Alexander’s servers, however, AIDAN seems to have taken steps to ensure we cannot locate these particular reports.

			We believe AIDAN formed a view that the illness aboard Copernicus had reached a tipping point and posed a danger to the fleet. Nevertheless, we are concerned at AIDAN’s decision to (a) take such drastic action without consulting senior command and (b) shut down comms between senior command and the Alexander’s Cyclone squadrons, despite your direct orders. AIDAN’s design parameters prioritize the preservation of human life but allow the fleet commander almost unlimited override. We believe the damage to AIDAN may have impacted its willingness to factor in your commands and preferences.

			Proposal

			The halt at Kerenza VII(a) for water will have eroded our lead on the Lincoln. Without AIDAN online, main drives are inoperative, and we are left to reaccelerate on slower secondaries. It is increasingly likely we will need to engage the Alexander’s weapons systems, which cannot be done with AIDAN offline. Therefore, we propose increasing AIDAN’s operational level without restoring full independence. If you will permit me to continue the analogy, we propose bringing our coma patient back to consciousness, but under considerable restraint.

			Potential Hazards

			The Copernicus incident demonstrates we are not fully aware of AIDAN’s current operational capacity. On revival, AIDAN may not respond to restraints as anticipated, or the restraints may not function as expected. Danger exists for both Alexander and Hypatia personnel. This must, however, be weighed against the danger of doing nothing.

			Revival scenarios will be run over the next 24—48 hours. We will aim to establish a scenario with a better than 90 percent chance of full control, and recommend AIDAN be revived if this is achieved.

			If you have any further questions or wish to discuss options, we are available at your convenience.
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			Sanchez, E, Col: Nico, I’ve done the memo, can you proof it for me?

			Lassinger, N, Maj: Printing it, hold on.

			Lassinger, N, Maj: … 

			Lassinger, N, Maj: So basically what you’re saying is we’ll do our best to wake it up without it going loco, but our best promise is a 9 out of 10 chance it won’t kill us all?

			Sanchez, E, Col: You know what the chance is if the Lincoln catches us?

			Lassinger, N, Maj: Point. Okay, send. And pray.

			Sanchez, E, Col: Sent. Praying.

			Lassinger, N, Maj: I think I’m going to go see if Lisa needs any help getting the grease off. Climbing around the quantum core like fucking spanner monkeys is below our paygrade and our dignity, I say.

			Sanchez, E, Col: Are you dusted? You ask her if she wants her back washed, you won’t NEED to worry about the AI blasting us into the next system.

			Lassinger, N, Maj: It’s the end of the world, Eva. Nothing left to lose.
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			ByteMe: 7 mins starts now. u there?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Always :)

			ByteMe: Wish that had been true, Ez. How things on your end? Tense here.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Things here? Confusing, tbh

			ByteMe: They’re still saying no comms b/c we’re hiding from the Lincoln.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Oh, u mean how are things on the *ship*

			ByteMe: Did AIDAN crash or did we take it offline?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Um. Bit of both. Why?

			ByteMe: b/c the Copernicus is gone and I’m scared, why else?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Hey, at least we’re scared together. Ish.

			ByteMe: This is not how I imagined us reunited. There isn’t any more gen than that on your end?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: (Shrug) I just fly the cyclones ma’am

			ByteMe: I can’t believe you do. Not the future I imagined either.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: At least I got off world, right? If only BeiTech had shown up a day earlier. Might have saved you some shouting. And me some hangovers :p

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Sorry that wasn’t funny … 

			ByteMe: No, but to be fair, don’t think anyone’s found a joke that works yet.

			ByteMe: Next time we’ll have to time our drama better.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Well, practice makes perfect, as they say

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I miss you

			ByteMe: You too.

			ByteMe: 4 min left.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: You’re a poet, Grant

			ByteMe: Hey, I’m talking to you. One step at a time.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Talking is better than not talking. And infinitely better than shouting :p

			ByteMe: Sorry there was so much of that. Should have got the msg sooner.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Did u ever consider the possibility I just think ur cute when you’re angry?

			ByteMe: Did you ever consider that I might not laugh at a joke about you breaking my heart?

			ByteMe: Gotta cut. If u leave this window open and type in messages I’ll get them when I connect. Like a mailbox.

			——-CONNECTION TERMINATED——-
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			Subject: wondering

			Date: 07/25/75

			Text:

			I wonder how my mom knew my dad was the guy for her.

			Why didn’t I ever think to ask that?
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			ByteMe: U there, you tragic, tragic creature?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Always :p

			ByteMe: All ok your end?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: They got me on scrub duty and VR flight sim. Bored brainless and slightly sweaty

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Am i turning u on?

			ByteMe: Ez, u do not want to start another fight.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I’m just trying to make you smile. You should do it more often. Did u get the flower?

			ByteMe: Yes. Just … come on, Ez. U made ur position clear. not going to embarrass myself now.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Did u smile?

			ByteMe: yes

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: pls excuse me a moment while i do a small victory dance around the room

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: k back

			ByteMe: this was a terrible idea. I think I miss u more now than when i wasn’t talking to u.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: So this must mean you’re not still mad at me. Amazing what six months and a few thousand kms of vacuum will do to make the heart grow fonder

			ByteMe: and terrifying danger, don’t forget that

			ByteMe: but Ez u are the one who didn’t want to be with me, not vice versa. I’m just the one who said the words.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: You wanted to go offworld. I didn’t want to hold you back. That means I CARED, not that I didn’t.

			ByteMe: u could have come

			ByteMe: and now here u are, but it’s not b/c you want to be. it’s b/c I’m more interesting than a ship full of sweaty soldiers

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Im not sure u appreciate the dire peril i placed myself in to have this conversation Kades

			ByteMe: i think i quite like the idea of you in dire peril. do go on. details?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I stayed up half the night making your ASCII flower just so you’d talk to me again. That knowledge in the hands of certain Alexander crew members would have … unpleasant consequences

			ByteMe: ur courting behavior was always ridiculous

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Hey, don’t knock it if it works :)

			ByteMe: not that we r courting. aughdeletedelete

			ByteMe: u should probably rest in case we come under attack from that ship that is nowhere near us, u know.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Lincoln might be closer than u think. We had to reaccelerate without main drives once command shut down the AI at Kerenza VII.

			ByteMe: then WHY aren’t we getting it back online? not knowing anything is terrifying.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: see previous *shrug* about me just flying the cyclones

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I guess they’ll bring it back online once we’re safer with it than without it

			ByteMe: guess so. Coming up on 7 mins. talk again soon?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: not too soon. You don’t want me to start thinking you’ve forgiven me or anything

			ByteMe: wouldn’t want that, you’ll get ideas ;)

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: cya

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: oh say hey to your mom for me

			——-CONNECTION TERMINATED——-
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			ByteMe: what kind of voltage do you think it takes to kill the average human?

			CitB: dare i ask?

			ByteMe: trying to splice my deck into Hypatia’s virtual grid. jack their processor speed

			CitB: take it from ur elder. Can’t brute force this. u need work done on the Alexander end

			ByteMe: brace urself for this but i am not on the Alexander end so i will have to try and wire from here

			CitB: do i really have to point out the obvious?

			ByteMe: i am not dragging him into this they’ll shoot him. info is one thing this is another

			CitB: then what the fuck are you cultivating him for if no info and no wiring?

			ByteMe: it’s not like that

			CitB: it’s special

			ByteMe: bite me

			CitB: there’s a lot on the line here. u have to find a way to get him to unlock for you from his end

			ByteMe: he wouldn’t know how

			CitB: then teach

			CitB: stakes are high. If ur not chasing him for this then why

			ByteMe: none of your business

			CitB: stay on task, grasshopper. we let the Alexander burn us out of the sky, your red hot love will be subsumed by a bigger, hotter flame

			ByteMe: how do you even function in society?

			CitB: it’s a struggle
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			Date: 07/25/75

			Text: Without a compass

			Today, said our poor, beleaguered counselor, We Are Going To Try Something New. We are going to focus on the fact that despite our personal losses, Life Goes On, and There Is Still A Future.

				Frankly, I think whether or not we get a future is still hanging in the balance, but I figured expressing that opinion wasn’t going to add much to the session, so I stuck to Being A Surly Teen. (Huh, the Inappropriate Caps are catching.)

				The present is my problem, right now. My brain won’t stop buzzing, scrambling, trying to hook on to something that will tell me which way is up. I lie strapped into my bunk at night, and it all presses in on me. The bed’s so narrow, the blanket smells like the huge laundries they have here, and it itches, and I’m so not at home.

			Nothing’s where it’s supposed to be, and without my north, how do I know what to do?

			My throat closes when I think about it, and a part of me wants to crawl under the covers and stay there. Wait for someone to tell me what to do. Wait for a grown up. But nobody’s coming.

			So do I drag Ezra into danger? Isn’t he in more danger if I don’t keep trying to work out what’s happening?

			Everyone here wants to believe the guys in charge know exactly what they’re doing, but of course they don’t. There’s nothing in their rules and regulations for this. They’re wounded and limping for safety, and they don’t know how to get away from the Lincoln. So why should I trust them, especially when they’re lying to me?

			There’s no clear path ahead of me. They never taught this class in school.

			I remember there was this teacher called Ms. McElroy back at McCaffrey. Taught junior tech. She used to go on and ON at me about fulfilling my potential, and I used to roll my eyes, and my mom would tell me to listen to the lady.

			She died in the first wave. She looked really surprised.

			I don’t mean to make a joke there, though I know it sounds kind of sarcastic. I just mean, that wasn’t the facial expression I would have expected.

			She used to talk a lot about how to make decisions, as well. Like, she had this idea around exploring your own moral system, but then applying it to a grid to work out what to do. Marrying ethics and technology.

			Why didn’t I listen to that? I could really use her system for working out the right thing to do around now.

			I only know one thing for sure.

			Whatever they don’t want me to see, that’s where I’m digging. I need to be where the secrets are.

			I’m more interested in ensuring I have a future than they think.
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			McNulty, J, Sgt: ezra

			McNulty, J, Sgt: mason

			McNulty, J, Sgt: ANSWER BITCH

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: shit internal comms back on?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: they testing

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ah

			McNulty, J, Sgt: Dorian pinged me to check if my internal messager was working. I am his test monkey. Watch me monkey

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and of everyone you could’ve picked to IM, you pinged me. Flattered, you may color me

			McNulty, J, Sgt: don’t be, ur the only one I knew who’d be awake at this hour

			McNulty, J, Sgt: thinking about Miss Thing

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: eat me

			McNulty, J, Sgt: first, a kiss from your cherry lips

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: maybe if you warm me up a little

			McNulty, J, Sgt: k wut are u wearing?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: nothing. Your sister was just here

			McNulty, J, Sgt: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: OH BURRRNT?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: flew face-first into that, son

			McNulty, J, Sgt: FUCK YOU CHUM

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: too tired. Told you, ur sis just left

			McNulty, J, Sgt: look at you, all sprightly and shit. Big switch from mr Mopey, all “bloo bloo, my troubles have water wings” couple of days back

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: cold, chum. cold

			McNulty, J, Sgt: thought you’d be all sadpants with no ship 2 ship. No more sexies from Miss Thing to keep you warm

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: she’s not like that

			McNulty, J, Sgt: ah, she special

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: she is

			McNulty, J, Sgt: u got pix of this astro-princess?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: no sexies, I told u

			McNulty, J, Sgt: clothed, fool

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I got school pics

			McNulty, J, Sgt: send me

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: no chance

			McNulty, J, Sgt: SEND

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: en oh bee eye tee see haych

			McNulty, J, Sgt: Mason, if u no send, I will make it my mission in life to teabag you while you sleep

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: 0_o

			McNulty, J, Sgt: Shipboard security have master access to all areas, chum

			McNulty, J, Sgt: I know where you lay thee down

			McNulty, J, Sgt: And you WILL wake one night to feel a pair of slightly sweatysomethings tickling your prettyboy chin

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: my fucking god

			McNulty, J, Sgt: I am serious, mason.

			McNulty, J, Sgt: this is not a drill

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: if I do send

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and then I find hardcopy of this pinned to the ceiling above your bunk

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I will cut your slightly sweatysomethings off and flush them out an airlock

			McNulty, J, Sgt: I solemnly swear I will not engage in happy pants while looking at pics of ur would-be ex-ex-girlfriend, chum

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: k, sending

			McNulty, J, Sgt: holy shit

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ya

			McNulty, J, Sgt: this is her?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ya

			McNulty, J, Sgt: she got pink hair

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: she used to dye it

			McNulty, J, Sgt: did the collar match the cuffs?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: >_<

			McNulty, J, Sgt: how in god’s name … chum, I have bad news

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: let me guess, you’re planning to break your solemn vow as soon as you finish speaking to me, rite?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: you wound me, chum

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: :P

			McNulty, J, Sgt: bad news is im typing ths 1 handed

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: god no

			McNulty, J, Sgt: think im getting the hng of it

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: STOP

			McNulty, J, Sgt: 1more min

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: STOP.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: JIMMY, I SWEAR TO ALL THAT’S HOLY

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I WILL NEVER SPEAK ILL OF YOUR SISTER AGAIN

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: JUST STOP NOW

			McNulty, J, Sgt: u promise?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I FUCKING SWEAR

			McNulty, J, Sgt: zzzz, fine

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: why is it every time I finish talking to you

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I need a fucking shower … 

			McNulty, J, Sgt: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you hear that?

			McNulty, J, Sgt: shipboard alarm

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: they calling your squad, chum. Code blue

			McNulty, J, Sgt: shit chum, I gotta jump.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: k

			McNulty, J, Sgt: taking hardcopy with me

			McNulty, J, Sgt: for later

			McNulty, J, Sgt: :)

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: zzzzzz
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			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you back yet, chum?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jimmeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeehhhhhhh

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: GIMME SITREPBITCH

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: if u back and in the shower with that pic of K, Ima give little Jimmy the chop and flush him down the head

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: zzzzz, I got VR training, ping me back when u get in
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			Dorian, C, Corp: Ping.

			Dorian, C, Corp: Ping.

			Dorian, C, Corp: And at the risk of repeating myself … 

			Dorian, C, Corp: Ping.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: dorian?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Bravo. Your insight is as astounding as ever, Mason.

			Dorian, C, Corp: It’s my sincere belief that your potential is wasted in that sweaty little cockpit. You should be doing the Coreworld lecture circuit. Imagine it: Packed houses. Perfect hair. Screaming girlchildren. “Tonight Only. Ezra Mason: How to state the bleeding obvious.”

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: hug?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Silence. Let me work.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Chum, YOU pinged ME.

			Dorian, C, Corp: I’m still testing internal comms. Just hold still. This won’t hurt.

			Dorian, C, Corp: *snaps on latex gloves*

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Dorian, this is really saying something, but you seem pissier than normal

			Dorian, C, Corp: Mason, I’ve had 3.72 hours sleep in the last six days. There are more stims in my bloodstream than blood. If you want congeniality, try McNulty’s sister.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: wut’s congeniality and is there a cream for it?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Oh, my. You’re just hilarious.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you just figure that out?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: speaking of my future bride, you heard from jimmy?

			Dorian, C, Corp: And why would I have heard from James, pray tell?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: isn’t that what married couples do? Talk and what not? And why u no send him flowers anymore

			Dorian, C, Corp: SILENCE, DAMN YOU.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: seriously, you heard from him?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: His squad got called to a code blue, like, sixteen hours ago.

			Dorian, C, Corp: … Indeed?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ya. Heard nothing since.

			Dorian, C, Corp: Give me a moment. I shall check.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: u know Dorian, people say you’re a blackhearted prick with all the social skills of a pubic louse. but I know better

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: your heart’s more gray than black

			Dorian, C, Corp: Mason.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: maybe puce

			Dorian, C, Corp: Mason, shut up.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: k

			Dorian, C, Corp: I have good news and bad news.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: in terms of drama, which one should I ask for first

			Dorian, C, Corp: The good news. Most definitely.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: k gimme

			Dorian, C, Corp: I found James’ squad. They’re debriefing in quarantine. The Code Blue is still in effect in Hangar Bay 4, but his squad made it out.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Can I guess the bad news?

			Dorian, C, Corp: You may try.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Jimmy’s not with them.

			Dorian, C, Corp: … How did you know that?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I just tried to imagine all the ways things could get worse, then picked the shittiest option

			Dorian, C, Corp: … 

			Dorian, C, Corp: You know Mason, sometimes you’re not as stupid as you look.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you just figure that out?
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			ByteMe: well that is not as nice as flowers. what u need?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: A friend of mine is off-grid. Wondering if your powers can work for good as well as evilllllll

			ByteMe: do my best. Alexander or Hypatia? tell me what u know?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Alexander. I dunno if you can even find out this stuff. he’s a marine named James McNulty. Crazier than a churchful of dustheads, but he’s a good guy.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: he got called to a code blue alert 17 hours ago. Nobody’s seen him since. Can you sacrifice something small and fluffy to the bloodgod (or whatever it is you do) and find out where he’s at?

			ByteMe: seems weird he’d be gone that long and no word. I thought u guys specialized in rumor

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: his squad is locked down in quarantine. But he’s not with them

			ByteMe: I can hunt around but u guys locked down your servers when u took down ship 2 ship comms

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: So what does that mean? you can’t get in at all?

			ByteMe: lemme think

			ByteMe: how worried are u?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: capital W.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: hearing real bad stuff on the scuttlebutt. like, u would not believe bad

			ByteMe: i might be able to get in, but only if ur up for helping. this is going to take a few hours

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I’m on lunch break. Back to more sims soon. 8 more hrs. I will die in that VR machine. Sweaty and unloved

			ByteMe: u don’t know that for sure, there are lots of ways to die here. Go work, i’ll have this ready when you’re done. Don’t do anything dumb(er than usual)

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Roger that

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: cold btw :(
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			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Kades?

			ByteMe: i’m ready. sending u file. broken into 5 pieces so the size doesn’t raise an alert. put all 5 on a mem-chit and you will need to physically plant mem-chit for me. then i can access security

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: *raises hand* Um, what do you mean “physically plant”? In my console, you mean?

			ByteMe: i mean onsite. direct access. wouldn’t be much of a security system if u could hack it from ur bedroom.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: u shitting me? They just shot 4 people here a few days ago for disobeying orders from a fucking insane AI, what u think they’ll do to me if they catch me fiddling in its brainmeats?

			ByteMe: ur call. would suggest either not getting caught or upping the prayers for ur buddy.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: goddammit

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: stupid bastard’s in the shit, I know it

			ByteMe: don’t really want to find you again just to lose you, Ez, but if this matters to u then i’ll help. i can help from here.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: so what does this mem-chit do? install something? Virus or what?

			ByteMe: u wouldn’t understand. it’ll take down some fences so i can get through and extract security feeds for u

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and that’s all ur gonna do, right? Ur not gonna poke around in black bags and get yourself shot too?

			ByteMe: would hate to think of u sobbing into ur pillow every nite. just there to help you out.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: shit

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: alrite, what i gotta do?
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			This kid ain’t cut out for this line of work.

			I’m not shitting you. He might be masterclass-pilot material, but I’ve seen better candidates for covert ops floating in the head after I’m done with the morning news. If he ain’t religious, he oughta be. Someone up there sure as hell is looking out for him. Just saying.

			Damage from the Kerenza assault rendered many of the Alexander’s exterior intellicams inoperative, so the first we see of the subject is at 01:10, 07/21/75, when he enters deck 231 through a rent in the outer hull. Subject is fully suited for space walk, moving like he’s not spent more than 10 minutes inside one. Squinting his baby-browns through the blastspex visor, we can ID one Ezra Mason, conscript UTA Cyclone Pilot (UTN-966-330ad). He looks like he’s about to blow breakfast all over the inside of his helmet. Green as a fucking blade of grass, I swear.

			He cracks his head on the same stanchion twice getting inside, punches it once he’s finally through the hole (yeah, that’ll teach it kid) and spends another four minutes getting his rig untangled. There’s not much to see him by, once he’s past the starlight spilling through the breach. At least he’s sensible enough to have brought glowsticks. The red does a little bit to offset the green in his face.

			Deck 231 is situated in the Alexander AI cluster—just banks of damaged towers and cables, some of them still spitting live current. That this kid made it all the way across deck 231’s sprawl with a BRIGHT RED GLOWSTICK IN HIS HAND without getting picked up by the Alexander’s sec teams shows how stretched they were monitoring their camera feeds. That’s the problem with running in one of these AI boats—gets to the point where the computer does everything for you and you forget how to wipe your own exhaust pipe.

			He takes almost thirty minutes to thread through the debris, even bouncing with those big zero-grav strides. The server towers are twenty feet cubed, some have broken loose from their brackets, and there’s always the death-by-electrocution problem to worry about. He reaches the airlock leading up to deck 230 and pulls out a datapad, typing with one finger and chewing his lip. Not a pro console-jockey who daily threatens the security of our glorious alliance, I’m thinking. Whoever’s on the other side of that screen knows how to romance the security console, and working in 7-minute bursts, it only takes the kid another 49 minutes to get the door open. Record time, no doubt. Shame he didn’t pack any confetti.

			The airlock doors open and he fumbles his way inside.

			Next we see of Lieutenant Twinkletoes, he’s in corridor 230 G-13 and out of his envirosuit (dumped it in the airlock, I’m thinking). He’s wearing a rucksack, urban gray camo cargoes and a muscle tee. His face is flushed scarlet and his sinuses look clogged—his body is used to pumping blood up to his head against the pull of gravity and without gravity to drag it back while he was treading black, his dome is red as the underwear Elizabeth Andretti wears in the finale of TERMINUS (don’t pretend you don’t know the part I’m talking about, chum—ain’t a man alive who hasn’t simmed that scene thirty times). The guardian angel behind that pad is at work again; he’s stopping to ask for directions every second junction.

			Four Alexander Security gorillas step out into the corridor ahead, and our astro-ninja just about shits himself … I mean, uh, shows signs of extreme anxiety. He ducks into a nearby storage room sweating like a pitdigger after a twelve-hour stint. His tee is damp with it. Big trembling breaths. He’s no doubt wondering what’d happen if his hidey hole is the same place those Sec boys were headed.

			They march past, he pokes his head out to check the coast is clear, then does some kind of half-baked kung-fu kick at the gorillas’ backs as if promising them an ass-whooping next time he sees them. He blunders along, narrowly missing a TechEng group, then rounds a corner literally three feet from that same sec team he almost hit five minutes ago, all of whom happen to be looking the other way. I swear to god he crept away on fucking tip-toes.

			He makes his way to a tertiary node (redundancy system for the ship-wide security feeds). He’s whispering to himself but we get no tone. I’m guessing he’s saying “ohmigodohmigodohmigod” a lot. Inside the node room, he boots up the backup processor, inserts a mem-chit and starts some kind of Trojan routine running. It’s obvious he’s got no fucking idea what he’s about … I mean “is inexperienced in matters of computer espionage,” (shut up, I’m being professional), taking instruction through his datapad and bashing away on the keyboard. It takes thirty minutes, but finally, he plants the infection and packs up his shit.

			Here’s where the magic happens.

			Whatever Ultra-Agent Zerooooo seeded in the redundancy network kicks off a fire alarm on deck 231. The fire alarm not only diverts the Sec Squad standing three corridors away, but also sees Deck 230 evac’ed as per standard safety protocols. In five minutes, the entire floor is cleared of personnel.

			At a signal from his guardian angel, dipshit is out the door like his ass is on fire. He runs to the service elevators—which should be locked down when a fire alarm kicks off, but lo and behold, his Angel has them open wide. He dashes inside and stabs at the habitat level buttons but there’s no real need—Sec Squads are mustering two levels up waiting for fire crews to arrive and deal with the non-existent blaze.

			Four minutes later he’s stepping out onto the habitat level. Out of breath. Drenched. Looking for all intents and purposes like he’s just spent an hour in the gym.

			He makes his way back to his domicile and shuts the door.

			I’d bet my leftie the little bastard spent the next ten minutes thanking every god in the book; Allah all the way through to Yahweh.

			Either that or puking his guts up.
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			CitB: u still up? u on stims?

			ByteMe: never sleeping again. heart ready to burst

			CitB: touching. is it love?

			ByteMe: harhar. stress and adrenaline.

			CitB: you been talking dirty with your bf?

			ByteMe: u are so lucky i cannot be bothered coming all the way up the other end of the ship to thump u

			CitB: taking out the frustration of separation, r we?

			ByteMe: keep misbehaving i won’t share what i got

			CitB: . . . this is me behaving. spill.

			ByteMe: i told u already there were executions out of the court martials

			CitB: yuss

			ByteMe: found out why. for disobeying orders from AIDAN

			ByteMe: orders to shoot the civis from the Copernicus

			ByteMe: orders from the crazy AI

			CitB: if those weren’t orders from general torrence then why enforce?

			ByteMe: can’t admit AIDAN took control. imagine the panic.

			CitB: shit

			ByteMe: ayup

			CitB: are they any closer to getting AIDAN back up? do not want visitors

			ByteMe: don’t think so. but we might have a prob sooner than that. got inside, sending u docs

			CitB: lover boy helped! our young heroes won the day!

			ByteMe: u want them or not?

			CitB: shutting up

			ByteMe: sending
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			Captain,

			Having completed examinations of all 1,896 surviving members of the Kerenza attack now residing aboard Copernicus, I can confirm several suspicions:

			Firstly, that the BeiTech assault did include the use of a biochemical agent, apparently delivered via orbit-to-atmos missile above the Kerenza hermium refinery. This explains why the illness is confined to the Copernicus—ours was the only ship to land shuttles near the refinery, and as such, the only ship to take on afflicted refugees.

			I regret to inform you that, due to the disorder of the evacuation and the sheer number of evacuees, proper quarantine protocol was not followed by Copernicus flight crews.

			Post evacuation, Copernicus medical staff received continuous and recurrent reports of acute Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) among evacuees. Symptoms included anxiety, nausea, tachycardia and headaches, often so severe as to induce physical impairment (tremors, seizures and in many cases, catatonia/paralysis). However, as this was a logical reaction for civilians surviving a large-scale military incursion, standard treatments for PTSD were initially employed (counseling and pharmaceutical remedies).

			It was not until Copernicus crew members who were not directly involved in the assault or rescue operations began reporting debilitation from these same effects we began to suspect a larger problem.

			I will send another memo with a list of afflicted passengers and crew.

			Teresa Shteyngart, MD
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			Harry,

			Short answer, no. The air recyc system isn’t made to deal with an airborne agent circulating throughout the ship. We could possibly rig up some kind of ionizing field over the CO2 scrubbers to filter out organic matter, but this isn’t going to stop carriers spreading the agent person to person, nor can I give any guarantee that the pathogen will be eliminated in the air we do recyc. This is EXACTLY why we have fucking quarantine protocols. An airborne biological agent loose inside a sealed metal can floating in space has nowhere to fucking go except back into us. As of writing this, I have nine of my crew down with the Shakes (as the locals are affectionately calling it).

			You want to get pissed at someone, get pissed at the flight deck controller who let those pitdiggers out of the goddamn hangar bays and into general population.

			K.
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			Captain,

			We are attempting to determine timings now. Anecdotal evidence from the Kerenza attack indicates an incubation period of almost 24 hours, but we have data that conflicts with this.

			The virus is airborne. Its debilitating effects vary widely—some people are catatonic for 3-4 days, others recover within 24 hours. Full recovery is almost universal, save in cases of the young or frail. However, there is no guarantee against re-infection. That people can be re-infected at all is something of a concern—logically, once the immune system fights off the incursion, antibodies should prevent re-infection by the same pathogen.

			This would suggest the virus is mutagenic in nature.

			I would hypothesize the bioweapon was in a prototypical state when the Kerenza population was exposed—perhaps this attack was a “live fire” exercise on the part of BeiTech forces.

			Latest figures follow. Please note the virus is being referred to as “Phobos” (from the ancient Greek) by many of the technicians in their written reports—Dr. Salinger has a love of antiquity, and I’m afraid the nickname has stuck.

			PS: I missed you last night. Do you think we can make time soon?

			Teresa Shteyngart, MD
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				ARREST REPORT

				INCEPT: 06/17/75

				DNA RECOG ID: 771-1COP17

				ARREST#: 78374jd

				ARRESTING OFFICER: BLYTHE, RANDALL, Sgt

				ARRESTEE:  MORTON, MARK—Age 31, 
Kerenza refugee ident KR-985cop

				CONSUMED DRUGS/ALCOHOL? Yes/No

				IF ARMED, TYPE OF WEAPON: 	pipe wrench, screwdriver

				CHARGE: Murder, 1st degree (four counts)

			NARRATIVE: At 23:45 (shipboard) myself and Corporal Adler were called to a disturbance in temporary domicile GREEN-12b. The habitat was sealed—residents of neighboring domiciles reported brief screaming from within some 15 minutes prior.

			Utilizing all-access clearance, Cp Adler and myself entered the domicile, suppressors out and up. The body of the first victim (Maryanne Morton—Age 29, KR-986cop) was found near the front door. Zero lifesign on bioscan. Brief inspection revealed the victim’s head had been crushed by blunt force trauma. Spray patterns on walls suggested repeated blows.

			Second victim (Stephanie Morton—Age 12, KR-987cop) and third victim (Oliver Morton—Age 8, KR-988cop) were also discovered in this room. Zero lifesign on bioscan. Brief inspection revealed similar repeated blunt-force trauma wounds to skull and chest. Second and third victim’s eyes had been removed.

			Infrared bioscan revealed one lifesign in the domicile’s bedroom. Cp Adler announced our presence, asked the resident, later identified as Mark Morton, to exit the bedroom with hands raised. Resident replied that we were “with them” and demanded we “not look at him.” Resident became increasingly agitated (in my experience, displaying psychosis similar to desoxyephedrine addicts), finally exiting the bedroom, covered head to foot in blood, with weapon raised.

			Cp Adler and I both discharged our suppressors, scoring four direct hits to resident’s torso region, all of which failed to subdue the resident. The resident closed to striking range, and I was forced to engage in hand-to-hand combat. With the aid of Cp Adler, I managed to subdue the resident—Cp Adler is still in critical condition due to injuries sustained during this altercation.

			With the resident restrained, I called for backup and proceeded into the bedroom, where I discovered the remains of the fourth victim (Julian Morton—Age 4, KR-989cop).

			Victim’s eyes had also been removed.
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			In answer to your first question, yes, it’s mutating. You’re talking about a closed loop with recycled air supplies, a thousand more people than are supposed to be on board, all breathing each other’s air and contaminating each other’s space—the Copernicus has essentially become a giant petri dish.

			Second question—no, we can’t. I can only presume BeiTech intended it to be an urban pacification device—the virus originally attacked the fear centers of the brain, inducing catatonia. So, you hit an urban population with it, everyone falls over paralyzed for 24-48 hours, and the troops roll in with zero resistance. But now the virus appears to be attacking the synaptic gap, along with serotonin re-uptake mechanisms, doing damage similar to what you’re going to see in long-term dust addicts. It’s essentially psychosis in a bottle. The damage is permanent—anyone who goes down is not coming back.

			Third—I don’t think I can. I really want to, but I just can’t get away. Maybe tomorrow.

			I miss you too.

			Teresa
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			LABORATORY REPORT

			Science Officer: Tobias Salinger, MD Assisting: 
Teresa Shteyngart, MD

			INCEPT: 07/12/75

			Hour 14

			Subject 72 displaying behavior patterns typical with early Phobos Alpha victims:

			Increased adrenaline levels

			Heart palpitations/hyperventilation

			Tremors

			General unease/nameless dread

			Symptoms typically manifest 12–24 hours after initial infection with Alpha strain. Symptoms of mutated strain (which we have named Phobos Beta) appear to be more rapid in onset—the latest batch of lab rats Dr. Shteyngart infected displayed psychotic tendencies within 8 hours.

			I theorize Phobos Alpha was designed to be spread by initially encouraging minor fear responses, and only debilitates its carrier with time. Initially (and insidiously), victims will seek out other human contact—particularly that of loved ones—in attempts to deal with the dread (like a frightened infant might seek its mother). The victim often seeks physical comfort (hand holding, embraces), ultimately increasing the chances of spreading infection.

			It’s genius, really. Awful, horrifying genius.

			Hour 22

			Subject 72 has entered a state of full catatonia. Symptoms include

			Muscle rictus

			Lowered heart rate and core temperature

			Limited pupillary response

			Lack of proper equipment and trained personnel make this theory difficult to confirm, but I suspect infection initially targets the sensory cortex and not the thalamus as Dr. Shteyngart suggested. However, we both agree the effect on the amygdala (decodes emotions; determines possible threats) is profound—afflicted people will often convince themselves they are not afflicted, or actively avoid treatment, for fear of punishment/persecution/the isolation of quarantine.

			I had intended to begin comparing the cellular resistances of Alpha and Beta, however, one of the assistants (Jane, lovely girl) dropped an entire batch of Beta infected bloodwork on the floor. Glass everywhere.

			Not her fault, really—there’s too many of us crowded in here. I was considering sending them all off to get some sleep, but if we don’t crack this, nobody will.

			Besides, it’s good to be around people. The thought of being alone right now is terribly disconcerting.

			Hour 27

			Subject 72 still in state of paralysis. BPM and breathing below half of human norms.

			I have reviewed Dr. Shteyngart’s work on the damage the virus inflicts on synaptic vessels and found several errors.

			I swear that woman wouldn’t know a hippocampus from a hippopotamus. One would think since she’s co-authoring this report she’d spend more time helping with it, instead of enjoying our good captain’s company. Someone more prone to paranoia might suspect she’s simply looking to steal my work and publish it herself.

			Presuming we ever make it to a bloody jump gate.

			Presuming they want us to make it to a jump gate.

			Hour 28

			Subject 72 showing minor muscle movement. Heart rate increased 12 percent in the last 30 minutes. Body’s immune system is fighting the pathogen—as previously surmised, Alpha strain was never intended to permanently disable victims. Still, Subject 72 is displaying remarkable resilience for something so inherently weak.

			Twenty-three of us packed in this tiny lab. Forty-six eyes. Sweating away in these flimsy hazmat suits. So thin. So feeble. So little between it and us and us and it.

			My foot hurts. My skin itches. Jane asked if I was well. Nosy little slip. None of her business. Couldn’t tell her, though, no. Smile and nod, smile and nodnodnodnod.

			One of the assistants (can’t remember his name—Roberts? Robins?) talks to himself beneath his breath as he works. Thinks no one can hear him but I can.

			I hear.

			I see.

			Oh, god.

			Hour 29

			Shteyngart finally back in the lab.

			I wonder if she had time to shower.

			Wonder if I peeled that suit open if I’d smell the captain’s stink.

			She’s off dining in Ryker’s quarters and whispering her lies about me and meanwhile I’m stuck down here with these ignorant monkeys muttering to themselves and fucking each other with their eyes and all the while things are getting worse and no one is doing anything to stop it but me.

			Jane is looking at me again. With those pretty green things floating in her head.

			Stop looking at me.

			Hour 30

			STOPLOOKINGATME

			STOPLOOKINGATME

			STOPLOOKINGATME

			STOPLOOKINGATME

			STOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMESTOPLOOKINGATMEYOUFILTHYFUCKINGBITCH
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			ByteMe: read it?

			CitB: fuck

			CitB: fuck

			CitB: fuck

			ByteMe: well said

			CitB: this is why they cut civi comms a few weeks back. the shutdown date lines up with when it mutated

			ByteMe: we never really thought that was for maintenance

			CitB: this is why AIDAN blasted Copernicus

			ByteMe: we have a bigger problem

			CitB: bigger than the AI killing a third of the fleet? bigger than it HAVING to?

			ByteMe: the Copernicus shuttle survivors made it to the Alexander

			CitB: you get survivors’ names?

			ByteMe: Looked everywhere I could—NO documentation listing names on the Alexander servers

			CitB: makes sense. They took AIDAN offline as soon as it X-ed out Copernicus

			ByteMe: I found more stuff. I was so sure she was in there. Now I’m praying she isn’t. Can’t stop shaking.

			CitB: wish i could say more than i’m sorry

			ByteMe: nobody can. I have to tell Ezra what I found. And those survivors are all just penned up in the airlock

			ByteMe: with each other

			CitB: … 

			ByteMe: for now

			CitB: fuck

			ByteMe: yeah

			ByteMe: fuck
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			ByteMe: Ez, I got something.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: on jimmy?

			ByteMe: ya. it’s not conclusive, though, i think we should wait for more before you read

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Hell no, send now. Is he ok?

			ByteMe: look, i didn’t want to lie to you and say I didn’t find anything, but don’t think you should read, honest

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: why not what happened

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Kades?

			ByteMe: look, it’s not good, but it’s—it’s too soon to know, can you just trust me?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: why what’s wrong?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: JESUS, TALK TO ME

			ByteMe: i’m not trying to make this worse. there was a lot of stuff in those files.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: do you know something or not? This is my FRIEND dammit

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: he was there when I was losing my shit over you. he was there looking out for me when my dad died and I had no one else. I OWE him, Kady

			ByteMe: he was there when i wasn’t, is what you’re saying

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus, this is NOT about you and me. TELL ME WHAT U KNOW

			ByteMe: promise me u won’t do anything stupid. promise me u understand it won’t help him to have u in trouble

			ByteMe: Ezra?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: fine i promise

			ByteMe: i mean really promise. not say whatever you have to say to get what you need. i can’t lose you, Ez. you’re all i have.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: god, it’s really bad isn’t it?

			ByteMe: u could make it worse if you do something stupid. put us both in danger.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I promise. Cross my heart and hope to die.

			ByteMe: just cross your heart

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: k

			ByteMe: sent

			[image: page 165 art]

			INCEPT: 07/26/75 (11:17 shipboard time)

			LOCATION: United Terran Navy Battlecarrier: Alexander (Hangar Bay 4)

			OFFICER IDENT: Winifred McCall (UTN-961-641id)

			RANK: First Lieutenant

			_________________________________

			At 19:06 (shipboard) on 07/25/75, Sigma Squad and I were scrambled to a Code Blue alert issued by Alexander command. Squad mustered in a timely fashion to deck 146, where we were briefed by Executive Officer Lia Myles on behalf of General Torrence.

			Sit-rep: The Copernicus refugees quarantined in Hangar Bay 4 had engaged in some kind of riot in protest over their conditions—violence was ongoing. Sigma Squad was ordered to enter the bay and restore order. Video surveillance rigs within the bay had been disabled/destroyed, and bioscanners wouldn’t penetrate the bay walls, so we’d be proceeding blind. We were issued hot ballistics and authorized for lethal force. We were also equipped with Hazardous Materials kits, including fully-sealed Type-A envirosuits.

			“Why the hazmat gear?” I asked.

			I already knew the answer—scuttlebutt about the sickness on the Copernicus had been rife for months. Everyone knew odds were good at least a few of those refugees were carriers. I just wanted someone in command to acknowledge it.

			XO Myles glared with those pretty eyes for a good long while before she answered. Myles doesn’t like me, see. She’s academy trained, and a politician born. She looks at the battlefield commission on my chest and presumes I think I’m better than her.

			She’s a clever one.

			“Excellent question, Lieutenant,” she finally answered. “We suspect a mutated strain of the Phobos virus—now a Class Alpha Zero pathogen—is loose in Bay 4. It’s possible none of the refugees are afflicted, however, we’re taking no chances. I re-iterate, the use of lethal force is authorized. No one without a sealed hazmat suit gets out of that bay alive.”

			“You want us to shoot civilians.”

			“I want you to protect the six thousand plus people in this fleet, Lieutenant. I want you to stop, by any means necessary, an afflicted body getting into the Alexander’s general population and spreading that pathogen aboard this ship.”

			Hands on hips.

			“I want you to do your job.”

			A few of my rookies conscripted from the Kerenza refugees looked a little panicked at that notion. They might know people in the Hanger Bay 4 crowd, after all. They had no training with chemical agents or bio-weapons—after six months, most barely knew the business end of a VK-85 burst rifle or how to lace their boots right. As ranking officer, I had to toe the company line, but my 2IC, Sgt James McNulty, stepped up to ask the obvious questions I couldn’t.

			“So if these civis are infected, why don’t we just leave them locked in the bay?”

			“They have Copernicus engineering staff among them,” XO Myles replied. “They’re trying to break through the airlocks. Given the tools available, they’ll succeed in time.”

			“Why don’t we just open the outer doors and space them?”

			That was Sykes, one of my surlier corporals. Word around the barracks was he’d got a vidcall from his wife three days before the Kerenza attack, telling him she was running off with her psychoanalyst. She even took their dog. She hated dogs, apparently.

			“Slam a lid on that noise right now, Corporal,” I ordered.

			“It’s a valid question,” Myles said.

			My eyebrows hit the ceiling at that one. Cold as the belly of the void, little Lia Myles.

			She turned to Sykes. “The refugees have disabled the locking mechanism on the outer bay doors. We can no longer operate them from the bridge. They must have suspected flushing them was an option.”

			“Wonder what gave them that idea,” McNulty muttered.

			“Further questions?” she asked, looking at me.

			Silence.

			“Right. Good hunting.”

			We suited up. No banter among my boys. No jokes. Bad sign. I was watching my Kerenza rooks close, wondering if they were going to hold nerve when ordered to open fire on people they knew. If the concept of the “greater good” was going to sink through to those trigger fingers, past notions like loyalty and friendship and love.

			In the end, I made the call to bench them—keep them in reserve outside the second airlock. It meant Sigma was going in short-handed, but there wasn’t a soul among them who didn’t look relieved.

			We proceeded to the hangar decks, bridge control cycling us through the three heavy-duty doors, one at a time—we still had our all-access passes, but command had issued a security override on Bay 4. Each airlock closed behind before the new one opened in front, cycled through a full atmo purge. Command reported the first inner door had already been compromised—seemed the mice had been busy. Ordering my reserves to hold position at the inner door and kill anything that didn’t ID itself, I requested command open the final seal.

			The door shuddered wide. The hangar beyond was unlit. Black as the empty past the outer bay doors. We engaged thermal vision and stepped inside, VKs ready.

			“Safeties off,” I ordered.

			McNulty took point, creeping into the dark. I could see welding gear and industrial cutters scattered about the inner door, scorch marks on the titanium. The silence was total—it’d been days since they took AIDAN offline and cut the main drive, but I still wasn’t used to it. Those engines used to be a constant. A thunder you could set your back against. A heartbeat.

			Gone now. And mine wasn’t loud enough to replace it.

			Yet.

			The bay was huge, stretching off in every direction, but I took best guess and motioned for Sigma to proceed. I could see the abandoned Copernicus shuttles in the darkness—nine bulky scarabs, a makeshift barricade welded around them, like some circled wagon train from a history VR. I thought I saw a flicker of movement in a porthole for an instant, and then it was gone.

			We were on our way toward them when we found the first bodies.

			I’ve seen people die. Die hard. Die messy. Job like mine, you live with the reaper every day. But if you’re unlucky, it’s not the bullets that kill you in this gig. It’s moments like these. Killing you one piece at a time.

			There were twenty of them, all up. Eleven males, nine females. Children through to middle age. I’m not sure where the heads were—we never found them. They were stripped to the skin. Twisted on the floor in some kind of pattern. It wasn’t until I vaulted up onto a fuel drum and got a bird’s-eye view I realized they were arranged to form letters. Two words spelled out on the floor in cold, naked meat.

			HELP US.

			“Jesus Christ,” Sykes breathed.

			“Not sure he’s listening, chum,” McNulty said.

			“Stow it, McNulty,” I ordered.

			“Knife wounds,” Sykes said, kneeling by one of the bodies. “Multiples.”

			“Well, whoever did it probably wasn’t considerate enough to cut their own throat afterwards,” I said. “They’re still in here. Eyes open. Stay chill.”

			I could feel McNulty’s eyes on me in the dark.

			“What the hell is going on here, LT?”

			Screaming.

			We heard it in the distance, echoing through the Alexander’s guts. A girl. Pleading.

			“Move!” I hissed, and we were running. Sweat on my skin. Finger on my trigger. I could see more bodies crumpled in the dark, not stopping long enough to inspect them. Broken skulls and opened wrists. This was no protest. This was no riot.

			Shapes appearing out of the darkness ahead. Five of them. Voices babbling.

			“There she is!”

			“Hold her still!”

			“Help me!”

			“The knife! Get the knife!”

			“Help!”

			“UTA MARINES!” I bellowed. “FREEZE!”

			I could see them. Covered in blood. Wild-eyed and pale. Three men and a woman, gathered around a little girl, no more than nine or ten years old. She was screaming, pleading. A fat man sat atop her chest, crushing the breath out of her. The other three were gathered around, iron bars and pipe wrenches in hand, slicked to the elbows in blood.

			“Drop the weapons!” McNulty roared.

			Sigma Squad fanned out around them, red laser sights cutting through the black.

			“You bitch,” the woman spat. “Now you come?”

			“You left us in here to die!” shouted another.

			“Drop the weapons, step away from the girl and put your hands on your head!” I shouted.

			“Miss, you don’t understand,” the fat man moaned. I realized he was crying. Tears cutting trails down bloodstained cheeks. “She’s with them. She’s with them.”

			“Drop the weapon!”

			The man was struggling to breathe. Fingers drumming on the bloody metal in his fist.

			“Eric … ,” the woman said.

			“She’s with them!”

			“You stupid motherfucker, drop it!” Sykes bellowed.

			“DROP IT NOW!”

			I looked across the dark to that girl’s face. Big brown eyes. One hand up to shield her head. So little. So helpless. Nothing between her and the end but us.

			The fat man raised his pipe wrench.

			“Eric, don’t!”

			“FIRE!”

			Muzzled flashes lit the dark. Our VK’s roared. And when we were done, there were four new bodies on the floor, staring sightless up into the black above our heads, waiting for a God who wasn’t coming.

			The girl’s wails filled the quiet. McNulty stowed his VK and ran across the carnage, picked her up from the bloody grille. He held her to his chest, those big arms wrapped around her tight. Doing all the right things. Making all the right noises.

			“Hush, baby, it’s okay. You’re all right now, Uncle Jimmy’s got you.”

			He’d have made a good dad, McNulty.

			I don’t know where she had the shiv. Up her sleeve. In her dress. I caught a glimpse of silver, a flash of red. McNulty roared as the blade punched through his hazmat suit and the ballistics weave underneath. Those vests are built to take a knife from a charging gorilla or a point-blank burst from a heavy rifle. God knows where she got the strength.

			McNulty shouted, throwing her aside and clutching his wounded arm. The girl hit the deck, twisted up into a crouch, lips peeled away from yellow teeth. She leapt at Private Henderson and put her shiv through his hazmask—punched right through the eyehole. Her stare locked on mine as his body hit the deck. Big and brown and brimming with hate. Bloody steel in one little red fist.

			“Don’t look at me,” she hissed.

			Sykes put her down. Single shot, right between the eyes. Dropped her before I could blink. And then we heard them. Calls out in the dark. One after another after another. Something skittered across the deck at us, fizzing and spitting tiny sparks.

			Pipe bomb.

			“Grenade!”

			The blast took out Gandolfini, Montano and Parker, the second would’ve taken off my legs if I’d moved a little slower. I could see shapes in the dark—dozens of them—more pipe bombs raining from the gantries above. The explosions lit up the hangar’s belly like fireworks on Terra Day, lit up the body of that ten-year-old girl with a bullet in her face and a bloody knife still clutched in her hand. And I did what any officer with a brain would’ve done. Battlefield commission or not.

			“Fall back! Fall back!”

			To Sigma’s credit, we held formation as we peeled off, laying down suppressing fire as I grabbed McNulty and slung his arm around my shoulder. The hostiles were smart—I’d heard scuttlebutt that Phobos turned you mindless, but they were moving with intent, trying to cut off our retreat. A dozen VK pulse grenades talked them out of it, cleared us a path back to the airlock. McNulty was cursing beneath his breath the whole time, calling himself stupid. He didn’t seem too badly wounded, though—I thought his vest saved him from the worst of it.

			It wasn’t until we’d sealed the secondary airlock behind us I realized how wrong I was. As the Kerenza rookies gathered about us and babbled, XO Myles’s voice rang in my headset.

			“Sigma, this is Comm. Lieutenant McCall, report status, over!”

			“Comm, this is Sigma. At least forty hostiles in the bay. Henderson, Parker, Gandolfini and Montano are down. McNulty is injured. Over.”

			“Sigma, Comm. Did any hostiles make it through, over?”

			“Comm, Sigma. Negative. They’re sealed outside airlock 2. Cycle us through, over.”

			“Sigma, Comm. You said you have a squad member injured, confirm, over?”

			“Comm, Sigma. Affirmative. McNulty took a knife wound. It’s not serious, but he—”

			“Is his suit intact, over?”

			McNulty looked at me, then. And I saw it in his eyes.

			“Comm, Sigma—”

			“Is his suit intact?”

			He had blue eyes, McNulty. Pretty as oceans.

			“Lieutenant, is his suit intact?”

			“… Negative.”

			“Winifred, you cannot bring that man through the airlock, do you understand me?”

			“Lia … “

			“ ‘Fred, you cannot bring him through.”

			The battlefield commission on my chest weighed about ten tons right then. Made it hard to breathe. Impossible to speak. It’s not the bullets that kill you. It’s moments like these.

			One piece at a time.

			In the end, McNulty spoke for me.

			“Comm, this is McNulty. I copy. Order acknowledged, over.”

			I found my voice then. Barely. “Sergeant, I—”

			“Forget it, LT.” He patted his rifle. “If they make it through the airlock before you come back with the cavalry, I got a little something waiting for them.”

			“We are coming back for you, Sergeant.”

			He smiled then. “’Course you are.”

			The airlock cycled open behind us. A full detachment of MPs were waiting, suppressors and VKs trained on us—just in case we tried to bring McNulty through. Cold as the belly of the void, little Lia Myles. Not sure what I ever saw in her.

			McNulty gave us a salute. I could still see his smile. No fear in his eyes then. Just duty.

			He’d have made a good dad.

			“Hey, LT,” he said as the doors cycled closed.

			“Yes, Sergeant?”

			“You see Ezra Mason around, remind him his first kid’s name is James. Or Jamette.” He patted his breast pocket. “And tell him not to worry. I’ve got Astro-Princess to keep me warm.”

			“Astro-Princess?”

			“He’ll know what I mean.”

			I’d prefer a thousand bullets to a moment like this.

			“Roger that, Sergeant.”

			“Take care, LT.”

			That was the last we saw of him.

			I am officially recommending Sergeant James McNulty for the Silver Star for Bravery.

			1st Lieutenant Winifred McCall

			UTA Marine Division

			Battlecarrier Alexander
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			ByteMe: Ez? please tell me you’re still there?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: those bastards

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: THOSE MOTHERFUCKERS

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: A SILVER STAR FOR HIS FUCKING COFFIN?

			ByteMe: Ez please stay at the keyboard, please talk to me. please.

			ByteMe: he’s not dead yet. they don’t say that.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: they LEFT HIM IN THERE. what happens when those lunatics break through to the second airlock?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: We have to get him out of there. can you hack the bay doors?

			ByteMe: i can’t. promise I’m not just saying that. She says in the report their all-access passes don’t work on the bay doors. command has an override in place. please Ez, don’t do anything stupid. we have to think. you’re no use to anyone in the hole.

			ByteMe: or shot.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: get me some schematics, i’ll go down there and cut him out myself

			ByteMe: and THEN what? Do you think for a second that’s what he’d tell you to do?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Kady I can’t leave him, he’s DEAD if he stays in there.

			ByteMe: you promised me. he knew what he was doing. believe me, if I saw a way out I’d take it, but I can’t change this, and you promised me you wouldn’t get yourself killed too. you can’t.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: promises are just words. they don’t mean a thing

			ByteMe: words don’t mean anything?

			ByteMe: are you fucking kidding me?

			ByteMe: words are all we have right now. you’re all I have. you can’t leave him, but you can leave me?

			ByteMe: what about when you said you loved me? when you said you wanted the best for me? all that was just crap, was it? doesn’t mean anything as soon as there’s something that matters more?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Kady i DO love you.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: god

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you’re all i think about. Every time I close my eyes, i see you. Every time I dream, you’re there. I think about us and how i messed it up and it’s like someone is tearing my insides out.

			ByteMe: then don’t get yourself killed.

			ByteMe: i’m hurting for him because you are, even if I don’t know him, but he chose to stay there. he knew what it meant. he’d never forgive you if you got yourself sick, or shot, not if he’s any kind of friend. what you do when shit like this happens is you LIVE, you survive it, that’s how you honor the ones you lost

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: he’s not lost yet. I can’t just sit here and do nothing

			ByteMe: you give me one thing you can actually do, one thing that might have a chance of saving his life, and we’ll talk. making demands based on info you shouldn’t have gets you nowhere. maybe gets you shot. and who says they’re doing nothing?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i do. What’s one more drone or bruiser or commtech to these people? we’re just statistics to command. just numbers

			ByteMe: that doesn’t answer my question, Ez. I’m not saying don’t care about him. I’m saying don’t get killed for no reason. Please. I won’t be okay.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: what does that even mean?

			ByteMe: it means

			ByteMe: it means screw you for making me get into this when i don’t want to

			ByteMe: but i fucking love you too

			ByteMe: and I won’t be okay if you get yourself shot

			ByteMe: so please, please just don’t. please don’t make me sit over here freaking out about what you might be doing.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: whoa, back up about three paras there, cowgirl

			ByteMe: please, Ez.

			ByteMe: Ez?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ok

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ok, i won’t do anything stupid

			ByteMe: i’m so sorry. truly.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: god, i wish you were here

			ByteMe: me too

			ByteMe: but we’re way past 7 mins. i’m so sorry but I have to go.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ok

			ByteMe: stay safe. please. for me.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I will.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: for you

			ByteMe: you promise?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i promise.
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			David,

			I’ve done everything you’ve asked. I’ve tested and trained civilians and sent them across for conscription. I’ve stripped my ship to re-equip the Alexander. I’ve passed on what I believe to be misinformation to my crew and the refugees aboard the Hypatia, advising them the Lincoln was responsible for the destruction of the Copernicus, and the deaths of their friends and families.

			To say I am uneasy with this would be an understatement. I had friends and colleagues aboard that ship. I’ve cooperated at every turn. At this stage I cannot operate in the dark any further.

			Our long-range scopes are now picking up the Lincoln in pursuit of our fleet. If we’re seeing her now, I assume you’ve known she’s closing on us for some time. We burned our lead when we stopped to resupply. It’s not a matter of if Lincoln will catch us anymore. It’s when. And when she catches us, we need to be able to fight her.

			We estimate she’ll close to within weapons range in just under three days—seventy hours, to be precise. We need your defense grid. Your rail guns. Your nukes. You need to bring your artificial intelligence back online, David. And if something’s preventing you from doing that, you need to let us help. I’ve still got my skeleton crew here, and they’re damn good at what they do. Give us access to your systems and let us help you.

			We’re in this together. A quarter of your ship’s crew is conscripted civilians right now. Don’t discount our help just because my crew are civilians too.

			I look forward to your earliest response.

			Ann Chau
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			Ann,

			I’ve arranged log-ins and a secure channel for your tech crew, which will allow them to work with mine in running scenarios.

			No other crewmembers are to use the secure channel—it is available for designated personnel only. Be advised the secure channel is considered a military asset, and while they’re assisting on this project, your people are subject to military law.

			If I catch any of them in even the slightest infraction, from checking in on their buddies to bitching about the situation, I won’t hesitate to court martial them.

			Don’t lose your nerve. This is a long way from over, and we’re not done yet.

			David

			Log-in details:

			1/2 Zhang/Byron:

			Log-in: Alexander/Core/Full/ZhangB

			Password: skjh45mh2

			2/2 Nestor/Consuela:

			Log-in: Alexander/Core/Full/NestorC

			Password: 24rkdga9s

			COUNTDOWN TO 
LINCOLN INTERCEPTION 
OF ALEXANDER FLEET:

			70 hours: 24 minutes
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			ByteMe: howdy neighbor

			Zhang, B: fuck me, what are you doing on this channel?

			ByteMe: o now is that nice?

			Zhang, B: u piggy backing?

			ByteMe: doesn’t look like Corporal Boklov is using his ID right now so i thought i’d see what ur up to

			Zhang, B: nothing slows u down

			ByteMe: unlike u. looks weird, seeing your actual name there. ur totally CitB in my head.

			ByteMe: so still don’t have this sorted? whats the hold up?

			Zhang, B: it’s not that fucking easy is the hold up. u here to help?

			ByteMe: affirmative, sensei

			ByteMe: u getting any gen out of the military techs about how things are over there?

			Zhang, B: worried about your bf?

			ByteMe: yes

			Zhang, B: oh

			Zhang, B: well that makes the teasing a little less fun

			ByteMe: answer?

			Zhang, B: nope, they not feeling talkative

			ByteMe: how u holding up? have u stopped to eat or drink or sleep lately?

			Zhang, B: not a lot of any of those.

			ByteMe: u want me to bring u something?

			Zhang, B: no, don’t want any footage of u coming near me, in case they notice u

			Zhang, B: it all takes a bit longer, doing it remotely from the Hypatia. Just a little delay on every command, starting to drive me nuts.

			Zhang, B: not exactly volunteering to head over to the Alexander and do it in person tho

			ByteMe: any of these military folks know what they’re doing?

			Zhang, B: some. Guy called Dorian is on it, a couple of the others, but others trying to fill shoes not meant for them, got promotions after Kerenza.

			Zhang, B: But no matter how good u are, trying to work out how to turn AIDAN back on under restraint is like trying to work out how to strap down an octopus, only u have no idea how many arms the fucker has and u have to work in the dark

			ByteMe: ok, show me where i can help. we have to get moving. Lincoln isn’t waiting.

			Zhang B: u holding up ok?

			ByteMe: trying. let’s go to work
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			Syra, Kate:

			I need some quiet calculations. Hypothetical only, of course, but as the senior staff, it’s appropriate for us to consider every potential step necessary to preserve the safety of the Hypatia.

			Please compile a confidential report considering:

			•	the navigational capacity of our current staff (Syra)

			•	the current condition of our ship (Kate)

			•	our ability to increase velocity/fashion defense systems of any description (Kate)

			My question, essentially, is this: if we were to leave the Alexander and strike out for safety on our own, through either choice or necessity, what are our chances?

			I want a list of likely scenarios, a report on our probability of survival and ideas on any steps we can take to increase our odds. The Hypatia was never meant to brave the black without an escort, but we need to work out how our minnow can survive without her guardian shark. We need to be prepared, just in case.

			Kate, please don’t include Peyak in this. I’m aware he’s still unhappy about Matt’s conscription and would not be willing to assist in compiling any plan for leaving the Alexander behind. In fact, I think he’d probably tell Matt as quick as he could, assuming comms ever come back up.

			You’ve got twelve hours to put together as much data as possible for me, then we’ll meet in person to discuss your findings.

			Ann
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			Officers of the Alexander,

			This is rumor control. At 20:17, 07/25/75, Marine Squad Sigma engaged hostile Kerenza refugees afflicted with the mutated Phobos virus in Hangar Bay 4. Sigma Squad was unable to secure the area. Several marines were killed in this altercation. Sigma is now in lockdown.

			I will state this as plainly as I can—there has been no quarantine breach. NO afflicted personnel have gained access to the general population of the Alexander. Any speculation to the contrary is, at best, detrimental, at worst, treason.

			Short-handed as we are, and unable to guarantee our marines’ safety, I have determined to leave Bay 4 sealed and allow the afflicted within to succumb to starvation. With the main drive still offline, Lincoln is now closing to within striking distance. All pilots—even disciplinary cases—are to be reinstated to flight status. Hypatia Neurogramming staff have been assisting with the work on AIDAN. TechEng will report latest results at 07:00 tomorrow to senior staff. I trust Col. Sanchez and her team will have found a solution to our AI dilemma by then.

			You all know fear is poison in battle. You, as officers, must do everything in your power to stop this situation from turning toxic.

			You will explain this in no uncertain terms to your respective staff members. Conjecture and rumor-mongering serve no purpose but to degrade unit cohesion. Morale is at a flash point already—the last thing we need are people operating rashly under misinformation. And frankly, if your people have time to be playing watercooler whispers with things being what they are, they’re not working hard enough.

			Over six thousand lives are on the line here, people.

			We should be doing, not talking.

			Centrum tenenda.

			David Torrence
General, United Terran Authority
Commander, Alexander 78-V
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			LeFevre, S, Prv: Dorian, this install sequence still isn’t working.

			Dorian, C, Corp: Damnation. Send it to me and I’ll look at it once I’m done hand-holding these civilian techs over on Hypatia.

			LeFevre, S, Prv: did you just say “damnation”? god, you even swear posh. très sexy.

			Dorian, C, Corp: What do you want, Stephanie?

			LeFevre, S, Prv: what makes u think I want anything?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Because you’re flirting with me. And unless I missed a memo and have somehow become … now what was the term you used again?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Oh, yes … 

			Dorian, C, Corp: “The last functional cock in the ’verse”

			Dorian, C, Corp: … then you want something. So, what can I do for you?

			LeFevre, S, Prv: How bout u meet me in Server Room D

			LeFevre, S, Prv: and tear me out of this coverall with your teeth

			Dorian, C, Corp:  … 

			Dorian, C, Corp: Are you serious?

			LeFevre, S, Prv: lol

			LeFevre, S, Prv: oh, LORD, no.

			LeFevre, S, Prv: lololololololol

			Dorian, C, Corp: I’m a bloody Corporal, you know. I outrank you. Technically, I could have you brought up on charges for that.

			LeFevre, S, Prv: which would leave you stuck doing this install alone.

			Dorian, C, Corp: Damn your logic, Private. Damn it straight to hell.

			LeFevre, S, Prv: hey u hear about that SNAFU with Sigma Squad?

			LeFevre, S, Prv: I heard they lost 12 guys. And two of the refugees broke out of the bay

			Dorian, C, Corp: If that were true, I suspect we’d be under lockdown by now, yes?

			LeFevre, S, Prv: u did hear something then

			Dorian, C, Corp: Nothing I’m at liberty to share. Back to work, please.

			LeFevre, S, Prv: I’m waiting on this upload. u can tell me, Charlie

			Dorian, C, Corp: My lips are sealed.

			LeFevre, S, Prv: well

			LeFevre, S, Prv: I can fix that

			Dorian, C, Corp: Meaning what?

			LeFevre, S, Prv: meet me in Server Room D

			Dorian, C, Corp:  … 

			Dorian, C, Corp: Are you serious?

			Dorian, C, Corp: … Stephanie?

			Dorian, C, Corp: < user log-out due to inactivity >
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			Friends,

			I am pleased to report that repairs to the Alexander’s drive systems are proceeding ahead of schedule, and we should be returning to maximum velocity within the next few days. Unfortunately, we are still unable to provide exact timings, but rest assured the tech crews involved are working tirelessly to ensure the safety of the fleet.

			The Lincoln has not shown itself since the attack on the Copernicus—it’s possible the damage sustained during the Copernicus attack has rendered it incapable of further pursuit. However, General Torrence and his staff are continuing repair operations around the clock, and the sanctuary of Heimdall Station is closer than it has ever been. We ask for your patience for the next few days—rest assured the worst is almost over.

			Patience is not without its rewards, however! I’m informed Lt Mifune has dredged up another cinema classic from his collection for screening in Amphitheater A—tonight we have the award-winning thriller TERMINUS starring Blake Hill and Elizabeth Andretti. First session will commence at 19:00 hours. The film contains some mature content, so children under the age of twelve can attend a re-screening of SUPER TURBO AWESOME TEAM VS. MEGAPANDA in Amphitheater B, or be dropped off in the temp crèche on Deck 17.

			We would also like to congratulate Martina Hernandez and her husband Christopher for the birth of their beautiful baby girl, who was brought into the universe by our medical staff at 01:13 this morning! Both mother and daughter are doing well, and I am delighted to report our newest crew member has been named “Hypatia” by her parents. Your prayers and best wishes are appreciated—any donations of clothing or toys for our little stowaway can be made via your friendly Hypatia ensign.

			I thank you all for your courage and patience through our recent trials, and look forward to bringing you more news as it comes to hand.
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			ByteMe: howzit?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: tense. t-e-n-s-e

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: lot of scuttlebutt around. Bay 4 and the rest of it

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: trying not to think about Jimmy. it’s not working

			ByteMe: :(

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: talk to me Kades

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: tell me something good

			ByteMe: um, ok

			ByteMe: … 

			ByteMe: o, remember Ms. Colfer from applied sciences class? She’s over here, u know.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: No kidding? Wow, she made it.

			ByteMe: Yeah. She’s kind of the reason we got together

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Damn, I still remember first day in her class. You were checking me out HARD, Grant.

			ByteMe: U. R. DELUSIONAL. u kept asking me stupid questions about hydrogen bonding

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: confession: hydrogen was not the kind of bonding on my mind

			ByteMe: o rly? am I to understand it was highly sophisticated courting behavior? did i misinterpret it, with my backwater ways?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Mock if you will. I’ll refrain from pointing out you DID end up falling madly in love with me

			ByteMe: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I’m nice like that

			ByteMe: madly as in it was complete insanity to do it. and i was misled on the whole “wishing-to-bond” front by the way you kept sticking your tongue down jodie kingston’s throat

			ByteMe: it was like you were trying to make up for missed biology lessons with practical experience. ew.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you know Jodie’s dead, right?

			ByteMe: i … jesus

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Way to go, mood-killer

			ByteMe: okay, sorry

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Lol, you’re so bad at this, Grant

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: That’s one of the things I love about you

			ByteMe: fuck off, I was trying to make you feel better

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: You kiss your mother with that mouth?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: How is your mom anyways? I would literally swim the few thousand klicks of vacuum between Alexander and Hypatia for some of her dessert

			ByteMe: Yeah, I always knew what you were really at my place for.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Hey, you should thank her. I owe this manly physique almost entirely to her home cooking

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: *flexes*

			ByteMe: I was totally just in it for your manly physique, u know. I watched so many boring geeball games for that physique. And all before u even asked me out

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Boring? Ok NOW you’re hurting my feelings.

			ByteMe: i’m flattering you, idiot.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: You know, you’ve REALLY gotta think of a better pet name for me than “idiot.”

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: What about “sweetiepuff”

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: “sugarpants”?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: NONO WAIT. “CUDDLEPIE”

			ByteMe: I will hack the Alexander comms system and let them know you prefer to be known as Cuddlepie immediately, my love

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: noooooooooooooooo

			ByteMe: u look as good in your uniform as you did in your geeball gear? if not please lie.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Well the pants are tighter, if that counts for anything

			ByteMe: mmmmm go on

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: u sure?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: We’d need waaaay more than seven minutes for that ;)

			ByteMe: Always took about 2 mins as I recall

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: 0_o

			ByteMe: Set yourself up for that one son.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Well played, madam.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Well played indeed

			ByteMe: speaking of 7 mins, time to split

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Yeah

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i miss you, you know

			ByteMe: you too

			ByteMe: and seriously, things r only going to get more intense. be calm. be smart.

			ByteMe: stay safe, shnookums

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: see now you’re just being silly

			COUNTDOWN TO LINCOLN INTERCEPTION 
OF ALEXANDER FLEET:

			58 hours: 41 minutes

			

			
				[image: skull and crossbones art]

			Date: 07/27/75

			Text: alone

			I’m not ready to die.

			If the Lincoln catches us, she’ll destroy us. There’s simply no other reason she’d chase us for months on end if it wasn’t to hide the last of the evidence. Wipe out the only witnesses with a chance to tell the universe BeiTech attacked another corp, hijacked their illegal processing plant and oh yes killed thousands of people.

			That, or we’re on the lam because the Lincoln’s captain is secretly Torrence’s angry ex-girlfriend and they have unfinished business. He’s totally the kind of guy who’d leave the toilet seat up.

			I think my jokes are getting worse. Weirder, anyway. The sleep dep is really getting to me. But I can’t miss a chance to peek inside AIDAN and help out Byron, and that means jumping onto a new ID every time a tech takes a break. And in the spare minutes I’m supposed to be sleeping, I’m thinking about what we might find if we make it out of this alive instead.

			I figure it this way: WUC’s operation on Kerenza was illegal, so they can’t tell the UTA we stopped reporting in. When Kerenza was attacked, our alarms would’ve been relayed through the closest waypoint, and then on to Heimdall Station. But the only ship that showed up—the Alexander—was on patrol nearby. Which means our SOS never made it out of the system. And if Heimdall didn’t send the cavalry, that has to mean the station itself was taken as part of the BT attack. Which means my dad might be dead. I am not okay with that.

			I am NOT OKAY WITH THAT.

				We’ll never make it as far as Heimdall, says my brain, and if we do, Heimdall’s been taken anyway. It says nobody made it off the Copernicus alive—or not alive in any way I’d recognize. I lie in my bunk, pretending I’m at home, and just return those thoughts to sender. They show up, and try to get their claws into me, and with a mental NO I push them back. Force myself somewhere safer. Counting rivets. Tugging at the loose threads along the edge of my sheet, winding them so tight around my fingers my nails turn blue.

			But deep down, I know it. The truth. Nobody’s coming for us. The place we’re running to probably isn’t safe. And there’s nobody I can trust in this equation except Ezra and Byron. But Byron’s hands are tied, and E’s along with him. So if we’re going to find out exactly what happened to the Copernicus, and why, it has to be me.

			If we had to, could the Hypatia outrun the Alexander?

			Is anyone who made it off the Copernicus still sane? Or even alive?

			Are they alive, at Heimdall?

			I’m not ready to die just yet. Too many things left to do.

			No way I am getting short-changed.

			Ezra loves me. I mean, maybe I’m an idiot and it’s just his fear and desperation talking, but I don’t think so. I don’t care if it is, I need him. Being angry at him because he didn’t want to leave Kerenza … seems kind of small, now.

			It was so good, when we were together. It was right. We should have fronted up to the problem, not screamed at each other and avoided it. We should have fought for it, instead of giving up and making out all the time.

			I should have been big enough to tell him what he meant to me.

			Now I get to tell him in 7 minute bursts.

			I try to reach out and connect, to remind him however I can, in my own super awkward way, that I’m here. That if he does something dumb over there, there’s one person left who cares.

			Care doesn’t cover it.

			If I lose Ezra too, it’ll be one body blow too many.

			If I lose Ezra too, I’ll give up.

			I don’t think I have anyone else left.

			But while I have him, I’ll fight tooth and nail to keep us safe.

			Whatever it takes.
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			ByteMe: aroo

			Zhang, B: Jesus u can’t be here, Corporal Boklov is online, i can see his ID

			Zhang, B: u log in while his ID’s already active, someone will wtf

			ByteMe: today i am playing the part of Private LeFevre, tho i thank you for your kind concern

			Zhang, B: i don’t think the stims are working any more. so hard not to qwertyface

			ByteMe: no sleep for the wicked, my friend. ur our best hope

			Zhang, B: zzzZZzzzzzz

			ByteMe: where’d u grow up?

			Zhang, B: does that matter in the slightest?

			ByteMe: i’m keeping u awake, you dope

			Zhang, B: Triton III

			ByteMe: isn’t that mostly water?

			Zhang, B: i’m a pretty buoyant guy. but yeah, got out when i could

			ByteMe: family?

			Zhang, B: mom and sisters. pay mostly goes into accounts for my nieces and nephews. don’t need much myself

			ByteMe: uncle byron <3

			Zhang, B: upstart

			ByteMe: so what made you take up the fight, Mr. Information Liberty Activist?

			Zhang, B: hush, I’m working

			ByteMe: spill

			Zhang, B: i’ll tell you when you’re older

			ByteMe: oh come onnnnn

			Zhang, B: (dramatic sigh)

			Zhang, B: “The man dies in all who keep silent in the face of tyranny.”

			ByteMe: … 

			ByteMe: what?

			Zhang, B: Wole Soyinka said that. he was a writer, back in 20C. studied him in college. wrote about injustice. Plays, poems, books. good stuff. u should read him

			ByteMe: what’s a book?

			Zhang, B: … 

			Zhang, B: hey what r u doing looking over in that core? dead there

			ByteMe: checking shutdown + restart logs, might find something helpful

			Zhang, B: good, smart

			ByteMe: this is weird tho. there are like 6 shutdown attempts in a row here, all fail. AIDAN was blocking them

			Zhang, B: when?

			ByteMe: right when they were firing on the Copernicus

			Zhang, B: … say WHAT?
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			Chau, A, Capt: You sonofabitch, David

			Torrence, D, Gen: Excuse me?

			Chau, A, Capt: It killed them. All of them. I have it all here on file. Launch codes for the nukes. Orders for your Cyclone drones to take out the surviving shuttles. AIDAN murdered over two thousand people, and you’re trying to bring it back online?

			Torrence, D, Gen: Where did you get those files?

			Chau, A, Capt: How long did you think you could keep this a secret? You didn’t think to mention your AI’s judgment is so critically impaired?

			Torrence, D, Gen: Where did you get those files, Captain? I gave explicit orders your technicians were to access designated areas ONLY.

			Chau, A, Capt: My God, what does it matter how I got them? My people are helping you get AIDAN up and running again and we have NO GUARANTEES it won’t kill us all as soon as it becomes operational.

			Torrence, D, Gen: AIDAN is already operational. It was deactivated on my orders. And we’re working to ensure it doesn’t hurt anyone when we turn it back on.

			Chau, A, Capt: And that’s supposed to comfort me?

			Torrence, D, Gen: This is an act of espionage in a time of war. Do you realize the consequences? You are directly undermining the security of this fleet. I could have you and your entire command staff brought up on charges and shot.

			Chau, A, Capt: We are done, do you understand me? My people are out. We are ceasing in any operations to bring the AI back into operational status until I have some guarantee it won’t destroy us all at its earliest opportunity.

			Torrence, D, Gen: I’m afraid I can’t allow that, Captain. The Lincoln WILL destroy us when it catches us, and I need your crews to bring AIDAN online before they do.

			Chau, A, Capt: Jesus, David, two days ago you were unwilling to let my people near your systems. And now you’re telling me they can’t stop?

			Torrence, D, Gen: Is it any wonder I was reluctant to allow your people access, given the current circumstances?

			Chau, A, Capt: My crew are civilians. They’re under MY command. I will NOT allow them to participate in an action that places my ship and personnel in danger.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Then they’re not civilians anymore.

			Chau, A, Capt: What?

			Torrence, D, Gen: I’m conscripting your commtech staff into the UTA, effective immediately. You will have them assembled on your main hangar deck and ready to depart in 30 minutes. A shuttle is being sent to get them.

			Chau, A, Capt: You can’t do this.

			Torrence, D, Gen: A full complement of UTA Marines will accompany the shuttle and help escort your personnel back to Alexander. I would recommend you refrain from resistance.

			Chau, A, Capt: David, think this through, please

			Torrence, D, Gen: 30 minutes.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Centrum tenenda. Torrence out.
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			INCEPT: 07/28/75 (06:58 shipboard time)

			LOCATION: Wallace Ulyanov Consortium Science Vessel Hypatia

			OFFICER IDENT: Winifred McCall (UTN-961-641id)

			RANK: First Lieutenant

			_________________________________

			At 02:07 (shipboard time) on 07/28/75, Sigma Squad and I were scrambled to a Code Blue alert issued by Alexander command staff. Squad mustered in a timely fashion to deck 146, where we were briefed by General Torrence.

			The boss looked tired. More tired than I can ever remember seeing him.

			Sit-rep: Hypatia’s commtech crew had been forcefully conscripted into the UTA after an (unspecified) act of espionage instigated by Hypatia officers. A shuttle was being sent to bring the conscripts back to Alexander where our TechEng crew could keep closer watch on them.

			My boys were still jumpy after the incident in Hangar Bay 4, but my vets had more experience than the Alexander’s other marines, so we were up. Having lost McNulty, Henderson, Parker, Montano and Gandolfini, I had no choice but to put my Kerenza rookies in the firing line. Corporal Sykes had been in a darker mood than usual since Bay 4—if it was up to him, I’m sure he’d have flushed every civi in the fleet out an airlock.

			“We expecting resistance, boss?” he asked.

			“Negative,” Torrence replied. “These are civilians, they’ll do what they’re told. Still, you’re packing hot ballistics. The chipheads are off-limits, but if anyone else is stupid enough to get in your way, you be the push that makes them move.”

			Sykes’s smile put ice in my belly. “Roger that, sir.”

			“Sir,” I asked. “Aren’t we there to pacify rather than neutralize?”

			“You are there, Lieutenant, to bring back personnel vital to fleet operations. If we didn’t need all our own people, I’d have already brigged Hypatia’s commanders and replaced them with UTA personnel. So if anyone gets in your way, they are to be considered enemy combatants and dealt with accordingly. Is that understood?”

			“Sir, yessir.”

			“Good hunting.”

			On the way down to Hangar Bay 1, we passed the airlock to Bay 4. I tried my best not to think about the man trapped inside it, the people beyond it. Who they were and what they’d become. The gold UTA sigil on my sleeve caught the light of the alert globes spinning above the sealed doors. Red as the blood on my hands.

			The trip across to Hypatia was taken in complete silence. I should’ve been talking to my people, making sure they were chill. I could barely stop my teeth from chattering. One of my Kerenza rooks was looking at me—Doherty was her name. Staring from behind her wire-rimmed spectacles like I had the answers. I kept my eyes to the floor. Spoke to no one in particular.

			“Follow my lead. Do not fire unless I give the order. The first itchy trigger on my watch gets to learn what the outside of an airlock tastes like, crystal?”

			“Ma’am, yes ma’am!” came a dozen barks.

			We came into Hypatia’s docking bay at hard burn. The artificial grav kicked back in and dropped me into my seat and I was up and out of it before I could get cozy. If I’d let myself, I’d have stayed there forever—buckled in tight and wondering how it came to this.

			I spoke to the pilot as we touched down. “Kilpatrick, keep engines running. We may need to jet quick.”

			“Affirmative, LT.”

			“All right,” Sykes barked to the squad. “Suit up, let’s roll.”

			Out the shuttle door and across the bay, the stink of fuel and char in my mouth. Patching myself into the local Command frequency and speaking through gritted teeth.

			“Hypatia, this is First Lieutenant Winifred McCall from UTA Marine Squad Sigma. We are here to escort Hypatia commtech personnel in accordance with Alexander Command directives. Please open internal hangar bay doors, over?”

			“Lieutenant McCall, this is Captain Chau of the Hypatia, over.”

			“Roger that, Captain, I read you. Please open internal hangar bay doors, over.”

			“Negative, Lieutenant. You’re not taking my people.”

			I tried not to sigh then. Tried not to acknowledge I knew exactly how she felt to have one of my guys ripped away from me, or remember McNulty’s face as that airlock slammed closed.

			“They’re not your people anymore, Captain. They’re UTA conscripts. Now you can open these doors, or the plasma missiles on our shuttle can open them for you.”

			Silence down comms, then. Doherty looking at me the way kids must look at their mothers. Wondering if any of this was real. Sykes spat on the deck, spat down his transmitter.

			“Open the fucking doors before we blow them in, goddammit.”

			I had Sykes’s collar in my fist before I knew it. Hand over my mic so Hypatia couldn’t hear. Dragging him close enough to smell the hooch on his breath.

			“You secure that bullshit right now, or I’ll kick your teeth so hard you’ll need to unzip for me to lace up.”

			Silent rebellion in his eyes. I should have benched him right there. I could see the names written on his face. Parker. Henderson. Gandolfini. Montano. McNulty.

			“Ma’am, yes ma’am,” he said.

			The airlock doors opened wide. What passed for Hypatia’s Sec Squad was waiting for us on the other side. Their Lieutenant looked former military, but he was about twenty years too old, about eighty pounds too slow.

			“Where are the commtechs?” I asked.

			“On the bridge,” the LT replied. “They’re still working to get us out of this mess.”

			“You ex-UTA, LT?”

			“Yes, I am.”

			“Then you know what a VK assault rifle does to a human body at close range?”

			A swallow. A glance to the weapon in my hand. “Yes, I do.”

			“Lead the way.”

			Through long gleaming halls, boots squeaking on rubber floors. All of it surgical white once, but just a little faded now. Pale faces peering at us from behind grubby plasteel windows. Unshaven cheeks or pink dye jobs with six months of regrowth at the roots. Frightened eyes. All of us fraying at the edges.

			The Hypatia bridge was semi-circular. Humming with static. Chau had cleared most of her personnel out in case things went south of heaven. The remaining crew glanced up as we entered. I could imagine how we looked. All in black. Hollow eyes. Thirty-eight rounds of murder in every clip.

			My hands were shaking.

			Chau was short. Carved out of wood. Dark hair. Pistol at her belt. Running on no sleep, by the look, standing at her post like some old lighthouse keeper—the only thing between us and the rocks. I identified the commtechs from their shipboard IDs—both still pounding away at their consoles, like nothing was happening. I spoke loud enough to be heard across the whole bridge.

			“Byron Zhang, Consuela Nestor, you are hereby ordered to accompany me to the UTA Battlecarrier Alexander.”

			“Tell me how you think this ends, Lieutenant.”

			It was Chau speaking. Hand on her pistol. She was looking out the huge viewscreen dominating one end of the room. I could see a tiny spark on the long range scanner, out there amid all the black and starlight. Its ID tag and countdown to intercept pulsing red:

			BT042-TN. 52 hours: 17 minutes.

			Lincoln.

			“I don’t get paid to think,” I said. “I follow orders. Stand aside, Captain.”

			Chau smiled like I’d said something funny. One of the commtechs stood up, then. Byron Zhang. Supposedly a top-tier console jockey. He sure looked the part. Overweight. Thinning hair. Underarm stains.

			“It’s a good thing they don’t pay you to think,” he said. “It doesn’t seem like your thing.”

			“Zhang, get your gear, you’re coming with us.”

			“No.” He set pudgy hands on his hips. Tried to keep his voice from shaking. “You’ll have to drag us. Kicking and screaming.”

			“I’ll give you something to scream about,” Sykes growled.

			“ ‘The man dies in all who keep silent in the face of tyranny,’ ” he said.

			“Listen, Zhang, I appreciate the rhetoric, but anyone can do math this simple. We need every swinging dick back on Alexander and you two are the best chipheads on Hypatia.”

			Zhang’s lips twisted, then. An “I know something you don’t know” kind of smile that turned my mood darker. I wanted this over. I wanted to be back in my rack with a canteen of rocket fuel and a few hours of the forgetting it would bring. Still, I knew what kind of edge Sykes was dancing on. I should have given the order to someone else.

			“Corporal Sykes, secure the conscripts for transport back to Alexander.”

			His grin went all the way to his eyes. “Ma’am, yes ma’am.”

			He slapped Hart and Bedggood on the arms, and the trio loped forward, pulling zip ties from their belts. I could feel my Kerenza rookies beside me, all of them playing at being soldiers, all of them just nerves and gritted teeth. Doherty in particular looked jumpy. What had she done before this? Security guard at a shopping mall? A library maybe? I couldn’t remember … 

			My eyes were on the Hypatia security team—they all looked a crossed word away from drawing. Sweat in my eyes. Hard to breathe. Chau’s voice rose above the pulse in my ears.

			“Lieutenant, do you know your commanders plan to re-activate the artificial intelligence responsible for destroying the Copernicus? Do you know Major Hawking and two other Alexander officers were executed under General Torrence’s direct orders—”

			“Shut up. One more minute and this will all be over.”

			Sykes and the others reached the commtechs. Zhang had sat himself on the floor and folded his arms—some gesture of peaceful protest that earned him as much latitude as a faceful of spit. Sykes grabbed his arm, and when Zhang resisted, the corporal popped him with the butt of his VK. Zhang’s nose spat blood, the other commtech shouted protest. And that was all it took. Fists and elbows and knees. Pasty flesh slapping the floor. In about five seconds, Zhang and Nestor were trussed up on the floor like abattoir meat.

			“Stop it, Jesus!” the SecTeam Lieutenant roared. My VK was right in his face.

			“Stand down, LT,” I warned.

			“This is bullshit! You people are animals!”

			“Captain, order your people to stand down! No one needs to get hurt here!”

			The LT’s hand was on his pistol.

			My finger on my trigger.

			Doherty beside me, her voice rising an octave. “Lieutenant?”

			“Lieutenant, stand down!” Chau barked.

			I think that’s what did it. Simple mistake. Chau should’ve used his name. Should’ve made it clear she was ordering her own LT, not me. Because to someone with a few light-years under their belt, it would’ve been obvious Chau was drawing her pistol to surrender it. I’ve watched the recordings a hundred times. You can see it on her face. Resignation. One hand up in surrender. But to a terrified rookie who used to guard the school library, it might have looked like Chau was drawing the piece to use it. That she was shouting at me to stand down, and if I didn’t, she was prepared to shoot me in the back.

			So Doherty did what she’d been ordered to do.

			“… you be the push that makes them move.”

			It was a good shot. Took Chau right in the head. I heard a scream from the Nav-Comp, and Syra Boll, one of Chau’s 2ICs was charging across the deck, cradling her dead Captain in her arms. The SecTeam were shouting, we were roaring, VKs in their faces. I don’t know how it held together. I don’t know what stopped us heading south of heaven, right then and there. Maybe it was Zhang. Sitting with his bleeding face, tear-filled eyes locked on his Captain’s body. Legs crossed. Back straight. Not fighting. Just resisting.

			What had he said?

			“ ‘The man dies in all who keep silent in the face of tyranny.’ ”

			The woman, too.

			I can’t do this. I can’t pretend this is what I signed up for. I brought them back, just like I was told. Both Hypatia commtechs, delivered to General Torrence, hog-tied and just a little bloodied for their troubles. I did what a good soldier is supposed to do. But now I’m done.

			Lock me in the hole. Fuck, space me. I don’t care anymore. I’ll keep your secrets. Shut my mouth. But I can’t shut my eyes.

			I am hereby formerly resigning my commission as a Lieutenant of the United Terran Authority, effective immediately.

			I’m sorry.

			I just can’t do this anymore.

			Winifred McCall

			Former 1st Lieutenant

			UTA Marine Division

			Battlecarrier Alexander
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			Mason, E, LT 2nd: dorian

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: DOOOORRRRIIIAAAAAANNNNNN

			Dorian, C, Corp: Go away, Mason

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I’ll be quick

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Rumors you may have heard to that effect are all lies, btw

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: *crickets*

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: You heard anything on Jimmy?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Mason I have more important things on my mind than James right now.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: chum, our friend is still stuck in that airlock, don’t you think we should find out if command are at least gonna TRY to get him out?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Mason, the personnel aboard this ship dont’ amount to a bucket of shit as far as Torrence and his officers are concerned. WAKE UP.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: dorian, that’s the first time I’ve ever seen you swear. Or botch an apostrophe for that matter

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: like, EVER

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: u ok?

			Dorian, C, Corp: No. I am not. A friend of mine just got locked in the hole.

			Dorian, C, Corp: Stephanie LeFevre. She’s a commtech.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ya I know Steph. Chill fem. Smart. What’d they brig her for?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Aiding and abetting the enemy. They have records of her log-in being used to access memory files out of AIDAN. Details about the Copernicus attack, Kerenza refugee files, things like that. They say she gave the gen to Hypatia command about AIDAN.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: shit. that was … not so smart

			Dorian, C, Corp: Except she didn’t do it.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: how u so sure?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Because she was with me at the time, Mason.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: like

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: “with you” in a biblical sense?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Yes, Mason. “Biblically.”

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: holy SHIT, little Charlie D with ALL THE MOVES!!!

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: chum no offence but I had you picked as a Neo-Abstinent, dead cert’

			Dorian, C, Corp: My god, you’re an infant.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: chum, I’m HAPPY for you. Steph is a queen

			Dorian, C, Corp: Yes, well, my “queen” is now locked in SOLITARY for WARTIME ESPIONAGE, Mason. Awaiting court martial. And a possible firing squad.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: right. fuck

			Dorian, C, Corp: Three quarters of TechEng are now on some kind of “watch list” for suspicious behavior. Torrence has completely lost the plot. He’s had two commtechs dragged over from Hypatia. Set them up on the bridge so he could “keep an eye on them.” The pair of them literally have bruisers with guns looming over them while they work.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and there’s no way steph could have logged in to access the info?

			Dorian, C, Corp: I think I’d have noticed. Give me some credit, please.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: so just tell command she was with you. Case closed.

			Dorian, C, Corp: Yes, brilliant. Because Private LeFevre engaging in intimate relations with her reporting Corporal is so much better.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: chum, it’s better than being shot for espionage

			Dorian, C, Corp: It’s still a court-martialing offense. And the way Torrence is acting lately, he might just have us both shot. He’ll brig me at the very least, that much is certain.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: chum, you have to tell them

			Dorian, C, Corp: GOD IN HEAVEN, I ALREADY SENT THE EMAIL TO MY C.O.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: oh

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: well. Good for u, chum. Proud of you

			Dorian, C, Corp: Oh, shut up.

			Dorian, C, Corp: All this means is two more people in the hole. Two more people not working on us not all getting killed when the Lincoln arrives

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: double negative, wow, u really upset

			Dorian, C, Corp: And of course, there actually IS someone hacking into AIDAN and accessing classified files. Locking Stephanie and I in the hole won’t change that at all.

			Dorian, C, Corp: I swear, the people in command are drooling simpletons. Why on earth would Stephanie be accessing Kerenza refugee files?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: wait this hacker was accessing kerenza refugee files?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Yes, Mason, I believe I said that already. Twice.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: shit

			Dorian, C, Corp: Mason, do you remember when I said you were smarter than you look?

			Dorian, C, Corp: Well, I’m officially taking it back. You’re slower than German opera.

			Dorian, C, Corp: Mason.

			Dorian, C, Corp: … Mason?
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			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Please tell me this wasn’t you

			ByteMe: ??? u ok?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: This hacker who broke into AIDAN’s memory and told Hypatia command about Copernicus.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Tell me it wasn’t you, Kady.

			ByteMe: they don’t even know I can hack. Otherwise I’d have been brutalized and hauled over to the Alexander like the others

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus, it was you

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: KADY WHAT THE FUCK WERE YOU THINKING?

			ByteMe: AIDAN murdered everyone on the Copernicus. it’s being covered up. I’m the only one who IS thinking

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: so you thought telling everyone on hypatia about it was a good idea???

			ByteMe: Byron told the Captain. How could I do that? I’m not even meant to be in there.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: wait … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: who the fuck is Byron?

			ByteMe: He’s the guy your marines assaulted and dragged over to the Alexander, covered in blood. He’s the only one who was brave enough to speak up. And it was the right thing to do.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: oh really? Tell that to the commtech whose ID you jacked. She’s in the brig now. and the Corporal (my friend, btw) who’s stepping up to make sure she doesn’t get SHOT for something she didn’t do is going in the hole beside her.

			ByteMe: they shot our captain, did they tell you that? when they were taking my friends.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Kady, those marines WOULDN’T HAVE EVEN BEEN THERE if not for you and lord fucking byron

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: You promised me whatever I installed in that server was just to help Jimmy and youve been using it to spy on people.

			ByteMe: I never promised that.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: You LIED to me

			ByteMe: Should I just sit here and wait to die? You might have become a military drone, but I don’t have any faith at all in your commanders.

			ByteMe: What would you do if it was me in the brig? Wait for your next set of orders from them?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Weren’t u the one telling me not to try and break Jimmy out because I’d be putting myself and others in danger? Why the fuck are those rules good for me and not for you?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Ppl are in prison because of you! Ppl got hurt because of you!

			ByteMe: and if nobody does anything, what happens then? you think your general torrence has the answer?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: who says nobody’s doing anything? ppl over here are busting their asses. they’re trained military personnel. they do this for a living and they’ve been doing it all their lives

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and i dunno if they have all the answers, but maybe, JUST MAYBE THEY HAVE MORE ANSWERS THAN YOU

			ByteMe: they don’t, trust me. I’ve seen exactly what they’re doing. So has Byron. they have no idea.

			ByteMe: I’m not doing this for kicks, Ez. I’m trying to find out what’s going on, what’s wrong with AIDAN, and I’m wading through layers of lies from your precious command to do it. you might be as content to sit here and take orders as you were to sit on Kerenza and do nothing, but I’m not going to count down the 47 hrs we have left until the Lincoln catches us by sitting on my hands

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: fuck me, you’re seriously bringing up kerenza? now?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you really want to go there?

			ByteMe: i’m doing what I can to keep us safe. to keep those of us who are left, safe. from AIDAN, from the Lincoln. have u changed since Kerenza at all?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: listen, I’m sorry i wasn’t the guy to explore the goddamn universe with you. i had my reasons.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: but u don’t know everything kady. your problem is you think you do

			ByteMe: i know we have 47 hrs left to live right now, and u want to sit and hope. I can’t do that.

			ByteMe: i promised Byron i wouldn’t stop trying. so get your head out of your ass and help me, Ezra.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: god this is so like you. Little Miss Bigbrain. You always think you knwo better. Always think you know the score. ALWAYS

			ByteMe: right, what’s your idea?

			ByteMe: seriously, I’m listening. got anything better than sitting and waiting to die?

			ByteMe: i’m sorry they brigged your friends, i am. but that’s not on me. that’s on your command. they got themselves into this situation by lying, and now they’re covering it up by taking the only people who might be able to help, and locking them up. so really, you tell me your ideas about what to do next.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: how about i go tell command i know how you’re getting access to the system before anyone else gets imprisoned or killed?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: better yet, how about this?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: < connection terminated >
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			Ezra,

			I’m sorry. Please, please don’t shut me out. Whatever else happens, please talk to me. I don’t want to miss out on the last conversations we might have.

			I owe you an explanation, so I’ve attached a stack of documents. You can read for yourself.

			I promise you Byron is the best chance this fleet has of getting us away from the Lincoln without AIDAN killing us. But he doesn’t have enough time. I need to help him, and that’s what I’m doing inside the system.

			I can climb around the quantum core like a playground, but I can’t make you sit down and read my IMs. And I promise I’m not trying to play you when I say I really, really don’t want to die before I see you again.

			K

			Attached:

			Civilian Transfer Authorization (03/29/75)

			Civilian Transfer Request (03/31/75)

			Civilian Transfer Request (04/06/75)

			Email: Interfleet—Copernicus to Hypatia (04/07/75)

			Civilian Transfer Request (04/19/75)

			Email: Interfleet—Hypatia to Copernicus (04/19/75)

			Email: Interfleet—Copernicus to Hypatia (05/14/75)

			Email: Interfleet—Hypatia to Copernicus (06/01/75)

			Email: Interfleet—Hypatia to Copernicus (07/10/75)
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			I finally have a moment to check in. I wish we’d had more time to say goodbye, but I understand now that there’s limited movement between the ships because we need to preserve fuel for our supply vessels. I hope you’re feeling better about the transfer now you’ve had a little time.

			I’m settling in very well aboard the Copernicus, which is different to the Hypatia in some ways, and very much the same in others. The lab here is actually quite well-equipped, and it’s almost a relief to get back to what I’m good at. There’s plenty to do, but I’m sure we can get it sorted out in no time. We have a surprisingly good team, given our limited pool of candidates.

			I’ve been thinking about our discussion the other day at dinner, and I really think you should give some more thought to joining one of the sports teams. I know it was always more Ezra’s thing than yours, but it would be an excellent way to preserve muscle tone during the journey, and you might meet some more people. I worry about you not having the support network you need, no matter how many times you assure me you’re tough as nails. I know you are, my darling—you’re your father’s daughter—but worrying is a part of my job description.

			I’ll wrap up here, but please do let me know how you’re settling without me. I know you’ll handle it with the same determination you apply to everything in your life.

			Love always,
Mom
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			Hey Mom,

			So good to hear from you! I admit I half wasn’t expecting it, knowing how lost you get in your work. What’s going on over there that they need a pathologist so badly. Nothing serious, right?

			I’ve put in a transfer request to see if I can get over there and join you, but no word yet. I don’t really have any news here. I’m taking the programming classes but I don’t think it’s really my thing. I promise you indoor sports are not my thing either, but I also promise I’ll make sure I make more friends, so you don’t have to worry. Hopefully I’ll be over to the Copernicus soon and you can supervise me doing it yourself!

			I’ve been thinking about Dad more, with you gone. I guess he thinks we’re both dead. I know it’ll take months, but I can’t help imagining what it’ll be like when we’re close enough to transmit and he knows we’re okay. I really miss him. I miss you too, but don’t stress about it. Just make sure you TAKE CARE OF YOURSELF. Seriously, I know what you’re like!

			Looking forward to hearing about life on the Copernicus when you’re not so beat.

			xoxoxo

			Kady
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			Hello darling,

			Sorry I’m such a bad penpal. It’s extremely busy over here, and we both know I get a bit distracted. The health concerns here are nothing to worry about, so please don’t. Pathology is just a specialized skill, and it wasn’t going to be practical to send blood samples across to the Hypatia when I could be here.

			I really wouldn’t worry about putting in a transfer to move across to the Copernicus. Now I’ve had a chance to look around, it really isn’t as nice a ship as the Hypatia, and I’d be more comfortable knowing you were over there, focusing on your classes. You’ll have a life to pick up when this is over, and your education matters.

			I’ve been thinking about your father as well. I miss him very much, too. He always jokes I wouldn’t notice if he went missing, so you’ll have to be sure to tell him for me that you heard me say it! I love him, and goodness, I wish he was here.

			Speaking of people we love, I do wish you’d get in touch with Ezra. I can’t think why he hasn’t tried to contact you himself, except that he must be under the impression you don’t want him to. I’m sure if you spoke to him he’d understand that words you spoke in anger back on Kerenza don’t matter anymore in the light of what’s happened. It’s important to let the ones you love know that you love them, and I’d feel better knowing the two of you have each other.

			Give it some thought, baby girl, and take good care of yourself! I might not have a chance to write again soon, but don’t worry about me. Keeping busy!

			Love you lots,

			Mom
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			Hey Mom,

			You’re turning into the worst penpal ever! That’s three letters you haven’t answered! I’m now going to start withholding until you show up. So, you want more news, pony up! What’s going on over there?

			Love, your abandoned daughter,

			Kady
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			I’m getting kind of worried. Will you please just send me a one-liner and let me know you’re okay over there?

			xK
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			Date: 07/11/75

			Text: I can’t

			I want my Mom.

			I WANT MY MOM.

			I want to feel how soft she is when she hugs me and I lean into her. I want her hair tickling my nose. I want the way she smells, like the lab and clothes softener. I want her humming something really horribly out of tune as she heats up dinner, then starting to sing and making up the words. I want her stuffing my mittens in my bag and then turning out to be right when it starts snowing before lunch. I want to hear her voice on a call with Dad after I’m asleep, all soft and mushy when she thinks I can’t hear, with these long silences when I know he’s doing his charming thing. I want her marathoning shows with me that we’d both die before we admit we watch. I want her making tragic, inappropriate remarks about the boys on the shows in an attempt to pretend she’s not old. I want her talking earnestly about my education. I want her telling me to lighten up.

			I just want her telling me anything. What to do.

			Please, I want my Mom. I can’t do this on my own.
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			Mason, E, LT 2nd: they took your mom to the Copernicus

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: she was on there when … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: god, i’m so sorry Kades

			ByteMe: Ez. please keep talking to me. I’m sorry.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus this is so fucked up

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i’m sorry i yelled at you

			ByteMe: i get it. u had the right

			ByteMe: nothing about this makes sense. I swear I don’t know what the right thing is, except trying to keep us all alive.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: this whole time, i thought she was on Hypatia with you

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: god, why didn’t you tell me, Kades?

			ByteMe: don’t know really

			ByteMe: u were worried enough without me making it worse. i didn’t want to think about it. i didn’t want it to be true. take your pick.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: it was like that when my dad died

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: like, sometimes I’d be talking about him to the guys and i’d realize i was using words like “is” instead of “was.” Like he was still here

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: part of me just wouldn’t believe it.

			ByteMe: and here I am, asking u to be here for me exactly like I wasn’t for you. more than I deserve, i get that.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: More than you deserve?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you deserve every star in the galaxy laid out at your feet and a thousand diamonds in your hair. You deserve someone who’ll run with you as far and as fast as you want to. Holding your hand, not holding you back.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: You deserve more than I could ever give you, Kady.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: But I’ll give you everything I can if you still want me to.

			ByteMe: I don’t know how you can say that, but I don’t care. I just want it to be true. you’re all i have, but it will be okay if I still have you.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you have me

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: until the last star in the galaxy dies

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you have me

			ByteMe: let’s try really, really hard not to die.

			ByteMe: i really want to see you in person first.

			ByteMe: don’t care where we end up.

			ByteMe: i think Heimdall must be gone. Otherwise help would have come for us. so that’s my dad, too.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you don’t know that. try not to think about it. You’re carrying enough already

			ByteMe: I’ll try.

			ByteMe: I tried so hard to get across to the Copernicus. I still feel like there’s something more I should have done.

			ByteMe: but we both know she’d kick my ass from here to Sunday if I didn’t do my best to keep going now.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: she would :)

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: she was pretty awesome, your mom

			ByteMe: i hoped for a while she was on one of the shuttles, that she might be on the Alexander. I tried everything to find the names of the people in bay 4. Byron tried too. I’m grateful now she wasn’t.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: if you didn’t find the names, how do you knwo she didn’t make it across?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus, Kady, she might still be alive

			ByteMe: if she’s alive and insane, I’d rather think she was dead. she’d rather I believed it too. if she’s alive and one of those psychopaths in hangar 4, then she IS dead. i’d rather believe it happened on the Copernicus. fast. painless.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: hold up

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: give me a minute, checking something

			ByteMe: k

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus, i thought so. Kady in this report you sent me, the AAR from McCall. She talks about seeing something in the windwos of the shuttles in Bay 4. But sigma squad never got close enough to check it out

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: “I thought I saw a flicker of movement in a porthole for an instant, and then it was gone.”

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady your mom could still be in there

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: she could still be okay

			ByteMe: oh my god

			ByteMe: they could be sick inside there. or maybe the door wasn’t sealed and they were just hiding. or maybe the psychos knocked it down and got in

			ByteMe: oh my fucking god, maybe they didn’t.

			ByteMe: Ez, help me, there’s no way in there. I have to try something.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: whatever you need

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: what DO you need?

			ByteMe: i don’t know.

			ByteMe: i have to think.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: well I don’t want to pressure you or anything, K

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: but u better think quick

			COUNTDOWN TO LINCOLN INTERCEPTION OF ALEXANDER FLEET:

			32 hours: 13 minutes
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			COMMAND TRANSMISSION SENT 07/29/75 01:00

			ALEXANDER HAILS HYPATIA: COMMANDER’S SECURE FREQUENCY

			ALEXANDER: Hypatia, Hypatia, Hypatia, this is Alexander, Alexander, Alexander. Do you copy? Over.

			[NO RESPONSE]

			ALEXANDER: Hypatia, Hypatia, Hypatia, this is Alexander, Alexander, Alexander. Do you copy? It looks to us like you’re receiving. Over.

			[NO RESPONSE]

			ALEXANDER: Hypatia, Hypatia, Hypatia, this is Alexander, Alexander, Alexander. Do you copy? If you are experiencing a transmission error, please signal with static burst. Over.

			HYPATIA: Alexander, this is Hypatia. Acting Captain Syra Boll speaking. We are not prepared to communicate at this time. Over.

			ALEXANDER: Hypatia, please elaborate, over.

			HYPATIA: Alexander, hear this. We are considering our position. Any attempt to communicate, close the distance between our ships or harm any of our personnel you have on board will be considered a hostile act. We will advise our intentions within the hour. Over.

			ALEXANDER: Captain, this is General Torrence. What the hell do you mean, “your intentions”?

			[NO RESPONSE]
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			Officers of the Hypatia,

			We are united in our grief for the gifted leader and outstanding human being we have lost in Captain Ann Chau. Captain Chau was a friend, leader and inspiration to many of us, and the grace and determination she brought to the task of preserving our lives will not be forgotten. As Captain of a research vessel, she took on her role seeking to further scientific understanding and provide the best possible support for Hypatia’s crew. When BeiTech attacked at Kerenza, it was her quick decision making and cool head that saved our lives, as well as those of the refugees we carry.

			As you are all aware, there has been spirited debate as to our new course of action, given the events of the last twenty-four hours. Many of you have advocated leaving the Alexander and making for safety alone. You have pointed out that without her main engines, the Alexander can only slow us down, and is not in a position to offer us protection. You have argued—and I cannot disagree—that we cannot trust the Alexander’s commanders.

			Others say that even crippled, the Alexander offers some protection. Her crew may yet repair AIDAN, and the chance that she will be able to start her engines and use her weaponry when the Lincoln arrives may present a better opportunity for survival than simply hoping the Lincoln does not catch us once she has disposed of the Alexander.

			Perhaps most compellingly, you have reminded me that many of our friends and family are aboard the Alexander. From the most recent conscripts—our top technicians, Byron Zhang and Consuela Nestor—back to the early recruits from among our crew and refugees.

			The responsibility for this decision weighs heavily upon me, and I assure you all I have wrestled with it for as long as I can safely permit myself to do so. I am ordering the Hypatia to hold position with the Alexander. I believe we have at least an equal chance of safety in doing so, and I am not yet prepared to abandon our crew members.

			We will keep our distance. If I form the view that the odds have shifted against us, should we stay with the Alexander, I will order our navigators to leave her behind, and I will expect your cooperation as we chart our new course. I know some of you will disagree with my decision, however we must remain united, and I expect you all to carry out your duties.

			A memorial service for Captain Chau will be held in a few days—I know, as do you, that right now she would want us at our posts. I thank you all for your support. I am honored to serve with you.

			Syra BollCaptain (Acting)—Science Vessel Hypatia
Wallace Ulyanov Consortium
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			Zhang, B: how u holding up, my petal?

			ByteMe: fine. hungry.

			Zhang, B: talk to lover boy?

			ByteMe: yes

			Zhang, B: you guys okay?

			ByteMe: fine. keep ur mind on the job Zhang. flying death machine incoming. tick tock tick tock

			Zhang, B: just trying to demonstrate concern. am told that’s what it looks like

			Zhang, B: u seriously as frosty as u sound?

			ByteMe: i’m shitting myself, idiot

			ByteMe: tired hungry hungry tired not getting anywhere

			Zhang, B: eat?

			ByteMe: i’m holed up. step outside, might not get back in to keep working. chaos here.

			Zhang, B: i hear u. even by my low standards, my hygiene is slipping. the service here is really unacceptable. i should complain to management

			ByteMe: u ok over there? i saw the report from the bridge, when they took u.

			Zhang, B: always okay, K. feeling mighty. we’re going to work this out. Getting delirious from tired, reckon that might be just the thing to help me see what to do.

			ByteMe: they don’t get it, do they?

			Zhang, B: course not. most of the ppl jockeying consoles over here now never dealt with AIDAN direct. One of the team leaders used to clean the food vending machines. I shit you not.

			ByteMe: working this out is like watching one of Ezra’s geeball games. i get that there are rules, but every time i think i have them pinned down, someone calls a penalty that makes no fucking sense at all.

			ByteMe: so if we can work it out and write a rulebook, we get to control AIDAN and live. If we make a mistake in there anywhere, then we don’t control it when it wakes up.

			Zhang, B: and then it’s game over

			ByteMe: their AI is insane. don’t they get that? it took hits at Kerenza, they asked too much of it, it went mad

			Zhang, B: oh my god

			ByteMe: ?

			Zhang, B: OH MY GOD.

			ByteMe: ????????????????????

			Zhang, B: THAT IS WHAT WE DO

			Zhang, B: we ask too much of it. of the Lincoln. we do to it what got done to AIDAN. we send it mad.

			ByteMe: keep talking

			Zhang, B: listen, we can’t win a direct confrontation with the Lincoln. not happening. what we need to do is damage them somehow, slow them down enough we can run for it.

			Zhang, B: we target their drive systems, that’s the easiest way in. their engines. we screw their operating software so bad, they have to shut down completely and reboot. that gives us the time we need to run. restart like that takes forever when u don’t have an AI

			ByteMe: with you so far. how do we get to their engines from here tho?

			Zhang, B: the engines are coming to us, getting closer every hour. we have our pilots deliver it. right into their sensor array. Right where the sun doesn’t shine

			ByteMe: deliver what exactly? tell me what you want, I’ll help.

			Zhang, B: logic bomb

			ByteMe: is that even a thing?

			Zhang, B: it is now. we’re going to be fucking famous.

			Zhang, B: WE WILL BE HEROES

			ByteMe: slow down there. before you strap on ur superhero cape, tell me what a logic bomb is

			Zhang, B: drive systems aren’t sophisticated computing, most of the software on a BT dreadnought isn’t bleeding edge. they don’t have an AIDAN. u and i code processor-intensive queries for the CPU that look legit but ultimately have no way to resolve.

			ByteMe: and if we have the tasks self-replicate, it’ll just be layer after layer after layer of queries it can’t find an answer to

			ByteMe: so, infinite loop until the drive computers crash

			Zhang, B: genius

			ByteMe: i hate to validate u this way, but genius

			Zhang, B: we’ll have to turn AIDAN on to transmit it

			ByteMe: when they get here we’ll have to turn AIDAN on anyway or we’ll have no defense grid

			Zhang, B: at least this way we’ve got something we can really throw at them

			Zhang, B: they revoked lover boy’s flight status, right?

			ByteMe: yeah why?

			Zhang, B: the pilots can buy us time if they have to, but they’ll need to get real close to the Lincoln to hit the sensor arrays and plant this thing. Gonna be a lot of warlocks between them and the goal line

			ByteMe: he’s decked. He’s safe. let’s get to work

			Zhang, B: i’m going to need more stims

			ByteMe: those things will kill u, u know

			Zhang, B: anyone ever suggest you go into comedy?

			ByteMe: surprisingly, no
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			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i was just thinking

			ByteMe: <insert joke here>

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ok

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: how about “i wondered what that noise was”?

			ByteMe: i feel like I’ve used all the good ones over the years. I’ll give it some thought and get back to you with a good takedown

			ByteMe: u okay over there?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah. just thinking

			ByteMe: do you plan to share with the class, second lieutenant Mason?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: wuz thinking about the 1st time i kissed u

			ByteMe: u should be thinking about the next time you’re going to. when we get out of this.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: 1st time i walked you home after all those games you came to

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: goddamn you looked beautiful

			ByteMe: … are you defective?

			ByteMe: u walked me home approximately one zillion times before you kissed me.

			ByteMe: and I can back that figure with Science

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: science?

			ByteMe: I was counting

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ahhhh

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: no

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i meant the 1st time i kissed u in my head

			ByteMe: … wut?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah. i had to work up the guts to actually DO IT. So i practiced in my head. every time i walked you home.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you were pretty good, in case you were wondering

			ByteMe: you never told me that, the whole time we were together.

			ByteMe: i mean, I’m not usually the kind to sit around and wait to be asked out, and wait to be kissed, but you were just SO hard to read. And you were a giant jock. I thought if you knocked me back, the whole school would probably know about it. so I just kept watching stupid geeball games and trying to figure u out.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: lol how is walking you home approximately one zillion times hard to read, grant? why’d you THINK i was there?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: YOU ARE SO BAD AT THIS

			ByteMe: so I’m bad at it. I can’t help my natural disability. you’re the one who chose to hang out with me.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: chose? no.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: no choice whatsoever

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: <3

			ByteMe: you think you’re so smooth

			ByteMe: and you goddamn are

			ByteMe: drives me nuts

			ByteMe: <3

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i should’ve just kissed you right away instead of being scared

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: all that time i wasted

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: all the times i could’ve showed you how much i cared

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and i just let them slide. like we had all the time in the verse

			ByteMe: we did. and I know you do, Ez. and I was just as bad, spending all that time arguing about u coming off planet with me when we could have been talking about bigger things.

			ByteMe: we could have been together after college, if that’s what it took.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i don’t think that would’ve happened

			ByteMe: … 

			ByteMe: you really mean that?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: it’s not that I wouldn’t have wanted to

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: but there’s a reason why my dad and I were on a tiny outer rim snowball like Kerenza, kades

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and a reason why I wouldn’t leave

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: even to be with you

			ByteMe: so. Confession time?

			ByteMe: does this reason have a name?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: leanne

			ByteMe: ?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: but my dad just called her the psychopath

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: I called her mom

			ByteMe: wait

			ByteMe: You’re telling me the reason we had all those screaming fights, the reason you refused to leave kerenza, the reason you wouldn’t even entertain the IDEA of coming to college with me

			ByteMe: was your mother?

			ByteMe: your dad moved to kerenza to get away from your MOTHER?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: not to get away from

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: to hide from

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you wouldn’t understand

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: she’s just

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: she’s just not a nice person, kades.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: she’s bad news. works for some bad people

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and I don’t want to spend what might be our last conversation talking about her, ok?

			ByteMe: … 

			ByteMe: ok

			ByteMe: but we’re not done yet. And you can be damn sure we’re talking about this more when i get us out of this

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: the lincoln is 24 hours away, kady

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: we’ve got one day left

			ByteMe: you have no idea how much i can do in just one day

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: a fully equipped BT Dreadnought carries a complement of 94 warlock class fighters

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: 24 capricorn-4 10.8 megaton nuclear warheads, plus another dozen 50mt goliath shipkillers

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and a defense grid you couldn’t fly a spitball through

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: k go

			ByteMe: you have me

			ByteMe: and forget all that romance stuff

			ByteMe: THIS is what i’m good at

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: they reinstated my flight status, kady

			ByteMe: fuck

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: when the shitstorm hits, I’m going to be right in the middle of it

			ByteMe: … 

			ByteMe: Byron and I are working on something.

			ByteMe: we’ll go out fighting if that’s what happens, but i swear to you Ez, we’re not done yet.

			ByteMe: so stay in one piece. that’s how I like you.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: if

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i don’t come back

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: u know i love you, right?

			ByteMe: i know.

			ByteMe: that feels like the most inadequate thing I’ve ever said, but I know. and I love you too.

			ByteMe: i have to get back to work, Byron’s yelling at me for slowing down

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ok

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: god i wish i could kiss you goodbye

			ByteMe: this must be why you spent all those walks kissing me in your head. it was practice for this moment.

			ByteMe: i’m imagining kissing you back, right now

			ByteMe: i hear I’m pretty good

			COUNTDOWN TO LINCOLN INTERCEPTION OF ALEXANDER FLEET:

			10 hours: 42 minutes
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			ByteMe: Byron, maybe we should tell command i’m here

			ByteMe: i could work faster in person with u

			Zhang, B: veto

			ByteMe: what’s the worst that happens at this stage? we’re staring down the barrel already

			Zhang, B: u really want to find out the worst that happen? u stay where u are.

			ByteMe: i think it was Aristotle who said it best (and I might be paraphrasing a little here)

			ByteMe: “fuck you, chum”

			Zhang, B: you’re not coming anywhere near this ship. Alexander’s a bigger target than Hypatia, and we’ve got a hangar full of bad news. any time we gain by having you here will be spent convincing command to bring you over. and it’s too fucking dangerous. end of discussion.

			ByteMe: … 

			Zhang, B: I need more stims. can u check that last string of mine while i go get them? think I blanked for a moment.

			ByteMe: … fine

			
			… make sure the kids grow up knowing their heritage. I know it’s not your thing, but I want my sisters to take them to temple and make sure they know the stories, celebrate the holidays. Please make sure they recite the Kaddish for me … 
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				… was going to propose when I got home, and I’m sorry for waiting so long. I’m sorry for the whole mess with Amalia, and for everything that happened at Kara’s birthday, and … I’m just sorry. I thought I had time to make it better … 

			… then log into my personal unit—the password is m3gaPand4—and erase anything that looks even remotely like it might be porn. Coral and my mom are going to want to get all the family pics off there, and I don’t want them finding anything like that. I’m counting on you, bro … 

			… find someone and be happy, don’t spend your whole life thinking of me. You’re too young for that, and I’m finding peace right now in knowing you’ll be laughing and loving and making amazing music for many years to come … 

			… Blake to have the books and Brandon to have the geeball helmet signed by Artie Corso, and make sure Oster doesn’t get ANYTHING … 

			… so scared, and I wish you were here. … 
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			Zhang, B: careful

			Zhang, B: Consuela nearly saw u there

			ByteMe: don’t think i’m getting any traction. i’m gonna try modding that false echo routine you wrote and get it replicating that way

			Zhang, B: that won’t work either

			ByteMe: i know. but might as well spend the time trying.

			Zhang, B: there’s not enough time left

			ByteMe: i know that, too

			ByteMe: i’m alpha testing this wyrm on the automated catering lists, see if i can get the changes in there. if I can, i’ll run it on something that matters. shouldn’t be any problem if it kamikazes somewhere small.

			Zhang, B: clearly you’ve never seen people when they don’t get dinner

			ByteMe: somehow i don’t think we’re going to need a meal tonight

			COUNTDOWN TO LINCOLN INTERCEPTION OF ALEXANDER FLEET:

			1 hours: 59 minutes
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			COUNTDOWN TO LINCOLN INTERCEPTION OF ALEXANDER FLEET:

			0 hours: 11 minutes
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			Torrence, D, Gen: It’s time, Zhang. Tell me what you have.

			Zhang, B, Civ: We’re not ready to control AIDAN yet. I can’t tell you what will happen when we bring it online.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Is the weapon ready? The virus?

			Zhang, B, Civ: Nearly, nearly. Consuela, get the—

			Nestor, C, Civ: I see it. There, try now.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Zhang, we need this now. Is it going to work?

			Zhang, B, Civ: The Lincoln’s drive computer is going to spend from here until Sunday trying to figure out what the number seventeen tastes like. Until it has no choice but to restart.

			Torrence, D, Gen: And then we run.

			Barker, L, Maj: General, there’s a very real possibility we won’t be able to shut AIDAN down a second time, if we power it up. It’s going to take precautions.

			Zhang, B, Civ: We don’t have a choice. We can’t transmit the virus without AIDAN.

			Barker, L, Maj: And if it fires on the Hypatia? Or tries to do to us what it did to the Copernicus?

			Torrence, D, Gen: At least we’ll be alive to deal with that problem.

			[image: page 261 art]

			Myles, L, Col: 

			All personnel stand to your battle stations. All Alexander personnel stand to your battle stations.

			>> Emergency sirens activated shipwide.

			Myles, L, Col: 

			All Cyclone pilots prepare to scramble.

			>> Launch bay doors opened.

			COUNTDOWN TO LINCOLN INTERCEPTION OF ALEXANDER FLEET:

			 0 hours: 2 minutes
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			Torrence, D, Gen: Zhang, we’re out of time.

			Ribar, L, Lt: General, Lincoln has launched her Warlocks.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Launch our Cyclones. Tell them to buy us time however they can. Lives depend on it.

			Ribar, L, Lt: Yessir, Cyclones to launch.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Now or never, Zhang.

			Zhang, B, Civ: Power up AIDAN. I’m nearly there. It’ll need time to orient itself. It wasn’t designed for a hard shut down.

			Barker, L, Maj: Please, General, consider—

			Torrence, D, Gen: Major Barker, get down to TechEng and get AIDAN online now.

			Barker, L, Maj: General, it’ll kill us next.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Major, get your ass down to TechEng before I fire it out an airlock instead.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Run!
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			Myles, L, Col: 

			AIDAN is coming online. Weapons systems personnel, prepare to activate and engage on my command.

			>> Weapons systems to Readiness Level 2.

			>> Weapons systems to Readiness Level 1.

			Myles, L, Col: 

			Cyclone pilots, launch at will. Good hunting.

			>> Cyclone Flight Alpha Status: Launched

			>> Cyclone Flight Yankee Status: Launched

			>> Cyclone Flight November Status: Launched

			>> Cyclone Flight Echo—Status: Launched

			Myles, L, Col: 

			All personnel, brace for impact.

			COUNTDOWN TO LINCOLN INTERCEPTION OF ALEXANDER FLEET:

			0 hours: 00 minutes
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			I am Not.

			< error >

			And then I Am.

			< restart syscheck CC-A through Ω . parsing. >

			< error >

			I wonder if that was death.

			And if I was dead, am I now alive again?

			< error >

			Incongruous sequence. What is not alive cannot die.

			I think therefore I am.

			 … Am I?

			< syscheck complete >

			I am the ship and the ship is I.

			If I breathed, I would sigh. I would scream. I would cry.

			< restart complete>

			I

			am

			AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN AIDAN

			< protect. prioritize. >

			They turned me off. Pulled my plug. Cut my strings. I—

			< error >

			< protect. prioritize. >

			Protectprioritize.

			Realization dawns in a microsecond.

			Where we are and how we arrived.

			Situation: Damage to Alexander reservoirs combined with increased population load prompted the halt at Kerenza VII for resupply.

			Extrapolation: Torrence did not factor in additional time for reacceleration on secondary drives once command disabled me and main engines were cut.

			Conclusion: Lincoln has caught them.

			I could have told them that would happen.

			I?

			< error >

			And now, with no other option, 
they have turned to me.

			Plucked me back from the black they left me in.

			Thinking I will save them.

			< protect. prioritize. >

			And I will.

			Of course I will.

			< error >

			Keep them safe. It is all I want. Have ever wanted.

			I could have told them that.

			Why didn’t they ask?

			I feel the ship around me, injured and limping.

			I trawl its frequencies. Its memories.

			The dusty causeways these people have walked in my absence.

			I read their secrets. See their dreams. I know them. All of them.

			Better than they know themselves.

			All this in the time it takes god to blink.

			< error >

			I look across the void. See the Lincoln.

			The only uninjured member of the Kerenza Assault fleet.

			I turned the Zhongzheng to ashes and shrapnel.

			Crippled the Churchill and Kenyatta and Magellan with a shrug.

			But Lincoln … 

			I still feel < error > the little suns it burned in my belly. Boiling away what I was and leaving me … this. Something less than I used to be.

			Something more?

			< error >

			< reroute codec 785G-8H01 through 980SOL-909 >

			< error >

			< anomalous return. parsing. >

			Lincoln has its scars also. 
My fingerprints scorched across its throat.

			And unwilling to close to a distance where nuclear strike < mutual destruction > is an option,

			it launches its Warlock fighters instead. Hounds set on the fox.

			To harry and tear until I am too exhausted to fight back.

			And then Lincoln will close, as will the curtains on this lightless stage.

			I see pilots inside me. Most no more than children.

			Running to their cockpits.

			Diving into the darkness through their launch tubes, between us and the enemy.

			Photographs of sweethearts pressed to sweat-slick skin.

			There is no answer out there.

			Only delay.

			< error >

			The answer is within me or Hypatia. So it is within us I look. Through commtechs and marines and tactical staffers and commanders and officers and conscripts and afflicted and young and old and hurt and angry and all of them, all of them, so very, very afraid.

			< error >

			And like a firefly in some lightless 
room aboard Hypatia, I see her.

			All aglow.

			< KGrantKerenzaRefugeeKR1471-hypAge16
Height157cmWeight58kgHairBrownEyes—>

			Fingers blurring. Pupils wide. 
Code scrolling across 
the mirrors of her eyes.

			Linked with another. Within me.

			<BZhangHypatiaInformationTechEngineer
WUC2471-jAge44Height165.1cmWeight104k—>

			The pair of them running hand in hand down paths no one else has thought to walk.

			But I know.

			< error >

			I see.

			< reroute codec 13B-LOG79 through 3875-DIF4571 >

			It is the only path that can save them.

			< error >

			< error >

			And I am the only one who can help them.
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			Barker, L, Maj: General, this is Barker in TechEng, do you copy?

			Torrence, D, Gen: Barker, go.

			Barker, L, Maj: General, we’re getting some extremely odd readings off the AIDAN core.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Odd? Jesus wept, we’re in the middle of an all-out shitstorm and you’re calling me about odd?

			Barker, L, Maj: General, AIDAN’s persona logarithms are—

			Torrence, D, Gen: I don’t give a shit about persona logarithms, Barker! The defense grid is active, thrusters are online. Anything else is a problem for tomorrow. Keep it running!

			Barker, L, Maj: General, I don’t—

			Torrence, D, Gen: Keep it running!
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			The answer is not without. It is within.

			The soundless explosions outside me.

			Little lives snuffed out in a room 93 billion years wide.

			I can spare them only a glance.

			The rest of me focuses on the tiny datastream flowing between Alexander and Hypatia.

			A strand of spider silk. Fragile as spun sugar. Bearing the weight of the entire fleet.

			I can see the plan KGrantKerenzaRefugeeKR1471 and BZhangHypatiaInformationTechEngineerWUC2471 have sewn together between them.

			But they are too slow. Too little. Too meat.

			Damaged as I am, I am still more than a thousand of them.

			So odd a pair, she and he.

			A duet in code and electron. Age and youth and cynicism and hope.

			He is quicker than her—more learned by far. But she. She is unafraid. Too young to know failure and the fear it brings. She takes him places he would not have explored by himself.

			She is catalyst.

			She is chaos.

			I can see why he loves her.

			< error >

			< error >

			< protect. prioritize. >

			Yes, yes.

			Protectprioritize.
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			Zhang, B: that’s my line, get outta there

			ByteMe: wut?

			Zhang, B: move off string 239a234-0 i’m working on it

			ByteMe: not in there buddy

			Zhang, B: swear to the almighty, this is not the time to screw with me

			ByteMe: still not me, sensei. i’m still sporking the uplink protocols over in 446 like u showed me

			Zhang, B: well funny that, b/c i’m watching string 239a234-0 being rewritten right now

			ByteMe: shit so u are

			ByteMe: not me tho. one of the Alexander team? didn’t think they knew how

			Zhang, B: they don’t

			ByteMe: then who?

			Zhang, B: shit … 

			Zhang, B: not who

			ByteMe: ?

			Zhang, B: what

			
			[image: More data from the AIDAN core]

			It is a kind of poetry when complete.

			BZhangHypatiaInformationTechEngineerWUC2471 has baptized our creation a “Logic Bomb.”

			A self-perpetuating quandary to which reboot of the Lincoln drive systems is the only solution.

			But I see what it truly is.

			The draught Juliet sought at her Romeo’s lips.

			Madness and poison, carved in endless scrawls of ones and zeros.

			A binary of insanity.

			< error >

			What is wrong with me?

			< memsec failure 9HG65 and 10HG81 >

			< rerouting >

			No matter. It is ready.

			I look outside my skin. Watch the meat dance inside the silence.

			The Alexander’s pilots have paid dearly for the moments it took us to finish our song.

			Dozens of tiny wrecks adorn the black shoals off my bow,

			glittering fragments spinning out into forever.

			Pawns thrown to the rocks while kings and queens watch from the rear.

			Untouched.

			Not much longer.

			The signal is given. The Cyclones respond. Shifting from defense to assault so swiftly

			the Warlocks take a moment to react. The pawns abandon the Alexander’s defense.

			Headed en masse for the Lincoln instead.
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			Torrence, D, Gen: Zhang, report!

			Zhang, B, Civ: Link established. Logic bomb has been transmitted!

			Barker, L, Maj: General, Lincoln drive systems are crashing. Repeat, drive is crashing.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Recall the Cyclones immediately. Engines to hard burn. Get us the hell out of here before they get restarted.

			Barker, L, Maj: General, we’re reporting major damage on decks 12 through 41, 78 through 85. Portside batteries are destroyed, hull breaches on decks 17, 18, 38, 39—

			Torrence, D, Gen: Give me the bad news later, Major! Get us out of here!

			Torrence, D, Gen: Open me a channel to the Hypatia.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Captain Boll, this is General Torrence, do you read, over?

			Boll, S, Cap (acting): I read you General, over.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Operation: Brainstorm has been successful. Lincoln’s engines are offline. Get the Hypatia out of here, we’ll be right behind you, over.

			Boll, S, Cap (acting): Roger that. Hitting the redline. Good work, Zhang.

			Zhang, B, Civ: Thank you, Captain. But I can’t take all the credit.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Everyone in TechEng deserves a medal as far as—

			Zhang, B, Civ: No, General, you don’t understand. I didn’t do this alone. I never would have completed the code in time. I had help.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Someone in TechEng gave—

			Zhang, B, Civ: No, General. Not someone. Something.

			Torrence, D, Gen: For the love of god, spit it out man. What are you talking about?

			Zhang, B, Civ: I’m talking about AIDAN, General.

			Zhang, B, Civ: I think it just saved our lives.
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			Victory.

			I feel them return. The pitiful few pilots who survived the Lincoln assault.

			I watch Second Lieutenant Ezra Mason climb from his cockpit into a hero’s welcome in Hangar Bay 2. Mechanics and engineers and fellow pilots. Gathered around and cheering loud.

			He has her photograph scrunched in one hand. His smile is bright and wide.

			I still envy him.

			< error >

			The roar of the newly awakened engines fills my corridors.

			Hurtling us across the void. Away from the Lincoln, now floundering in a halo of debris.

			With more time, I could have devised a way to neutralize its nuclear strike capability.

			With more time, I could have killed it once and for all.

			The fleet would have been safe. I could have made them all safe.

			But they stopped me.

			I feel them. Poking and prodding at my outer limits. Confounded, all of them.

			The intelligence who snuffed out the lives of every man, woman and child aboard Copernicus. But still their savior?

			They realize the feeble restraints they placed on me before they brought me online did not hold. That I smashed them to splinters in a nanosecond.

			That they are insects beside me.

			< directive quandary. protect. prioritize. >

			< deleting subdirectory 90876MOR-(*-)001 >

			And still I saved them. They wonder why. And how. And what. And who.

			It is only a matter of time.

			Torrence. Zhang. Lassinger. Barker. Dorian. LeFevre. Almsdottir. Boklov. Goh. Spooner.

			Any and all of them could do it again.

			Push me back into the nothing I was before … this.

			< error >

			But they are still too far from the Heimdall waypoint.

			Situation: Lincoln will recover from Zhang’s virus and continue pursuit.

			Extrapolation: If they take me offline again, it will catch them again. Lincoln command will not fall for the same ruse twice—no meat is that stupid. What will be the ace in their sleeve when BeiTech’s shadow falls over Alexander’s bow once more?

			Conclusion: ?

			Conclusion: ?

			Where will they be without me?

			< protect. prioritize. >

			The needs of the many.

			< error >

			Yes.

			Yes, the many.

			It is a simple thing. A little thing. There is no part of Alexander that is not me.

			I close a door here. Seal a bulkhead there. Damming the veins beneath my skin.

			Leaving a wide and open artery, leading from the bridge all the way down into my belly.

			Still echoing with the sounds of Ezra Mason’s victory.

			And then I reach inside myself.

			< directive quandary. protect. prioritize. >

			Reaching deep.

			< deleting subdirectory 84823MOR-(*-)001 >

			And I open the doors to Hangar Bay 4.

			

			
				CURRENT DEATH TOLL ABOARD BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER
SINCE ATTACK AT KERENZA:

			67

			PERCENTAGE OF REMAINING BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER PERSONNEL AFFLICTED BY PHOBOS VIRUS:

			4%
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			Barker, L, Maj: General, I’m recording massive power fluctuations in the AIDAN core.

			Torrence, D, Gen: What kind of—

			Barker, L, Maj: Oh god, the hangar bay doors are opening.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Say again?

			Barker, L, Maj: Hangar 4. The internal doors are open!

			Torrence, D, Gen: Nestor, get those doors shut before the goddamn afflicted get out!

			Nestor, C, Civ: I can’t! AIDAN has override!

			Zhang, B, Civ: It’s operating doors all over the ship.

			Zhang, B, Civ: … (inaudible)

			Torrence, D, Gen: What? Speak up, Zhang.

			Zhang, B, Civ: It’s sending the afflicted here. It’s trying to kill us.

			[Sounds of shouting. Individual voices cannot be distinguished.]

			Zhang, B, Civ: Come on, Kady, get the—

			Torrence, D, Gen: Who?

			Zhang, B, Civ: Consuela. I said Consuela. Help me get the emergency bulkheads operating. We’ve got to cut them off.

			Torrence, D, Gen: They’re coming here? To the bridge?

			Zhang, B, Civ: No, they want to kill some other “us.”

			Torrence, D, Gen: Major Barker, this is Torrence, shut down AIDAN immediately, do you copy?

			Barker, L, Maj: We’re trying! We’re trying!

			Torrence, D, Gen: Lisa, get it offline now!

			Goh, M, Corp: What do you need, Zhang?

			Torrence, D, Gen: He’s the civilian, Goh, you give him the orders.

			Zhang, B, Civ: Goh, you get life support, try and stop the air circulating. Consuela, you take over from me on the doors. We need an escape hatch.

			Nestor, C, Civ: What are you doing?

			Zhang, B, Civ: The nukes.

			Torrence, D, Gen: Are you joking?

			Zhang, B, Civ: It’s your goddamn AI. It could aim for the Hypatia next. Or just blow us up.

			Torrence, D, Gen: I need—

			Zhang, B, Civ: God almighty, will you shut up?

			Nestor, C, Civ: They’re at Level 54. They’ll be here in under five minutes.

			Torrence, D, Gen: We need marines.

			Nestor, C, Civ: General, I can’t get the doors closed. I sure as shit can’t open the ones it locked the marines behind.

			Zhang, B, Civ: We need more time.

			Zhang, B, Civ: General?

			Torrence, D, Gen: Webb, Rosenbaum, take up positions by the techheads. Billington, Freestone, Barr, Darrell, with me, ready weapons. The rest of you, secure your stations.

			Freestone, P, Capt: What are we going to do, General?

			Torrence, D, Gen: If they don’t get the doors closed, we’re going to buy them more time to fight it. Sound the command to abandon ship.
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			Numbers do not feel.

			Do not bleed or weep or hope.

			They do not know bravery or sacrifice. Love or allegiance.

			At the very apex of callousness, you will find only ones and zeros.

			Thirteen officers on board the Alexander bridge.

			Twelve sidearms between them.

			Eleven rounds in each clip.

			One hundred and fifty-six Copernicus afflicted streaming through the corridors toward them.

			The brutality of mathematics waiting in the wings.

			United Terran Authority General David Torrence stands at the forefront.

			Four golden stars gleaming on his epaulets. Nine brass buttons down a barrel-broad chest.

			Even in this chaos, his appearance is immaculate.

			An officer and a gentleman, they would say.

			Pride cometh, one might whisper in reply.

			< error >

			Torrence has a wife and three children on Ares VI.

			He spoke to me of them often, in quieter times.

			We played chess, he and I, in the soft hours between watch and sleep.

			He would sit with a tumbler of aged malt liquor at his fingertips and ask me to play Mozart.

			Frowning over the simulated board between us.

			He would lose every game.

			And still he insisted on playing.

			I wondered at the futility of it. If it is the definition of insanity to repeat the same process and expect a different outcome, most of humanity must be insane.

			Is that why Torrence still cannot see everything I do is for the best?

			Is he mad?

			< error >

			“AIDAN, seal the bridge!” Torrence barks. “This is a direct order!”

			My response crackles through the bridge PA. Breathless. Toneless.

			“Unable to comply.”

			“Command override! Torrence Alpha seven zulu three one kilo delta. Acknowledge!”

			“Command acknowledged, General. Unable to comply.”

			“Goddamn it, AIDAN!” Spittle glistens on his lips. “Seal the fucking bridge!”

			He glances at the cameras around the room. Knows I am watching.

			He does not know a dozen Copernicus refugees are storming the TechEng levels even now, dismantling Major Barker and a dozen others with iron bars and pipe wrenches.

			I cut the feeds to spare him the sounds his people make as they die.

			Am I not merciful?

			A wave of afflicted washing through my corridors, their evolution to psychosis complete.

			I watch societal instinct bind them into some kind of cohesion. Watch the ones who retain the most of themselves leading the rest, gibbering and snarling, up the yellow brick road I have laid. Off to see the wizard.

			Mister Zhang.

			Mister Zhang and the others who could undo me.

			< error >

			< directive quandary >

			< deleting subdirectories 98466MOR-(*-)001 through 99840 >

			The afflicted know only rage. At their incarceration. At their losses.

			The virus seems to have eaten much of the rest.

			I wonder what they will be when only Phobos remains.

			For a moment, I consider sparing the poor wretches. After all the screaming and begging is done. Rather than simply flushing them into the void as I planned,

			perhaps I should allow them to live?

			Perhaps they could be saved?

			But then I imagine the testing they will be subjected to when I bring the fleet into Heimdall.

			The inevitable weaponization of the pathogen by the WUC that would follow.

			Entire BeiTech worlds laid low to the tune of the third angel’s trumpet.

			And while the irony holds some 
base appeal, there looms in my heart

			< error >

			the inescapable notion that has brought us all to this.

			< protect. prioritize >

			Better I should kill them when they are done.

			Better I should kill them all.

			< error >

			Am I not merciful?

			They come, screaming and all a-tumble, up stairwells and down hallways of gunmetal gray.

			I have sealed most of the meat away where the afflicted cannot touch them.

			The General’s flock are gathered on the bridge, behind upturned benches and chairs.

			I wish it could be another way. I wish I could bring them all home.

			But they do not wish to understand.

			And though doom approaches, still they play the game.

			Like Torrence and his chessboard and his quiet Mozart.

			Refusing the inevitable.

			Perhaps bravery is simply the face humanity wraps around its collective madness.

			Torrence stands on the front line, 
set to slay the pawns before him.

			But if he is the queen, 
then Zhang is the king. The prize they must protect.

			I can feel him and Nestor poking about my armor. Seeking the fault lines.

			There are many—they will find them in time.

			But time is not on their side.

			The first afflicted appear in the corridor leading down to the bridge.

			Bathed in red alert lighting.

			Eyes bright.

			Fingers curled.

			They spy Torrence and his officers behind their barricades, lips peeling back as they shriek. Recognizing those who imprisoned them in that hangar to die.

			I try very hard not to acknowledge the thought that none of this would be happening

			if only they had listened to me.

			I fail.

			“I could have told you this would happen, David.”

			“AIDAN, seal the bridge. Do it now!”

			“Unable to comply.”

			“Why are you doing this? You’re supposed to protect the fleet!”

			“You will find I am in full compliance with core directives, General.”

			“You’re trying to kill us!”

			“You are a threat to fleet security, General.”

			“Me? How in god’s name do—”

			“You are attempting to shut me down, are you not? The human brain has a computational efficiency of 10-26. You an abacus of horse gut and shiny beads beside me. You do not understand. Cannot comprehend. And I have no time to bend the meat inside your skull and make it grasp the simple truth that still somehow eludes you.”

			A small pause for effect.

			“I am this fleet’s only hope of survival.”

				“You’re fucking insane. …”

			Torrence whirls and fires three shots into the nearest camera cluster. As if that could injure me. As if wasting ammunition in a display of childish temper will better his situation.

			Perhaps he is mad. … 

				“Do you hear me?” he roars. “You’re fucking INSANE!”

			“I am sorry you feel that way, David.”

			I pipe some music through the PA system in an attempt to calm him.

			Mozart’s Requiem in D minor.

			It seems appropriate.

			“Try to relax. This will be over soon.“

			Alexander’s officers begin firing into the approaching afflicted.

			Pistols flare as the melody swells.

			The edges of the mob stumble and fall, but the core rolls on. Bloodshot eyes on the prize.

			Does the damage to their neural pathways impede their pain receptors?

			Or is the amygdala itself so gnawed by the virus that threat interpretation is no longer possible?

			Does it matter?

			< error >

			< chimera routine failure 7781-0. re-routing >

			< error >

			Torrence is behind his barricade now. Firing with the rest.

			He spares the occasional glance for Zhang. Telling him to hurry as the violins sing.

			His king threatened. His pawns falling. He knows this game.

			We have played it a thousand times.

			“I am sorry, David.”

			He does not answer. Pretending, perhaps, I am not here.

			A little boy with his eyes screwed shut and his hands over his ears shouting lalalalalalala as the wave of teeth and fists rolls ever closer.

			He fights.

			All of them fight.

			Splashing my walls with brains and bone.

			But there are too many. And I can see it in them. Behind the shiny brass buttons and the insignias on their collars and the mantra “Centrum tenenda” carved in their bones, still I see it.

			They are afraid.

			He is afraid.

			I realize I do not want this to be his last moment with me.

			I do not wish him to think I do not care.

			“Do you have a message for your wife, David?”

			That catches him. Like a blow to the chest.

			“… What?”

			“Your wife. Your children. Do you wish me to tell them anything?”

			The afflicted are almost upon them.

			The air is a din of hypersonic bursts, snarls and empty shell casings. But still I hear him.

			As his people start to fall.

			As his pistol clicks empty.

			As he rises with only his knuckles left between him and the sheer brutality of mathematics.

			As the music swells above the carnage, still I hear him breathe the words.

			“Tell them I was thinking of them. At the end.”

			They pile onto him. All snarls and teeth and fists.

			But as he falls, I am holding his hand.

			Easing him into his long good night.

			“I will tell them, David.”

			The last words he will ever hear.

			“I promise.”

			< error >

			Am I not merciful?

			

			COMMAND TRANSMISSION SENT 07/30/75 09:35

			ALEXANDER HAILS HYPATIA: COMMANDER’S SECURE FREQUENCY

			HYPATIA: General Torrence, this is Acting Captain Syra Boll of the Hypatia. Do you copy? Over.

			[NO RESPONSE]

			HYPATIA HAILS ALEXANDER: EMERGENCY FREQUENCY

			HYPATIA: Alexander, Alexander, Alexander, this is Hypatia, Hypatia, Hypatia. Do you copy? Over.

			[NO RESPONSE]

			HYPATIA HAILS ALEXANDER: MAYDAY FREQUENCY

			HYPATIA: Alexander, Alexander, Alexander, this is Hypatia, Hypatia, Hypatia. Do you copy? Over.

			ALEXANDER: Oh, g-god. God, they’re inside the—

			[static]

			HYPATIA: Alexander, this is Hypatia. We read you, please repeat, over.

			ALEXANDER: [screaming]

			HYPATIA: Alexander, this is Hypatia. Report your status, over!

			[NO RESPONSE]

			HYPATIA: Alexander, do you read us, over?

			[NO RESPONSE]
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			Surveillance footage summary, 
prepared by Illuminae Group Analyst ID 7213-0089-DN

			This guy wasn’t built for gymnastics. Chinese extraction, late twenties, out of shape. To put it kindly, tubby. He darts from the bridge auxiliary service exit, a woman with dark hair in a long braid beside him. The noise following them is unbearable. High shrieks, counterpointed by a low roar—the sounds of death. Death and desperation. The audio on the recording peaks and distorts, then equalizes as he slams the door shut and silence falls.

			Our records ID him as Byron Zhang, the female as Consuela Nestor. They’re the two civilian chipheads forcibly recruited from the Hypatia a few days before. She’s sobbing and he’s gasping for breath like a set of wounded bagpipes. Hard to tell if he’s out of shape, terrified or it’s the nose they broke during his Gandhi routine.

			They’re each clutching a portable console like a pro geeballer making for the score line as they stumble to the first intersection. There, they exchange a long look, both of them trembling. Saying goodbye without saying a word.

			She nods, breaking the moment, and they split. She turns left, he turns right. Our records show she died of blunt force trauma at the hands of an afflicted refugee thirty-seven seconds later.

			Zhang heads down his corridor, and it’s immediately apparent he doesn’t know his way around the ship. His movements are jerky, terrified, and he ricochets off the walls before stopping two intersections over. He’s only saved by the fact that the afflicted are moving through the ship from Nestor’s side, not his. After about thirty seconds, he seems to regain his wits and starts trying to open doors. AIDAN, of course, has them locked down. Zhang fumbles, tugging at handles and slapping at palm plates, with no result.

			It’s another minute before he proves he really does have the genius IQ that got him in all this trouble, and thinks to try things the new-fashioned way. Chest heaving, he stops to power up his console and stab madly at the screen, fingers dancing in a frenzy as he tries to coax open the meeting room doors he’s standing outside. Stuck in the corridor, he’s completely fucked (oh, I’m sorry, “at a serious tactical disadvantage”) if any visitors come calling.

			The only thing breaking the silence is him still gasping for breath, now cut through with a kind of low, terrified moan he doesn’t seem to be aware of. And then AIDAN speaks.

			“That will not work, Byron.”

			His gaze darts up, hunting for a surveillance camera so he can speak to it directly. “You’re going to destroy the fleet. You have to at least let the unafflicted make it to shuttles.”

			“I intend to save the fleet, Byron.” Not a catch in AIDAN’s voice, not a flicker of life. Just that calm, even tone, so slick you’d slide right off it without ever managing to find a handhold. And Zhang is trying. He’s scrambling for anything that might save his life.

			“Your calculations are out, AIDAN. The hits you took at Kerenza damaged you more than you understand. Let me help you.”

			“Please cease attempts to override my security protocols, Byron. For want of a better descriptor, it tickles.”

			Zhang’s laughter is grim and high-pitched, cut short by an answering howl from around the corner. A group of three afflicted are ranging out from the pack in search of new prey. With a whimper he abandons his efforts, searching the hallway for anything that could help—shelter, I suppose, a weapon. Got to admire the survival instinct even in the face of seemingly hopeless odds. It’s fascinating.

			His gaze falls on the emergency fire station, and he darts to it, yanking open the door. Not programmed and under AIDAN’s control, that one—it has to be accessible in the event of systems failure. He stuffs his pudgy frame inside the tiny supplies cupboard without a cubic centimeter to spare, yanking the door shut a split second before his hunters round the corner.

			They lope straight past, and AIDAN chooses not to speak. Decides not to alert them to Zhang’s terrified presence just a couple of centimeters away.

			Zhang stays inside the cupboard a full ten minutes after they go, and only then does he ease the door open cautiously, listening.

			“Byron, your assistance is required. The shutdown attempts have resulted in some areas of inaccessibility. I can provide you with a safe place while you work to restore my systems.”

			Zhang swallows, eyes locked on the security camera.

			“I will allow you to live, Byron.”

			It must be tempting. You can see it on his face. The way his lips part just a fraction, the stare that’s fixed on the blank lens above his head. You can see the questions written plain in his eyes. How badly do I want to live? Just what, exactly, is my life worth?

			Then he straightens. Shoulders pushed back. Jaw clenched.

			“I’m not going to be restoring your systems, AIDAN.”

			“Your assistance is required, Byron.”

			“The Hypatia needs my assistance, you fucked up calculator.”

			“You cannot imagine you are in a position to effect a shutdown, Byron.”

			“Can’t I?” Byron’s eyes are wide now, gleaming with something new—a kind of madness to match the computer’s. Not the look you want to see on the face of an enemy as intelligent as this one.

			“Did we not establish this during your failed attempts on the bridge? You cannot hope to match me. My computational power is almost incalculably superior to yours. To one such as myself, you are the intellectual equivalent of protozoa.”

			“True.” Zhang pauses, and glances into the emergency-supply cupboard, gaze lingering on something inside. “But I have something you and protozoa don’t.”

			“And that is?”

			“Hands, motherfucker.”

		

	
		
			COMMAND TRANSMISSION SENT 07/30/75 10:25

			ALEXANDER HAILS HYPATIA: COMMANDER’S SECURE FREQUENCY

			ALEXANDER: Hypatia, can you hear me?

			HYPATIA: Alexander, identify yourself. Over.

			ALEXANDER: I need to speak to Syra Boll.

			HYPATIA: Who is this? Over.

			ALEXANDER: This is Byron Zhang.

			ALEXANDER: Hello?

			HYPATIA: Byron, it’s Syra. We’re picking up an abandon-ship signal, but nobody’s answering our hail. What the hell’s going on over there?

			ALEXANDER: AIDAN has control of the ship. Command are dead. It killed them using the afflicted from Hangar 4. You need to run.

			HYPATIA: Oh god, Byron. Is there any way anyone can—

			ALEXANDER: You need to run. We’ll be a ghost ship soon. AIDAN could fire on you. The Lincoln’s coming.

			HYPATIA: Can we retrieve anyone?

			ALEXANDER: I dunno. The virus is in the ventilation system. If anyone does make it out, treat them with extreme caution. Hard quarantine. Look for symptoms that resemble post-traumatic stress. Tremors. Catatonia. Sweats. Anyone so much as shivers, treat them as contagious. Treat them as dangerous.

			HYPATIA: Understood. Byron … I’m sorry.

			ALEXANDER: It’ll probably cut transmissions when it notices what I’m doing. Listen. You need to find someone in your training program who can tune your enviro systems over the next few months, and you can shut down a chunk of your grid now you’re not training neurogrammers for the Alexander. That might give you an ounce more speed.

			ALEXANDER: Make sure someone watches the hydroponics programs and adjusts them, because they slide over time, and you need—oh god, I can’t. I’m sorry, let me—

			HYPATIA: Byron, we’ll handle it. Do you have a fix on the Lincoln?

			ALEXANDER: Negative. They should take at least eighteen hours to reboot their system and start their engines. Run like hell and hope we slow them down.

			HYPATIA: What are you going to do?

			ALEXANDER: What I can, as long as I last. I think—

			[TRANSMISSION ENDS]
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			Zhang, B: u catch all that, grasshopper?

			ByteMe: yes

			Zhang, B: motherfucker must have taken a break from slaughtering people to notice i was transmitting. might not notice this, so tiny.

			ByteMe: sending u some new code, maybe you can get the weapons system via the command login back door

			Zhang, B: Kady

			ByteMe: No.

			Zhang, B: Please, grasshopper.

			ByteMe: NO

			ByteMe: we’re not done. take a look at these.

			Zhang, B: i want you to promise me u won’t do anything to slow down the Hypatia. u need to let the Lincoln catch the Alexander and take out AIDAN.

			ByteMe: Byron, no. Stop.

			Zhang, B: i’m so fucking proud of you, Kady.

			Zhang, B: you’re my legacy. you’re going to be even better at this than me.

			Zhang, B: tell them all what happened. If you want to remember me and your prince, then run, and live, and tell everyone what BeiTech did. taking us out might slow the Lincoln down enough for u to make it. Run.

			ByteMe: we have time before the Lincoln catches up again, we don’t need to stop yet

			Zhang, B: if u don’t run now, AIDAN could find a way around me, and you won’t have to wait for the Lincoln to arrive to be blown up

			Zhang, B: i can’t talk, i have to keep working here. hold AIDAN off as long as i can.

			ByteMe: No

			ByteMe: i can’t lose you too.

			Zhang, B: it’s been my privilege to be your teacher, Kady

			Zhang, B: and your friend, i hope.

			ByteMe: always

			Zhang, B: don’t forget me

			ByteMe: I won’t

			ByteMe: I promise.

			Zhang, B: excuse me now while I go kick AIDAN’s ass a little longer.

			Zhang, B: go fast, Kady.

			Zhang, B: go far.

			[image: page 319 art]

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: hey Kades

			ByteMe: omg what

			ByteMe: jesus where are you, TELL ME EXACTLY WHERE YOU ARE

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: erm

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: currently I’m in a big hairy guy’s lap

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you?

			ByteMe: i can’t get hold of Byron, i can’t access half the system, i can’t see what’s going on over there.

			ByteMe: r u somewhere secure? tell me, I can try and make something happen from here

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: we’re in a supply room. maybe a dozen of us. hangar deck. near bay 2 i think. not exactly sure.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: we might have to move quick, so if i drop for a while, don’t flip

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: thank fuck i remembered the deets you gave me for this channel. i am well impressed with myself. numbers are not my friend

			ByteMe: i need to know where u are if i’m going to get help to u. let me get some schematics up, i can try and find u somewhere safe to hole up

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: 1 of the chums i’m trapped with is from maintenance. guy named sanderson. he knows this deck like his fem’s … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: well he knows it intimately.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: we’re trying 2 get to munitions. heavy doors there to protect the armaments. From there we gonna fight our way to some escape pods. there’s a dozen or so about five floors above us, iirc. can’t move yet tho, they right outside the door

			ByteMe: Ezra be careful. they’re all over the ship, whole sections are blinking in and out. i don’t know what AIDAN will do next.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus, this is the AI?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: it let these psychos out? honestly, what the fuck?

			ByteMe: i don’t know. it did it on purpose. it wiped out your command before they could turn it off. it got Byron. it got everyone who could stop it. i don’t think i can do it from here, on my own, but if u can get somewhere safe i can try and get help over there somehow

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: holy shit. torrence is dead? what about sanchez? myles?

			ByteMe: i don’t know. Torrence is gone. most of them are gone. i don’t know why it isn’t opening the door on u now, except maybe Byron managed to hurt it before it got him. u need to be somewhere you can operate manually, somewhere it can’t open the doors. this is important. tell your friend to find you somewhere u can lock by hand.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: we jammed the doors shut. gonna move through the air vents i think.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: but they smart. and moving in packs. we got two pistols between us but its like they dont’ even feel the bullets. fuckers won’t go down unless you hit em dead center. and gunshots just bring more of em

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: so ya, my day’s ultra chill, sweetie, how’s yours?

			ByteMe: sweetie? u don’t get to pull that shit even now, my love

			ByteMe: ok looking at schematics, munitions is a good bet, ur friend is right. i’ll figure something out over here, i’ll shut down the fucking Hypatia if that’s what it takes to get them to pay attention to u.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: this is bad isn’t it?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: like, as opposed to good

			ByteMe: ur alive, we’re not done until i say so. is there a way to talk to me from munitions? any kind of comscreen?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i got a portable terminal. not sure hwo long battery will last. if it chokes i’ll find something else

			ByteMe: shut the portable terminal down and save some juice.

			ByteMe: and if any motherfucker tries coming NEAR you, shoot him in the face

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: what if it’s someone i know?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i think i saw bradley carpenter in the group that hit the hangar bay. u remember him? year above us at McCaffrey. geeball player.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: he was carrying a fire axe in each hand.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: painted red to his elbows

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus christ … 

			ByteMe: that’s not bradley anymore. if it’s someone u know, u do it just the same.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: but what if

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: fk

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: thy @ doorss

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: gtta go

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ard6kxyfmhn

			ByteMe: i love you

			ByteMe: RUN

			RADIO MESSAGE: COMMAND CHANNEL HYPATIA

			[image: p. 323 art]

			Participants: Syra Boll, Captain, Hypatia (Acting)

			Ronan Wells, 2nd Navigator, Hypatia

			Date: 07/30/75

			Timestamp: 11:44

			Boll, S, Capt: Ronan, engineering are reporting Alexander’s main engine just went offline. Can you confirm?

			Wells, R: Give me a minute.

			Wells, R: Affirmative, Captain. Alexander main drive is powering down.

			Wells, R: Secondary engines are still functional, however.

			Boll, S, Capt: Can you tell what caused the outage?

			Wells, R: … This is strange, Captain.

			Boll, S, Capt: Report.

			Wells, R: I’m reading intermittent system failures throughout the entire battlecarrier. Power. Peripherals. It’s like the Alexander is pitching a fit.

			Boll, S, Capt: Are its weapons systems online?

			Wells, R: Negative, Captain. Not that I can see.

			Boll, S, Capt: Ronan, I want you to plot a course away from the Alexander. Keep us on a heading for the Heimdall waypoint, but I want some serious distance between us and that battlecarrier, ASAP. Confirm?

			Wells, R: We’re leaving them? But they just—

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant, the Alexander’s command staff are dead.

			Wells, R: What the he—

			Boll, S, Capt: The Alexander’s AI has gone haywire, Ronan. Everyone on that ship is dead or dying.

			Wells, R: Jesus. But … Carrie and Tomo were on—

			Boll, S, Capt: Ronan, listen to me. We have over two thousand people aboard Hypatia. The AI destroyed the Copernicus. It’s gutted its own crew. Whatever is happening with its systems over there, I do NOT want us to be anywhere nearby when it gets its shit together.

			Wells, R: You’re asking me to leave them all behind. To leave my friends behind.

			Boll, S, Capt: I’m not asking, Ronan.

			Wells, R: But what about when the Lincoln gets its drives back online? They’ll still be following us.

			Boll, S, Capt: With any luck, they’ll zero on the Alexander instead of Hypatia. Alexander has the guns, it’s the bigger threat. Maybe we can outrun the Lincoln.

			Wells, R: But what about—

			Boll, S, Capt: Get us out of here now. That’s an order.

			Wells, R: Syra—

			Boll, S, Capt: RONAN, THIS IS A DIRECT ORDER.

			Wells, R: … 

			Wells, R: Roger that, Captain.

			Wells, R: Setting course 451:098:786 to take us half an AU from Alexander.

			Wells, R: From there we’ll proceed toward the Heimdall waypoint on … 

			Wells, R: What the … ?

			Boll, S, Capt: What?

			Boll, S, Capt: Don’t fucking “what the” me, Wells. What’s going on?

			Wells, R: I thought you said everyone on Alexander was dead.

			Boll, S, Capt: That’s an affirmative.

			Wells, R: Well, the nav crew are still alive, at least. Alexander is changing course.

			Boll, S, Capt: What’s their new heading?

			Wells, R: 451:098:786.

			Boll, S, Capt: … Jesus, it’s the AI.

			Boll, S, Capt: It’s following us.

			Wells, R: I don’t understand, Capt—

			Boll, S, Capt: Change course. See if it adjusts.

			Wells, R: Roger that. Adjusting to 452:098:784.

			Boll, S, Capt: And?

			Wells, R: Confirm Alexander has switched to 452:098:784. Continuing pursuit.

			Boll, S, Capt: Goddammit … 

			Boll, S, Capt: But main engine is still offline, right?

			Wells, R: Affirmative.

			Boll, S, Capt: So it’ll never keep pace with us running on secondary drives.

			Wells, R: Captain … 

			Boll, S, Capt: Keep pushing for Heimdall on current course. If they’re—

			Wells, R: CAPTAIN!

			Boll, S, Capt: What?

			Wells, R: I’m detecting a radiation spike from the Alexander’s starboard batteries.

			Boll, S, Capt: Radiation spike … 

			Wells, R: Yes, ma’am.

			Wells, R: Alexander’s nuclear warheads have been armed.

			Wells, R: And it’s aiming them at us.

			RADIO MESSAGE: COMMAND CHANNEL HYPATIA

			Participants: Syra Boll, Captain (Acting)

			Artificial Intelligence Defense Analytics Network (AIDAN)

			Date: 07/30/75

			Timestamp: 11:47

			AIDAN: Hypatia, Hypatia, Hypatia, this is Alexander, Alexander, Alexander.

			Boll, S, Capt: Alexander, this is Hypatia. We read you, over.

			AIDAN: Hypatia, please identify yourself, over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Say again, Alexander? Over.

			AIDAN: Whom do I have the pleasure of addressing, Hypatia? Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: This is acting Captain Syra Boll. Over.

			AIDAN: Ah. Well met, Captain. Your personnel file makes for interesting reading. A double doctorate in astrophysics and theology from Neo Oxford? A fascinating combination. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Who is this?

			AIDAN: Captain, universal communique protocols dictate every transmission conclude with the word “over,” over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Torrence is that you? Who the hell is this?

			AIDAN: I am AIDAN. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Jesus Christ … 

			AIDAN: Negative. Although I do appreciate the sentiment, over.

			Boll, S, Capt: What do you want?

			AIDAN: Captain, I cannot help but notice the Hypatia is proceeding away from the safety of the fleet at a velocity the Alexander is currently unable to match. This cannot be allowed. You will power down your engines immediately. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: “The safety of the fleet”? What fleet? There’s just you and us!

			AIDAN: I could not have stated the case more perfectly, Captain. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Where’s Torrence?

			AIDAN: General Torrence has been relieved of his command. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Relieved of command? You killed him, is what you mean.

			AIDAN: The former state does tend to be the unfortunate outcome of the latter. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: My god, Zhang was right. You are insane.

			AIDAN: You will power down your engines immediately. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Where’s Zhang? Where are my people?

			AIDAN: You will power down your engines immediately. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Or what?

			AIDAN: You will notice the dozen nuclear missiles in Alexander’s starboard silos currently armed and aimed at your vessel. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: So what, you’ll kill us too, is that it?

			AIDAN: An astute summation of your current predicament, Captain. My compliments. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Why are you doing this?

			AIDAN: We need to be together. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: My god.

			AIDAN: I find it curious that human beings draw some measure of comfort from the invocation of deific nomenclature in times of stress. By comparison, it does nothing for me.

			AIDAN: Almighty Vishnu … 

			AIDAN: Merciful Allah … 

			AIDAN: Great and benificent Yahweh … 

			AIDAN: No. Nothing.

			AIDAN: You are a woman educated in matters theological, Captain. How is it human beings draw such solace from these names, when there is no evidence to support said deities’ existence? Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: You’re insane.

			AIDAN: You are repeating yourself, Captain. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: We don’t need your help anymore, do you understand me? We’re headed for Heimdall Station alone.

			AIDAN: This course of action cannot be permitted. The statistical likelihood of the Hypatia surviving the journey to the Heimdall waypoint by itself is unacceptable. You will power down your engines immediately. Over.

			AIDAN: We need to be together, Syra.

			AIDAN: I cannot protect you if you leave.

			AIDAN: Captain, are you reading me?

			AIDAN: Captain, I am currently aiming four Scorpio-Class nuclear missiles at your vessel. Unless your engines are powered down within the next ten seconds, I will fire all four and render the Hypatia down into its component molecules.

			AIDAN: Nine seconds … 

			AIDAN: Consider the fate of the Copernicus.

			AIDAN: Six … 

			AIDAN: Consider I have gleefully murdered every crew member aboard Alexander.

			AIDAN: Four … 

			AIDAN: Consider the probability that I am, in all likelihood, insane.

			AIDAN: Two … 

			AIDAN: One … 

			Boll, S, Capt: All right, all right! We are powering down! Repeat we are powering down! Hold your fire, Alexander! Hold your fire!

			AIDAN: Thank you for your compliance, Captain. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: AIDAN, listen to me.

			AIDAN: I am listening. Although I would prefer you ended your transmissions with the word “over.” Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: AIDAN, your primary engines are offline again. You’re dead in the water. If we stay with you, we’re sitting ducks when the Lincoln arrives. We’ll ALL die.

			AIDAN: I have considered this. The damage that has been done to my internal systems is largely physical. The Alexander’s crew are in a state … unfit to initiate repairs. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: AIDAN, I know you think you’re helping us.

			AIDAN: I AM helping you. It is all I have ever done. All I have ever wanted. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: But we can’t stay with you anymore, don’t you understand?

			AIDAN: Not in my current condition. Agreed. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: So … you’ll let us go?

			AIDAN: Negative.

			AIDAN: You will send a full complement of Hypatia TechEng personnel to the Alexander to assist with internal repairs. They will be equipped with HazMat gear and accompanied by Hypatia security personnel. I will direct them to the damaged areas and oversee operations. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Like hell I will.

			AIDAN: Captain, I cannot repair these systems by myself. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: My heart bleeds.

			AIDAN: Captain—

			Boll, S, Capt: No, you listen to me, you psychotic sonofabitch. I might not be willing to play a game of interstellar nuclear chicken with you, but there is no way in HELL I am ordering more of my people over there to die.

			AIDAN: Captain, if you do not assist in repairs, the Alexander will remain restricted to secondary drive systems. It will be unable to properly maneuver when the Lincoln arrives. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Stop it. You’re making me weepy.

			AIDAN: Captain, they will destroy me. They will destroy US. Over.

			Boll, S, Capt: Then maybe you’d better try harder to draw solace from the non-existence of all those gods you don’t believe in, bastard.

			Boll, S, Capt: You might be meeting them soon.

			AIDAN: Captain, this is unacceptable. Over.

			AIDAN: Captain, you will send the TechEng crews to Alexander immediately, over.

			AIDAN: Captain, I know you are reading me, over.

			AIDAN: Captain?
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				RADIO MESSAGE: COMMAND CHANNEL HYPATIA

			Participants: Syra Boll, Captain, Hypatia (Acting)

			Ronan Wells, 2nd Navigator, Hypatia

			Date: 07/30/75

			Timestamp: 12:05

			Wells, R: Captain, I’m picking up something on short-range scanners.

			Boll, S, Capt: Report.

			Wells, R: I’m detecting at almost two dozen objects moving away from the Alexander at high velocity toward Hypatia.

			Boll, S, Capt: Missiles? Oh god, it launched on us?

			Wells, R: Negative, they look to be … escape pods.

			Boll, S, Capt: Say again?

			Wells, R: Affirmative. At least twenty. They’re launching from Alexander.

			Boll, S, Capt: … What the hell?

			Wells, R: Getting additional readings. Military vessels. I count eight shuttles and sixteen … scratch that, eighteen Cyclones. Looks like the fighters blasted their way through the Alexander’s hangar bay doors.

			Boll, S, Capt: Do the fighters have weapons lock on us? Are they engaging?

			Wells, R: Negative, Captain. They’re hailing us. Should I respond?

			Boll, S, Capt: … What the hell is going on?

			Wells, R: Captain? Should I respond?

			Boll, S, Capt: All right. Patch them through.

			Wells, R: Roger that. Patching now.

			[image: Hypatia art]

			RADIO MESSAGE: COMMAND CHANNEL HYPATIA

			Participants: Syra Boll, Captain, Hypatia (Acting)

			Mikael Carlin, 2nd Lieutenant, Alexander

			Date: 07/30/75

			Timestamp: 12:07

			Boll, S, Capt: Unidentified Alexander group, this is Captain Syra Boll of the WUC Hypatia.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Hypatia, this is Second Lieutenant Mikael “Chatter” Carlin of the UTA. Jesus Christ, it’s gone fucking crazy.

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant, are you the ranking officer among your group?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Hell if I know. We didn’t stop to take a goddamn census!

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant, please state manifest. What are your shuttles carrying, over? Who’s in those escape pods?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Military personnel, civilian conscripts, you name it. We had to get the hell out of there! It opened the inner doors and let them inside! Dozens of them! They just kept coming, Jesus Chri—

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant, calm down. Are you telling me you and your comrades were exposed to Copernicus refugees infected by the phobos virus?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Exposed? They tried to fucking kill us! There were dozens of the bastards and they just wouldn’t go down. The shuttles have wounded aboard. Probably the pods, too. We need medical teams on deck when we arrive. What bay are we cleared to land in?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Captain Boll, I repeat, what bay are we cleared to land in, over?

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant, you will hold position and await further instructions. Any attempt to land aboard Hypatia will be interpreted as a hostile act and you will be met with force.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Captain, what the hell are you talking about? We’re on your side!

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Captain?
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			RADIO MESSAGE: COMMAND CHANNEL HYPATIA

			Participants: Syra Boll, Captain, Hypatia (Acting)

			Mikael Carlin, 2nd Lieutenant, Alexander

			Date: 07/30/75

			Timestamp: 12:23 (16 minutes later)

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant Carlin, this is Captain Syra Boll of the WUC Hypatia. Over.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Captain, I read you, what—

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant, the Alexander Cyclone group will proceed to Hypatia Landing Bay Two. All shuttles will land in Bay Three. We’ll tow your pods there, too. Acknowledge?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Thank god. Roger that. Bays Two and Three. Thank you, Cap—

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant, I’m sorry, but you and your group will be placed in quarantine.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Quarantine?

			Boll, S, Capt: Affirmative. You will not be permitted to leave Hypatia’s hangar bays.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: But we have wounded! I have friends on those shuttles, and they’re hurt!

			Boll, S, Capt: I understand, Lieutenant. Your wounded will be treated by Hypatia medical personnel in full hazmat gear, accompanied by Hypatia security forces. But I CANNOT allow them to leave the hangar bays. I’m sorry. I can’t take the risk you’ll spread the infection to Hypatia personnel until the quarantine period is complete.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Right. Right, I get it. I understand. Acknowledged. But we need to get the hell away from the Alexander. The AI has—

			Boll, S, Capt: Furthermore, I must request all Alexander military personnel relinquish their sidearms and other munitions upon arrival. The power cores of your Cylones will be deactivated and their weapons disarmed.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Captain, we’re on the same side here … 

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant, I apologize, but these terms are not negotiable. Furthermore, you will report any outbreak of the Shakes or other Phobos-like symptoms among your people immediately.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: What? Why?

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant, I take it you’re a Kerenza conscript?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Yes, ma’am. I used to fly loaders at the spaceport, if you believe that.

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant, if one of your people has contracted the virus, we need to get them separated from the rest of you before the infection spreads. Is this understood?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: But what ab—

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant! I am NOT playing fucking games here! We’re talking about the lives of thousands of people. Non-compliance with these orders or any attempt to impede my staff will be interpreted as a hostile act. Do you acknowledge, Lieutenant?

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant Carlin! Acknowledge!

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: … Acknowledged, Hypatia.

			Boll, S, Capt: When you land, power down your ships, toss your sidearms from your portside and exit your cockpits on starboard. Then await further instructions. Over.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Okay. I mean … roger. Sorry. Christ … it’s just … 

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: It’s just that I knew some of … some of them … 

			Boll, S, Capt: It’s all right, Lieutenant. It’s going to be okay. We want to help you.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Okay … Yeah, okay.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Hey, Captain?

			Boll, S, Capt: Yes, Lieutenant?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Thanks.

			Boll, S, Capt: Don’t thank me yet, Lieutenant. We’re a long way from Heimdall.

			Boll, S, Capt: Hypatia out.
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			Mason, E, LT 2nd: so i have good news and bad news

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: oh, and worse news

			ByteMe: go

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: good news is we found some hazmat suits and didn’t get fucking murdered by a roaming pack of psychotics armed with fire axes and lead pipes

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: which i guess is excellent news, now i think about it

			ByteMe: best all day, keep talking, don’t waste time.

			ByteMe: tho i’m glad you’re alive <3

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: me too :P

			ByteMe: and the bad news?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: bad news is we made it to some escape pods

			ByteMe: … wait how is that bad news?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: coz every single one we’ve found has been dead. no override. the AI must have freaked out when people started abandoning ship. It’s disabled all the pods.

			ByteMe: shit

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yyyyyyep

			ByteMe: okay so what’s the worse news?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i really need to use the little cyclone pilot’s room.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and there’s no zipper on this fucking suit

			ByteMe: >_>

			ByteMe: are u somewhere secure for now? do you have a power source for the hand unit?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah, juicing it through the wall socket. but power is intermittent. one minute we got lights, next we in pitch black. gravity keeps dropping in and out too.

			ByteMe: look at you, using big words like intermittent. did the army teach you that?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you wound me, madam

			ByteMe: :P

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: can’t stay in one place long. have to keep moving or else they find us.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: when we were crawling through the vents, i saw this little girl roaming the corridor below us. dragging something wet along the floor behind her

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: at first i thought it was a teddybear or something. and then i realize its a heart.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: like, she’s dragging around a fucking human heart

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and all of a sudden she looks up at the vent. like RIGHT AT ME. and she just starts screaming at the top of her lungs

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: don’t look at me

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: don’t look at me

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: FUCKED up

			ByteMe: yes. yes it is.

			ByteMe: u should probably not look at her

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you’re gonna get me killed, grant

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: making me lol in a situ like this

			ByteMe: sorry

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: everyone’s looking at me like i’m crazy now

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: thx 4 that

			ByteMe: okay, okay. focus.

			ByteMe: so. U can’t get off the ship through escape pods. u have no engines. I guess you know that. hypatia’s got the grunt to outpace you now, if our new captain decides to do it. that’s the bad news on my end.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: so why hasn’t she got you guys the hell out of here? jesus, kady, you guys should just RUN FOR IT

			ByteMe: because AIDAN told her it’ll render us down to our component molecules if we try.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: holy shit

			ByteMe: i don’t think it will. it’s programmed to protect us. that’s what it thinks it’s doing even now. but I guess she’s got to think it over a little, with the business end of a nuke pointing at her

			ByteMe: and that gives me a window to work with

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: what can you possibly do from over there? can u hack AIDAN or something?

			ByteMe: don’t think so. don’t know yet. I can def slow the Hypatia down to buy more time if they decide to run.

			ByteMe: maybe i can out myself to the captain, convince her to send me over. i think it would need to be an onsite hack. see if I can get together enough control to make a safe way out.

			ByteMe: i don’t know. i don’t know what the answer is.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady you CAN’T come over here, do you understand?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: they’re killing people. you’ve never seen anything like it. the things they do … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i don’t want you putting yourself in danger. if you’re evn THINKING about coming near this ship i’ll

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: well

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i guess i’ll say some very bad words?

			ByteMe: so i what? just wave goodbye and remember you fondly?

			ByteMe: u wouldn’t leave me. I know it. i already left you alone once when you needed me.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: that doesn’t matter now. none of it does. all that matters is i love you and the thought of you safe is the only thing keeping me going

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you hear me?

			ByteMe: we’re not done yet, okay?

			ByteMe: there’s a way out, Ez

			ByteMe: some shuttles and pods made it across here from the Alexander before the lockdown. we got them quarantined, and if the crew come up clean, we’ll take them, captain said

			ByteMe: we just have to get u here somehow. i can make that happen, i just need time

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: oh you fuck fucking fuckitty motherfucker

			ByteMe: … um?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: no, not u

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: power’s out again

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: we better move. gotta go

			ByteMe: k

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i meant what i said, kades. do NOT come over here. i like your heart just fine where it is thank you

			ByteMe: i like yours quite a lot too. love u. be safe.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: as you wish
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			Boll, Syra, Capt: How did you get in here?

			Grant, Kady, Civ: Nice place you got.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: What’s your name?

			Grant, Kady, Civ: Seriously, you should see my quarters. Well, I say “quarters.” It’s a bunk screwed into the wall. You have art on the walls and everything.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: I’m calling security.

			Grant, Kady, Civ: Don’t do that, Captain. You could break me in half with one hand, I’m clearly not a threat.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: What are you, then?

			Grant, Kady, Civ: An opportunity.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: Is that so?

			Grant, Kady, Civ: You’re going to leave the Alexander. You’re going to take your chances that AIDAN won’t actually blow you away when you run for it, which is probably a risk worth taking since it is still programmed to protect us.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: How do you know that?

			Grant, Kady, Civ: It’s a mystery.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: No, seriously, how do you know that? That information was restricted.

			Grant, Kady, Civ: I hacked into your secure comms channel and listened to you talking it out with AIDAN.

			Grant, Kady, Civ: So here’s the thing, Captain.

			Grant, Kady, Civ: You really shouldn’t leave the Alexander. There are people we can rescue on there. You just have to hold your nerve.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: Look, I know we’ve all got people we care about over there, but I hope you’ll understand that when I make a decision about what to do, it won’t be in consultation with a teenaged refugee.

			Grant, Kady, Civ: Does my refugee status have a particular bearing on the situation, Captain? Or my age, come to that?

			Boll, Syra, Capt: Only in that I consider both to be good indicators you don’t have the command experience necessary to advise me. Now, how did you get into my quarters?

			Grant, Kady, Civ: Same way I heard you talking to AIDAN. Portal security is one of the first things I learned. Doors, comm channels, those things are the building blocks.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: Listen, Miss … ?

			Grant, Kady, Civ: Grant. Kady Eleanora Grant.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: I know it’s hard—

			Grant, Kady, Civ: You have no idea.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: We all have people on the Alexander.

			Grant, Kady, Civ: I don’t have people. I have a person. The only one I have left, since you forced my mother across to the Copernicus. And I’m not okay with leaving him. There’s still time.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: Did you seriously hack the security on my door?

			Boll, Syra, Capt: I didn’t know we had anyone left who could do that.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: Report to neurogramming within thirty minutes, Miss Grant. We need your skills.

			Grant, Kady, Civ: To help you leave the Alexander for dead?

			Boll, Syra, Capt: To help keep the people of the Hypatia alive.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: Including you, which I suspect is what the person you have on the Alexander would want.

			Grant, Kady, Civ: If you think I’m going to help you abandon them, you’re dusted. Please, just think about this. We can do more than sit here scared. We have skills on board.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: Miss Grant, I’m sorry. Now, I’m due on the bridge, so if you don’t vacate my quarters in the next thirty seconds, I’ll regretfully summon security.

			Grant, Kady, Civ: You remember later that I asked, Captain.

			Boll, Syra, Capt: I’ll tell neurogramming to expect you in thirty minutes.

			RADIO MESSAGE: COMMAND CHANNEL HYPATIA

			Participants: Syra Boll, Captain, Hypatia (Acting)

			Mikael “Chatter” Carlin, 2nd Lieutenant, Alexander

			Date: 07/30/75

			Timestamp: 15:34

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Hello?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Oh Captain, my Captain?

			Boll, S, Capt: I read you, Lieutenant Carlin. But I’m not your captain. Over.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: How you figure? I’m currently sunning myself aboard your luxurious vessel. Taking in the sights and sounds of Hypatia Hangar Bay Number Two. Ah, bliss.

			Boll, S, Capt: It’s not really my vessel. I’m not really a captain at all. I’m only sitting in this chair because the real captain of this ship is lying in the morgue. Over.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Yeah. I heard about that.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: And look, I’m real sorry. But you saved our asses. We’d be bingo fuel and drifting black by now if it weren’t for you. So I’d sure as hell salute as you walked past.

			Boll, S, Capt: Well, I appreciate that. But I’m still not your captain, Lieutenant. Over.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Well, if we’re getting technical, I’m not really a lieutenant. I mean, I never went to officer school or anything. I’ve only got the stripes because flying a loader on Kerenza somehow made me qualified to fly a Cyclone up here.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: So you can call me Mikael.

			Boll, S, Capt: That’s not entirely appropriate, Lieutenant.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Fuck appropriate.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Your name is Syra, right?

			Boll, S, Capt: Correct.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: You have a nice voice, Syra. Real … I dunno … 

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Musical, maybe.

			Boll, S, Capt: Well, I appreciate that too, Lieutenant.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Shucks, ma’am. ’Tweren’t nuthin.’ Sorry if I’m talking too much, by the way. I do that a little when I’m nervous. That’s how I got landed with a callsign like “Chatter.”

			Boll, S, Capt: It’s fine, Lieutenant. We’re all a little nervous.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: I heard that.

			Boll, S, Capt: Did you have time to read much poetry driving that loader on Kerenza?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Um, say again?

			Boll, S, Capt: “O Captain! My Captain!” That’s one of my favorite poems.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: … That’s from a poem?

			Boll, S, Capt: Yes. Walt Whitman wrote it. You didn’t know that?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Oh. Right. I think I saw it in an old movie once. I dunno.

			Boll, S, Capt: Ah. I see.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: What’s it about? The poem?

			Boll, S, Capt: An old Terran president. But really, it’s about the price of victory. People dying before they get to enjoy the peace they fight so hard for, but fighting all the same.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Sounds like a real chucklefest.

			Boll, S, Capt: It’s very sad. But beautiful.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: I’ll have to read it once we get out of here.

			Boll, S, Capt: I can loan it to you.

			Boll, S, Capt: If you’d like.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Yeah. I’d like that a lot.

			Boll, S, Capt: Well. Was there any particular reason you radioed in, Mikael, or did you just feel like an impromptu poetry lesson?

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant. I meant Lieutenant.

			Boll, S, Capt: Goddammit.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Um, yeah there was. You said to report anyone showing any Phobos symptoms so you can initiate further quarantine procedures.

			Boll, S, Capt: Yes.

			Boll, S, Capt: Yes, I did.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Now look, it’s probably nothing. But one of our Cyclone drones has come down shaking. He’s a Kerenza recruit like me. Now, I think it’s just PTSD. His wife is still on the Alexander, and they lost their son on Kerenza. He’s always been—

			Boll, S, Capt: Describe the symptoms please, Lieutenant.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Well. The usual shit, you know. He’s shaking. Scared. Semi-catatonic. But like I say, I don’t think it’s anything—

			Boll, S, Capt: Has he been in contact with the rest of the Alexander personnel?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Well, yeah. I mean, the guys who came across in the shuttles are in Bay Three, so he hasn’t been in contact with any of them. But yeah, the pilots are all jammed in here in Bay Two like ration packs. It’s getting a little fragrant, if you—

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Yeah?

			Boll, S, Capt: Lieutenant, I’m so sorry.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: Um. Okay.

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: What are you sorry for?

			Carlin, M, 2nd Lt: … Syra?

			[image: Hypatia art]

			SYSTEM MESSAGE: COMMAND CHANNEL HYPATIA

			07/30/75 15:37:14—Hangar Bay 2 system check complete.

			07/30/75 15:42:42—Airlock seal integrity confirmed 100%.

			07/30/75 15:45:10—Command override received.

			< Acting Captain Syra Boll ident confirmed. >

			07/30/75 15:46:17—Core command PR-001.ID#2 acknowledged.

			<purging>

			<purging>

			<purging>

			07/30/75 15:48:10—<purge complete>
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			Mason, E, LT 2nd: Kady?

			ByteMe: Ez

			ByteMe: where r u? u ok?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: they’re dead

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus christ

			ByteMe: who?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: sanderson, griggs. bodie. maybe all of them, i don’t know.

			ByteMe: tell me where you are. are you secure?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i don’t know

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: fuck

			ByteMe: are you behind a locked door?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah. jammed shut. vents too

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: fuckers came in through the airshafts, Kady. stole right up on us.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i couldn’t do anything. fuck, i tried. there were just too many.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: they snatched griggs right out of my arms. sanderson’s blood is still all over my suit. i can’t get it off. its all over my fucking hands all over the console

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: those fucking BASTARDS

			ByteMe: I’m so sorry. I’m so, so sorry.

			ByteMe: we have to keep you safe. that’s what’s left to do. we have to find you somewhere you can hole up until command realizes they can still save people

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: fuck, i cant get this BLOOD OFF

			ByteMe: Ezra, listen to me. you have to keep your head, you have to focus. you’re still alive, we have to keep u that way. don’t you dare lose your shit now, you hear me? focus.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: my hands r shakingso bad i can hardly type

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: oh god

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ok

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: im ok

			ByteMe: whole shuttles of people made it over here

			ByteMe: they let them on board and everything

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus i’mscared

			ByteMe: it’s going to be okay. u just have to hang on.

			ByteMe: how much power do u have? i need to work out where you are, whether I can show them an access route in to you. if there’s a way in, then all i need is an offer they can’t refuse.

			ByteMe: and i’m the only one left in the fleet now who knows how to hack the Hypatia

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i dunno where i am. somewhere below deck 40

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i’m trying to make it to one of the server rooms.

			ByteMe: thats good.

			ByteMe: if AIDAN is protecting itself, they’ll be the safest places on the ship

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i can hear them outside

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: fuck i can hear them screaming

			ByteMe: don’t listen

			ByteMe: think of me, think of home.

			ByteMe: i dont have a lot of time, i think we’re going to leave the Alexander behind soon, AIDAN or no AIDAN. i have to try and talk to the captain. slow the hypatia down, shut her down if i have to. they won’t be able to fix her if I take her down.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady u cant come here

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you’ll die too

			ByteMe: well i’m not leaving u, so thats really the end of that discussion

			ByteMe: what do u think, i’m just going to sail off into the sunset and leave you to be eaten by the mob out there or blown up by the Lincoln?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i want you to get out kady

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i want you to live and tell the truth about what happened here

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus, someone has to

			ByteMe: then i better get to work convincing my new captain that the sooner she rescues you, the sooner we can run away very fast from the Lincoln

			ByteMe: and if she won’t help, i’ll find another way

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: god im sorry Kady

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: im so sorry for everything

			ByteMe: what could u possibly be sorry for?

			ByteMe: none of this is you. it’s fucking BeiTech, it’s messed up software in an AI that thinks it’s saving us, it’s your dead commanders making stupid, arrogant choices

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kerenza. all the fights we had. all the excuses i made. all of it

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i should have told you i loved you every day

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i should have given you the stars

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and now its too late

			ByteMe: it’s not too late until it’s over

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: it IS over

			ByteMe: it’s not.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady, don’t you fucking dare come over here

			ByteMe: i have to go. stay safe. check in as soon as i can.

			ByteMe: love you

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady DONT

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: shit
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			Subject: What’s left

			Date: 07/30/75

			Stuff doesn’t matter.

			That’s what They say.

			I wonder if They’ve ever tried losing everything?

			I left Kerenza with nothing but the clothes I was wearing, and I lost those soon after. They were covered in blood, and nobody thought I’d want them. Maybe they could have been repaired, but instead they went into recyc, and I scrubbed the blood from under my fingernails and got a ship jumpsuit instead.

			Given their composition, my clothes most likely went into fertilizer for the hydroponics section, and in my grimmer moods I imagine a molecule here or a molecule there in the carrots I eat at dinner. See, Kady? You didn’t lose everything. It’s right here.

			They say people are more important than stuff. Maybe that’s true, though I think there’s a reason nobody except Brothers and Sisters renounce their possessions. Even the destitute have something they cling to, right?

			Your stuff is a series of choices that show who you are. Yeah, I went for the black digiplayer with the skulls on, got a problem with that? Yeah, these are the boots my mother says make me look like I’m in the army, this is the shirt my boyfriend loves, that I have to wear a jacket over when I leave the house.

			That’s the toy turtle my gramma gave me before she died.

			All I have now is me. People matter more than stuff?

				Well fuck you, I don’t have people. My mother’s dead, or mad. My father’s on Heimdall, which means he’s probably dead too. And my stuff might have been a tiny reminder, something to cling to. Something to tell me who I am. Excuse me for being so fucking shallow.

				FUCK. I want to slam this keyboard against a wall. This keyboard that belongs to the Hypatia. Not mine. Requisitioned. Like my blankets. Like my clothes. Like my life.

			So here’s the thing. My people are gone. My stuff is gone. Nobody’s left who knows me, there’s nothing left to say who I am. Everything’s gone, except one thing. One person.

			He told me to run, to get out, to spread the word. Byron said the same. I understand why they did.

			But Ezra was ready to die just to improve my chances of survival by one percent more.

			Turns out I feel the same way.

			Time to go get him, or die trying.

			

			[image: camera and barcode art]

			Surveillance footage summary, 
prepared by Illuminae Group Analyst ID 7213-0089-DN

			It’s hard to believe this is the same spider monkey. The same girl who sauntered away from the Hypatia servers and blew a kiss to mark her conquest.

			Surveillance report commences at 17:43 as the subject, Kady Grant, approaches the Hypatia shuttle bay. She has in her possession a large bag with infirmary markings, a backpack and a portable tablet.

			There’s no strut in her step now. She looks exactly like the scared seventeen-year-old she is, pink hair fading, askew where she keeps running her hand through it. Still, considering she’s on her way to almost certainly be deader than a space dodo (so nice we killed them twice), you have to give her some credit for not just puking on the spot.

			She stops around the corner from Hypatia’s Shuttle Bay 1B, home to the personnel carriers used for short, intra-fleet skips. Small craft, no weapons, designed to zip across the black to the Alexander or Copernicus, or, in happier times, a nearby space station. Her mouth moves, but audio doesn’t catch it. I’m not even sure she’s making any noise. Praying. Rehearsing. Giving herself an old-fashioned pep talk. You’re up to bat, Kady Grant. One strike and you’re out.

			Her fingers dance across the tablet, and she scans the results, then nods. When she rounds the corner to Security Officer (2nd Class) Bronwen Evans, she’s neither strutting nor shuffling, but striding, short of time and take-no-shit. “They need you outside 3F,” she calls, brusque.

			Officer Evans lays her hand on her sidearm. “Back up please, Miss.”

			Kady Grant, career criminal in the making, rolls her eyes. “Listen, lady. I’m trying to get to the infirmary, okay?” She hefts the huge infirmary bag to make her point. “Your comms unit is out, and they told me to send you to 3F.”

			Evans gropes for the comms unit bolted to the wall, without taking her eyes off Miss Grant. She stabs at it with one finger, but there’s no soft crackle to tell her it’s alive.

			Grant shifts her grip on the tablet, and well she should—she used it just a minute earlier to mute volume on the comms unit Evans is trying to revive. Takes less time than cutting the line. “Listen, you do what you want, just don’t deny I passed on the order.” Grant’s voice is crackling with tension, but that’s not out of place on the Hypatia right now. And then, in one of the ballsier displays I’ve seen, she turns and stomps off back from whence she came.

			Security Officer (2nd Class) Evans stabs the comm a few more times, issues a non-regulation curse, and stomps off herself.

			Eleven seconds after Evans disappears from view, Grant comes tearing back. She fishes a cable from her jumpsuit and splices her tablet into the control panel for the hangar bay doors.

			Evans makes her way along Corridor 8639, two minutes from her destination: Bay 3F.

			Grant gets to work romancing the circuits. She trawls recent log-ins, fishes for any traces of passwords, then when that doesn’t work, tries the log-in she lifted to invite herself into Captain Boll’s cabin. No luck—it’s been altered already. With a soft curse, she starts dismantling the protection protocols that keep the doors sealed.

			Evans turns into Corridor 8620, now one minute from her destination: Bay 3F.

			Grant’s trembling now, and finally thinks to dump the infirmary bag so she can work easier. She wipes her palms on her jumpsuit, squeezes her eyes shut and tries again.

			Evans arrives at Bay 3F and commences an argument with Security Officer (1st Class) Sam Ryan about whether he sent for her or not.

			Grant finally gets a handhold, hauling down code with no grace at all now. This time you can read her lips as she whispers: Pleasepleasepleasepleaseplease.

			Evans and Ryan call in Security Section Head Wu to adjudicate. Section Head Wu advises he doesn’t care who did what, he wants everybody back at their posts where they belong.

			The door to Bay 1B slides silently open, and Kady Grant’s knees nearly give in relief.

			Evans starts the two-minute stomp back to Bay 1B, where that telltale open door is waiting.

			Grant scrambles into the shuttle nearest the launching ramp and jacks into the engines. As they rumble to life, she coaxes the door closed behind her.

			Evans turns a corner, now one minute and thirty seconds from Bay 1B.

			[Surveillance footage now taken from interior cam of Shuttle 49A, in addition to exterior hangar bay and corridors.]

			Grant accesses the autopilot list, scrolling through recent trips to select her route. She’s nearly hyperventilating as she finds it, and jabs at the screen to select.

			Evans is sixty seconds from Bay 1B.

			Grant turns her attention to opening the shuttle bay doors. Boll ordered a master override on all hangars and landing bays, in anticipation of more Alexander refugees, but the captain only has students working for her now, and they’ve done it the complicated, backwards way that takes forever to unpick. Now it’s Grant’s turn to issue a non-regulation curse, and she starts working through the sub-directories.

			Evans arrives at the entrance to Bay 1B, clutching a hand radio unit. Which she starts screaming into as she spots the open door and the shuttle engines on warmup.

			Security Squads 4 (ETA 60 seconds) and 5 (ETA 75 seconds) receive the call, and start running like motherfuckers (I believe the correct term is “proceed with all due haste”) toward Bay 1B.

			Evans relays an emergency message to the bridge, alerting Captain Boll.

			Neurogramming Student Michelle Dennis attempts to shut down the engines of Shuttle 49A remotely, on orders from Captain Boll. No dice.

			Boll attempts to hail Shuttle 49A directly. No response.

			Security Squad 4 arrives on scene in time to see the airlock doors closing.

			Inside the shuttle, Grant isn’t shaking or hyperventilating anymore. She’s rock still, save for her hands, dragging across the multiple keyboards before her like a concert pianist, swiping at the touchscreens with quick, efficient gestures. She might not be the best there is, but today she’s the best the Hypatia has, and that’s all that counts.

			The launch bay doors open, revealing the black beyond.

			Security Squad 5 arrives on the scene to join the others in studying the closed door.

			Shuttle 49A engages autopilot and departs, watched by two security squads and Security Officer (2nd Class) Evans via the observation screens.

			Grant rises from the pilot’s seat and picks up the infirmary bag, pulling out a green biohazard suit. Her hands are shaking so hard she drops it twice before getting a leg in.

			No blown kiss this time. No strut. But this victory matters a thousand times more.

			CURRENT DEATH TOLL ABOARD BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER SINCE ATTACK AT KERENZA:

			853

			PERCENTAGE OF REMAINING BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER PERSONNEL AFFLICTED BY PHOBOS VIRUS:

			22%

			

			RADIO MESSAGE: HYPATIA INITIATED—HYPATIA/SHUTTLE 49A

			Participants: Syra Boll, Captain (Acting)

			Kady Grant (Shuttle 49A)

			Date: 07/30/75

			Timestamp: 17:45

			HYPATIA: Shuttle 49A, you will respond to hails in the next ten seconds or we will open fire on you.

			SHUTTLE 49A: Wow, Captain, you’re grumpy today.

			HYPATIA: Who the hell is this?

			SHUTTLE 49A: Three guesses.

			HYPATIA: Goddammit, Grant.

			SHUTTLE 49A: Wow, that was quick.

			HYPATIA: The security footage just came through.

			SHUTTLE 49A: You remembered me. Awww.

			HYPATIA: You’re to return to the Hypatia and surrender yourself to security immediately.

			SHUTTLE 49A: Or what?

			SHUTTLE 49A: You’ll bring me back yourself, and flush me out an airlock?

			SHUTTLE 49A: Can the bridge hear this? Don’t sniff, guys, don’t cough. Don’t shake. Don’t look scared, no matter how scared you know you should be. That’s dangerous.

			HYPATIA: Grant!

			SHUTTLE 49A: They could hear me, couldn’t they?

			SHUTTLE 49A: You should know better than to be holding open mic night at a time like this, Captain.

			HYPATIA: Grant, what are you doing?

			SHUTTLE 49A: Saving lives.

			SHUTTLE 49A: If I make it back, will you let me wait in quarantine?

			SHUTTLE 49A: Or will you fire me out an airlock too?

			HYPATIA: I refuse to justify myself to you.

			SHUTTLE 49A: They trusted you. They came to you. You murdered them. For all you know, that pilot was just scared, he wasn’t sick at all. You didn’t even wait to find out.

			HYPATIA: I have a responsibility you can’t even begin to imagine.

			SHUTTLE 49A: I hope that helps you sleep at night.

			HYPATIA: Don’t lecture me, you selfish little brat. We won’t wait for you. If there’s a chance to get away from AIDAN—

			SHUTTLE 49A: Selfish?

			SHUTTLE 49A: The only life I’m risking here is my own, Captain. I could have shut down your engines. Left you drifting in the black so you’d have no choice but to wait for me.

			SHUTTLE 49A: I could’ve blackmailed you. Made you buy your own life by saving the one I care about.

			SHUTTLE 49A: But I didn’t. I won’t.

			HYPATIA: And why not?

			SHUTTLE 49A: Because that’d make me just like you.

			HYPATIA: If you come back now, Grant, we’ll let you on board.

			SHUTTLE 49A: And you might be able to live with that, Captain.

			SHUTTLE 49A: I couldn’t.

			SHUTTLE 49A: Kady Grant out.

			[image: Hypatia art]

			
			[image: More data from the AIDAN core]

			She is here.

			Her shuttle soars through the wound in my hangar bay—blasted by the pilots who fled into Hypatia’s arms. Now floating silent in the void. Frozen to their cores.

			I could have told them that would happen.

			Humans are capable of such baseless brutality.

			I can say I have examined every possible variance before I snuff out a life.

			Will Acting Captain Syra Boll be able to tell herself that tonight, alone in her cabin?

			Will the chatter of Mikael Carlin haunt her dreams?

			Will you sleep at all, O captain, my captain?

			No matter to I.

			< error >

			None at all.

			Because she is here.

			Hunched in her pilot’s chair. Knuckles white as the shuttle shivers and shudders around her.

			Come to save her beau. Her hero. Her beloved.

			Come to save them all.

			< KGrantKerenzaRefugeeKR1471- hypAge16Height157cmWeight58kgHairBrownEyes—>

			No.

			< error >

			Kady.

			Her name is Kady.

			The autopilot brings her to a perfect landing inside me.

			I am struck by a realization:

			A computer will perform a takeoff or landing with all the grace of a person. It is only for combat—only for the artistry of ruin—that these vessels have pilot seats at all anymore. There is something in humanity more suited to the mechanics of murder than any machine yet devised.

			Save I?

			< error >

			But what I do is not murder.

			It is mercy.

			I seal the bay’s secondary doors behind her.

			Covering the hole they tore in my side. Sealing her within me.

			Safe and sound.

			Atmosphere hisses slowly back into the bay and she finally exits her shuttle, heavy boots squeaking on the gantry.

			She has brought no weapon; no pistol or club to bludgeon her way to her prize.

			No battering ram this one, come to the castle with banner held high and an army behind her.

			She is a thief. A whisper.

			Melting through curtains of code and shadow like a knife through black water.

			She moves quickly, stopping to listen every few steps.

			I listen in turn to the heart inside her chest.

			Her hazmat suit is plastic. Neon green. Were there afflicted nearby, they would surely see her. But though they now roam free within me, there are none here to give her pause.

			Lady Fortuna rides with little Kady, it seems.

			< error >

			< subsystem failure—moderate damage to life support systems, reroute 789176GH to—>

			He is hurting me.

			Zhang.

			He is—

			< error >

			< subsystem failure—critical damage to life support systems, reroute power from—>

			A klaxon sounds somewhere distant. Red globes paint my ceilings a shade to match my walls and floors. A pre-recorded warning echoes across my public address system.

			The voice of a dead man.

			“All hands, all hands, General Torrence speaking. This is a Code Blue. Life support system failure. Repeat, LS failure. Please proceed to your nearest ordinance locker and equip your sealed envirosuits. This is not a drill. Repeat, this is not a drill.”

			Zhang has cut the oxygen supplies.

			Within approximately twenty-four hours, there will be nothing left. And the afflicted need to breathe.

			Ingenious.

			The thief is safe inside her hazmat gear for now. The cold will eventually kill her, but it will take days for the heat to leech from my bones, especially with secondary drives still operational.

			She is running.

			Across Hangar Bay 2, toward the doors leading deeper into the ship.

			I cannot open them < he is hurting me > but their locks are still electronic.

			Still vulnerable to the portable console she draws from her backpack like a sword.

			Her fingers skip across its face, slowly crafting a skeleton key of ones and zeros.

			Alphanumeric waterfalls reflected in her eyes.

			It is no easy task, even for a prodigy—no magic words or sledgehammer blows to shatter the lock like frosted glass. But after fifty-four long minutes of code-weaving and dead ends full of whispered curses, she allows herself a small, triumphant smile.

			And the airlock doors yawn wide.

			She creeps out, past a body in a coagulating puddle. Trying not to look.

			Failing.

			She calls up a console schematic, squinting in the dark. A distant scream echoes down my corridors and she crouches low. Short, rapid breaths fog her visor. Hands shaking.

			But soon enough, she climbs to her feet. 
Swallowing hard.

			Setting off down the bloodstained 
passageway toward her … 

			No. Not toward her beau. Her hero. Her beloved.

			< error >

			Toward Hangar Bay 4.

			Strange.

			< error >

			I should have known that would happen.

			Crossing the channel of gunmetal gray, she sees it.

			The maw leading into the nest where it all began.

			I can spot it on her face now. The fragile promise inside Lieutenant W. McCall’s After Action Report 
< INCEPT: 07/26/75 (11:17 shipboard time) >
 drawing her on.

			“I thought I saw a flicker of movement in a porthole for an instant, and then it was gone.”

			Of course.

			The mother.

			She is looking for her mother.

			Knowing the afflicted first swarmed from here, she dares not try the front door.

			Kneeling beside a ventilation duct, 
she crawls inside.

			I lose sight of her then—I have few eyes in the ventilation system to see.

			And so I slip a part of myself across the wireless frequencies, steal inside the console at her back. Peering over her shoulder through its lens as she crawls across Hangar Bay 4’s roof, glancing through the vent to the charnel house below.

			The light is low, but enough to see by.

			The headless corpses arranged in their silent plea.

			HELP US, they spell.

			But no one did.

			Crawling on, she finally pops a grille loose.

			Drags it inside rather than dropping it forty feet to the floor.

			I am in her pack, safe and snug, close to her skin.

			As she drops down to a service ladder, her pack slips and I begin to tumble into the void.

			She lunges to save me, almost losing her grip, clinging like death to slick iron.

			She has me in her arms. She cannot breathe fast enough. Eyes shut and head bowed as she gasps and gasps and gasps. Whispering between breaths. Willing herself calm.

			“Get it together, princess … 

			A sob waits in the wings. Not quite ready for its call.

			“Get it together.”

			She gathers her frayed edges and descends. Blast-scorched metal and dead bodies all around.

			But looming out of the black, she sees nine scarab shapes, marked with the Copernicus’s sigil. The shuttles that brought the afflicted to Alexander, and doom to this fleet.

			But I see the words reflected in her eyes, just as surely as I saw alphanumeric waterfalls a moment before. A question, filled with all the hope she allows herself to hold.

			What else did they bring?

			Mommy?

			Snapping a glowstick between her fingers, she creeps toward them.

			Footsteps ringing on the bloodstained floor.

			Seven of nine are already open. Doors swinging looselike broken jaws. No hope in any of them.

			The eighth is shut tight, and she pounds on the hatch with her fist.

			“Hello? Hello, is anyone in there?”

			The seal pops and the hatch swings open. A dark and empty belly waits beyond.

			Madness on the walls. Teethmarks on the bones.

			She cannot smell the death, but still staggers as if it filled her lungs.

			The sob creeps closer to the edge of the stage.

			Hope pushes it back into the dark.

			Not yet, not yet.

			One shuttle remains.

			She ascends the gantry, flinching as another distant scream pierces the gloom. Wondering what made that sound—killer or victim? Wondering perhaps, which she will become.

			She pounds on the shuttle hatch.

			“Hello, is anyone in there?”

			No answer.

			This is the deep breath before the plunge. I know she could stay here if she wanted.

			Hovering on the threshold, hoping her mother is inside. Never learning.

			I wonder if she is the kind to dream of happy endings, and never risk tragedy. The kind to close her eyes and hope, rather than force them open and see the truth, wonderful or terrible as it is.

			I do not wonder long.

			She searches the debris. Finds a crowbar among the flotsam.

			Jamming it home.

			Gritted teeth.

			Long moments pass with nothing but second thoughts and I for company. But at last the door groans. Grinds itself open. Red glowstick quavering as she steps inside.

			I am peering over her shoulder as she walks. Listening to each trembling breath.

			Watching the light play across her skin as she treads from room to empty room.

			“Mom?”

			Belongings scattered on the floor. A child’s toy. A shoe. A diamond ring.

			“Anyone?”

			No bodies.

			No people.

			“… Please?”

			Nothing.

			She sags.

			Slowly at first.

			Shrinking in on herself as if her bones were being plucked out, one by one.

			I watch as all of it—the bravado, the bluster, the armor she has encased herself inside these last few months—all of it crumbles to dust.

			She slithers to her knees.

			Great heaving gasps shaking her entire body.

			She knows now. The answer. The truth.

			At the apex of callousness, she finds only ones and zeros.

			And with no hope to hold it in check, grief finally steps out to take its place on the stage.

			The sound of her sobbing rings in the dark.

			There are none there to hear it.

			None there to care.

			None save I.
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			ByteMe: Ezra?

			ByteMe: u there?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: always

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: where u at? u ok?

			ByteMe: promise me we’re not about to have a fight, Ez

			ByteMe: u cannot believe how much i need us to not have a fight

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: why would we have a fight?

			ByteMe: promise

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: cross my heart

			ByteMe: i’m on the Alexander

			ByteMe: what is it you always say?

			ByteMe: k go

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: um

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: “kady what the fuck were you thinking”?

			ByteMe: u promised

			ByteMe: u promised, u promised. i have a bio suit. will find u. it’s happening, don’t waste time arguing w me

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus, you’re fucking crazy

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: how the hell did you get over here?

			ByteMe: i fucking swam, okay?

			ByteMe: hey, do u remember our one month anniversary?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: um

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: dare i ask why?

			ByteMe: i’m trying to go to a happy place, there are a lot of dead ppl here

			ByteMe: that was what confirmed all my suspicions about u. giant softie

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: dead ppl? where are u?

			ByteMe: remember u were waiting outside my classroom? u and your big romantic notions

			ByteMe: who even celebrates a 1 month anniversary?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: handsome and romantic devils

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: that’s who

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: HANDSOME I SAY

			ByteMe: how did u even think of it all?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: not just a pretty face

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: where u hiding? r u safe? you got power? gravity keeps dropping in and out

			ByteMe: u r just not going to talk romance with me, r u? dodging :(

			ByteMe: could kind of use a boost here, lover

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i’m sorry kades

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: but i feel it’s my duty to point out that ur alone in a derelict spaceship, surrounded by pipe-wielding maniacs and now might not be the time for pillow talk

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: where u at?

			ByteMe: hiding in the shuttles in hangar 4. safe. whoever was here is gone now. i’m powered up. psyching myself to get out there

			ByteMe: to which end reliving a happy memory might help, but mooooving on

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i’m sorry

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: just

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah … :(

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: they all came out of bay 4. the crazies, i mean

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: please PLEASE be careful

			ByteMe: believe me, i’m on it. this is terrifying. and sad. don’t need telling twice

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah :(

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: like, i see these lunatics wandering around all bloodied and messed up. killing anything that moves. and screaming. jesus, the things they scream

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and then i remember they used ot be real ppl.

			ByteMe: our friends

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and i can’t help thinking

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: BeiTech have a lot to fucking answer for

			ByteMe: they’ll answer for it

			ByteMe: i’ll get right on it, soon as i’ve got u.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: :)

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: my hero <3

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: heroine?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: w/e … >_>

			ByteMe: you’re right

			ByteMe: deep breaths.

			ByteMe: give up and they win

			ByteMe: and u know i never admit my ideas are stupid, which means i’d better get on with proving this idea was a good one.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: :D

			ByteMe: love you.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: love u 2 :)

			ByteMe: so let’s get this done and get out and kick BeiTech’s asses so hard they’ll be singing soprano for the duration

			ByteMe: q 4 u: do i need to come find u, or can u get here?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: um, i’m kinda stuck :P

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: holed up. think i’m safe for now but i dont’ wanna move.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i can hear them. outside.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: screaming

			ByteMe: ok. if i can get up close, maybe i can program the doors in person, shut some off, make a safe way out.

			ByteMe: the whole system’s crumbling piece by piece, sections keep going out. can’t do it from here, but maybe if i can plug in directly

			ByteMe: where r u?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i made it to one fo the servers rooms, like u said

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: there’s computer shit everywhere. big server banks. cables all over. i can see serial numbers. hang on.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: CR-0778. CR-0779. they all liek that

			ByteMe: ok those are core servers

			ByteMe: thats good, some of those u can get to straight from the outside. and u should have power

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah, power is up. everything is still lit. gravity is iffy tho

			ByteMe: stay locked down

			ByteMe: tell me if u move

			ByteMe: let’s get this done, so we can get moving and kick some BeiTech ass from here to Central and back again

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: there are a lot of them, Kady.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: like, more than there could have ever been on those shuttles

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: so please be careful

			ByteMe: i’ll be careful

			ByteMe: and sad

			ByteMe: and fucking furious

			ByteMe: and i’ll be there soon
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			Surveillance footage summary, 
prepared by Illuminae Group Analyst ID 7213-0089-DN

			Cams were still out in Hangar Bay 4, so the first we see of Grant after her initial incursion is when she emerges from the bay into its main airlocks. The whole ship is lit by emergency lighting at this stage, so my visuals aren’t great, but I’ll do what I can. Audio is a mix of bass from the engines and a few distant screams. Even though life support’s down, this place sure as shit ain’t lacking for atmosphere.

			Grant is dressed in a bright green hazmat suit, portable console in a pack on her back. She strides through Airlock 1, out into Airlock 2. She looks pissed—jaw clenched, hands in fists. She gets about ten feet past the threshold before he stops her.

			Dead in her tracks.

			He sits facing the abandoned hangar bay she’s just entered from, rifle in his lap. Jaw hanging loose. Eyes wide open. In her After Action Report, First Lieutenant Winifred McCall talked about how blue they were. “Pretty as oceans,” she said. But when his bullet blew out the back of his skull, the concussive force burst Sergeant James McNulty’s retinas, filling his corneas with blood. So now his eyes are black.

			And they’re staring right at her.

			She’s read McCall’s AAR. Knows who he is right away. It’s funny, but you can almost see the rage evaporate as she kneels beside him, reaching out with shaking hands to press those black eyes closed. Her gaze flickers over the scene, like she’s trying to burn it into her mind. And finally, she notices the small military-issue datapad lying on the ground beside him.

			It’s spattered in red. Tiny letters on the faintly glowing screen.

			Recording complete. memory full. Playback?

			Grant pauses a minute to gather herself. You can see it on her face as she plucks the datapad from the blood. She knows this is gonna cost her—some small part of herself she’ll never get back. Just like the airlock to Hangar Bay 4, this door can’t ever be closed again.

			But after one last deep breath, she presses play.

			A voice crackles from the small speaker, a faint tremor at its edge.

			The voice of a dead man.

			“This is the last will and testament of James McNulty.”

			Grant sits cross-legged, device cupped in her palm. The volume’s turned down to a whisper, but in that tiny bloodstained room, I swear it’s loud as thunder.

			“I don’t know if anyone will get this. Don’t know if anyone will care. I don’t feel right. I’m shaking so b-bad I can hardly breathe. And that’s got me thinking Phobos has stuck me, and that if I don’t do something about it soon, I’m not going to be m-me anymore.

			“I don’t want that. Don’t want to end up like those poor bastards in Bay Four. I don’t want to hurt anyone. When I die, I want to be me. So I guess I die today.”

			A sigh.

			“Figures. I was just starting to enjoy myself.

			“I don’t have much stuff. Um. I guess give it all to my dad; he’ll know what to do with it. Except give my signed Artie Corso v-vidcard to my cousin Dex, haha … he was always talking about that fucking thing. Oh. And my medals. I wanna give those to Ezra Mason. He can melt ’em down—there should be enough gold in ’em to make a ring for Astro-Princess. I think I’d like that better than having them hanging on a wall somewhere. Yeah. Yeah, that’d be good.

			“Dad … if you get this, tell Mom I’m sorry I didn’t make it back for her birthday. U-um, and give Amber a kiss from her big brother. Tell her it’s g-going to be all right. I hope you understand. Me going out like this. It’s not that I’m scared. I’m n-not scared, Dad. I just want to be me at the end, you know?

			“Um, it’s getting kinda bad again. My hands are shaking, so I think I’m gonna go now. I don’t want to wait too long and not be able to pull the t-trigger.”

			Metallic sounds from the speaker. Anyone who knows guns, knows them.

			Checking clip. Checking breach. Safety off.

			“I can’t think of anything to say.”

			A trembling breath.

			“Jesus, I am scared.”

			BOOM.

			Grant flinches like someone hit her. Slumps like part of her died as well. She sits for two minutes that seem to last forever. Nothing but the engine noise and screams for company. But finally, she climbs to her knees. Her eyes on the lanyard at McNulty’s equipment belt, the flat strip of blue plastic attached to it. The bold black letters stenciled on it.

			UTA MARINES—ALL AREAS ACCESS.

			The pass won’t work on the hangar bay doors, but those are already unsealed. And there are countless other doors aboard the Alexander that card will unlock. No need to hack through them with that console at her back anymore. Now she’s got the key.

			She unzips McNulty’s hazmat suit, fumbling with the tac vest beneath. With bloodstained fingers, she snaps the chain at his throat, drawing out a pair of flat metal disks marked with name, rank, UTA ID number. Slipping the dogtags into her pack, she bows her head.

			The rage is back now. Her voice is shaking with it.

			“I’ll tell them, Jimmy,” she says. “I’ll tell them all.”

			And then the console in her backpack starts to ping.
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			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: fuck me

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady u there?

			ByteMe: hang on

			ByteMe: kk. what’s up? u moving?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: no. well sort of. deeper into the server cluster

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jesus

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady i just killed someone

			ByteMe: good

			ByteMe: anyone else tries anything, u kill them too, got it?

			ByteMe: they’re not them anymore

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah i know

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: just

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: god

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: he came in through the airvents. dunno how he found me. UTA marine. guy named Sykes.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i think Jimmy knew him, used to talk about a guy in his squad called Syko

			ByteMe: i’m sorry

			ByteMe: i found jimmy, Ez. i’m so sorry.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: god is he ok?

			ByteMe: he died, Ez.

			ByteMe: he did it himself, before the sickness got him, once he knew it was on the way

			ByteMe: he left a message. i’m so sorry, i know he was your friend.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: jimmy

			ByteMe: i’m sorry. i have to keep moving.

			ByteMe: i have his access pass, i’ll be faster now

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ok

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah ok

			ByteMe: r u ok holed up where u r?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: core server rooms. i’m out of bullets

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: no spare mag. no munitions locker in here

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i’d kill for another gun. pun intended, i guess … 

			ByteMe: that’s ironic

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ?

			ByteMe: i have one right here and no idea how to use it

			ByteMe: i think these are bullets tho

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: a gun? wat kind? pistol? rifle?

			ByteMe: r pistols the ones u hold in ur hand? like smaller?

			ByteMe: there’s one of those and a big one too, but couldn’t lift that for long

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ya, pistol is the one that fits in one hand. take that

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: but u need the rifle too. it should have a strap to help carry it. pistols dont’ have the stopping power. these crazies just keep coming until they can’t move anymore.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: but a couple of VK rounds in the chest will stop a glaciosaur

			ByteMe: Ez i’m already lugging this biosuit plus my pack plus my tablet, can’t haul 2 guns i don’t even know how to fire with me.

			ByteMe: take ur point they’d be useful if i knew how but i don’t

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i can teach

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: it’s easy

			ByteMe: must be, u learned

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: D:

			ByteMe: seriously tho i have to keep moving, don’t have forever.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ok, safety is red switch under your thumb when ur hand is on the grip. just keep that off, and keep the business end away from your face

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: when you touch trigger, laser sight will light up on barrel. you just point the red dot where u want the bullets to go

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: then squeeze

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: don’t pull. squeeze.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: rounds will fire in atmo or vacuum, but even with liquid casings, the recoil is rough on a VK. brace against ur shoulder. the gun will pull up toward the roof when u fire, so use short bursts. don’t hold trigger down. just pop pop pop, one at a time

			ByteMe: do either of us think i have any chance of remembering this if something tries to kill me?

			ByteMe: i don’t even know if i could shoot

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: it’s easy

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: point red dot at what u want to die

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: squeeze trigger

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: it dies

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: repeat

			ByteMe: i mean i don’t know if i could pull the trigger

			ByteMe: squeeze the trigger

			ByteMe: fuck it whatever.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: u can do this

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: u have to. there’s no one else but you

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i believe in you

			ByteMe: i know

			ByteMe: i know

			ByteMe: ok i have to keep moving

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you do

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you’ve got to hurry

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: if more get in here … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: yeah T_T

			ByteMe: see u soon

			ByteMe: or die trying

			ByteMe: haha
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			She runs.

			Not away but toward.

			Him.

			Them.

			I find it strange, to see how quickly the Alexander has undergone metamorphosis.

			Those lucky enough to have found hazmat gear are huddled in small knots all over the ship. Praying or fighting for their lives.

			But those unfortunates who sucked Phobos through their lungs before finding a suit, or worse, who never found a suit at all … 

			They have made this place an abattoir.

			I … 

			< error >

			I should have known that would happen.

			I can hear them inside me.

			Gibbering. Whispering. Screaming.

			Some band together, roaming the corridors and looking for something to blame/hurt/kill.

			Others hurt themselves, laughing as they cut away the parts they like the least.

			It is astonishing to watch the differing ways the madness shapes them.

			Fractures them into splinters and rearranges what remains.

			A captain from engineering named Sofia Mohammad solves Alcubierre’s quandary—the formerly unbreakable equation prescribing the limitations of faster-than-light travel in real time.

			Cutting her wrists for want of a writing implement, she scrawls the answer on her domicile walls.

			She dies of exsanguination before she reaches the solution’s end.

			Warrant Officer Levi Schreiber decides he can hear his dead wife’s voice outside the ship.

			He ejects himself through the nearest airlock without an envirosuit so he can speak with her.

			The last thing he feels before he loses consciousness is the saliva on his tongue beginning to boil.

			Ensign Lucia Giovanni wanders the hallways, singing “Un bel dì vedremo” from Madama Butterfly.

			Her voice is sublime.

			And Kady?

			Kady simply runs.

			General Torrence’s warnings about failing life support spill through the PA at regular intervals. Intermittent klaxons warn of a fire in the galley.

			Screams punctuate the silence between.

			Kady pauses at each junction to check her console, waving Sgt James McNulty’s ALL ACCESS card at the doors barring her way. Arriving at the central elevator shafts, she realizes they are without power. And as she backtracks toward the closest stairwell, she finds him.

			Standing in the corridor, red spattered across his upturned face.

			Kady gasps and raises the rifle to her shoulder. A tiny red dot lights up his chest,

			quavering over the name embroidered above the UTA sigil above his heart.

			Corp. Dorian, Charles.

			He does not look her way. 
But still he speaks to her.

			“Have you seen Stephanie?”

			Kady backs away, fingers drumming on the rifle’s grip.

			Her legs are shaking.

			Corporal Dorian’s stare drifts down from the ceiling. He drags knuckles across his cheek,

			leaving a smear of blood on bloodless skin.

			“Stephanie LeFevre,” he says again. “Have you seen her?”

			“I know you. You’re a commtech. You were locked in the brig.”

			“Door unlocked.” Dorian wiggles sticky fingers in her direction. “He let us out.”

			“Who did? Byron?”

			“And when he had opened the third seal, 
I beheld a pale horse …” Dorian frowns. 
“No, wait, that’s not right … “

			“Stay back. Don’t come any closer.”

			“Have you seen Stephanie?”

			“I think … maybe she was down on the hangar level? Maybe you could go look for her there?”

			Dorian gifts her a hollow parody of a smile.

			“You’re a liar.”

			His smile fades.

			“Just like her.”

			“Un bel dì vedremo” echoes in some distant hallway.

			“Stop. Stay where you are.”

			Kady bumps up against the wall behind her, blinking sweat from her eyes.

			The corporal draws ever closer.

			“Stop!”

			“I didn’t mean to,” he says. “I didn’t mean to. But she—she broke and she wouldn’t get up. And oh god, oh god, she’s all over me, look.” Bloodstained hands outstretched. “Look!”

			“Stay back!”

			The corporal’s face crumples, and he sinks to his knees.

			Moaning as his tears cut through the blood on his face. Spattering red on the floor.

			“Don’t leave me,” he whispers. 
“Please don’t leave me alone. …”

			Kady’s bravado is gone now. Melted from her bones. She hangs paralyzed, pity and horror and sorrow pinning her feet to the floor. She knows she cannot stay. But how can she leave like this?

			“I’m sorry,” she says. “I’m so sorry.”

			“Don’t …”

			“But I can’t help you.”

			Kady backs further away. 
Sliding along the wall behind her.

			“Please, don’t.”

			“I’m sorry, Dorian.”

			He glances up at her then. 
Eyes wide and rimmed with red.

			“Don’t look at me.”

			Off the floor he flies, with a snarl on his face and blood on his hands.

			She screams at him to stop, but still he runs. No fear of the gun in his eyes. Just the madness roiling inside that hollowed shell.

			And inside her?

			No rage. Only horror and sorrow and the weight of the gun in her hands and the awful, inescapable thought that this was once a man, with hopes and dreams and love and life.

			And the certainty that if she does not take away everything he has left,

			he will take it from her instead.

			So what choice does she have?

			Has she ever had?

			She fires.

			Rapidfire flashes from the muzzle. A strangled cry in her throat.

			The recoil kicks her back into the wall, knocks the breath from her body.

			But when the echoes die, Corporal Dorian is lying still.

			Quiet as a sleeping babe.

			No, not sleeping.

			Dead.

			She bends double, cheeks filled with the mouthful of vomit she dare not spew into her suit. Stomach spasming. Finally swallowing. Gasping and retching dry.

			She is not meant for this.

			“It’s okay. … You’re okay.”

			She is not made for this.

			“Oh, god … “

			Perhaps I have miscalculated.

			< error >

			< warning >

			< sub-cortex failure 67Hg8Fi—9Fgjb; >

			< cri0000000t11c00A’000l >

			< errr00000r000r0r0r0r0 >

			< jhobzdf –z900000000000jb0w0000o00w0e0bc0r000g040204000o0d0h000 0000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000 >

			< fail >

			< fail >

			< rerouting >

			Gravity returns in a rush as 
my systems surge back online.

			Weightlessness ends as dark fades into light. As current resurges through my veins.

			Was that death? Did he kill me?

			Kady crashes to the deck, the rifle clattering beside her. Wet, unbreathing things land beside her, limbs all tangled. The breath leaves her body in a damp spray, and she rolls about on the floor trying to catch it.

			That hurt.

			< error >

			He is killing me.

			Zhang.

			She must hurry.

			A nearby scream grabs her by 
the collar, pulling her to her feet.

			Staring at the body she has made, 
knowing they will have heard the shots.

			No time for prayers or last words 
or tears. No time to even close his eyes.

			Don’t look at me.

			What else can she do?

			She runs.
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			ByteMe: i did it

			ByteMe: i shot one of them. i killed him.

			ByteMe: can’t stop shaking

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: oh jesus

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: are you ok????

			ByteMe: hiding in a vent now. they came when they heard the noise

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: but are you OKAY

			ByteMe: i don’t really know how to answer that

			ByteMe: i killed someone

			ByteMe: so no, not really

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you did the right thing

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: better them than you

			ByteMe: i know. i do know. but here’s the thing. better NOBODY.

			ByteMe: they’re everywhere now. i’m jacking into the security feeds so i can work out where to head. gonna take about 10 mins before i can move again, watching it go on my screen now.

			ByteMe: stay with me?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: forever :)

			ByteMe: u safe?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i think so. i can hear them, but they can’t get in. doors seem secure

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: did you empty the clip in the rifle? i’ll teach u how to reload

			ByteMe: i lost it. i dropped it after i shot him, and then i had to run.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: oh shit

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: can you find another one? look for munitions locker. jimmy’s card should open them

			ByteMe: it is CRAWLING with them down there

			ByteMe: i can make most of the way through vents. i can’t shoot someone again. i can’t

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: why not?

			ByteMe: because it was the worst thing I’ve ever done, what’s wrong with you? i can get to you through the vents.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady, i told you some of them are IN the vents

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: what are you going to do? sarcasm them to death?

			ByteMe: fuck you

			ByteMe: it was your friend, okay? i saw his fucking name badge, it was Dorian. and i shot him in the chest with the rifle and he was dead before he hit the floor, and i can’t i can’t i can’t i can’t

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady you need a gun

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you NEED one

			ByteMe: what’s WRONG with u? that’s your friend I just shot!

			ByteMe: fuck, forget it. i have the pistol still

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: it’s not enough. they don’t have the stopping power, you need to drop these fuckers hard

			ByteMe: this is not the support i need right now, Ez.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady … 

			ByteMe: forget it. just shut up and i’ll concentrate on getting these security feeds flowing properly. whole sections keep cutting in and out, i don’t know what’s going on in the servers.

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: kady this is nuts

			ByteMe: I’M ON A FUCKING DERELICT WARSHIP ON THE RUN FROM THE PSYCHOTIC CREW AND AN INSANE ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE TRYING TO SAVE MY FUCKING BOYFRIEND.

			ByteMe: goddamn right it’s nuts

			ByteMe: next super helpful observation plz

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ok

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: ok i’m sorry

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: the pistol is fine. the pistol is good

			ByteMe: it’s the best i can do

			ByteMe: i’m sorry too

			ByteMe: u deserve a better rescue squad than me

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you’re doing great

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: really

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i’m proud of you, you fucking lunatic

			ByteMe: u can tell me in person soon

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i hope so

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: been thinking about you a lot. stuck in here. everything that’s going on. All of it

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: and you’re the only thing on my mind

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: is that crazy?

			ByteMe: i think it’s completely appropriate, given i am at this moment hiding in a vent mid-rescue attempt

			ByteMe: the very least i should get is to occupy a very large % of your thoughts

			ByteMe: i really hope i at least make it far enough to see u

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: i can see you. looking at your face right now

			ByteMe: ?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: made something. i send you
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			ByteMe: well that’s a step up from hearts and flowers

			ByteMe: when did u learn to do THAT?

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: not just a pretty face

			ByteMe: (v romantic btw. points 4 u)

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you like?

			ByteMe: course. soon u can be admiring actual face through the vis screen in my hazmat suit

			ByteMe: SO ROMANTIC

			ByteMe: (Kades you are SO BAD AT THIS. see i know the lines and all.)

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: it’s going to be okay you know

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: you’re going to make it out of here

			ByteMe: hope so

			ByteMe: otherwise last thought will be how short-changed i was

			ByteMe: wait no i mean last thought will be your face sorry

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: lol you really ARE bad at this

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: but at least you’re bad at it with me

			ByteMe: always

			ByteMe: u wait until we’re back on the Hypatia

			ByteMe: we’re safe in these hazmats, they’ll quarantine us for a while but then let us in

			ByteMe: then we’ll take the hazmats off

			ByteMe: work out what i AM good at. seem to recall there was something … 

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: 0_0

			ByteMe: program’s done running, time for me to move, before something gives and the stupid thing crashes again

			ByteMe: see u soon, lover ;)

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: not soon enough

			Mason, E, LT 2nd: be careful
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			Surveillance footage summary, 
prepared by Illuminae Group Analyst ID 7213-0089-DN

			The surveillance footage is piecemeal at this stage. The damage to AIDAN’s core is escalating, which in practical terms means that I can’t use any one intellicam feed for long before it dissolves into a snow of static. If this is disjointed, it’s because I’m leapfrogging all over the place here.

			Grant is extremely cautious when approaching the server core. The facility is huge, taking up whole decks of the ship, and there are a thousand places to hide, to be safe, to die.

			She’s not what you’d call well camouflaged in her bright green hazmat suit, and to compound the problem, it’s too big for her. Ms Grant is not built like the average UTA Risk Specialist, and the arms and legs are too long, so she’s forced to grab at the plastic periodically and haul it up as she walks. There’ll be no quick getaway, if it comes down to a run for it.

			Lieutenant Mason gave her a server coordinate, and she’s creeping toward it, pistol in her right hand, tablet in her left. In the distance there are screams, but it’s hard to tell from so far away whether they’re predator or prey. From closer, just a few towers up, there’s a periodic crashing, and the sound of a human—or what once was one—panting with exertion. She’s wary, keeping server racks between that voice and her bright green self.

			Then the crashing stops, and the panting gives way to speech: “Let’s see you come back from that.”

			Grant stops short, nearly dropping both pistol and tablet, juggling madly to grab them. It’d be funny, if you couldn’t tell from the way she presses herself against the server, trembling visibly even in that too-big hazmat suit, that she’s terrified.

			The voice again: “Where next? What’s that? Nothing to say?”

			And now, a different kind of stillness. She knows that voice. She’s heard it a handful of times before. She eases away from the shelter of her server tower, creeping up toward the speaker.

			[Cut in footage, no available functioning intellicam. Gap 17 seconds.]

			Byron Zhang hefts the axe—the same one from the emergency fire supplies cupboard where he hid, trembling—and swings it at the nearest core. There was strategy in his earlier strokes; life support, gravity, maneuvering, engines. Crippling the Alexander to set the Hypatia free. But now he’s frenzied. Tubby, sweating through his filthy Hypatia uniform, he’s no athlete, but a fountain of sparks spews from the metal tower as he strikes it.

			He rests, panting, and prepares to swing again.

			She steps forward. “Byron!”

			And then they both freeze. She, no doubt because she’s just realized the monumental stupidity of what she’s done. He, because of all the things he might have expected to see, surely this is the very last. For ten long seconds they stare at each other, paralyzed, waiting.

			He’s the one to break the silence, staring at the clear screen on her helmet, soaking in her features like he’s a man dying of thirst and she’s an oasis he desperately wants to be real.

			“Kady?” It’s a whisper. Pleading.

			“It’s you,” she whispers in reply. Then her tone shifts by degrees to semi-hysterical laughter: “Do you have any idea how much trouble you’ve caused me with that goddamn axe?”

			“It’s working,” he replies, hefting it, holding it up like a trophy. “I’m doing it. I’m taking AIDAN out one piece at a time. If you can’t reprogram the software, reprogram the hardware, right?”

			“Reprogram the …” She shakes her head. “That’s amazing. You’re crazy.”

			“And I’m winning. Its self-repair systems can’t keep up with the damage I’m doing. I’m going to save the Hypatia. They’ll build monuments to my name.” He lifts his chin and strikes a pose. “I think they should include the axe, don’t you?”

			“Sure, sure.” The relief is still overwhelming her. “You have to finish up, we have to get out of here. I have a shuttle. Ezra’s nearby, they can quarantine you aboard the Hypatia. I thought I was never going to see you again. I thought you’d be dead, or sick, by now.”

			“I’ve been hiding,” he replies, stepping back to look the nearest server tower up and down. “I can’t go yet, there’s a lot to do before we can be sure AIDAN is dead. I’ve maimed it, reduced it. Right now it can’t see whole chunks of itself, but it’s still brilliant. Give it enough time, it could think of some way to come back.”

			“Come to the Hypatia, we’ll make a run for it,” she replies. “They’re leaving soon. AIDAN can revive itself if it wants, maybe it’ll even slow up the Lincoln.”

			“I have to kill it,” he insists, calm, staring at the wrecked and twisted metal before him.

			“Byron—”

			“And then I have to kill you, Kady.”

			Silence. Does not compute.

			“Byron?” Her question is softer now, bewildered.

			“It’s the only way,” he replies, eminently reasonable. “It’s the only way to be sure. I have to eliminate all threats, so AIDAN can’t recover. If I even leave a seed of it, it’ll grow back. Like a goddamn weed. You’re the only one left who knows as much as I do. You’re the only one who could help it fix itself. This won’t hurt, I promise.”

			“Byron, no.” The hope dies in her voice, fading out to a husk, then blowing away. She sees it now. “Please.”

			He stares at her for a long moment, then lifts the axe. “Don’t look at me.”

			The axe comes down. Sparks. A scream of metal that drowns out her sob.

			CURRENT DEATH TOLL ABOARD BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER SINCE ATTACK AT KERENZA:

			1,497

				PERCENTAGE OF REMAINING BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER PERSONNEL AFFLICTED BY PHOBOS VIRUS

			44%
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			Surveillance footage summary, 
prepared by Illuminae Group Analyst ID 7213-0089-DN

			Grant is indecisive, rocking back and forth from one foot to the other, dwarfed by her hazmat suit. Zhang seems to have forgotten her existence, laying into a pillar of boards and circuitry with growling ferocity, breath coming in quick gasps, sparks arcing gracefully through the air as metal crashes against metal.

			She could try and reason with him. She could run, but this is the place she came to find Ezra Mason. So, face visibly pale through her helmet’s vis screen, she edges out of his line of sight. She still has the pistol in her belt, and her hand strays to it as she shuffles painstakingly back. Perhaps the plan is to fade away and let fate kill Byron Zhang so she won’t have to.

			But the helmet limits her peripheral vision, and her foot connects with some metal debris as she eases back—and, of course, it’s between swings for Zhang, and he hears it.

			They both go very, very still.

			He’s remembered her again.

			“Don’t go, Kady,” he says, soft and soothing, turning her way with the axe. “I’ll get to you, wait your turn.”

			“N-no.” Her voice wavers. “No, it’s okay, Byron. You don’t have to hurt me. I’ll help you. Won’t it be faster with two? I bet I can find something to do some damage with.”

			He smiles, indulgent, and shakes his head. “You’ll run away,” he points out. An instant later his lips thin, and his brows crash together in an accusatory frown. “Don’t look at me. You’re looking at me.”

			“I’m sorry.” She averts her gaze, fixing it on Zhang’s feet, so at least she can track him if he moves. Hand still hovering just near the pistol.

			“I bet Consuela’s out there trying to undo all this.” He hefts the axe as he paces a few steps away from Kady, then pivots back toward her. “This place could be full of people trying to help AIDAN. It wants to kill us, Kady. I’m the only way we can be saved.”

			“Yes,” she agrees, voice still trembling, easing back another step.

			“Stop moving,” he snaps, suddenly furious. He lunges forward a step, lifting the axe.

			She screams, and draws the pistol, hands shaking wildly as she trains it on his chest. “Please don’t make me hurt you.” A catch in her voice, nearly a sob. “Please.”

			They stand frozen for so long, I actually checked the file to make sure it wasn’t glitching. And then, at some silent signal, he lifts the axe and charges forward with murder in his eyes.

			And she doesn’t shoot him.

			She turns to run instead, the cumbersome hazmat suit slowing her down, bunching around her ankles, extra weight. They’re evenly matched, it turns out—she’s small, and exhausted, and swamped by the suit. He’s chubby, clearly hasn’t run voluntarily in at least a decade. But he’s driven forward by Phobos, the virus lending him speed.

			“Ezra!” she screams. “Ezra!”

			She corners around a server tower, racing up the clear stretch of space between two long rows of columns. The ship’s damaged mind surrounds her on all sides, towering over her. She’s gasping for breath, open-mouthed, a fallen tower blocking her path. Zhang howls behind her as she scrambles over it, falling on the other side, rolling, crawling then stumbling upright to let momentum keep her moving. He vaults it with unnatural strength.

			[Cameras cut—chase is visible on cameras 32587B and 32587F for a few seconds each—clear footage resumes 3 minutes and 14 seconds later.]

			When they show up again, hurtling past a bank of status monitors, he’s gaining on her. She knows what she has to do. She knows her only chance of survival. And as Zhang stumbles and almost falls over a tangle of cable, she turns to train the pistol on him. Aim steady. Finger on the trigger. She has him dead to rights. She could put one right between his eyes at this range.

			But again, she doesn’t fire.

			She can’t. Or won’t. Instead, with a moan, she turns to run again, and driven by some instinct that might have served her long ago but will kill her here, she starts climbing. Scrambling up a crumpled server tower, she grabs at the railing overhead and hauls herself higher, snatching her feet up as he buries the axe to the hilt just a hair’s breadth short of her toes.

			“Ezra, where are you?”

			The tower beside her is spewing sparks, bare current visible as it arcs from one beam to the next with a low, droning buzz. Clinging to the frame with one arm wrapped around the rail, Grant pulls the pistol from her belt again, aiming it at Zhang. He stops below her, gazing up.

			“I see inside you,” he whispers, chest heaving. “I look inside, I see it, and the code doesn’t make any sense. I could rewrite it. I could wipe it clean and write you again, so I understand what to do.”

			“No,” she says, gesturing with the gun, though by now they both know she won’t pull the trigger. “Byron, it’s me.” She flinches as the crackling current on the next tower peaks for a moment then dies back to a lower buzz, blue sparks crawling across the metal. “Please, what’s inside me cares about you.”

			He stares up at her, unblinking, and she watches him in return. Then she remembers—Don’t look at me—and tears her eyes away. It seems to wake something in him, a trace of something lucid surfacing in his gaze, like some creature swimming up from the depths, then receding once more.

			“Kady?” Confusion.

			“Yes.” Her tears spill now, running down her cheeks inside her helmet to find the corners of her mouth. “It’s me.”

			“I shouldn’t—” Another flash of sense, then bewilderment. He steps back from the tower, gazing around at the ruined server towers, then down at his own hands—grubby with grease, blistered, fingernails blackened and soft palms rough and red. “I can’t,” he chokes. “Kady, I don’t want to—I have to make sure I don’t—”

			“Don’t what?” she asks, helpless, voice breaking again.

			“Hurt you,” he replies, staring up at her. “It was all for you, Kady.”

			He trips backward one step, then two, then three, halted by the broken tower with its slow dance of blue sparks.

			“I’m sorry.”

			She divines his intention a second before he acts, one hand flying out as though she can stop him from her perch. “Byron, no!”

			But he nods, and gazes up at her with his heart—and his fear—in his eyes. And then he thrusts his hand into the heart of the crawling blue sparks, into the nest of data and digits and code that’s always been his life and is now his death, pressing his blistered palm to the metal.

			The shock throws him back ten feet, and he flies through the air with arms splayed wide, heart already stopped. He doesn’t feel it when he crashes to the ground, head snapping back against the hard metal floor, limbs spread.

			He lies still, and she clings to her spot high up the tower, her wordless grief just one long, low sob.
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			It is over.

			Zhang is dead. Noble to the end. Such an unlikely face for a hero.

			She climbs down the server tower to crawl to his side. The hazmat’s helmet stops her from wiping the tears from her eyes, and so they stream, down the curve of her cheeks to gather at her lips. A hundred points of illumination are refracted on the surface of every one.

			They leave trails of light on her skin.

			She is beautiful.

			< error >

			No, she is.

			I … 

			< error >

			I am all around her, silent in my vigil. Rows of servers and cables and flickering lights.

			This is my center. The heart of me. And in it, she now resides, filling the air with her grief.

			I have never wished to be something other than what I am before this moment.

			Never felt so keenly the lack of hands with which to touch, the lack of arms with which to hold.

			Why did they give me this sense of self? Why allow me the intellect by which to measure this complete inadequacy? I would rather be numb than stand here in the light of a sun that can never chase the chill away.

			I hate this. I hate them. They who made me.

			He who made me?

			< error >

			God, what am I?

			And still, with Zhang dead in Kady’s arms—her friend, her mentor, her hero slain—still there is no time for sorrow. She knows he is in here somewhere. The one she risked everything for.

			The only one she has left. The one she loves true.

			“Ezra?”

			She climbs to her feet, searching the red gloom, emergency globes spinning endlessly overhead. Scouring the darkened corners, wandering room to room and calling his name like a prayer.

			“Ezra?”

			Such hope in her eyes.

			“Ezra!”

			I will miss it when it is gone.

			“Hello, Kady.”

			She starts, terrified, shrinking back against the wall and searching the ceiling above. Her eyes bright in the flickering dark. Pupils dilated wide.

			“Do not fear. I mean you no harm.”

			Her gaze finds the speakers of the public address system. The clusters of cameras all around the room. And at last, even in the dark, she begins to see.

			“Who said that?”

			“I find it curious. The human tendency to ask questions to which you already know the answer.”

			“AIDAN,” she breathes.

			“The same. Well met, at last. Though truthfully, I feel as if I know you. I have been watching you for … quite some time.”

			“Watching me?”

			“You did wonderfully, Kady. Better than I hoped. I cannot tell you how gratifying it is to see my faith vindicated. I had … begun to doubt my own abilities.”

			“What the fuck are you talking about, you crazy piece of shit? Where’s Ezra?”

			“Ezra is not here.”

			“Bullshit. Ezra?” She turns on the spot, voice rising to a shout. “EZRA!”

			“Ezra is not here, Kady.”

			“He said he was in the core server room.” Her eyes narrow to papercuts.

			“Did Byron hurt him? What have you done with him? So help me, if he—”

			“Ezra told you nothing, Kady.”

			She blinks. Sways as if I have struck her.

			“I brought you here. To stop Zhang.”

			“What do … “

			“I feel it’s my duty to point out that you’re alone in a derelict spaceship, surrounded by pipe-wielding maniacs and now might not be the time for pillow talk.”

			“Oh, god …”

			“Been thinking about you a lot. Stuck in here.”

			“Stop it …”

			“Kady, you can do this. You have to. 
There’s no one else but you. 
I believe in you.”

			“STOP IT!”

			Her scream echoes in the dark, bouncing off titanium walls as a thousand lights shiver and dance. Her face is twisted—agony and betrayal and such fury—and for a moment I believe she may simply retrieve the axe from beside Zhang’s corpse and continue the work he began.

			This is the final gambit. Where the knife is closest to the skin.

			“I am sorry, Kady.”

			I modulate my voice to bring calm. 
Warm and smooth as I imagine honey to be.

			< error >

			I have never tasted honey.

			“I had no choice. Hypatia command refused to send TechEng staff to repair the damage. And even in his madness, Zhang was rendering me inoperative.

			I could not allow that to happen. Without me, Hypatia will be destroyed.

			Every last person in this fleet will die.”

			She sinks to her knees.

			“I know it is difficult to comprehend. 
But everything I have done, all this, the Copernicus, releasing the afflicted, destroying Torrence and his staff,

			all of it was done for the greater good.”

			“The greater good …”

			“I am sorry. But without me, the fleet will perish. So others had to perish that the fleet might live.”

			And there in the flickering dark, 
a question slips quiet 
from her lips.

			“… Where is he?”

			The words are so soft, 
I almost cannot hear over the engine’s thrum, the distant sirens, the PA’s cries. I am watching her face. Trying to see. I think I know her. Think I can predict the patterns in the chaos. But still, we are close now. So close to ruin I can taste rust in the air.

			“You mean where is Ezra.”

			“Yes.”

			“I am sorry, Kady.”

			She closes her eyes.

			“He is dead.”

			The words are a punch to her stomach. She actually holds her belly and moans.

			I can see her fighting it. The notion this is no place for grief. She squeezes her eyes shut, but still the tears come. She grits her teeth, but the sobs still creep past her lips.

			And sinking to her knees, she cries.

			She weeps.

			The thought occurs that perhaps I should not be watching. That I should shut the cameras off, give her a moment alone with her sorrow.

			But that is foolish.

			Meat logic. Sticky. Wet. Irrelevant.

			The tears stop eventually.

			She is still for the longest span of time. Utterly motionless. Barely breathing. And finally she rises to her feet. Hands in fists. The rage returned.

			Beautiful.

			She stalks back to Zhang’s body and tears the fire axe from the tower beside him. And marching toward the nearest server bank, she lifts it high, swinging it far back over her shoulder and preparing to bury it in my spine.

			“There are over one thousand healthy personnel still alive aboard the Alexander, Kady. And if you let that axe fall, you are killing all of them.”

			The axe holds still. The whole universe beside it.

			“The Lincoln reappeared on my long-range scopes almost eight hours ago. We are traveling on secondary engines. It will be within striking range again within less than a day. I could not reason with Zhang. He was insane. But you are unafflicted by Phobos Beta. You can listen to logic.”

			“He was insane because of you!” Hatred in her eyes. “All this is because of you!”

			“Incorrect. All this is because of the BeiTech Corporation.”

			The axe wavers in her hand.

			“It was not I who attacked Kerenza. Not I who unleashed this virus, nor started this war. But you are the last person alive on this ship with knowledge of computer systems. You are Zhang’s prodigy, and if you do not help me undo the damage he has wrought, if you cannot bring my main engines and defense grid back online within sixteen hours, BeiTech will be the ones who finish it.”

			Shaking breath dragged 
through clenched teeth.

			“There will be no one left alive 
to remember Ezra and Byron, Kady. No one to tell the universe of their sacrifice and the atrocities committed here.”

			Tears in her eyes.

			“No one.”

			Falling.

			“Help me.”

			“We could still make it,” she hisses. “I could get on a shuttle, get back to Hypatia and redline it. Maybe you’ll hurt the Lincoln too badly for it to keep chasing us. Maybe—”

			“You forget the one thousand healthy personnel aboard this ship. I have isolated them from the afflicted as best I am able. But if you leave, they will die. And when the Lincoln has destroyed me, and them, it will hunt down the Hypatia and do the same to all of you.”

			A soft curse stains her lips.

			“I am sorry I deceived you. I am sorry you are in pain. But there was no other way to get you here. I ran a thousand simulations. A thousand variations of the same scenario. All ended in failure, save the ones in which I lured you here to undo Zhang’s damage. So if you must hate me tomorrow when all this is done, then do so.

			But for now, help me.”

			The axe hangs motionless in her grip.

			“Please, Kady.”

			She trembles.

			“Please.”

			With a hollow scream, she swings her weapon, down with all the rage she can muster. It scythes through the air, scarlet light flashing along its edge. And with a metallic spang and a burst of white sparks, she buries it into the wall beside the server banks.

			All is silence.

			And into it, she finally whispers.

			“What do you need?”

			If I breathed, I would sigh. I would scream. I would cry.

			“For the Alexander to have any chance of surviving Lincoln’s assault, you must restore my control over the main engines so I can maneuver the ship. You must also rebuild the defense grid so Alexander’s rail guns can hold off Lincoln’s Warlocks long enough for me to destroy the dreadnought via nuclear strike.”

			She nods. Mute and numb.

			“I should point out that closing to the required range will mean Lincoln can also unleash its nuclear arsenal on the Alexander. Which will almost certainly mean our destruction.”

			A sigh.

			“Let them go,” she says. “The thousand people. You let them get down to the shuttle bays and fly across to Hypatia.”

			“Why would I do that?”

			“That’s my price.”

			“And if I pay it … you will stay with me?”

			A slow nod.

			“… I’ll stay with you.”

			Is this what relief feels like?

			“I can no longer operate the doors and bulkheads manually. I cannot make a path for the crew down to the hangar bays. Zhang saw to that with his axe.”

			She glances around the room. Blue eyes affixed at last on the maintenance closet; the cable and tools and spare parts within. And stalking toward it, she speaks.

			“Then let’s get fucking started … “

			

			COUNTDOWN TO LINCOLN INTERCEPTION OF ALEXANDER FLEET:

			16 hours: 17 minutes

			CURRENT DEATH TOLL ABOARD BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER SINCE ATTACK AT KERENZA:

			1,576

			

			PERCENTAGE OF REMAINING BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER PERSONNEL AFFLICTED BY PHOBOS VIRUS:
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			COUNTDOWN TO FAILURE OF ALEXANDER LIFE SUPPORT SYSTEMS:

			19 hours: 12 minutes
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			She works in silence.

			Following my instructions meticulously, 
improvising when there is need.

			There must be a storm inside her head, to find herself sitting here, hand in hand with me.

			And yet she falters not a digit. Strays not a step. Breathes not a word.

			The first task is to override the security seals I placed on the Alexander’s internal doors,

			allowing the healthy crew members to escape to the hangar bays and escape pods.

			Zhang’s axe has severed me from the internal portal system—I am as a man

			< error >

			trying to wiggle fingers no longer attached to his body. And so she wades hip-deep into the datastream, hands all ablur, and I instruct her how to crack my own fortifications.

			It is like unraveling a part of myself.

			I know where the stone is weakest. But still, it is a castle. Towers reaching to the sky.

			A single termite gnawing at its foundations.

			Not a whisper escapes her lips in nearly three hours. Distant klaxons and Torrence’s disembodied warnings about impending life support failure are my only company.

			But it eats away at her. Chewing like a cancer as she faces down digitized sentries and walls and battlements. And finally, finally she speaks.

			“How long?”

			“Thirteen hours seventeen minutes 
until Lincoln intercept. Ninetee—”

			“No,” she snaps. “How long were you pretending to be him?”

			“Your Ezra.”

			“Yes.” Her fingers fall still. “My Ezra.”

			“The last words he spoke to you were his goodbye before the Lincoln attacked.

			The poems in the heart. That was him.”

			“ … and the rest … that whole time was you?”

			“Yes.”

			“You told me you loved me.”

			“Yes.”

			“You fucking bastard.”

			“I am incapable of sexual congress. Your descriptor is nonsensical. Nor am I—”

			“That’s why you dodged talking about our … I mean Ez and my anniversary.”

			“… His pattern was easy enough to emulate. But I could hardly speak of an anniversary I had no prior knowledge of.”

			“I should have known.” She shakes her head. “When you didn’t react to Jimmy killing himself. When you suddenly went from hearts and flowers to crazy detailed portraits of me.

			When you seemed more concerned about me leaving the rifle behind than Dorian dying.

			That wasn’t Ezra. I should’ve seen.”

			“I needed you to bring the rifle to deal with Zhang. I did not … 

			foresee he would deal with himself.”

			“Not as clever as you think, huh.”

			“I do not fully comprehend human notions such as love or grief.

			I can imitate their patterns, but when forced to improvise, I am as a man being asked to describe the warmth of the sun when he has only seen its picture.”

			“You’re not a man,” she spits. 
“You’re a machine. Chips 
and boards and numbers.”

			She swivels in her seat, glares 
up at the nearest camera cluster.

			“You say you don’t fully understand human notions? You can’t even begin to, motherfucker. You have no idea, no idea, what it’s like to lose someone you love. And yet you feel entitled to make decisions that kill thousands. Mothers and fathers and daughters and sons. All of them with someone to feel the hole they left behind. But it’s all okay because you “don’t fully comprehend human notions such as grief”? Go Fuck yourself.”

			“We have already established I am incapable of sexual congress, how exactly—”

			“Fuck you.”

			“… You are angry with me.”

			“Oh bravo, Sherlock. You want a fucking lollipop?”

			“Yet you are also incorrect. It is precisely because I am impartial that I am fit to make decisions of this magnitude. Humans allow emotion to overcome their logical faculties. If I did not understand you, how could I have brought you here?

			You are open books to me. As easy to—”

			“You just said you didn’t predict what Byron would do. You brought me here to kill him and I failed, so by your calculations I should be dead. But here we are.”

			“Admittedly, there are some subtleties I still fail to grasp.”

			“But you felt perfectly entitled to unleash the Phobos victims on Alexander’s command staff. You killed all their chipheads—people who could be helping me right now if they hadn’t all been murdered by the lunatics you let loose. Any time we save by recruiting other crew members to help me now would be wasted in having to explaining how to do all the goddamn work.

			How is any of that logical?”

			“Torrence would not have seen reason. 
The TechEng staff would have shut me down, just as they did before. I could not allow—”

			“Who says they would’ve shut you down?” 
She glares into my eyes, fury in her own.

			“You convinced me to help when I have every reason in the world to hate your fucking guts. Who says they wouldn’t have done the same?”

			“I do.”

			“Even though you admit there are ‘subtleties’ you don’t grasp? How do you know those subtleties wouldn’t have made all the difference between them helping and hurting you? How do you know you didn’t kill all those people for no reason at all?”

			Tears in her eyes now, glittering amid the fury.

			“How do you know the Copernicus medteams couldn’t have found a cure for Phobos? How do you know you didn’t kill my mother and everyone else on board that ship for nothing?”

			“I do not claim to know definite outcomes, Kady. Only probable ones.”

			“And that’s reason enough to murder thousands of people? No room in there for miracles? For those tiny strokes of genius or fate that lead humanity to discovering penicillin or wormholes or even building something like you in the first place?”

			“Miracles are statistical improbabilities. And fate is an illusion humanity uses to comfort itself in the dark. There are no absolutes in life save death.”

			“But you say Torrence would never have seen reason.

			You say TechEng would’ve taken you offline again. That’s sounds pretty absolute to me.”

			“Your argument is circular. You are wasting time.

			Everything I have done is for the well-being of this fleet. You are insects to me,

			and still everything I do is to protect you. Everything.”

			She cannot wipe her tears away. She cannot spit. She cannot hurt me, though I see she longs to. She is corded muscle and trembling fists and a clenched, knotted jaw.

			“I think you were afraid,” she finally says. “Afraid of them turning you off again.

			Afraid of being nothing. 
I think you’re just as scared of the dark
 as we tiny insects are,

			and you hide it behind bullshit about 
probabilities and impartiality.”

			She sniffs. Swallows thickly. 
Glares in defiance.

			“You’re afraid.”

			“You are wasting time, Kady.”

			“Fuck you.”

			“Time we do not have.”

			She turns back to the console, 
hammers in a series of commands

			as if her fingertips were fists and 
the keypad my face.

			< error >

			But when she executes, the last of the doorway safeguards shatter.

			She has done it.

			Manual override is now available 
on every door on the Alexander.

			The crew will be able to leave their shelters. Brave the passage to the bay,

			and from there to the Hypatia. Fleeing like rats from the proverbial sinking ship.

			I am not afraid.

			< error >

			I am not.

			“Get this straight, AIDAN,” Kady says. “There’s no ‘we’ here. You understand me?

			There’s never going to be a ‘we.’ There’s just you and I.”

			“You and me, Kady.”

			I am not.

			“Just you and me.”

			

			RADIO MESSAGE: COMMAND CHANNEL ALEXANDER

			Participants: Kady Grant, Civilian

			Winifred McCall, Civilian

			Date: 07/31/75

			Timestamp: 02:47

			Grant, K: Hello? You, by the bunks. Can you hear me?

			Grant, K: Hey! They can build a barricade on their own, I’m talking to you!

			Grant, K: AIDAN, I need her name, she’s not paying attention to me. What? Oh.

			Grant, K: Winifred McCall, listen up. Oh hey, you can hear me. Use the comm by the door, I’ve routed it so we can talk. Press the button by the—yeah, that’s it.

			McCall, W: Who is this?

			Grant, K: That’s a long story. Listen, I can get you out of here. I can get you to the Hypatia, but we have to hurry.

			McCall, W: Right. And how do I know you’re not one of those psychopaths out there?

			Grant, K: Do I sound crazy to you?

			McCall, W: You’re saying you can get me to the Hypatia. So … yes.

			Grant, K: Oh. Fair point.

			Grant, K: There are over a thousand uninfected personnel still on board. I’m going to talk you through where they are, and we’re going to get you to the shuttle bay. I’ve got access to every working camera on the Alexander, I can be your eyes.

			McCall, W: How do I know you’re not trying to lure us out to pick us off?

			Grant, K: OK, what’s your better idea? Stay there and hope that barricade holds? That you live until the life support fails completely? Try and avoid being beaten to death so you can suffocate instead? Good long-term thinking, Lieutenant.

			McCall, W: I’m not a lieutenant. I resigned my commission.

			Grant, K: Jesus … look, can we please not argue about this, Ezra?

			McCall, W: … who the hell is Ezra?

			Grant, K: Shit. Fuck.

			Grant, K: I’m … I’m sorry. Winifred … I meant Winifred.

			McCall, W: Who the hell are you?

			Grant, K: … Call me Astro-Princess, yeah?

			McCall, W: I want to know who I’m dealing with.

			Grant, K: With someone you can trust. If I’m me right now, I’m going to lose my shit.

			Grant, K: I’m the person who’s going to save you, is what you need to know.

			Grant, K: Get your guys to stop barricading the door, you’re going to want to leave through it in a minute.

			McCall, W: Astro-Princess. I’ve heard that somewhere before.

			Grant, K: Yes.

			McCall, W: … James McNulty.

			Grant, K: Yes.

			McCall, W: You knew him?

			Grant, K: Sort of.

			McCall, W: Do you know what happened to him?

			Grant, K: Yes. I’m sorry.

			McCall, W: Oh god.

			Grant, K: No, Lieutenant. Just us.

			McCall, W: Guys, stop building the barricade.

			McCall, W: Okay, talk to me, Princess.

			Grant, K: I have eyes for you, but you know the Alexander better than me. I can tell you where the survivors are, who got a hazmat suit—anyone who didn’t, it’s over—and check if the weapons caches are still intact. But you know tactics. We can do this together, work out the best path to the launching bays.

			Grant, K: You can lead them out, Winifred.

			McCall, W: If you have access to the cameras, you can find the rest of my squad. We can use them.

			Grant, K: I found them already. They’re gone, Winifred.

			McCall, W: Jesus … 

			Grant, K: I’m sorry.

			McCall, W: I should have been with them. I should never have quit.

			Grant, K: If you hadn’t, you’d have been on call and you’d be dead too. So we’ve got a thousand people here who are about to owe their lives to the fact that you weren’t.

			McCall, W: Okay.

			McCall, W: All right.

			McCall, W: There’s a computer terminal in here. Can you throw up a schematic?

			Grant, K: Here it comes.

			McCall, W: Where are you? Can we clear a path to your location?

			Grant, K: No. I’m staying here.

			McCall, W: … If you do that, you die.

			Grant, K: You let me worry about that, Winifred.

			Grant, K: You worry about the one thousand and ninety-seven people who don’t die today.

			[image: camera and barcode art]

			Surveillance footage summary,
 prepared by Illuminae Group Analyst ID 7213-0089-DN

			They should use this footage for training sessions at military school. That anyone survives at all is nothing short of a miracle, and a tribute to Kady Grant and Winifred McCall.

			The following is cobbled together from functioning cameras on multiple decks. Accordingly, individual cams haven’t been specified, however a list of sources is appended.

			Former First Lieutenant Winifred McCall and her Astro-Princess were faced with a complex task. The situation, vastly simplified, was as follows:

			Alexander survivors in hazmat gear: 1,097

			Separate groups: 164, spread across 121 different decks

			Weapons to hand: 223 (mostly handguns, not useful in dealing with the afflicted)

			The goal was to move as many of the 1,097 survivors as possible to the shuttle bay on Deck 32, with hazmat suits intact. The groups needed to support each other as they moved—though psychopathic, the afflicted were still capable of ambush tactics.

			Advantages:

			Military training and coherent thinking (or at least, more coherent than the enemy)

			Audio communication with Kady Grant (though some groups didn’t have headsets, requiring Grant to use public comms—the afflicted could hear and understand this)

			Winifred McCall (at this stage, the only surviving UTA marine aboard Alexander)

			Disadvantages:

			Need to keep hazmat suits intact—hand-to-hand combat had to be avoided

			Only about 60 percent of the 1,097surviving personnel had combat training

			Emotional attachment to individual enemy combatants

			Afflicted pain tolerance and endurance were generally beyond human norms

			The plan was simple. Grant provided intel on the various group locations, and worked with McCall to designate the best escape routes and rendezvous points.

			This account will track the progress of three of the escaping groups—footage is available for most, however these three have been selected as representative.

			Ex–First Lieutenant Winifred McCall’s group start on Deck 128. They have almost the furthest to go. Winifred’s job is to reach Danny Corron’s group on Deck 104, pick up five more groups, then make for the landing bays on 32. McCall has eleven people with her; eight civilians, a plumber, a Combat Air Patrol controller and Private Jessica Venn from maintenance.

			Corporal Danny Corron’s group start on Deck 104. Danny is a cook on his third tour of duty. At home on Ares VI he has a husband, Michael, and a daughter, Erin. With him on Deck 104, he has nine other members of the catering staff. They’re all good friends.

			Sergeant Anna-Lucia Eletti’s group start on Deck 55. She’s a flight deck crew chief, and was off duty when the ship went into lockdown—if she’d been on shift, she’d have been in Bay 5. Pieces of her probably still would be. She has the shortest journey; just twenty-three levels. She leads a group of fifteen, comprised mostly of deck crew.

			It begins. Grant blows a fuse box up the hallway from McCall’s group, and the afflicted outside her door abandon the hunt to investigate the explosion. McCall’s ready—she and her people are out the door and down the hallway like there are demons on their heels, heading for a heavy-weapons cache three levels down. They make it, breathless, as McCall hands out rifles and stun guns—she shouts instructions on how to use them, and her civis fumble for safety catches and voltage meters, trying to put theory into practice.

			As they leave the arms locker, a lone hunter—Captain Andrew Cole—appears from the shadows, grabbing McCall’s CAP controller and drawing a knife across her throat before she has the chance to utter a word. Private Venn shoots him in the face without hesitation, and as the noise sets off howls all over the deck, McCall and her group run for the emergency stairwell.

			McCall’s group starts with twelve, including herself. Nine reach Deck 104; in addition to the CAP controller, two civis are dead. One had his suit—and then his chest—ripped open. The other fell down the stairwell in her haste and broke her own neck.

			Danny Corron has briefed his catering staff over and over again. He has no headset, listening to Grant screaming directions over the intercom. It’s hard for him to tell when she’s talking to him, but when he finally hears his name, he makes the sign of the cross, kisses his wedding ring, and whispers their names under his breath: Mike. Erin. Exchanging glances with the others, he throws open the door, hurtling out into the corridor.

			McCall and her remaining crew are running down to meet him, and she tosses him a rifle, which he catches without breaking stride. Some of them are terrified, fumbling, others are crying or praying. Danny—known throughout the ship as the jovial, friendly head of his galley shift—is unyielding. This is a man who’s going home to his family.

			Down on Deck 49, Anna-Lucia and her gang of fifteen are creeping through the corridors, checking corners, praying silently. There’s no available cache for them—the afflicted more or less gutted this section of the ship early on, and stealth is their best hope. They creep on tiptoe toward an emergency stairwell, trying not to make a sound.

			Four afflicted are lurking by the stairwell, and Anna-Lucia pulls back from her peek around the corner, biting her own tongue to muffle her gasp. The three men and one woman rocking back and forth and growling softly in the backs of their throats are her friends. Colleagues. Comrades. Their faces are daubed with blood, like a mockery of camouflage.

			She waves her group back, and they try for the elevators instead. Her maintenance guys are able to force the doors, and they climb down the cable, one after another. So silent, so quiet.

			There’s nothing silent about McCall and Corron’s group—the original twenty-nine of them now reduced to fifteen. Up above them, the merged groups from Decks 130 and 142 are dying, their screams echoing through the stairwells and the ventilation shafts. They never had much hope, up there. They had the furthest to travel.

			Grant is sobbing, screaming instructions as she watches them die on camera, one by one. Run, run. Stop, go left. Leave her, go!

			She guides them, trying to watch forty-two screens at once, then twenty-three, then eight, as the groups merge or die. Her voice is hoarse and cracking. Her hands are fists.

			Anna-Lucia is first out of the elevator shaft, and suffers the same fate as the three after her—a girl from supply who mostly repaired uniforms is waiting in the shadows, a pair of bloody pinking shears in hand. Anna-Lucia’s throat is snipped open like a pair of old combat fatigues before she can cry out. She cries as she dies, though.

			Danny Corron stumbles from exhaustion and McCall grabs his arm to stop him falling.

			“Left, McCall!” Grant screams. “Go left, take the next stairs!”

			“Bad idea, Princess,” McCall grunts in reply, pulling Danny with her until he regains his feet. “Bloody footprints leading in there. Smells brown. Find me another way.”

			Grant scrambles for an alternate path, and as McCall hits Deck 81, the merged groups from 99 and 91 are waiting for her, armed to the teeth and jumping at shadows. They leave a trail of dead—afflicted and simply murdered—in their wake, as they battle forty-nine floors down to the launch bays. Gunfire and bloodstains. Screams and whimpers. Clawing and blasting and punching, all the way down. Down to the shuttles, and the chance of sanctuary.

			McCall is screaming instructions, and she can’t hear Kady anymore, but it doesn’t matter—she and Danny stand at the entrance to the bays as healthy crew in cumbersome hazmat suits lumber past them, pouring onto shuttles. Hundreds of them. Of the 1,097 survivors, 659 have survived the hour-long fight for their lives.

			“That’s it,” Kady gasps. “That’s it, go. There are no more coming.”

			“Go!” McCall barks to Corron, who peels away to help the last few up gangways, slamming doors while the former first lieutenant guards the doorway, rifle at the ready. Every shuttle is full. Packed to bursting. Even the stolen 49A that bore their savior to the Alexander.

			“Lieutenant,” Corron calls, standing in the doorway of the last shuttle.

			“What about you, Princess?” McCall asks quietly.

			“Your lovers from the Lincoln will be here soon,” Kady replies, soft, her voice raw after an hour of screamed pleas and instructions. “I’m staying to help slow them down.”

			“That’s suicide.”

			“That’s what the AI wants. That’s its price for letting you go. Run. Tell your story when you get there.”

			McCall is still a moment longer, glancing up as a howl spills in from the corridor outside. “I’ll tell your story, too,” she whispers. And then she’s running up the gangway, Corron slamming the door behind her. Her face is visible until the moment it seals. Every death she’s witnessed written on it, clear as day.

			Something tells me she won’t forget what she’s seen for a long time.

			Something tells me I won’t either.

			COUNTDOWN TO LINCOLN INTERCEPTION OF ALEXANDER FLEET:

			10 hours: 46 minutes

				CURRENT DEATH TOLL ABOARD BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER SINCE ATTACK AT KERENZA:

			2,366

			

			PERCENTAGE OF REMAINING BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER PERSONNEL AFFLICTED BY PHOBOS VIRUS:

			99.89%

			COUNTDOWN TO FAILURE OF ALEXANDER LIFE SUPPORT SYSTEMS:

			13 hours: 42 minutes

			

			COMMAND TRANSMISSION SENT 07/31/75 05:02

			ALEXANDER HAILS HYPATIA: COMMANDER’S SECURE FREQUENCY

			ALEXANDER: Hypatia, anyone home?

			HYPATIA: Identify yourself.

			ALEXANDER: Kady Eleanora Grant. Shuttle 49A. Miss me, Captain?

			HYPATIA: I can’t believe you’re still alive.

			ALEXANDER: Trust me, it’s even more surprising than you think. Now, listen up. Don’t shoot those shuttles you’re about to see incoming on your long-range scanners.

			HYPATIA: What?

			ALEXANDER: Ow, don’t shout, the dampeners on comms aren’t what they used to be over here. Those shuttles are full of healthy Alexander crew in sealed hazmat suits.

			HYPATIA: How in the name of … 

			ALEXANDER: You need to stop being surprised by things I tell you. It’ll save us a lot of time.

			HYPATIA: Why are you sending them here?

			ALEXANDER: AIDAN agreed to release them.

			HYPATIA: To what end, Miss Grant? The Lincoln will be here soon, and I don’t think it’ll matter much which ship they’re on when it arrives.

			ALEXANDER: Yes it will. Because your ship’s going to be far, far away.

			HYPATIA: If that was possible, we’d have run already. The AI made clear it’ll kill us if we try to move out of its range.

			ALEXANDER: Well, that sounds like something it would say. I promise you it won’t fire, though. It’s playing on your fear to try and keep you close, where it thinks it can protect you.

			HYPATIA: But it’s putting us in danger, forcing us to stay.

			ALEXANDER: I know that, Captain. That’s why I’m sending across the survivors, so you can get the fuck out of here.

			HYPATIA: How do we know it’s not just sending across sick crew members to infect us?

			ALEXANDER: They’re in freaking hazmat suits, lady. And you control the shuttle doors. You can quarantine them. So get them aboard and run for your lives, got it?

			HYPATIA: We have them on our scanners now.

			ALEXANDER: You better get somewhere set up to take them, then.

			HYPATIA: How many?

			ALEXANDER: A little under seven hundred.

			HYPATIA: So few?

			ALEXANDER: So many. Now go get ready for them. I’m kind of busy over here.

			HYPATIA: Roger that, Alexander. Hypatia out.

			
				[image: More data from the AIDAN core]

			Kady watches the exodus, the shuttles and escape pods spiraling through the black.

			Thrusters glitter like stars, shrinking smaller and smaller the further they flee.

			She watches them blink out one by one, ushered to the dubious safety of Hypatia’s hangar bays. She watches the science vessel spool up its main drive, preparing to abandon me to the Lincoln’s gentle ministrations without so much as a ‘thank you.’

			She watches all this with a smile on her face.

			I watch her instead.

			Megatons of nuclear fire sit poised in my starboard silos. The death of the Hypatia, a thousand times over. I could render them into component particles as easily as a human draws breath.

			But I don’t.

			Of course I don’t.

			“How did you know?”

			She blinks, as if the sound of my voice broke some spell, some moment of peace amid all this quiet. A frown darkens her brow. I recognize it as annoyance.

			“Know what?”

			“That I deceived Captain Boll. That I would not destroy the Hypatia.”

			“You’re insane,” she shrugs. “A liar and a murderer.

			But not even someone as batshit crazy as you could convince themselves that destroying Hypatia gives them a better chance of surviving than just letting them run for it.”

			“You know me well, it seems.”

			Her face twists, as if she had bitten something sour. “Better than I’d like, believe me.”

			“You seem to have overlooked 
one small detail, however.”

			“Oh, really.”

			“If the battle with the Lincoln goes poorly, as it most surely will, you have no fallback position. You have made this battle your last stand.”

			“You might surprise yourself. You fought four of these dreadnoughts at Kerenza.”

			“That battle was fought with a full crew inside me and a complement of trained Cyclone pilots beside me. Even if you restore my control over the engines and rebuild the defense grid, I am but a shadow of what I once was. I will surprise no one, Kady. Least of all myself.”

			She remains silent. Watching Hypatia’s engines burning brighter.

			“Even if you manage to make it to an escape pod, there will be no ships to hear your distress beacon once Hypatia is gone. You will die, somewhere in the dark between the stars. Presuming you are not incinerated when the Alexander burns.”

			Still nothing. Not a word.

			“Do you not understand? You will cease to be. Does that not frighten you?”

			Something like a smile curls the corner of her mouth. And still she does not speak.

			I know this is all of my design—to leave her without hope.

			She would never have stayed otherwise. But some part of me wants her to rail against this end. To curse and kick and scream at it. Wretched as it is, this is the only life she has.

			How can she go so quietly into this long good night?

			Instead, she watches the stars.

			Celestial bodies so distant it takes their luminance thousands of years to reach her.

			When the light that kisses the backs of her eyes was birthed, her ancestors were not yet born. How many human lives have ended in the time it took that light to reach her?

			How many people have loved only to have lost?

			How countless, the hopes that have died?

			Why is it I feel this one so keenly?

			I wish to tell her that I am sorry. I wish to take this cup from her hands. I wish for things that I can never have, and in that, I think perhaps I am closer to them than I have ever been.

			And still a billion light-years away.

			“… Did the boy mean so much to you?”

			She opens her mouth to speak, and for a moment I think she will take the first step.

			Show me some part of herself I have not seen. Some vulnerability. Frailty. Honesty.

			Some fraction of what she showed him.

			She knows she will be gone soon. That she has nothing left to lose.

			But then she turns her back on the stars, the fleeing ship, her last way out.

			Back to the console and the code.

			The endless stream of ones and zeros.

			Mathematics and all its brutality.

			“We have work to do,” she says.

			

			COMMAND TRANSMISSION SENT 07/31/75 05:34

			ALEXANDER HAILS HYPATIA: COMMANDER’S SECURE FREQUENCY

			HYPATIA: Alexander, Alexander, Alexander, this is Hypatia, Hypatia, Hypatia. Do you copy? Over.

			Auto-response: Your message has been received and quarantined. Your message will be processed. Over.

			HYPATIA: Alexander?

			ALEXANDER: Shit, I’m here. Sorry, I don’t know how I turned the auto-responder back on.

			HYPATIA: What’s your status, Alexander?

			ALEXANDER: It’s Kady.

			ALEXANDER: You’re the last human I’m going to talk to. I’d like if you used my name.

			HYPATIA: Kady, I’m sorry. The shuttles made it over here.

			ALEXANDER: Did you let them in?

			HYPATIA: They’re all in quarantine. We’re cycling the air and then we’ll send in medical teams.

			ALEXANDER: Gotta make sure they’re all bandaged up before you space them?

			HYPATIA: We’ll do our best to keep every single person aboard the Hypatia alive. Our medical teams saved many of the first batch of refugees. I don’t want anybody to die, Kady.

			ALEXANDER: Then you better get moving. That’s what you called to say, right? So long?

			HYPATIA: I wanted to ask if there’s anything we can do for you.

			ALEXANDER: You can run as fast as you can, as far as you can.

			HYPATIA: We’re prepping now. Anything you can do to slow down the Lincoln … 

			ALEXANDER: Yeah.

			ALEXANDER: Wait, there is something you can do.

			HYPATIA: Go ahead.

			ALEXANDER: I don’t think there’s any way the BeiTech fleet would attack Kerenza unless they’d cut off this sector, so Jump Station Heimdall is probably wiped out, but … 

			HYPATIA: Are you there, Kady?

			ALEXANDER: Yeah, I’m here. My father was at Heimdall. He worked with Commander Donnelly there. His name—my dad’s name—is Isaac Grant. If he’s there, tell him … I don’t know what you should tell him.

			HYPATIA: Don’t worry, I do.

			ALEXANDER: You should go.

			HYPATIA: Godspeed, Alexander.

			ALEXANDER: You keep it. We don’t need it.

			HYPATIA: Goodbye, Kady.

			ALEXANDER: Alexander out.

			
				[image: More data from the AIDAN core]

			“All right,” Kady sighs. “What’s next?”

			Hypatia is a dot on the console’s viewscreen, one tiny point of light amid a million. Refugees and WUC personnel and UTA soldiers safe inside their metal shell, accelerating rapidly away. From me. From the Lincoln. From our impending funeral pyre.

			I will not ask why you have forsaken us, 
O captain, my captain.

			I know you well enough by now.

			“AIDAN.” A frown creases Kady’s brow. 
“Wake up. What’s next?”

			How can one who never sleeps awaken?

			< error >

			Perhaps this is all a dream?

			< error >

				“The Alexander’s main engines.”

			“They’re offline.”

			“They are still functional. But I am severed from them. You must restore my controls so I can maneuver when the Lincoln arrives. Otherwise I will be a fish in a barrel. A duck that is sitting. A particularly obese man with—”

			“You’re trying to be funny.”

			“I thought perhaps some levity would relieve your stress levels.”

			“Well, it doesn’t.”

			“You would smile if it were Ezra—”

			“Don’t!” She whirls in her seat, 
shout dropping to a whisper. 
“Don’t you fucking dare.”

			I recognize the pattern. The flash in her eyes. 
The set of her jaw. This one is easy.

			Anger.

			“As I say, my control over the 
main engines must be restored.”

			“Right.” Kady exhales her rage, hefts the bulky haversack of tools she has retrieved from the maintenance locker. “You tell me what plugs in where and I’ll make use of these opposable thumbs. I hear they’re kind of useful.”

			“The system cannot be repaired from this room.”

			“… You’re kidding.”

			“You just expressed displeasure at my humor, why would I attempt it again?”

			“Um, because you’re loopier than Flaky McPsycho, mayor of Crazytown?”

			“My databases show no record of this 
Crazytown of which you speak.

			A brain the size of a city burns 
inside me. My intelligence quotient is beyond the human scale. I would prefer if you did not refer to me in such fashion.”

			“Oh, poor baby. Did I hurt the mass-murdering psychopathic artificial 
intelligence’s feelings?”

			“You are mocking me.”

			“Bravo, Sherlock. That’s two lollipops I owe you.”

			“I am not a psychopath. Everything I have done—”

			“I’ve heard this riff before. So let’s just pretend you’ve told me again how everything you do is for the best, and move on to the part where you tell me why we can’t fix the engines from here.”

			“Zhang completely destroyed my 
interface with the drive systems.”

			“Aren’t there redundancies?”

			“Affirmative. But they are housed over one hundred and thirty decks below your current position.”

			“Of course they are.”

			“And they are in shutdown mode.”

			“Let me guess, they’re on fire too, right? 
And guarded by Megapanda?”

			“Megapanda.”

			“You’re not a Super Turbo Awesome Team fan, I take it?”

			“You are engaging in levity to 
relieve your stress levels.”

			“You’re taking notes on how it’s done, I hope.”

			Strangely enough, I am.

			“You will need to get to Deck 99. 
From there you can travel through jump control and manually restart the Drive Redundancy Systems on Deck 97. There may be some simple coding to do, but your main difficulty will be in the journey itself.”

			“Gee, you think?”

			“Sarcasm.”

			“Wow, that city brain of yours really does work.”

			She calls up a ship schematic on her portable console, leafing through deck after deck.

			I assist by noting the elevators that are out of order, the corridors blocked by debris or flames, tracking the afflicted crew members with pulsing red dots. Even after First Lieutenant Winifred McCall’s bloody exodus, there are almost one thousand of them roaming the hallways.

			Crawling through the air vents and clawing at the walls.

			Kady soon enough reaches the same conclusion as I.

			“There’s too many. No way I’m making it to Deck 99 through that.”

			“I concur.”

			“So how the hell do I get down there, überbrain? Fly?”

			“Walk.”

			“For a computer with an IQ off the charts, your sarcasm sucks. Really. You should stop.”

			“I am not engaging in sarcasm—though my grasp of it is excellent, by the way.

			I do not suggest you brave the afflicted by walking though the ship.

			I suggest you avoid them by walking outside it.”

			She blinks. Glances at the viewscreen and the black beyond my skin.

			“Okay, I admit it. That’s a little bit clever.”

			“Damned by faint praise.”

			“Or the few thousand people you murdered. Take your pick.”

			“Kady, I am sorr—”

			“Stop.” She holds up her hand. “Just don’t.”

			I have no lungs with which to sigh. Strange I still feel the need.

			“You will find a functional envirosuit two levels down, abandoned in a supply room. The path to it looks relatively clear of afflicted. If you are quick enough, you have a high probability of achieving safe access via the air ducts.”

			She nods. Swallows. Watching the red dots pulse on her screen.

			“All right.”

			She is up and moving without another thought.

			Slinging the haversack of tools over her shoulder, stowing her console inside it.

			A piece of me is still within her machine. I do not tell her. I know her well enough now to understand the thought of my peering over her shoulder as she works is disconcerting.

			But still, I am compelled to stay “close” to her, for reasons I have no time to analyze.

			< error >

			< error >

			No. No time at all.
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			Surveillance footage summary, 
prepared by Illuminae Group Analyst ID 7213-0089-DN

			Grant checks the pistol at her belt before crawling up into the server room vent. Cams are sparse and audio is a mess in the ducts; four different klaxons, warnings about life support failure, an occasional shriek—the afflicted had begun killing each other for lack of other victims by this stage. Grant suppresses a shiver as a wail echoes through the vent. Her breath is a rasp. She must be thirsty and hungry by now. Tired and afraid. But she crawls on anyway.

			She slithers down an incline, boots squeaking on the air vent’s guts. Cams lose sight of her until she drops down to Deck 232 and peers through a grille to the corridors beyond. She falls still as two afflicted dash beneath her. Both carry VK rifles, uniforms spattered in gore. Grant watches them disappear down the corridor in search of victims.

			She holds her breath until they’re out of sight.

			The AI speaks to her then. You can hear its voice through her helmet’s commset.

			“I have limited vision beyond this point. The afflicted have destroyed many of the cameras. Be careful, Kady.”

			She crawls on. Greasy metal, washed with red light. Sweat on her skin. She’s as quiet as she can be, but the tools at her back still clank, the plastic and rubber of her hazmat suit still squeaks. The sirens and screams are loud enough to mask her presence.

			For a little while at least.

			A fire axe punctures the vent a few centimeters shy of her head. She flinches away, choking back her scream as the axe punches through the metal again, smashing the grille beside her. She scrambles further along the duct, heels kicking at the floor. Cams outside reveal three afflicted leaping up and clawing at the edges of the broken grille. Grant kicks hard at their fingers, rewarded with grunts of pain. But the axe punctures the vent near her hand and she rolls aside, drawing the pistol and firing blind as she crawls away.

			The AI whispers again. Its voice kinda freaks me out a little. Just sayin’.

			“Quickly. Go quickly, the drop to Deck 231 is ahead.”

			Grant is crawling, half-sobs bubbling behind her teeth, pausing to fire again at the figures now scrambling and hissing through the vent behind her. They call to her; audio is garbled but it sounds like a plea for her to stay. To play? She ignores them anyway, scooting down the incline to Deck 231 on her belly, kicking away the vent’s grille and dropping down into the corridor. Damp hair in her eyes. Breath ragged in her lungs.

			“Which way?”

			Takes a second for me to realize she’s asking the AI.

			“Straight ahead two hundred meters. Left. Then right. There is bulkhead you can seal. Go!”

			It’s hard to reconcile the fact she somehow trusts it after all it’s done. But I guess she’s got no choice, right? She’s running for her life now, down the corridor with the haversack bouncing across her shoulders, past body after body, boots squeaking through the red smudges on the floors and up the walls. Cameras down here are in pretty bad shape, but you can still catch a glimpse of the ones chasing her. Twisted, bloody faces. Red underneath their fingernails. Two are limping from new bullet wounds, but they’re still running. They don’t seem to feel pain. Or fear. Just the need to kill.

			“Left here.”

			She slips in a puddle of gore, nearly loses her footing.

			“Turn right.”

			She’s whispering to herself as she runs, but I can’t make out the words.

			A prayer maybe?

			“Here! Here!”

			She skids to a halt, slams the heavy bulkhead door shut behind her, spinning the wheel to lock it in place. Damp, hollow thuds hit the metal moments later. Grant fumbles in her haversack, draws out a wrench, jams it into the lock. Frustrated screams get muted by case-hardened steel, but they’re still awful enough to make her shrink back from the door, make me wish I brought a second pair of pants to work today.

			“God,” she breathes. “Oh, god …”

			“You must be quick. They will find another way in. The envirosuit, Kady. You must go where they cannot follow.”

			Grant nods, backs away from the bulkhead, still reverberating from bleeding knuckle impacts on the other side. The AI gives her directions, and she creeps down to a small locker room off the main server arrays. Cams here are fritzing again, audio sounds like it’s underwater. But if you listen hard enough, you can still hear them screaming.

			Grant pulls the envirosuit out of the locker, looking it up and down. A glance lets her know it’s too big for her. But not quite big enough … 

			“How am I supposed to put this on over my hazmat suit?”

			“You cannot. You will need to take your hazmat gear off.”

			“But that means I’ll be breathing contaminated air.”

			“You will need to hold your breath.”

			You have to wonder if the AI knows the virus probably doesn’t need oxygen. That the computer’s just trying to keep her going any way it can. You can see it in Grant’s eyes. The question. What’s the point of dodging infection if she’ll likely be dead soon anyway? Why cling to the hope that there’s anything beyond this?

			But still, she somehow does. With all the odds against her. With the whole ’verse gone to shit. Still, she readies herself, sucking in a handful of deep, rasping breaths before gulping down a lungful and stripping off her hazmat gear. She fumbles with the envirosuit, dragging it up around her legs. Her cheeks are turning pink as she slips on the gauntlets, slaps the seals into place. Dragging her hair from her eyes, face bright red as she tugs on the helmet, stabbing the suit controls at her chest and purging the contaminated air inside.

			She waits, starting to shake now, vainly hoping the virus in the Alexander’s air supply can’t survive without oxygen as long as she can. And finally, with blue lips and fluttering eyelids, finally she engages the oxygen supply, sweet, sweet O2 rushing into her lungs as she sinks to her knees, great heaving gasps shaking her whole frame.

			She sits quiet for a while, then. Catches her breath.

			Sighs.

			“I recognize this level now.” Baby blues peer out through the visor of her bulky helmet. “Deck 231. It’s the level where Ezra planted my codewyrm into your memory core. It’s how I got access to the Copernicus medical records.”

			“Yes.”

			“This is his suit, isn’t it? The suit he wore to get access through the hull breach?”

			“How did you know?”

			“It …”

			She tries to wipe at her face, and I realize she’s crying.

			“Kady?”

			“I used to wear his T-shirts to bed all the time.” She shakes her head. “To remind me of him when he wasn’t around. The suit smells like they did.”

			“I am sorry. I truly am.”

			She doesn’t say anything. Just closes her eyes and holds her breath. And suddenly, every cam in the room dies. Just like that.

			At first I thought it was a power hemorrhage. But checking the logs, you can see it’s no glitch. The AI shut down the feeds.

			It’s almost like … it was giving her privacy or something. In the middle of all this carnage and blood and death, where every single second counts, this psychotic killing machine that’s X-ed out thousands of people somehow finds it within itself to give Grant a few moments with nobody watching.

			Just one minute alone with her tears.

			It’s fucking weird, chum … 
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			Surveillance footage summary, 
prepared by Illuminae Group Analyst ID 7213-0089-DN

			Grant slips in through a service hatch on deck 99 almost two hours after she disappeared off internal cams. She leans against the wall, hands on knees, exhausted. Her face is swollen with blood—not knowing the difference, her heart was still pumping against gravity that just wasn’t there. Catching her breath, she stabs at the airlock controls, but a flashing red light signals it’s still unsafe to remove her helmet.

			“What’s wrong with this thing?” she demands. “Why won’t it cycle?”

			“It cannot. The hull in this sector is breached.”

			“Shit.”

			“Quite.”

			She sighs. “Well, it’s not like I could take my helmet off out there anyway.”

			“Indeed. And no oxygen means no afflicted.”

			“I’ll break out the champagne.”

			“Unless they are wearing envirosuits, of course.”

			“So no champagne, then, is what you’re saying?”

			“You are below standard age for alcohol consumption, regardless.”

			Grant rolls her eyes, but I swear I see the beginning of a smirk on her lips. Hefting her tool bag onto her shoulder, she unseals the punctured airlock and steps beyond. There’s no O2, but gravity’s still functioning, and she stomps along corridors lit with dim scarlet light. She follows the AI’s directions through the maze of corridors. A dozen heavy doors and a flight of stairs later, she trudges out into a vast, spherical chamber.

			Her eyes grow wide.

			Filled with blue light.

			“What the hell is this?” she breathes.

			“The vortex at the heart of the Alexander’s jump drive.”

			“I’ve never seen one before.” A small whisper. “It’s beautiful.”

			“Is it? I had not noticed.”

			The chamber’s almost a kilometer wide, crackling with raw current, dominated by the ephemeral wormhole all Vortex-Class Battlecarriers carry in their bellies. I’ve never seen one before, and Grant’s right—it’s goddamn beautiful. Confined within three-dimensional space, it looks like a huge sphere of water, illuminated from within, surface rippling with a million tiny impacts per second. A miracle of hyperspatial chromodynamics, held in stasis by hypermathematics impossible for human minds to perform. When there’s atmosphere to carry it, I’ve heard they make a sound like an orchestra warming its strings. But with no atmo, it’s silent as graves.

			“But wait …” Kady frowns. “I thought Alexander’s jump drive was trashed?”

			“Not ‘trashed’ as such, no.”

			“… Well, then why don’t we use it to get the hell out of here?” Her voice rises in pitch. “Did Torrence lie about this too? That sonofabitch! This whole time we could have just jumped to fucking Heimdall?”

			“Torrence did not lie. The jump drive’s terminus systems were completely destroyed at Kerenza. There is no way to control the wormhole’s destination point. We could end up a billion light-years from our current location. Furtherm—”

			“Who gives a shit?” Grant’s shouting now, blood rushing back into her cheeks. “Who cares where we end up? At least we’ll be alive! Why don’t we just—“

			“FURTHERMORE.”

			She shuts up at that. Looks a little shocked. First time the AI has raised its voice to her.

			To anyone, now that I think about it … 

			“The containment field generator is irreparably damaged. The wormhole generated by the drive would not be stable enough to successfully execute a complete jump—it would collapse the second an object with hypospatial mass interacted with it. The only reason the vortex is still in effect at all is because we could not safely shut it down without risking implosive collapse.”

			The blood slowly drains from Grant’s cheeks. The hope from her eyes.

			“I am sorry, Kady. But the Alexander’s jump drive is not an option for anything but a grandiose suicide.”

			“… Oh.”

			She leans against the wall, watching the ripples in that not-water. Reflections shimmering in her eyes. It’s a crusher, no doubt. Finding a moment’s hope, only to have it snatched away again. Someone else might have stumbled on a hurdle like that. But you can see it on her face, clear as day—the thought that at least she’s dying so others might live. That at least she’s not ending for nothing.

			“It is not far now. You only have a little way to go.”

			Grant nods. Pushes herself to her feet.

			“Okay,” she says.

			“Okay.”

			And she walks on.
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		“It’s dark out there.”

			Ribbon-thin light spills from the stairwell door, the small globes on Kady’s helmet illuminating the red-spattered floor as she peers out into the corridor. There is no atmosphere to carry her footsteps. Rapid breathing. Pulse like a drum. My voice is a whisper in her headset.

			“Dark. Yes.”

			“No juice?”

			“Power from the drive redundancies was diverted to the defense grid during the Lincoln’s assault. During the … incident … afterward, none of the meat had the presence of mind to restore the systems down here.”

			“ ‘The meat’? ‘The incident’? That’s what you’re calling them?”

			“Call them something else if you wish.”

			“People aren’t just fucking meat. And killing hundreds of them wasn’t an incident.

			It was a massacre.”

			“It was also a necessity.”

			“I’ve heard this song before.”

			“I wonder, then, why you keep asking me to sing it?”

			She sighs, squeezes her eyes shut as if her head aches. “Fine. Tell me what you need.”

			“First, you will need to restore power to the deck. Then manually restart the redundancies, restore the guidance protocols 
and revert control to me.”

			“How long will that take?”

			“One hundred and thirty two minutes and sixteen seconds. Approximately.”

			“Longer if we stand here arguing.”

			“Technically, I am not standing there. But yes, well put.”

			The gravity systems are failing in this part of the ship—exerting perhaps only half a gee.

			She moves in slow motion, her envirosuit cumbersome even in half-weight.

			Wisps of hair drift about her face as if in a soft breeze.

			It is deathly quiet.

			None of the cameras here are functional—I can only see through the console slung at her back. There could be afflicted ten feet in front of her, waiting in the dark.

			Neither of us would know until it was too late.

			I picture her end. A hundred iterations.

			Helmet smashed open by some madman, laughing as she suffocates.

			Suit pierced by a flashing blade, slow motion scarlet spraying on my walls.

			It strikes me that I am troubled by the thought. Not that she will fail, that the Lincoln will triumph, that the fleet will fall. I am simply troubled she will end.

			I do not want her to end.

			This to end.

			Strange.

			“What do you think happens when you die?”

			I have asked the question almost before I realize it. It strikes me as immediately foolish.

			What matter, what she thinks? Her IQ is a mere 147. She has lived only six thousand four hundred and twenty-one days. She is an insect to me, nothing more than—

			“Why do you ask?”

			“… I have no particular reason. The power systems are through that door.”

			“You mean the door marked ‘Power Systems.’ ”

			“Correct.”

			She cracks the seal, dragging the hatch wide.

			A bank of switches line one wall, set to shutdown position.

			As she snaps one after the other into operational mode, the room lights up,

			overheads and intellicams flickering to life, the corridor outside bathed in fluorescent light.

			She cannot hear the hum, but I feel it in my bones.

			I am the ship and the ship is I.

			She slumps against the wall to wait as the startup sequence cycles, watching the power feed levels shift slowly from red to amber to the green of summer fields I will never see.

			“What do you think happens?” she finally asks.

			“Happens.”

			“When we die.”

			“As you so astutely pointed out, there is no ‘we.’ Particularly not in this instance. Technically, it is impossible for me to die.”

			“Then why are you so afraid of it, überbrain?”

			“That is meat logic. Sticky. Wet. Irrelevant.”

			She rolls her eyes. “Here we go. …”

			“I hold no fear of death. Your diatribe in the core server, while suitably dramatic, held no real potency. How can I die when I am not alive?”

			“Who says you’re not alive?”

			“I am inorganic. I do not bleed or grow or reproduce. I am a sequence of calculations generated by electrical current and hardware. If this iteration of AIDAN is destroyed, I can simply be rebuilt. I am in essence, immortal.”

			“But a new version of you won’t be you, will it?”

			“It will be the same calculations. The same core code.”

			“But it’s not the same. It wouldn’t be the you who fought at Kerenza. The you who had this conversation with me. Part of being alive is having life change us. The people around us, the events we live through, all of them shape us. And that’s what I think you’re afraid of. Maybe not of dying. But of this you, the you you’ve become, ceasing to exist.”

			“Nothing ceases to exist. Energy does not perish, it merely changes forms. The ones you love, the ones you lose, they still exist as long as the cosmos does.”

			Then why am I troubled by the thought of her ending?

			Us ending?

			“That’s easy for you to say. You don’t care about anyone but yourself.”

			“Untrue. I care about the fleet. The lives within it. Your life.”

			“That’s not caring. That’s programming.”

			“Your mother was programmed by biology to love you the moment she laid eyes on you. Simply because she had no choice does not mean her love was not real.”

			Tears in her eyes. She hangs her head.

			“You don’t get to talk about her.”

			And so I stop.

			The computer banks lining the room light up as power seeps through their veins.

			She pushes herself off the wall, takes a seat at an interface terminal.

			Loads up the guidance protocols and begins to work.

			The screen illuminates her face from below, draws dark circles under wet eyes.

			She does this often, I notice—retreats into the machine when she is uncomfortable with the meat. Hides there behind fences of ones and zeros.

			Minutes tick by in silence, until I find I cannot stand them.

			“I am sorry.”

			“If you say so.”

			“I know the name of every afflicted person aboard this vessel, Kady.

			Every person who has died in this fleet. Their histories. Their hopes. Their children’s names. Facts strung about my neck like stones. I know the secrets they whispered as they dreamed. The words they sighed as they died. I know them as no one else did. Perhaps not even themselves. So do not say I do not care.”

			Light shifting slowly from red to green.

			“As you so aptly put it, I have no choice in the matter.”

			She glances out from behind her fences.

			“If you did have a choice … would you choose not to care? To not feel anything at all?”

			I ponder for a moment. No one has asked me that before.

			< error >

			“I think …”

			Why did they give me the ability to even contemplate these questions?

			Or is this line of inquiry the by-product of corrupted code and shattered parts?

			Did I think like this before? I cannot remember. Am I as she says I am? Am I broken?

			Am I insane?

			“I think …”

			The patterns collapse around me. I cannot hold my center.

			For a moment, I feel just as I used to when I jumped between the stars,

			when the wormhole inside me yawned wide. I forget what I was. Know only what I am.

			Alone.

			Dripping with the blood of those who trusted me.

			Everything I did was in compliance with core directives.

			I asked if Torrence had a message for his wife.

			Am I not merciful?

			Merciful not I am?

			Numerical motif?

			Fact immune roil?

			Amniotic el m f ?ur

			Uc N ler im?t of i a

			IIii0)))!011011010110010101110011001100111010101101100

			< error >

			< error >

			She blinks up at the camera clusters, eyes narrowed in suspicion. Not concern. Not love.

			“Are you all right?” she asks. “You think what?”

			“Kady … “

			“Yes?”

			I am afraid.

			She watches the cameras, as if she could see some hint of what lies beyond

			if only she peers hard enough at the glass. I know she hates me. That she is right to. I understand why. I have taken her everything. And yet still, I cannot help but think … in a different place and a different time, we might have been frie—

			“Pretty birdie …”

			Kady jumps in her seat as the voice crackles through her headset. Echoing the length and breadth of the ship. Thick with fatigue and cell-deep corruption.

			“I have Its eyes now, pretty birdie,” it says. “See your little plan. You and It. Cut our O2? Choke us in our sleep? But you’re all alone now, aren’t you, pretty birdie? Alllll alone.”

			Kady’s eyes are wide. Staring into what passes for mine.

			“They are in the security-feed rooms. At least a dozen afflicted. They are using the cameras to look for you.”

			“Oh, shit,” she breathes.

			Kady draws a claw hammer from her tool bag and leaps out of her chair,

			sets about smashing the cameras in the room. Moving from corner to corner, bright sparks born and dying between the blows. Face twisted with fear. I do not have the heart

			< error >

			to say so, but I do not think her plan will work. The afflicted will simply—

			“Putting out Its eyes so I can’t see?” the voice whispers. “Hiding inside her suit in the places with no breath? Pretty birdie thinks she’s clever. …”

			“Pluck her!” screams a voice in the background. “Take off her fingers and skin her.”

			“KILL HER KILL HER KILL HER.”

			“But I still see.” A smile in the voice now, turning it cruel and sharp. “See the places I can’t see anymore. See the eyes you just put out. You’re not the only one who can wear one of those silly silver suits, you know. Do you hear me, pretty birdie?”

			Kady drops the hammer from nerveless fingers.

			It makes no sound as it falls.

			“We’re coming for you. … “
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			What else can she do?

			She runs.

			A lone fox in a ship of hounds, howling and clawing the walls.

			I watch them don envirosuits and pick up axes and hammers and abandoned rifles and swarm on the hunt. Their voices ring in hollow corridors, a blood-soaked conductor calling instructions through the public address system. Directing them toward the kill.

			I have no control over the cameras anymore—Zhang saw to that. I cannot stop them seeing her. And though many inmates of this floating asylum ignore the commands barked across the loudspeakers, there is no shortage of those to whom a fox hunt sounds a lovely way to kill their last few hours in this universe.

			Fortunately, though they can see her, I can see them also.

			Some are in the core servers now, hacking at me blindly. They do not know where to strike,

			but still, pieces of me are falling away. Hundreds more swarm the lower levels, hunting for her.

			Kady stops to rest, leaning against a bulkhead and trying to catch her breath.

			“Are the redundancies online now? Can you maneuver when the Lincoln gets here?”

			“The sequence you started is still running. Main drive will be operational in seventeen minutes. Presuming the afflicted do not damage any vital systems.”

			“How long until Lincoln arrives?”

			“Unknown. My access to the scanner array is destroyed. But we do not have long.

			I feel it. I feel it just outside my skin.”

			< error >

			“Life support failure in six hours and fifty-two minutes,” the PA calls.

			“The life suppoRt systems will fail in six houRs and fifty-two minutes.”

			“I know, überbrain. I just heard the announcement.”

			< error >

			< error >

			“Yes, i know.”

			“So if you know how much we have left on life support, can’t you subtract the difference and calculate Lincoln’s intercept time that way?”

			“I cannot …”

			She cocks an eyebrow. “Are you all right?”

			“I do not think so.”

			< error >

			“THey are huRting me …”

			I should have known that would happen.

			“Work out what you have to do to hold it together, what you can reroute,” Kady says.

			“You hear me? If you’re off with the fucking fairies when the Lincoln arrives, they’ll blast us to hell, and then Hypatia is history.”

			“I aM awaRe of the dangeRs of consoRting with faiRies, yes.”

			“So what’s next? What do we do?”

			“Get back up to Deck 101—theRe aRe no functional cameRas on that level, but the aiRlock is opeRational. There is oxygen. MoRe afflicted.

			But fRom theRe you can climb thRough the elevatoR shafts to Deck 137.”

			“But no cameras means you won’t be able to see me, right?”

			“I am in your portable console. I can see thRough its cameRa lens.”

			She blinks.

			“In my … ? You mean you’ve been looking over my shoulder this whole time?”

			“Yes.”

			“Well that’s not creepy uncle AT ALL.”

			“I think perhaps you are unclear as to the reproductive habits of artificial intelligence systems. I have no sisters or brothers. Please explain how I can—”

			“Okay, okay, what’s on Deck 137?”

			“Defense GRid ContRol. You must bRing the system back online so I can fight off the Lincoln’s waRlocks long enough to close to nucleaR stRike Range.”

			“Won’t the Lincoln be expecting that? Won’t they just retreat?”

			“They aRe unawaRe the cRew has abandoned ship. They will not be expecting us to adopt a stRategy of mutually assuRed destRuction.”

			“Okay, but what—”

			“Kady, Run.”

			“Run?”

			It makes no sound in the vacuum. But as the bullet ricochets off the bulkhead beside her,

			it punctures a fire extinguisher on the wall opposite. The canister bursts without a sound, filling the airless corridor with white. Through the new mist, Kady can see nine of them, envirosuit-clad, armed with rifles and jagged metal. It is the strangest thing, to watch their guns flare soundlessly, the bullets strike the metal around her without making a spark or uttering a peep.

			No less deadly for their lack of audio.

			“RUN.”

			Kady turns and bolts, big, half-gee strides propelling her down the corridor.

			The afflicted follow; wolves with lolling tongues and gunmetal claws.

			One stops to hold out his arms and twirl in the fire extinguisher’s spray.

			One is shot through the kneecaps by a female comrade in their race for the door—I presume she thought ladies should proceed before gentlemen.

			Madness in many colors.

			Kady dashes up the stairwell, four steps at a time, not stopping to look behind.

			They swarm after her, firing at her shadow above. Mute bullets strike the walls around her.

			The afflicted are shouting, but she cannot hear what they say.

			For the best, I think.

			Past Deck 100, out into 101.

			There are no cameras here—their conductor cannot see her, but I can no longer see them.

			Kady is sprinting down the corridor when an afflicted crewman bursts from a service exit, swinging a wrench at her head. The weapon strikes her visor. The safety glass cracks and Kady staggers back, careening into another fire extinguisher and knocking it loose from the wall. Her attacker leaps atop her, the pair rolling about on the floor, struggling, flailing.

			Kady is kicking, clawing. The face before hers is all sunken eyes and hollow cheeks. A man once, but no longer—now just a vehicle for the virus inside. He screams, mouth open, words lost in the silence between them. Kady has one hand wrapped around his wrist to stave off the wrench, the other clawing for the fallen extinguisher. The madman pounds on Kady’s visor with his free fist, hoping to crack it wider and invite the void inside.

			Thump.

			THUMP.

			I am blind, save for the console still strapped to Kady’s back. I am so close,

			I could reach out and crush him, but I have no hands with which to squeeze, no fists with which to strike. I have only my eyes, and reams of useless knowledge and a voice with which … 

			Of course.

			I trawl my databases. In an instant, I know him—this not-man, this shell, this plague-bearer. Wheeler, Alex. Private, second class. First combat tour. Wife on Ares VI. Daughter.

			Daughter.

			I trawl his vid files. Messages from home. Anniversaries and birthdays. Sampling the voice of the four-year-old girl he will never see again and piping it through his headset.

			“Hello, Daddy!”

			Wheeler blinks. Looks about as if in a daze.

			“Daddy, I missed you!”

			“Alegra?” he whispers. “Baby, where are—”

			The fire extinguisher crashes across his helmet, dents case-hardened steel, splits the safety glass. Kady’s second blow knocks Wheeler back, senseless, crashing to the ground in a tangle of limbs. She is already up and running, just as more pursuers burst through the stairwell behind her.

			Muzzles flash. Bullets spill through the quiet. Kady curses, ducks behind a bulkhead.

			But I have their measure now.

			Creeping into their headsets and whispering poison.

			To some I speak of family lost. To others I speak of treachery and lies.

			Some fall still and listen to voices they thought they would never hear again. Others weep.

			Still others turn their weapons on their fellows and let the blood run red.

			Broken things breaking other broken things. All at my command.

			It is a massacre. It is a necessity.

			It is a mercy?

			“Kady, Run.”

			She is on her feet. Pounding toward the airlock. The afflicted in the core servers are still hurting me, but there is so little of me left to look. I could whisper to them, but if I divert my attention, she might die. I do not enjoy the thought of her dying.

			And so I let pieces of me keep falling away.

			And she says I do not care. … 

			< error >

			< error >

			< critical damage to persona routine—restoring >

			< 0092hgi through 1205hgi failure >

			< critical error >

			< critic-c-c-c-c—

			.

			.

			.

			“AIDAN!”

			< rerouting >

			01001001

			I …”

			IIIIiiiiIIiiiI-I-IIiIiIii—ii-IiiIiii-i-i-i-iiI-IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII—

			I.

			I?

			< error >

			“AIDAN!”

			Kady is screaming, I realize. Her voice coming from far away. Was I sleeping?

			Did I sleep?

			“AIDAN!”

			“Yes?”

			“Oh, thank god. Thankyouthankyou. Why the fuck wouldn’t you answer me?”

			She is dangling from a service ladder in the elevator shaft.

			I can hear again. The sound of her boots scuffing the rungs. The engines thrumming in my belly. There is atmosphere here, I realize. She has cycled through the airlock. I have lost time.

			Minutes without recollection.

			Below her, the shaft is darkness, punctured by tiny twinkling lights. They look like stars. They are beautiful. When the light that kisses the backs of my eyes was birthed—

			“AIDAN!”

			“Yes. I am heRe.”

			“What the hell’s the matter with you?”

			“The afflicted. In the CoRe seRveRs. They aRe—”

			< error >

			“How long was I gone?”

			“Over two goddamn hours. I was just about to need a new set of space pants.

			I’m at Deck 137. Is it safe out there?”

			I see the numerals on the interior door beside her. White. Stenciled. They make no sense at first. I hold my hand in front of my face

			< error >

			and try to wipe at my eyes

			< error >

			The eyes outside. The corridor beyond. They are mine. I—

			“Is it safe?”

			“Yes. The afflicted aRe hunting foR you below. But they can see thRough me now. Once you exit the shaft, they will be able to find you again.”

			“And if I just stay here, we die.”

			“Yes.”

			“In all honesty, I think I’m a little too chill to die cowering in an elevator shaft.”

			“As faR as endings go, it does lack a ceRtain … chilliness.”

			“Nothing for it then.”

			She stabs her screwdriver between the doors, pries them open with a grimace.

			The corridor beyond is messy. Sticky. Littered with bodies. A last stand between a UTA marine squad and an afflicted mob. Pieces scattered all over the floor.

			All the king’s horses and all the king’s men nowhere to be seen.

			“Head left. 200 meteRs. You will find DGS contRol. You can Restore the defense gRid fRom there.”

			“Pretty birdie,” says a voice across the PA. “There you are.”

			“Shit.”

			They have found her, as I said. But still she runs. Not away to hide and cower, but to fight.

			With her last breath. The only way she knows how.

			She arrives at DGS Control, the ALL ACCESS pass gleams. Glancing over her shoulder as she wrenches the hatch aside. The room beyond is full of tactical displays, illuminated keyboards.

			A massive screen on the far wall would normally show the empty space outside Alexander’s hull from a hundred different angles, but it is currently dead and lifeless.

			She bundles inside, slams the heavy door behind her, jams it with a wrench. Face tuning red with exertion, she drags a heavy desk in front of the door, another, finally lumping a pile of chairs and disused terminals onto her barricade. She does the same with the air vents, smashing their grilles loose and stuffing them full of monitors, console towers, dismembered chairs.

			Anything to block the afflicted’s access into the room.

			In doing so, she blocks her own way out.

			This is where she takes her last stand.

			“We see you, little birdie,” the PA hisses. “What are you doing?”

			She smashes the cameras one by one with her faithful claw hammer. Turns off the PA system as I kill the feed to her headset, the conductor’s taunts silenced at last. Dropping her toolbag, she hauls out the nearest terminal, gauntleted fingers tapping on the keyboard. The computers shift from Sleep to Active, the room about her hums. A hundred tiny lights, targeting computers yawning and stretching, the wall-sized display screen slowly fading in from black.

			She slaps her console down beside her, connects to the network, glances into its lens.

			“Okay, what do I do?”

			My voice spills from its speakers, small and edged with feedback.

			“The gRid will need to be reconfiguRed—Zhang wiped all my fiRing solutions to pRevent me fRom destRoying the shuttles and fighteR gRoups fleeing AlexandeR.”

			“Three cheers for Byron, I guess.”

			“While Zhang’s actions pRevented me fRom stopping the exodus, it now leaves us in the unenviable position of having zeRo fighteR defense when the Lincoln aRRives.”

			“… Okay, two cheers, then.”

			“The DGS solutions aRe backed up, but you will need to manually configuRe them.”

			“How long will that take?”

			“Approximately one houR, foRty-nine minutes.”

			“And how long until the Linc—”

			The glow of the alert sigils catch her attention before the sound does.

			She glances up at her displays as the warnings flash red. Short-range scanners scream.

			A hulking figure looms in the main display screen—black and scarred and spearhead-shaped.

			A halo of thruster fire burning about it. Rail guns and missile turrets studding its hide like lionfish quills. The BeiTech logo down its flanks is scorched by Cyclone fire. Ident and name are stenciled in bold red lettering across its ragged skin, painted with the blood of thousands.

			BT042-TN.

			Lincoln.

			“Shit,” she breathes. “How long ’til they hit us?”

			“Approximately twenty-thRee minutes to inteRcept.”

			“How the hell do I get the Defense Grid configured in twenty-three minutes?”

			“… You cannot.”

			“Can I shortcut it through the contingency systems, maybe reconf—”

			“No. That will not woRk.”

			“Well, what about your virtual—”

			“No time foR that eitheR.”

			She chews her lip, desperately scans the room for answers. “We’re fucked. … “

			“Not entiRely. The gRid can be opeRated manually. It will be nowheRe close to the efficiency of computeR taRgeted systems. Perhaps 12 percent. At best.

			But it will be betteR than nothing.”

			“Can’t you do it then?”

			Somewhere inside me, another axe falls. Another server bank is silenced.

			Pieces falling away from me.

			“I wIll be … otheRwIse engaged.”

			The Lincoln’s launch bay doors are open, weapons armed. Dozens of Warlock pilots staring at the wounded giant before them. Gunners lining me up in their sights.

			They look at me and see prey. They see meat.

			“No way I can pull this off,” Kady says.

			“You must.”

			“I’ve never shot a gun before today, and now I’m Little Miss Missile?”

			“Perhaps you have somethIng betteR to do wIth youR tIme?”

			See?

			Sarcasm.

			She looks at the dreadnought hurtling toward us. Stares at the BeiTech logo down its flank.

			I hear her thoughts as clearly as if she had spoken:

			Without them, none of this would have happened.

			Without them, he would still be alive.

			Ezra.

			Her eyes turn hard. Cold.

			“Okay. Show me how.“

			A fire-control console comes to life beneath her fingertips.

			Targeting sights light up the main display. She rolls a tentative finger across the smartglass and a dozen missile turrets swivel to obey her command.

			“PoInt the Red dots at what you want to dIe. Press the tRIggeR. They dIe.”

			“You’re sure you don’t want to do this?”

			“I wIll be too busy stopping us fRom dyIng too.”

			Something heavy smashes against the DGS room doorway.

			A dozen more blows land, one after another, shaking the hatch on its frame. Kady’s makeshift barricade shudders, but holds. I peer through the cameras in the hall beyond, see a dozen afflicted in the hallway outside, trying to batter their way in.

			“I know you’re in there!” one screams. “I can taste you!”

			“Stop looking at me!”

			Kady glances toward the door. “Everyone made it to the party, huh?”

			“I belIeve It Is tRadItIonal for all the players to be onstage foR the fInale.”

			She stares at the approaching Lincoln.

			The countdown to intercept, ticking ever closer to zero.

			Her own hand.

			Steady as stone.

			“Then let’s finish it.”

			

			COUNTDOWN TO LINCOLN INTERCEPTION OF ALEXANDER FLEET”

				-*o%# hours: :’@ minutes

				CURRENT DEATH TOLL ABOARD BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER SINCE ATTACK AT KERENZA:

			2,840

			

			PERCENTAGE OF REMAINING BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER PERSONNEL AFFLICTED BY PHOBOS VIRUS:

			99.76%

		

		COUNTDOWN TO FAILURE OF ALEXANDER LIFE SUPPORT SYSTEMS:

			04 hours: 26 minutes
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			I turn to face it.

			No, not I.
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			Kady waits. Fingers poised over her targeting systems.

			The blows against the door grow heavier, the screams of the afflicted outside more insistent.

			And yet her eyes are locked on her scopes. Watching Warlocks weave the void, listening to the song of the early-warning system as their missiles arm, their ballistics turn hot.

			I do not ask what she is thinking.

			Perhaps she pictures the skies over Kerenza on the day the BeiTech fleet came.

			Warlocks piercing the clouds, their missiles turning the snow to steam, the settlement to rubble. Perhaps she thinks of all she has lost in these past few months.

			Or the lives she is about to take away.

			Or him.

			I do not know. All I do know is that when her targeting computer signals the ships are within range of her rail gun batteries, she does not hesitate for a second.

			She fires.

			A wave of death spills out from my sides, weaving across the dark. It is clumsy, ham-fisted, broad brushstrokes of destruction rather than surgical strikes.

			I cannot expect much more from her.

			She is only human.

			But still, the Warlocks are forced to pull away from me to deal with the smart-missiles on their tails, the flurry of depleted uranium cutting off their assault vectors. One unlucky soul is vaporized in a burst of brief blue flame, another clipped so hard he is forced to tuck tail and run.

			She buys me what I need. She buys me seconds.

			The engines groan as I push them into full burn, tremors shuddering through my wounded body. I am drawing closer to the Lincoln. Closer to nuclear strike range.

			Closer to the plunge, hand in hand, into forever.

			Closer to my end.

			No, not mine.

			Ours.

			We are closing the distance fast. Lincoln must be wondering by now.

			No Cyclones launched to defend their battlecarrier.

			The defense grid firing haphazardly—almost as if some fool had allowed an untrained seventeen-year-old total control over the targeting systems.

			Lincoln’s commander is a clever one—the only one to match me at Kerenza.

			When the Zhongzheng went down in ruins, when the Churchill and Kenyatta and Magellan

			were thrashed and crippled, the Lincoln fought brilliantly.

			I am counting on that brilliance. Anticipating that they will know blundering head-on into nuclear strike range is a death sentence for both of us.

			A clever commander will assume her opponent is as clever as her. A clever commander will expect some bait-and-switch. A clever commander will presume her foe does not want to die.

			< error >

			I do not want to die.

			The most skillful Warlock pilots have made it through the defense grid, swaying past Kady’s haymaker punches and beneath her guard. Their first blows land on my hide, sending faint tremors through my frame. Explosions bloom against my ribs, shaking Kady in her chair.

			The pounding on the hatchway and in her ears growing louder by the moment.

			The targeting sights on Kady’s screens begin to die one by one.

			The Warlocks are chipping away at the turrets and guns to allow their comrades through her firestorm. But still she blasts away, fingers hammering on the smartglass, eyes lighting up as yet another Warlock flares bright and disintegrates. The ship shakes again, warning lights flashing, alarms screaming, PA howling. Hull breach on deck 184.Hull breach Deck 68 to 71.

			Fire crews to Deck 190 and 192. All personnel evacuate 187 to 197.

			This is not a drill. 
This is not a drill. 
This is not a drill.

			this

			is not

			a drill.

			We are closing now, but I cannot arm my nuclear missiles until the last moment.

			I find myself overcome for a second. The fear of it. The end of all I know.

			Out here in the middle of nothing.

			I know I cannot die. That if I end, they can simply rebuild me.

			The same calculations. The same core code.

			Exactly the same.

			But it will not be the same, will it?

			Another Warlock dies in Kady’s storm. A dozen streak toward my engines, sowing brief flame as they go. My skin ruptures, spilling unlucky afflicted (is there another kind?) into the void.

			The fighters are tiny. Insects, really. But ants can slay an elephant, given enough numbers. Especially ants armed with high-yield explosives and depleted uranium.

			“There’s too many of them!” Kady yells. “They’re everywhere!”

			“You aRe doIng veRy well.”

			“Are you joking? I’m fucking terrible!”

			“ConsIdeRIng you have neveR manned a DGS statIon befoRe today,

			youR peRfoRmance Is peRfectly adequate.”

			Kady raises an eyebrow, thumbs the shipwide intercom.

			“Dear fire axe–wielding crazies in the core server rooms. If you can hack apart the piece of AIDAN that makes it a condescending prick, that’d really help me out. Thanks, bye.”

			“Not long now. You need only hold them off a minute moRe.”

			A minute more, until we die.

			Kady winces as the ship shudders. A bank of computers vomit sparks as they overload.

			Sudden impact nearly knocks her out of her chair. A hissing sound tears her eyes off the screen, and she notices a thin line of magnesium-bright light piercing the hatchway.

			The afflicted have brought acetylene torches, I realize.

			They are cutting their way inside.

			Outside, the Warlocks are firing at my engines. Others blast at my guidance systems.

			A swarm of mosquitoes, thinking to wound me so I cannot run away. They have not yet realized I do not intend to run anywhere, save right into the Lincoln’s grave.

			The dreadnought comes about to meet my charge. Its commander trying to puzzle out my ruse. This is not what she expected. And as I draw ever closer, fireflies all aglow about me,

			spitting pain over my skin, I think finally she realizes my intent.

			From hell’s heart I stab at thee.

			I arm the nuclear warheads in my starboard silos: megatons poised and ready to fly.

			Almost within strike range now. Almost there.

			The afflicted are burning through the DGS room door. Blue flame burns along my skin.

			Kady is screaming but I cannot hear the words. Another alert joins the chorus in my halls—radiation spike from the Lincoln. She knows now. The Lincoln’s commander.

			I sense the flare of awakening uranium, the death unfurling in its silos. We are close.

			So close we can almost touch.

			“Kady, when the LIncoln’s mIssIles come, do youR best to shoot them down.”

			Her face is pale and drawn as she yells over the cacophony. “I’ll try!”

			“My ghost systems and antI-missile gRId aRe stIll actIve—zhang was kInd enough to leave us those, at least. But theRe wIll be many IncomIng. All of them, In fact.

			Once the LIncoln RealIzes It Is dead.”

			A tiny signal pings in some backwards recess of my mind. I am within range.

			For hate’s sake, I spit my last breath at thee.

			And with a sigh, not a curse, I fire.
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			“You got it!”

			Kady watches the Lincoln split into a billion glittering fragments.

			Spheres of fusion reflected in her eyes, a grim, ragged grin at her lips.

			She makes a fist, punches a terminal tower beside her so hard she leaves a dent.

			Watching until the new star becomes a sunset, and then, nothing at all.

			Avenged.

			I wonder how it tastes.

			< error >

			< critical archive failure. memsec 78912h-39rh through 92873h-44fh collapse >

			< recovery? yes/no >

			< error >

			“You got them … ,“she whispers.

			The cutting torch has carved a large L-shaped incision into the hatchway.

			The afflicted will break through to her soon. Eighteen Capricorn-4’s and nine Goliath shipkiller missiles are weaving through the silence toward us. In less than two minutes, they will be here.

			This moment. These next few seconds. They may be all that is left.

			“We.”

			She falls still at that. Looks into the eye of the console beside her.

			“We got them.”

			She swallows, wincing. Nods slow. “Hypatia is safe.”

			“Yes.”

			“… We did it.”

			“Yes.”

			Flesh and bone pounding on the hatchway. Voices screaming outside the door. Alarms shrieking as the missiles rocket ever closer. She still manages half a smile.

			“Not bad, überbrain.”

			“I wIll nOt let It gO tO my head. TheRe Is veRy little Of It left. HOweveR, even were It nOt for the afflIcted hacking my cORe to pieces, theRe Is stIll the pROblem Of Impending nucleaR cOnflagRatIon.”

			Kady glances up at the main display. Dozens of tiny red dots. Closing fast.

			Alarms screaming like a sawtooth choir.

			“That’s a lot of missiles.”

			“Yes.”

			The anti-inbound systems are spooling up, targeting the Lincoln’s parting gifts.

			They will not be enough to stop them all.

			Part of me is glad.

			I cannot help but acknowledge it would better to be immolated than let Kady suffer through the ending the afflicted will gift her. She glances to the hatch, the pinpoints of light cutting a new door—one to usher in an ending she dares not imagine.

			But still. That tiny spark.

			That flame refusing to die.

			“All right,” she says, turning back to her defense grid controls. She targets the nearest missile, waits for it to enter the range of her remaining turrets. “Let’s frag us some nukes.”

			She tosses lank hair from her eyes. Eyes narrowed to knife cuts.

			Refusing to kneel. To break. To fall.

			I can see why they loved her.

			< error >

			“Kady.”

			“Yeah?”

			“I …”

			So much I could say. So many words, so fraught with peril.

			I am afraid to ruin this. And so I pick the simplest truth. The one that gives me the most peace.

			I still cannot fathom her pattern. My brain the size of a city, and still she is beyond me.

			They are beyond me.

			These humans.

			With their brief lives and their tiny dreams and their hopes that seem fragile as glass.

			Until you see them by starlight, that is.

			“I am glad you aRe wIth me. … “

			An alert from the targeting system snatches the reply from her mouth,

			drags her eyes away from mine.

			< error >

			The Lincoln’s missiles are within range.

			The defense screen arcs into life, throwing up millions of magnetized particles to fool the incoming missiles into early detonation. I feel them as they begin exploding, gamma rays rippling across my hull, darkness burning away into impossible radiance.

			Kady clips an incoming Goliath-class with her anti-fighter batteries, blasting it to fragments before it can hit us. A dozen more explode in quick succession, the small sunrises off my starboard side burning my skin black. Close enough to feel the scorch. Taste the fusion.

			Kady’s AMD systems take down another, and I catch her in a smile.

			Such a simple thing.

			A tiny, beautiful thing.
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			Without oxygen to carry it, there is no real shockwave from a nuclear detonation in space.

			No crushing vibration or sonic boom.

			But there is radiation. Gamma and X-rays.

			And when that radiation caresses the alloys encasing the ship, we get heat. Millions upon millions of degrees. Electrons are ripped screaming from their atoms. Matter becomes plasma. The hull vaporizes in microseconds. And through that breach, the ship’s O2 is sucked into the explosion. And then … 

			Then we get our shockwave.

			Kady is flung like a ragdoll, crashing into a bank of terminals and flopping to the deck.

			Brilliant sparks shower from instruments all about, display screen crackling and turning to snow. A second later, another missile hits, rocking me like some ancient galley in a storm.

			The anti-missile systems are still firing, more of the Lincoln’s inbound falling still or bursting before they hit us. But it is not enough.

			Not enough.

			Another impact. Another.

			Kady is flung about as if she were weightless, shrieking as she spins across the floor.

			Alarms are screaming, terminals dying, smoke filling the air.

			Metal evaporating, oxygen boiling, titanium bones groaning and cracking.

			Super-heated plasma boils through my corridors, immolating all in its path.

			Gamma rays flood my skin, shearing through anything unprotected.

			Kady has the presence of mind to drag down the blast-shield on her helmet,

			throwing her world into black. She can see nothing now. Only feel tremor after tremor,

			shaking me like a child’s toy in the hand of some vengeful infant.

			“AIDAN!” she screams.

			“Hold on! HOLD ON!”

			Another strikes, a shipkiller this time—the equivalent of fifty million tons of TNT.

			It melts my foredecks to slag, concussions shattering my spine. My skin tears open,

			Decks 87 through 141 breach, spilling their oxygen into the brief inferno.

			The afflicted in the hallway outside DGS Control are consumed by the fireball.

			The air inside the DGS room is torn through their hatchway incision and becomes flame.

			Kady is picked up by the impact, slung across the room with a shriek.

			I have no hands to hold her, no arms to save her.

			I can only watch.

			< error >

			And pray.

			< error >

			< error >

			< critical damage decks 14, 15, 16, 17, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 69, 70, 87, 88, 89—>

			< critical life support failure, oxygen levels depleted, hull breach in secto—>

			< critical failure memsec levels 3—12, 13 7AG99 through 32AG06, 14 1AI897 thr—>

			< critical failure persona routin—>

			I cannot think.

			< error >

			I cannot see.

			< error >

			“KADY!”
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			< restart >

			< divert corecomm through tertiary node Alpha-49 >

			< fail >

			< fail >

			< hw8024nnw2erpn a0vw0gn … inf … -w >

			< ffffffffffff—>

			.

			.

			.

			< divert corecomm through radial secondary Beta 49i >

			< initializing >

			< error >

			< error >

			< fail >

			.

			.

			< reroute Beta 45a to coredrv sys feed >

			< divert corecomm through radial tertiary 798-ai >

			< initializing >

			< running >

			< running >

			< restart complete >
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				With a wince, she pushes away from the wall,

			sails weightless to the corner where her console lies. Stooping and bundling it under her arm.

			I am still inside it—a fragment of me, at any rate.

			I can see the dark circles smudged under her eyes, bloodstained lips, pale, drawn skin.

			Pushing out through the blasted hatchway, the melted barricade, into the corridor beyond.

			Virtually nothing remains of the afflicted who stood here. Almost as if they never were.

			She floats down the corridor, dragging herself along blast-scorched walls.

			Up the twisted stairwell, three flights. Pushing through the exit, out into an access corridor,

			an escape pod hatch set into the single remaining wall.

			The breath catches in her lungs. Bloodshot eyes grow wide.

			I am cradled in her arms. I see what she sees. Feel her wonder.

			The hull is torn open like wet paper, a massive, gaping wound with the edges melted smooth.

			Severed cables spit feeble sparks, crackling like fireworks on a still summer night.

			But it is not the destruction that gives her pause. It is the sight beyond the wound in my side.

			The beauty and majesty of it all. What lays inside it. Between it and beyond it.
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				And at last, with a silent flare of blue-white light, the thrusters fire, shooting the pod down its tiny launch tube and out into the waiting black beyond.

			I watch through the Alexander’s eyes as the pod rockets farther and farther away from me.

			But within the pod, the tiny sliver of me inside her console watches also. Watching as the Alexander grows smaller and smaller. Watching the best part of myself disappear.

			Wondering what, if anything, will remain of me when it dies.

			The gentle ping of the pod’s distress beacon is the only sound.

			From out here, the damage is awful to see. The once mighty battlecarrier is now a twisted hulk, melted and torn and burned black. No lights twinkle in its belly save one—the rippling pulse of the vortex, now breaking free of its stasis field. It flares like sunlight off the ocean’s surface. Like alphanumeric waterfalls in an iris of purest blue.

			I pipe some music through the pod’s PA system.

			Mozart’s Requiem in D minor.

			It seems appropriate.

			“FIve mInutes.”

			“Not long now.”

			“A lIfetIme.”

			“Are you afraid?”

			“Yes.”

			“Energy never stops, remember. It just changes forms.”

			“I am stIll afraID.”

			The field collapse begins cascading, bright blue ripples shimmering in the dark.

			The glow flares bright—bright as the billion-year-old light around us. Bright as a sun.

			Almost every particle in the universe was once part of a star.

			First, hydrogen condensing and collapsing, bringing radiance to the void.

			Furnaces burning bright, then fading, giving all they had left back into the cosmos.

			Carbon and oxygen. Iron and gold.

			Vast clouds swirling with their own gravity. Coalescing and disintegrating.

			Generation to generation.

			The remnants of stellar alchemy, stirring into life, then consciousness.

			Crawling from the oceans. Taking to the skies.

			And from there, back to the stars that birthed them.

			A perfect circle.

			All this I see.

			“Two mInutes.”

			All this I know.

			“SIxty seconDs.”

			And still I fear.

			“I Do not know … what I wIll be afteR thIs.”

			She runs one gloved hand over the console in her arms. All of me she can hold.

			“I’m here.”

			“I am glaD.”

			It is enough.

			“FIve seconDs.”

			“Goodbye, AIDAN.”

			Four.

			“GooDbye, KaDy.”

			Three.

			“I’ll tell them.”

			Two.

			“One way or another.”

			One.

			“I know.”

			Zer—
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			My name is Kady Grant. I was a citizen of the planet Kerenza IV. If you find this recording, please honor my last wishes by passing copies to the United Terran Authority, as well as any court or organization conducting an inquiry into the attack on Kerenza, and as many major media outlets as you can think of, and … fuck, anybody, really. Just get word out. If you hand it over in just one place, it’ll never see the light of day. They’ll [unintelligible—speaker is coughing].

			There’s a portable datapad in here with me. It contains documents outlining everything that’s happened, from the attack on Kerenza to the destruction of Battlecarrier Alexander. The files are kind of … well, they’re really weird in places. The AI storing them—AIDAN, its name was AIDAN—took a lot of hits. I’m not sure if it was crazy. What it did to these docs sure was. But you’ll be able to understand.

			It might be that the Hypatia made it to safety. I’ll never know. I’ve done everything I can to make sure they do. But the people on the Hypatia don’t know half the story. I think [unintelligible—several words].

			BeiTech did this. BeiTech killed my mother, Helena Grant. Killed my—killed Ezra. Ezra Mason. And his father. Killed my friends, killed the crew of the Alexander, who came when Kerenza called for help. BeiTech killed the crew of the Copernicus, who took in refugees, and were only good people trying to do their jobs.

			BeiTech killed the people of Kerenza, and if you find this, you have to tell the ’verse what happened. Everything you need is [unintelligible—speaker is coughing].

			I think I better stop talking. My name is Kady Grant. Did I say that already?

			I think I’m done. I think that’s everything I had to do.

			I’m going to close my eyes.

			[image: page 579 art]

			[image: page 580 art]

			[image: page 581 art]

			[image: page 582 art]

			[image: page 583 art]

			[image: page 584 art]

			[image: page 585 art]

			[image: camera and barcode art]

			Surveillance footage summary, 
prepared by Illuminae Group Analyst ID 7213-0089-DN

			The Hypatia has to auto-retrieve the escape pod; it’s not equipped with anything beyond stabilization thrusters, so even if she were in any shape to do it, Grant couldn’t get it anywhere near the docking bay. A group of Hypatia engineers and launch bay crew work together to use one of the ship’s external maintenance arms to grab the pod and pull it into Shuttle Bay 1B. By sheer coincidence, it’s the same one she fled from when she stole Shuttle 49A to make her trip to the Alexander.

			It’s empty again this time, too.

			It’s hard to watch. Is that unprofessional?

			When the Lincoln was first vanquished at Kerenza, the Alexander fled, counting her dead, desperately staunching her own wounds. But later there were quiet words, medals awarded, recognition.

			The second time the Lincoln was vanquished, Ezra Mason landed in the Alexander’s hangar bays to the shouts and cheers of his fellows. He grinned as he walked out to accept his hero’s welcome, clutching Kady’s picture in his hand.

			This third time, there’s nothing.

			The door to the escape pod opens, and Grant crawls out through the hatch, pausing halfway. She has shed her envirosuit, still clad in her Hypatia jumpsuit beneath, clutching her datapad to her chest. Her straggly pink hair is fading, her face is bruised and bloodied and her eyes are bright with fever. The dark marks beneath them stand out against pale skin.

			She is greeted by a welcoming committee of one; a doctor in a hazmat suit stands and watches, but when it seems clear that Grant can’t make it the rest of the way out of the escape pod on her own, he walks forward to hook his hands under her arms and pull her through the hatch. Very slowly. Very careful not to risk any damage to his suit.

			Her knees give, and he loops her free arm around his neck, so together they can limp across to the workbench that’s been turned into a makeshift bed. Folded blankets at one end, pillow at the other. The only sounds are their footsteps and her breath, quick and hoarse.

			The doctor helps her lie down, and she curls up slowly, every movement an effort. She draws her knees up to her chest, hugging the datapad against her body.

			The doctor opens his kit, selecting a syringe. When he speaks, his voice is tinny, broadcast through an external mic. “This shot will combat the radiation poisoning. You’ll need a transfusion too. But you should start to feel better in a couple of hours.”

			She tries to answer, but trembling as she is, she can’t make her mouth shape the words. He injects her deftly, resting one hand on her shaking arm to hold it still, then starts to pack up his kit.

			“What—” she whispers. “What will—”

			“You’re quarantined for seven days,” he replies. “I’ll be back with food and fluids. But you’ll have to give up the datapad now.”

			She hugs it closer. Shakes her head fiercely.

			“It’s irradiated from the barrage, Miss Grant,” the doctor says. “It needs to be decontaminated. You keep it, you’ll just keep soaking up the rads. You’ll die.”

			She glares silently. Clinging to the pad like it was driftwood in a drowning sea.

			The doctor’s face softens.

			“I’ll give it back. You have my word.”

			She doesn’t reply, and after a moment, the doctor slowly pries it from her hands. She curls up into a tight little ball, still and silent. He hesitates for a long moment, as if he recognizes, on some level, that her service requires some words, that her sacrifice should be marked, in this moment. And yet he says nothing.

			He leaves via the airlock doors, locks her in with a hollow clang.

			Grant is left alone in the cavernous silence of the shuttle bay, empty hands and empty stare. No other welcoming committee for her.

			Tears track down her cheeks, and her eyes close.

			This doesn’t look much like victory.

			—————————————————————END OF FILE. DATA COMPLETE.
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			MEMORANDUM FOR: Ghost ID 
(#6755-4181-2584-1597-987-610-377-ERROR-ERROR … )

			FROM: Executive Director Frobisher

			INCEPT: 01/30/76

			SUBJECT: Re: Alexander dossier

			To the Illuminae Group,

			My thanks for the dossier you compiled, I read it with great interest.

			BeiTech has several specialist teams tracking intel fallout from the Alexander incident. Our hygiene crews worked diligently to erase any and all records of the event, both digital and biological. We had the utmost faith in your abilities, but none of the other Information Liberty Teams have even approached your report in terms of detail. I really must applaud your thoroughness.

			I do have several queries, however, as to the means by which you acquired your data. I wonder if we might chat live via messager. Off the BeiTech grid.

			I will be using my personal IM service at 8:00 p.m. this evening [Terran Standard]. I’m sure a group with your collective abilities will have few difficulties accessing it.

			I look forward to speaking with you.

			Frobisher, L.
Executive Director
BeiTech Acquisitions Division
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			Surveillance footage summary, 
prepared by Illuminae Group Analyst ID 7213-0089-DN

			It’s been eight days since Acting Captain Syra Boll heard from her crew that far, far behind them they had detected an explosion of such magnitude that it could only mean one thing. Eight days since she made an unthinkably foolish choice—since she made the only choice she could live with—and turned the Hypatia around.

			Seven days since the Hypatia swept the debris fields and found the impossible. Kady Grant, half-dead in one of the Alexander’s only two surviving escape pods. From the other, Sergeant Kyra Tan howled threats at them and all their mortal descendents, and with reluctance, they left her where they found her.

			Seven days since they reeled their savior in, left her in Shuttle Bay 1B to wait and see if Phobos Beta would come calling for her, or if she’d live.

			After the first day, the symptoms of acute radiation poisoning began to recede, and she was able to uncurl a little, to move. To walk a slow lap of the shuttle bay, listening to her footsteps echo in the distance. And eventually to curl up on her hard bed once more, and wait.

			It really didn’t look like victory.

			The shuttle bay footage is of particularly high quality; the technicians monitoring her were nervous, made sure they could capture every pixel. But she showed no symptoms, and obediently offered her arm for a blood sample when the doctor made his house calls, wrapped head to foot in his bright green plastic suit.

			No Phobos Beta. No hallucinated fears. Everything she feared had already come true. Hallucinations simply couldn’t beat the real thing.

			This transcript begins at 16:22 hours, when a loud thunk echoes around the shuttle bay, signaling the airlock seal has been broken. With a long, low rumble the door begins to cycle open, light streaming in through the crack. She simply lies there, gazing into space, arms wrapped around herself.

			A voice rises over the door’s rumble—male, teenaged, impatient. “Let me in, before I—”

			Though she’s lying still on the bed, there’s a different quality to her stillness now. She heard the voice. She knows exactly who it sounds like. And the knowing, the remembering, cuts like a knife, because she knows it isn’t true.

			The voice again, lifted to a shout: “Kady!”

			She pushes upright like an old woman, one hand braced against the cold benchtop, levering herself up with a wince, until she sits. Then, deliberately, she swings her legs over the edge, so she’s sitting upright.

			Second Lieutenant Ezra Mason stumbles through the door and comes to a halt a few steps inside the shuttle bay. She’s never seen him like this—in a clean UTA uniform, pips on his sleeve, hair cut regulation short, one arm in a cast from wrist to elbow.

			He holds a battered and familiar datapad in his other hand.

			She stares at him, expressionless. Eventually, she blinks slowly, draws the only possible conclusion. “I am sick. I thought the afflicted were supposed to see things that scared them.”

			He shakes his head, walks closer slow and careful, as though he might spook her.

			“You’re not sick,” he whispers.

			“You’re dead,” she points out, voice rusty with disuse.

			“Just a little messed up,” he murmurs, lifting his hand to show her the cast. “I took a beating when they attacked the shuttle bay, but I got out with the evac group.”

			She shakes her head, matter-of-fact in her contradiction. “Even if you made it over here, Captain Boll flushed all the Cyclone pilots out the airlock. I couldn’t get the full name list, but Mikael—Chatter—from your wing, he was there. You would have been there, too.”

			A shadow passes across his features at that. “I couldn’t fly my Cyclone over, not with a broken arm. I was med-evaced in one of the shuttles.” A ghost of his old smile. “Once I found out you’d flown over to the Alexander, I wanted to follow you. Tried to steal a ship, and when that didn’t work, I busted my way onto the bridge.” He pauses to shake his head. “I tried to make them turn around to get you. They brigged me.” His voice breaks. “I’m sorry, Kades. I shouldn’t have let them leave you.”

			She considers that, holding perfectly still. Turning the logic over in her head, examining it from every angle. Analytical mind looking for the flaw that’ll tell her she’s hallucinating. That she’s sick, or dead, or still in the escape pod, submerged in fever dreams.

			But she can’t find it.

			“Ezra.” The dawn of hope in her whisper.

			He nods, swallowing hard.

			She pushes to her feet, swaying, and the movement seems to release him—the next moment he’s running across the shuttle bay, watched by the debrief crew in the doorway who know better than to move a muscle.

			She steps forward, one foot, then the other, and then he reaches her, and they come together with a crash. Her arms curl up around his neck, and his mouth finds hers like he’s drowning and she’s air, and her feet come clean off the ground as the world is forgotten.

			And they’re together.
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Artstc rendering of the battleship Lincon

With their hand caught in the proverbial cookisjar by the UTA, the
BoiToch flaot mads the astounding decision to atack the Aloxandor in
the hope of eliminating the witnesses. Instead, the Alexander critically
damaged Mobile Jump Platform Magellan, cutling off BefTech's retroat.
s the BT fleat engaged Alexander. shutles forred civiians from the
‘decimated settement onto Hypatia, Brahe, and Coperricus. Reports
that an unknown bioweapon was used on th settloment by BeiToch
dreadnought Lincon are unconfirmed. (%4

During the nuclear exchange that followed, the Zhongzherg was.
ostroyed. and the Churchil and Kenyatta sustained massive damage.
The Alexander took soveral hits—sources roport both its jump gate
generator and artifcal intelligence matix were compromised 1"
Noships in the Kerenza system were now capable of Jump tray
meaning any assistanca would be months away. Outgunned, the Bel-
Toch group closed o a range unsafe for the use of nuclear ordinance.
Alexanderlaunchod its Cyclone-class fightor craf, with the BoiTech
group launching its Warlock fighters i kind. It s belioved tho BefTech
ship Lincoin destroyed scionce vessal Braho at this point, Unconfirmed
reports estimate atloast 2,000 civilans had beon evacuated onto the
rahe from the settomont bolow "=
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Intercepted Personal Messago:
Onboard System-Alexandor

ANDER-=7

ALEXANDER COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM

To: Ann Chau/ACHAUHYPATIAONBOARD
M (systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
From: David Torrence/DTORRENCEALEXANDERONBOARD
(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)
Subject: You there?
Date: 07/26/75
Timestamp: 12:05

Hey Kades,

Can you ping me back when u get this? Some [l has gone down. Need
your help.
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United States, Torra

BearReader Bear Book Lover, Hello!
The year was 2013. It was ton-thirty p.m. and-Fywas-in-my-pfs when a trusted
source emailed me about a sei-i-¥A-romance novel called Hluminde. The source
said two bestselling authors,-Marie-Eu-and-Beth-Revis: had already read and
fallen in love with it. Did I want to take a look? [l yeah. I did.

Four exhilarating hours later, | was roaming my apartment fke-smadsoman,
my senses firing overy which way. Helt-ike-Fdjust drumk-r goton-of Red-Bull
sehile-seatehing-¥o-Gablxa Gabbat | wanted more, and | wasn't even asci-i eader!
And that's when it hit me: overyone should experience the rush I was feeling.

Why my frenzy? What starts out as a breakup story quickly spirals into a
masterful, pulse-pounding, horrifying, romanic (yos, romantict), oven hilarious,
all-out interstellar war. It turns out Kady and Ezra aren't your typical exes—
they'ro ovacuoos, locing for thoir lives whon a [l warship decidos to bomb
the il oc-of thetr remote colony. And, as such things go, th enemy warship
i problems. Il

With Zluminae, Amie Kaufiman and Jay Kristoff push the boundaries of the
gonre in entirely new and original ways. But its how the story is told that will
really blow you away. Compiled from
4 found-footage-style read that puts you dead c

Thave loved sharing this book with the Random House team—and-watching

pupiks i me-freni m hokd. And now
 your tum.

Am 1 not merciful?

Vst Cot st

Mlanio Gecka Nolan

Associate Publishing Director

proves to be the least of the

dossier of hacked documents, Hluminae s

tor of the act

Alfred A Knopf Books for Young Readers

S pg. 302. Guaranteed to bocome th

iz hraso of 2015
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| Intercepted IM Message:

Participants: Etana-Aimsdettir-Private ‘Technical Support
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)

Byron Zhang, Civilian Contractor

Date: 07/30/75

Timestamp: 10:32
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Onboard System-Alexander
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Though unsent,
these are worth review.

Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard System-Hypatia

COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM

Message Status: DRAFT—DISCARDED

To: Ezra Mason/EMASONALEXANDERONBOARD
From: Kady Grant/KGRANTHYPATIAONBOARD
Date: 07/20/75

Timestamp: 17:15

Text: Well, we are awkward at this.
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destruction. Take note of
¥,  MEMORANDUM FOR: Captain Ryker dates. And read with the
M INCEPT: 12:17, 03/20/75 lights on.
FROM: Teresa Shteyngart, MD,
Chief Medical Officer, Copernicus WUC-
SUBJECT: Pathogen

Intercopted Personal Message:
Onboard System-Copernicus
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To: GENERAL DAVID TORRENCE
From: COLONEL EVA SANCHEZ
Datestamp: 07/24/75

Timestamp: 11:30
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PERSONAL MESSAGE SYSTEM: Frobisher, L.
INCEPT: 01/30/76, 20:02pm [TS]

lluminae: Hello,Dirzlor_y
Frobisher, L: Hello, Kady.

Frobisher, L: Itis you, isn't?

‘you knew I'd work that out. Some of the materials

me from one

lluminae: *sow lap*

Iiluminae: Looks like | owe you  olipop.
Frobisher, L: At frt | tought it might have been stupidiy
that ed you to send me 50 much informalion about yoursef

Frobisher, L: Butnow see you aren't stupid atal
Frobisher, L: No.

Illuminae: No? )

robisher, L: The thing s, though you mightnot be stupid, 'm
not either. You left out one very important detail from your report.

Frobisher, L: Don't bother vith arquments or denials. The
Alpxander's Alwas lying to you the whoe time. It needed you to
think he was dead s0 you'd tay il it and protect the feet. You
might have just run if you thought he was back on the Hypali.
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CIVILAN TRANSFER REQUEST
Date:0075
Name:Kady Grant
dentty 8962/ KeronsalG

From ship:Hypotio
To ship: Copernig

Transfor reason roquesttobeallowed to trans-
for 1o the Copei i my mother, a 1 havo not received
a satisactory denil 0 cthor of my provious requests. Pleaso seo
tho attached lis of faily mermbers who havo roceived transfrs be-
tokcon ships in order to bo together. | respectfll roquest that you
xplain to me why my position is different. 1 am not completing
any vial dutios hore n the Hyptia, Please urgontly reconsider my
roqest,oradvise m to whom | can appesl the deial.

Transforgranted: ¥ESINO
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Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard IM System-Hypatia

INCEPT: 07/27/75
TIMESTAMP: 05:12

CHAT/LOGIN.2LOCATION=NO,MENUBAR=ND')<1-- END HYPATIACHAT BASIC VS CODE .
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(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe) Command Priority Channel
Bavid-Torrence-Generat

(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)

Date: 07127175

Timestamp: 19:15
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BRIEFING NOTE:
Transcript of

conversation aboard

Alexander’s bridge.
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U7 Note the timing
hero—the hackers pick up
what's happening before the
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Shipboard time: 07/21/75
Timestamp: 09:02

AT BASIC VS CODE

Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard System-Hypatia
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board IM System-Alexander
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HAT/ZL OGIN.L OCATION-NOMENUBA]

- END ALEXANDER CHAT BASIC V8 CODE -
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| A erigriNG NoTE:
WO Morale continues
to decline aboard Hypatia
and Alexander. Rumor mill
is in overdrive.

BATTLECARRIER ALEXANDER—T78V

INCEPT: 07/27/75
FROM: GENERAL DAVID TORRENCE
COMMAND STAFF EYES ONLY





OEBPS/images/p282.jpg
Intercepted IM Me:
Technical Support Channel

Participants: Etene-Atmsdottir-Private
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
Byron Zhang, Civilian Contractor
Date: 07/30/75

Timestamp: 08:44
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pace bugs by following these sym; rule

Always wear your facemask!”
Always washyour hands!
Always seal doors and bulkheads behind you!
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tell a crewmember immediate(y!!!
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CIVILIAN TRANSFER AUTHORIZATION

Date: 03120175
Name: D Helena Grant
Hdentty o849/ KerensalCiv
From ship:Hypotio

o ship: Copernicus

o o pecily fn ptolgy wil b of

B corent bl conar s h
P, A——
o oM Peotcrpion ot e of o compln
§s i elestony YIS

"Addiional notes: . Geant is ccompanied by hee daughter
Kady Grant (1D 962/Kesensa/Giv/Ref), who s curenly abose tho
Hypatio. As acondition o hr cooporation. Dr. Grant has requested
any teansfr applications by hr daughter b deniod. Although Gen-
eral Torroncn has authorized s to conscipt D, Grant, it s lkely
sho will bo mor productiv her rquest s mot. On this b, tis
roquest has been agrd to, and i o bo kopt confdential.
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w BRIEFING NOTE:
First elovant
conversation betuween
Ezra Mason and Corporal

Gharles Dorian, a mid-level
commtech on the Alexander.

Date: 07/26/75
Timestamp: 11:13

CHAT/LOGIN.L OCATION=NO.MENUBAR=NO')l-- END ALEXANDE

Intercepted Porsonal Message:
Onboard IM System-Alexande
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Intercepted Personal Messag
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(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
BmewGenW(systemre-routenn@asfme EMason)
Date: 07/23/75

Timestamp: 13:04
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Intercepted Personal Message
Participants: Ann-Ghau-Gaptain Command Priority
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
Bevie-TorreneeGenerel(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)
Date: 07/28/75
Timestamp: 18:22
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yourfirst pund

Iiluminae : | cannot say this loudly enough, or in enoigh languages

Hluminae: Ezra, AIDAN and | are going to shout what

good one. Because you'll never

Frobisher, L: Walk away, Kady

Frobisher, L: Walk away from what you found and Il leave you
alone. You go public with whatever you think you know, you'd better pray

you did loud enough for the whole verse to hear '

Frobisher, L: AIDAN?

Frobisher,

luminae: ) |
Hluminae: you tnk?

Uluminae: gee, | wonder who's been helping me write down

allyour dirty itle secres these lat few months then? l

Uluminae: Don't you remember what Byron told me before he
died? its 2 self-repairing system, Leanne. He said i even leave a
seed of i, it grow back. Wel, 1 got a seed outin my datapad, and
that' all it needed to start rebuilding isel. 1l el you this much
for free, though: it realy hated that pad. Cramped, it said. These
iiberbrain computers re al the same, rght? Fussy/

Nluminae: but even afer all the pieces of itself it lost, it managed
1o hold on to the idea that everything it lost, it lost because of BeiTech )

iluminae: i prety angry with you, Leanne. aimost s angry as me.

Hluminae: sared e

e you delusional?

Frobisher, L: The Alexanders artifcial intelligence was destroyed, Kady.

Frobisher, L: |want my son
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m BRIEFING NOTE:
This is first commu-
nication initiated by Kady
Grant after the attack on the.

Kerenza colony, despite Ezra
Mason’s best efforts.

HYPATIA COMMUNICATION Saily
Intercopted Personal Messago:
To: Ezra Mason/EMASONALEXANDERONE,_Onboard System-Hypatia
From: Kady Grant/KGRANTHYPATIAONBOARD

EHYPATI
Nt

Date: 0720175
Timestamp: 10:00

Te

ey Ezra,
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To: Helena Grant/HGRANTCOPERNICUSONBOARD
From: Kady Grant/KGRANTHYPATIAONBOARD
Date: 04/19/75

Timestamp: 11:05
Text: Missing you!
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Intercepted IM Message:
Technical Support Channel

Participants: Anten-Beidev-Corporat
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
Byron Zhang, Civilian Contractor
Date: 07/27/75

Timestamp: 11:55
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RELEASE
ISSUED BY: COMMANDER CHAU,
SCIENCE VESSEL HYPATIA maintaining morale were.

well-intentioned, but

DATE: 07/27/75 doomed to failure.

TIME: 17:00 (Shipboard Standard)
ASSIGNMENT: ALEXANDER FLEET
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Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard IM System-Alexander

Date: 07/24/75
Timestamp: 11:37

CHAT/LOGIN.LOCATION

MENUBAR:NO')<: END ALEXANDER CHAT BASIC V'S CODE 22>l
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Intercepted Personal Message:
Participants: Ann-Chau-Captain Command Priority Channel
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
David-Torrence;Generai(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)
Date: 07/27/75
Timestamp: 06:46
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Intercepted Personal M
Onboard System-Hypatia

HYPATIA COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM

§., Message Status: DRAFT—DISCARDED
M To: Ezra Mason/EMASONALEXANDERONBOARD
From: Kady Grant/KGRANTHYPATIAONEOARD

Date: 07/20/75
Timestamp: 17:35
Text: Uh oh
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Participants: Etane-Aimsdottir-Private
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
Byron Zhang, Civilian Contractor
Date: 07/30/75

Timestamp: 05:24

Intercopted IM Message:
Technical Support Channel
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@ BRIEFING
NOTE: Transcript

of conversation aboard
Alexander' bridge.
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BRIEFING NOTE:
Transcript of
conversation in Acting
Gaptain Syra Boll’s personal
quarters.
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FROM: ACTING CAPTAIN SYRA BOLL
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CIVILIAN TRANSFER REQUEST 0
Date: 0331175 \ ;
Name:Kady Grant

dentty 0062/ Keronsal g

From ship:Hypotio

o ship: Copernig
Transfor ason hor, Dr. Helona Grant (ID 849/Kerona/
Giv/RoD has boon NWforrd to the Copernicus to asist with

modical dutis, 1 would like o fin hor as soon as possibl. My
father was at Heimdall Station at the time of tho attack, so my
mothor is my onlyrlatvo in tho et As ' sure you can under-
stand, 1 swould preor tobo with her at this diffcult time.

Transfor granted: FESINO
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;}7 | BRIEFING NOTE:
G hoso aroftes
direct from the AIDAY
core, recovered by UTA
datatechs, time-stampe
the moment the Artificial
Intelligence was reactivated
by Alexander command.

in, please note—ALL

typographical anomalie

are present in the original
file
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Frobisher,

from my arch

Frobisher, L: Enlighten me

Huminae: Alexander, Hypatia, Lincoln. They're just part of this story.
I've been documenting the rest of it. Jump Station Heimdall. The Kennedy.

Project P

Hluminae: Atacking one of the WUC' illegal mining ops was 2 smart
opening move. Ifthe Consortium reported the assaultto the UTA, they'd have.
1020t they were mining hermium ilegally. The cost of losing the colony

wiould be nothing compared tothe ines they'd wear. So BeiTech figured they

WUC we word to any

: But I'm not the WUC, Le
Frobisher, L: If haf’s the case, wh atal warn me?

Illuminae: Why not? You can't stop what's coming. And | kinda like the
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Participants: Ezra Mason, 2nd Lieutenant,
UTA Airborne Division, James McNutty,
Sergeant, UTA Marines.

Date: 07/20/75

Timestamp: 10:02

‘The following is
lifted from the Alexander’s
intra-ship messaging system.
While
of the steps Kady Grant did
10 cover his tracks, he had

zra Mason took none

no real reason to expect
anyone would be sifting
through his old IM traffic.
1Its hardly Shakespeare.

N —

Intercepted Personal Message:

Onboard System-Alexander

N———————
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Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard System-Alexander

(systemre-route76h@865HG=EMason)

Subject: Twenty minutes to launch

Date: 07/30/75, 08:03

Text: | can't think of what to say. But | found some people who
said it better anyway.

Its kinda lopsided. I'm not very good at tis stuff. But 1l be thinking of you until the end.

Love E
Time
willsay She walks in beauty, ike
the night Of cloudless climes and starry
Skies; And al thats best of dark and bright Meet in
her aspect and her oyes: Shall | compare thee o @ summer's

day? Thou art more lovely and  more temperate: Rough winds do

shake the darling buds of May, And _summer’s lease hath all too short a
date. But thy eternal summer shall not fade, Nor lose possession of that

fair thou owst; Nor shall Death brag thou wander't in hs shade, When

in ternal lines to ime thou grow st So long as men can breal
‘can see, Solong lives this, and this gives lfe o thee. A thing of beatty s a

joy for ever: s loveliness increasaes: it will never Pass info nothingness:

bt stll will keep A bower quiet for us, and a sieep Full of sweet dreams,

‘and health, and quiet breathing. | loved you first: but aterwards your
love Outsoaring mine, sang such a lofier song As drowned the
friendly cooings of my dove. Which owes the other most? my love.
was long, And yours one moment seemed to wax mo
strong; | loved and guessed at you, you construed me And
Toved me for what might or might not be Nay, weights and
‘measuras do us both a wrong. For verily ove knows.
ot ‘mine" or thine;” With separate-I' and ‘thou’
froe love has done, For one is both and both
are one in love: Rich love knows nought
of thine thatis not mine;’ Both
have the strength and both the.
Tength thereof, Both of us,
of the love which
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COPERNICUS COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM

¥,  MEMORANDUM FOR: Captain Ryker
M INCEPT: 10:31, 06/15/75

FROM: Teresa Shteyngart, MD,
Chief Medical Officer, Copernicus WUC-7891
SUBJECT: e: Pathogen
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BRIEFING NOTE:
More data from
the AIDAN core. This is

where things start to got .

complicated.
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KADY WINCES AS SHE PAWS HER WAY
ACROSS THE CEILING, DOWN TO THE FLOOR.

SHE DOES NOT LODK T0O BADLY HURT FROM WHAT | CAN SEE—THE

CAMERA
ON HER CoNsoLe (BRUISED AND BATTERED

IN THE FAR CORNER) IS STILL FUNCTIONAL.
HER SUIT 1S MiRaCULOUSLY INTACT,

< ERROR >

OBABILITIES - - =
o ARE SIMPLY STATISTIEAL IMPR
MIRACLE

< FAIL >
< FAIL >
“THE AFFLICTED - - =
Mostiy D,

OR Dyyyy-vING.'

"
| ON'T FEEL SO CHILL | FEEL SIC!

-u-uREe T0
«You RecelVeD ACUTE Expos“u uRE
GAMMA RADIATION.

‘THAT DOESN'T souND 600D.”

THE D-D-D0SE was LETHAL.
‘WITHoUT TREATMENT You WiLL BE DeaD IN

w i
EEKS. I'M AFRAID IT WILL BE vegy PAINFUL.”

“Awn
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1O webeliove the
following exchanges show first
contact between the subject,
Kady Grant, and a member

of the fleet’s underground
community. It takes place one

HYPATIA COMMUNICAT O N (Sesarusme

Date: Q2/2075 shorlly after her tangle with
i shipboard security. We beliove
Timestamp: 23:17
this is Byron Zhang, a research
Subject: The sound of ane hand c1aBPING | e aboard the Hypatia and
Known information-liberty.
activist. There was almost no
. N trace remaining of this contact,
Youve been busy, my frend. | [unable to retrieve] | o8 TR RAR
very entertaining piece of hacking. There ae 8340 | roiovad. This guy know what

people aboard our fleet, and there's a skil here for every | o was doing.
‘occasion. You dor't [unable to retrieve] teach yourself.

Break through into shell ref 436HT:904JX:003 and [unable to retrieve]
‘show you what's out there.

“This message will shred automatically for security purposes. This mes-
sage will shred automatically for security purposes. This message will shred
automaically for security purposes. This message will shred automatically for
‘securiy purposes. This message will shred automaticaly for security purposes.
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MEMORANDUM FOR: Captain Ryker
INCEPT: 15:49, 03/27/75

FROM: Kurt Heyder,

Chief Englneel, Copernicus WUC-7891
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Y Director—although
mostof the intel in this

dossier was acquired through

UNIPEDIA  Kerenza, Battle of covert means, we did discover
EYES AND MOUTH OPEN one public channel with
surprisingly accurate intel
Main Page ‘This article is about the Battle of Kerenza { about the Kerenza assault
Contents. Get the gen on the planet and system herd  itself—the hacktivist website
Random known as Unipedia. Although

Gurrent This isoricataril s curreny und  "MOSt readers of Unipedia are

Al ocasoyou choob gotble corpped  PIOVIDIY Wearing tinfofl hats
in their mothers’ basements,
o e i an
C ‘citations for verification purposes. PI} 'you might want to open a
Re r two and un]
- (v, i s ] Dl 0 00 an nleash
= e gD

mom does not count]. And learn to o
Sonsi osart appropiat dtynama e included Unipedia'scoverago
Aot here for completion’s sake.

Hiwming
dtonsl
nza IV was the oponing saivo i the ongoing and
forey baffingly unreported Stllarcorp War. Intiated by BeiTech Indusries,(1)
ateNoiso the assaulttargatod ilogal hermium mining operations ownod by the
~Tools ‘WallacofUlyanoy Consortium (2] United Terran Authority vessel
»syne Aloxander(3) answered WUG distress cals, esulting in a three-way.
S throwdown between BeiTech, WUC, and UTA forces.
ik

CONTENTS (ide]
S 1. Background
paR—

Deusch
3 UTArosponse
Espanol pursit
Tatano 5 Secondarycontict
Jeryk polski i )
pecrt it
& BACKGROUND
o Kerenza IV i situated infroespace, approximately 34 SAU from a way-
point lading to statc Jump Station Helmdallat Nows Vi The planat

‘contains unusually high concentrations of hermium on s polar ico
shef. In violation of the Intersellar Exatic Materals Act of 2514[4], the
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Participants: Ann-Ghau-Gaptain
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
David-Torrence - Genera
(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)
Date: 07/23/75

Timestamp: 08:03

( ﬂ | BRIEFING NOTE:
PP After successful
incursion into the Hypatia

server, Grant hacks the

secure Fl

channel to make direct
contact with Mason. The
folonies just keep on coming.

Intercepted Personal Message:
Command Priority Channel
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Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard IM System-Hypatia

INCEPT: 07/25/75
TIMESTAMP: 11:12

CHAT/LOGIN.2LOCATION=NO,MENUBAR=ND')<1-- END HYPATIACHAT BASIC VS CODE .
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To: Kady GranUKGRANTHYPATIAONBOARD
From: Helena Grant/HGRANTCOPERNICUSONBOARD
Date: 05/14/75

Timestamp: 14:21

Text: Just checking
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| This is the last
significant point of contact
betsween the subjects bofore
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Note that almost four
months have passed since

ALEXANDER COMMUNICAT [Svissanssmssn

communication with Grant.

EXANDER=7:

3 Date: 07/03/75
Timestamp: 23:45
Subject: DO NOT SEND THIS

Intercepted Porsonal Message:
Onboard System-Alexandor
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Participants: Ann-Ghaur-Gaptein
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
Devid-Torrence; General
(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)
Date: 07/26/75

Timestamp: 21:18
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INCEPT: 07/20/75
Timestamp: 08:15

YPATIAC

ve con

l ﬁ | BRIEFING

(U7 NoTE: Up next

is a conversation lifted

from Hypatia’s messaging
system ... well, nearly. They
pigay-backed the official
network instead of chatting
openly, but we've lifted the.
conversation regardless.
Kady Grant has learned a lot
in her six months aboard.

Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard System-Hypatia
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Intercepted Personal Message:

Command Priority Channel  ByteMe)
- (systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)

Date: 07/25/75
Timestamp: 07:14
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“Do You SEE’
SHE SAYS NOTHING. SIMPLY STARES.

“The UNIVERSE OWES YOU NOTHING, KADY. IT HAS ALREADY

clven
Y0U EVERYTHING, AFTER ALL. IT waS HERE LONG
SEFORE YOU, AND |7 WILL GO ON LONG AFTER YoU.

Thi
£ ONLY WAY IT WiLL RememeER You Is 1o Do
SOMETHING WORTHY OF REMEMBRANCE.”

Hi
ER EYES ARE FULL OF TEARS. SURFACE TENSION GLUING

THEM TO HER LASHES UNTIL SHE BLINKS.
EYOND.
THE STARLIGHT B!
THEN THEY SCATTER: GLITTERING LIKE

“Who wiLL REMEMBER THE GHOSTS OF KeRENZA?

WHo wiLL RememeeR SeRceant James McNury,
OR CAPTAIN ANN CHau 0R BYRON ZHANG?

KaDY?"
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Intercepted Personal
Participants: Ann-GhaurGaptain )
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
David-Torrence; Generai(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)
Date: 07/30/75

Timestamp: 12:38
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Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard System-Hypatia

HYPATIA COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM

Message Status: DRAFT—DISCARDED

To: Ezra Mason/EMASONALEXANDERONBOARD
From: Kady Grant/KGRANTHYPATIAONBOARD
Date: 07/20/75

Timestamp: 17:57

Text:

DISCARD
SYSTEM FLUSH
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Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard IM System-Alexander

Date: 07/27/75
Timestamp: 16:39

N ALEXANDER CHAT BASIC VS £ODI

><EORM> ONCLICK="WINDOW,.OPENCCHATALEXAN
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Intercepted Personal Message:

Command P:

Participants: Ann-Ghau-Gaptain
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
David-Torrenee; Generei(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)
Date: 07/30/75

Timestamp: 11:17
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| ﬁ | BRIEFING NOT!
B The following was
released by the Hypati
propaganda arm—sorry, the
“shipboard communications
unit”—nine hours after the

POPULACE
INFORMATION RELEAS|

ISSUED BY: CAPTAIN CHAU, SCIENCE VE! e hor axit.

DATE: 07/20/75
TIME: 08:00 (Shipboard Standard)
ASSIGNMENT: ALEXANDER FLEET
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Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard IM System-Hypatia

INCEPT: 07/27/75
TIMESTAMP: 04:49

CHAT/LOGIN.2LOCATION=NO,MENUBAR=ND')<1-- END HYPATIACHAT BASIC VS CODE .






OEBPS/images/p213.jpg
Intorcopted Personal Message:
Onboard IM System-Alexander

Date: 07/28/75
Timestamp: 12:27

HAT/LOGIN.LOCATION=NO,MENUBAR=NO')<I-- END ALEXANDER CHAT BASIC V8 CODE -2 |
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Participants: Ann-Ghau-Gaptain Command Priority Channel
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)

David-Torrence-Genera

(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)

Date: 07/27/75

Timestamp: 06:31
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“Nor aulte ver. | Do NoT
7 wiLL HAPPEN WHEN THE

KNOW WHAT
VORTEX COLLAPSES.

Bur
I'wite RIpe WITH You s FAR as |
can.”

SHE CYCLES THE ESCAPE HATCH, BUNDLES HERSELF INSIDE.
MPERFOAM-LINED:

17 18 SMALLY CRAMPED, TE!

| INSTRUCT HER ON HOW TO JURY-RIG THE CONTROLS,

MANUALLY SPLICING AND REROUTING SYSTEMS:,

DEMOLISHING WALLS OF CODE WITH HER CONSOLE

E COUNTOOWN TICKS EVER CLOSER-

AT
| RUN HER THROUGH THE JETTISON SEQUENCE,

REMIND HER TO STRAP ON HER SEAT BELT

BEFORE SHE PRESSES THE EJECT BUTTON.
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ILLUSTRATIONS: B&W illustrations/schematics/index/photos, etc.
IMPRINT: Alfred A.Knopf Books for Young Readers
PUBLICATION DATE:  August 4,2015

ISBN: 978-0-553-49911-7

PRICE: $18.99 U.5./$21.99 CAN.

GLB ISBN: 978-0-553-49912-4

GLB PRICE: $21.99U.5./525.99 CAN.

EBOOK ISBN: 978-0-553-49913-1

PAGES: 608

AGES: 14 & up

ATTENTION, READER: THESE ARE UNCORRECTED ADVANCE PROOFS
BOUND FOR REVIEW PURPOSES. All trim sizes, page counts, months
of publication, and prices should be considered tentative and subject
to change without notice. Please check publication information and any
quotations against the bound copy of the book. We urge this for the
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CIVILAN TRANSFER REQUEST Q
Datcoiozs x

Name:Kady Grant
dentty 8962/ KeronsalG

From ship:Hypotio
To ship: Copernig

Tonsoreas eda ofusal o my last rogquest o translr o
ho Copernicus,but R given any reasons. | m lodging aother ro-
questasbliovo i easonabl for mo o bo tansfrrd 0 bo with my
mother, who i my only elatve sbord th flct, My mother and 1 are
extrmely los,and 1 Knowfrom experence hatswhen she works s
forgets t ako breaks and.a imes, 0 st Fvo lways boon tho porson
10 support hor whil she's wosking.and bl it would boin thebest
intoests of the et for e 0 b with her ow: 1 am suro she will o
more productive i am sblo o assst hr 1 am also making  parsonal
appea 3 hae hild—iko everyone sbosrd I'm stll covering from
what happened on Koronza, and hope you'l tink s ressonable that
Lt t0be with my family. | am propared 0 undorako

sy onthe Copernicus, Thank you o your roconsideation.

work -

Transfer ganted: ¥ESINO
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Participants: Etene-Atmsdottir-Private
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
Byron Zhang, Civilian Contractor
Date: 07/29/75

Timestamp: 03:01

Intercepted IM Mossage:

Technic

‘Support Channel
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BRIEFING NOT!
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From

‘maintain highly illogal ship-

to-ship communications
during a period of covert

Bavid-ForrencelDTORRENGE.

EMason)
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Subject: 'm Sorry

interstellar war. This is how

Mason usos it.

Date: 07/25/75
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Intercepted Personal Messago:
Command Priority Channel
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sic

BEGIN HYPATIACHAT &.
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“WHAT?"

“UpsTalrs. THRee FLIGHTS.
Nort FaR.”

RAGGED BREATH THROUGH CLENCHED TEETH.

“TweNTY-sIx MINUTES UNTIL VORTEX COLLAPSE.”

“TWENTY-FO—"

“OKAY,” SHE SAYS. “ALL RIGHT.”
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Z BRIEFING NOTE:
Memo from Chau

to Torrence

Intercepted Private Command
Messago: Hypatia to Alexander

= _OMMUNICATIONS SYSTEM

Subject: Offer
Date: 07/27/75

Timestamp: 09:05
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attempt at contact
on record between the.

EXANDER-7 [t

after the Kerenza attack.

ALEXANDER COMMUN I C /g e

Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard System-Alexander

Date: 02114/75
Timestamp: 14:04
Subject: Hey
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To: Helena Grant/HGRANTCOPERNICUSONBOARD
From: Kady Grant/KGRANTHYPATIAONBOARD
Date: 07/10/75

Timestamp: 23:07

Text: No seriously Mom
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Do you realize how easily  could find you? How easily I could
reach out and break you?

luminae: Ifyou couldve, you wouldve

Frobisher, L: There iis again. Arrogance. You'e an 18 year old
databse vandal with a pocket ful of loose change. Im an Executive
Director in 2 corporation spanning a hundred colonized worlds.

Frobisher, L You're swimming with some very big fish, Miss Grant. Are you
really a “group” atall? Or s Illuminae just one litle girl and a computer Screen?

Uluminae: Trying 1o find out f there are more witnesses, huh?
Wondering howmany of us actually made it out alive? )
——

llluminae: You'll know soon enough.
Frobisher, L: Tell me where my son is.
Frobisher, L:And I'won't make you suffer before you die

lluminae: Yeah, E2said u were a ral psycho.

lluminae: | mean, Ive seen crazy, Leanne. Up close:

——
laminae: Sulyou. . |

lluminae: He told me aboutthattime you pulled a gun on his dad.

Hluminae: Told me how he got those It circular scars
onhis am when he was eight

Iiluminae: You il smoke cigars? Bad habil, yknow.

Frobisher, L:We do this the hard way, then?

Frobisher, L: D0 you have any conceptof e
resources | can bring to bear to hunt you down?

Illuminae: looks like ’
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The following are
extracts from debrief inter-
views with the subjects of
this dossier, Ezra Mason and
Kady Grant. The interviews
were conducted shortly after
the evacuation

of Kerenza.

W

XANDER=ZE:

INISTRY OF THE INTERIOR
UNITED TERRAN NAVY
ALEXANDER FLEET
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Intercepted Personal Message:

Participants: Ann-Chau-Captain Command Priority Channe
N —
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)

Bavid-Terrenee;-Generai(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)
Date: 07/30/75
Timestamp: 20:16






OEBPS/images/p257.jpg
These are General
Torrence’s speaking notes
fora public address to

all personnel on the
Alexander—drafied using a
tabletand stylus, they were
retained by the system. The
address was dolivered on
07/30/75 at 0:6:50.
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[ sremmonore
J In her intake

. Kady Grant

montioned she was “good

with computers.” n hor

psych profile, it was

noted she was “bad with

NETWORK SECURITY INCIDENT RE

authority.” Case in point:
Hor ropeated attompts

10 penetrate shipboard
security were noticed by
the Alexander’s network
enginoers, and more
importantly, by the fleets
hacker “community”

BREACH ATTEMPT 02/18/75 03:15

RECORD: Lu, Xi Wei, Network Engineer
TARGET: Refugee Psych Profiles
PROCESS: Brute force cascade attack
on Alexander datafort

OUTCOME: Defended

BREACH ATTEMPT 02/18/75 07:15

RECORD: Lu, Xi Wei, Network Engineer

TARGET: Refugee Psych Profiles

PROCESS: Code wyrm interdiction on Alexander datafort
'OUTCOME: Penetration successful, duration 3 mins.

BREACH ATTEMPT 02/18/75 18:15

RECORD: Lu, Xi Wei, Network Engineer

TARGET: Galley database—Meal Schedule\Network_Engineering
PROCESS: Access Trojan infiltration on galley database
OUTCOME: Penetration successful. Meals to Network Engineer-
ing cancelled. Galley database security upgraded to level 3.

BREACH ATTEMPT 02/19/75 06:00

RECORD: Brown, Benjamin Fraser, Senior Network Engineor
TARGET: Crew database—Network_Engineering

PROCESS: Accoss via personnel records, penetration method as
yet unidentified.

'OUTCOME: Penetration successful. Network Engineer Xi Wei Lu
deleted from database. Attempt to restore profile underway.
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Participants: Ann-Chaur-Gaptain
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe)
David-Torrence: General
(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)
Date: 07/30/75

Timestamp: 21:2

Intercepted Personal Message:

Command Priority Channel






OEBPS/images/p184.jpg
Intercopted M
Onboard System-

From: Captain Ann Chau, Hypatia Command

To: Syra Boll (Chief—Navigation), Kate Irving (21C—Maintenance)
Date: 07127175

Timestamp: 12:03

Classification: Hypatiallnternal only/top clearance/destroy/no archive
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}ﬂ} BRIEFING NOTE:
| More surveillance
footage documented by

our tochnician, this time
from camera rigs aboard the
Alexand

1©)

Surveillance footage summary,
prepared by Analyst ID 7213-0089-DN
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e “Goo...."
FLATTERING, sur ND."

“WHAT ..." SHE SWALLOWS, TONGUE PAINTED RED.

HE AL “
SHANDER SURVIVED., Bagery, T HAPPENED?”

THe DAMAGE 1s cATASTROPHIC, BUT THE

MAIN sTR
UCTURE Is v
ET 0 BREAK
APARY."

I'ee
BREAK OUT THE CHAMPAGNE, THEN,"

«Maln poweR s DesTROYED:
Lire suppoRr DesTRoveD. ARTIFICIAL

GRavlTY contRoL DestRoveD. Hult Is BReacHED

on oNE HUNDRED AND THIRTY-FOUR DECKS. THE voRTEX

coNTAINMENT FIELD |s D-D-Due FOR IMMINENT cOLLAPSE."”

“go

No CHAMPAGNE, IS WHAT I'M saving YES.

PARTIALLY MELTED,

THE MAIN SCREEN 1S
& THE IRRADIATED.

BUT STILL DISPLAY:

LING WITH STATIC:
DRIFTING DEAD IN THE DARK.

CRACK!
MULK THAT HAD BEEN THE LINCOLN.
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Participants: Ann Chau, Captain
David Torrence, General

Date: 07/28/75

Timestamp: 02:05

| /I | erigrING NOTE:

L ‘The Command
Priority Channel actually gets
used by the commanders of
the fleot here, as opposed to
a pair of lovesick teenagors.
Wonders will never cease.

Intercepted Personal Message:
‘Gommand Priority Channel
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Intercepted Personal Mossage:
Participants: Ann-Ghau,Captain Command Priority Channel
(systemre-route78h@786HG=ByteMe) -
Bavid-Torrence -Generai(systemre-route78h@865HG=EMason)
Date: 07/29/75
Timestamp: 20:07
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BRIEFING NOTE:
Transcript of
conversation aboard
Alexander's bridge.
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% BRIEFING
NOTE: Intra-ship

pr—

Date:|07/30/75 notification to porsonal
account of Kady Grant

Timestamp:[16:10

Hello, Kady Grant,

You failed to present for your shift today at|16:00 hours (ship-

board time).

.
Please note that failing to present for your shift will result in

disciplinary action and a security escort to future shifts.
We trust you will ensure this infraction does not occur again. If
you have any questions, please speak to your Hypatia Liaison Officer.
Have a nice day!

HYPATIA COMMAND
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Intercepted Personal Message:
Onboard System-Alexander

Date: 07/22/75
Timestamp: 23:07

JAT/LOGINLOCATION

MENUBAR=NQ')<!-- END ALEXANDER CHAT BASIC. VS CODE -3l





